
COUNCIL

A meeting of Council will be held at Council Chamber, Fenland Hall, County Road, 
March on THURSDAY, 13 DECEMBER 2018 at 4.00 PM and I request you to attend 
accordingly for transaction of the following business:

1  To receive apologies for absence. 

2  Previous Minutes (Pages 3 - 10)

To confirm and sign the minutes of 15 November 2018.

3  Civic Engagements Update (Pages 11 - 12)

For information only.

4  To receive any announcements from the Chairman of the Council 
and/or the Head of Paid Service. 

5  To receive members' declaration of any interests under the Local Code 
of Conduct or any interest under the Code of Conduct on Planning 
Matters in respect of any item to be discussed at the meeting. 

6  To receive questions from, and provide answers to, councillors in 
relation to matters which, in the opinion of the Chairman, accord with 
the provisions of Procedure Rules 8.4 and 8.6. 

7  To receive reports from and ask questions of Cabinet members with 
portfolio holder responsibilities, in accordance with Procedure Rules 8.1 
and 8.2. (Pages 13 - 88)

8  Council Tax Reduction Scheme (CTRS) - 2019/20 (Pages 89 - 284)

Each year the Council is required to review its Council Tax Reduction 
(CTR) Scheme. This report advises Cabinet of this year’s review and 
proposals for the CTRS to take effect from 1 April 2019.

9  Polling Districts and Polling Places Review. (Pages 285 - 320)

To consider the outcome of the recent review of polling districts and 
places, as required by the Electoral Registration and Administration Act 
2013.

10  Clinical Waste Solution. (Pages 321 - 362)

 For members to determine the future shape of domestic 
clinical waste collection and disposal in Fenland following 
changes to NHS provision in the East of England and 
approve the resulting changes to Fenland's Waste Service 
Standards. 

 Following the lead of other areas, and through work in 
cooperation with the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough 
Waste Partnership, to consider providing sharps box drop-off 

Public Document Pack



points through local pharmacies, and where required at a 
small number of dispensing GP surgeries, by entering in to 
agreements with these local and national businesses. 

 In association with establishing drop-off points in local 
communities, to determine the nature of the clinical waste 
door-step collection service offered and fee charged. 

Fenland Hall
March

Chief Executive
             

Wednesday, 5 December 2018

NOTE The Council may, by resolution, as exemplified below, exclude the public from 
a meeting during the consideration of any item of business whenever it is 
likely, in view of the nature of the business to be transacted or the nature of 
the proceedings that, if members of the public were present, there would be 
disclosure to them of exempt information as defined in Section 100 I of the 
Local Government Act, 1972

"Resolved that under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act, 1972 
the public be excluded from the meeting for Item No./Minute No.        on the 
grounds that the item involves the disclosure of exempt information as defined 
in Paragraph       of Part I of Schedule 12A of the Act"



COUNCIL

THURSDAY, 15 NOVEMBER 2018 - 4.00 
PM

PRESENT: Councillor Mrs K Mayor (Chairman), Councillor Mrs M Davis (Vice-Chairman), 
Councillor Benney, Councillor Mrs S Bligh, Councillor C Boden (arrived 16:05), Councillor 
G Booth, Councillor M Buckton, Councillor R Butcher, Councillor D Connor, Councillor M Cornwell, 
Councillor S Count, Councillor Mrs J French, Councillor S Garratt, Councillor Mrs A Hay, 
Councillor D Hodgson, Councillor Miss S Hoy, Councillor M Humphrey, Councillor S King, 
Councillor Mrs D Laws, Councillor D Mason, Councillor A Miscandlon, Councillor P Murphy, 
Councillor D Oliver, Councillor K Owen, Councillor A Pugh (arrived 16:14), Councillor C Seaton, 
Councillor R Skoulding, Councillor W Sutton, Councillor G Tibbs, Councillor S Tierney and 
Councillor F Yeulett

APOLOGIES: Councillor M Bucknor, Councillor Mrs V Bucknor, Councillor J Clark, Councillor 
S Clark, Councillor S Court, Councillor Mrs F Newell and Councillor M Tanfield

Officers in Attendance:  Gary Garford, Kamal Mehta

Observing: Peter Catchpole

C37/18 PREVIOUS MINUTES

The minutes of the meeting of 13 September 2018 were confirmed and signed.

C38/18 CIVIC ENGAGEMENTS UPDATE

Councillor Mrs Mayor drew members’ attention to the civic activities undertaken by herself and the 
Vice Chairman in the weeks preceding Full Council.  

C39/18 TO RECEIVE ANY ANNOUNCEMENTS FROM THE CHAIRMAN OF THE COUNCIL 
AND/OR THE HEAD OF PAID SERVICE.

Councillor Mrs Mayor thanked members who attended the Macmillan Coffee Morning on 27 
September 2018. It was a record year as it had been extremely well attended and over £1500 was 
raised for this vital charity. She paid special thanks to the leisure centres; two had held quiz nights 
and one held a coffee morning, and the proceeds from these events helped make this fantastic 
amount.  

Councillor Mrs Mayor thanked members who attended the Chairman’s Annual Civic Reception 
held at the Neale Wade Academy; as with other civic events we were able to showcase what 
Fenland has to offer. 

Councillor Mrs Mayor reminded members that she will be hosting the Chairman’s Community Carol 
Service at the Parish Church of St Peter in Wimblington on Sunday 2 December 2018at 3pm. All 
are welcome to attend for a traditional Carol service followed by refreshments.    

C40/18 TO RECEIVE QUESTIONS FROM, AND PROVIDE ANSWERS TO, COUNCILLORS 

Page 3

Agenda Item 2



IN RELATION TO MATTERS WHICH, IN THE OPINION OF THE CHAIRMAN, 
ACCORD WITH THE PROVISIONS OF PROCEDURE RULES 8.4 AND 8.6

No questions had been submitted under Procedure Rule 8.6 and Councillor Booth, as leader of the 
main opposition group, asked questions under Procedure Rule 8.4, as follows:

 could the Leader provide an update on the skills and apprenticeship budget of the Combined 
Authority and advise how this is benefitting Fenland? The Leader replied that the Combined 
Authority has been asked to provide the information requested, unfortunately that has not yet 
been received and asked if it would be acceptable to send Councillor Booth a written answer as 
soon as possible. Councillor Booth stated that would be acceptable and he felt other members 
would also be interested in this. The Leader advised he will make sure members are informed.  

 could the Leader confirm if the Combined Authority is investing in affordable housing projects in 
Fenland and if so when will this take place?  The Leader responded as follows: 
“The Combined Authority has invested £150,000 in an affordable housing scheme in Whittlesey 
which through that and other funding sources will deliver 37 affordable homes.  
Officers have also been liaising with the Combined Authority on an exploratory pipeline on a 
further 6 sites for a further 244 funded affordable homes. As with all development negotiations 
schemes will fall out and other schemes will come in which is why officers have been tracking 
over 100 potential sites in the last 12 months where there is planning permission or there are 
applications for planning being considered. As part of this the Council have been engaging with 
active Registered Providers in the patch to see what can be negotiated including purchasing 
the whole site to develop all tenures on it.
The Combined Authority and the Council recognise that viability issues are greater here than in 
other areas of the Combined Authority area therefore over the summer a meeting was held with 
Registered Providers, the Council and the Combined Authority to explore how best to work 
together in developing an affordable housing programme in the future both for Homes England 
and Combined Authority consideration.
Overall there is a programme of 158 affordable homes to be delivered by end of 2019/20 
mainly through Registered Provider and Homes England financing. As well as this there is a 
further 3 sites controlled by Registered Providers which will deliver a further 189 affordable 
homes with completion dates to be determined.”
Councillor Booth thanked the Leader for the update.  

 can the Leader give an update on the review of local government structure in Cambridgeshire 
being undertaken by the Combined Authority?  The Leader thanked Councillor Booth for the 
question and confirmed he would provide a hard copy of the answer. The Combined Authority 
continue to work with their appointed consultants, ResPublica, to develop public service reform 
proposals, which at this time are specifically focussed upon future sustainability and social care 
and health. The details of these proposals have yet to be established and will be shared with 
the leaders and their constituent councils once they become available. To the best of his 
knowledge there are currently no CPCA proposals to review the structure of local government 
in Cambridgeshire. Councillor Booth stated that he did find the last comment a little surprising 
given Mayor Palmer has been on the radio mentioning the need to look at the structure of local 
government saying that there are too many tiers, which Councillor Booth had raised before 
particularly when this Council agreed to the Combined Authority. Can we give commitments to 
aiding those reviews because it is something that electors are keenly aware of and they feel 
there is too much bureaucracy in this county? The Leader reiterated that, to the best of his 
knowledge, there are presently no proposals to review the structure of local government in 
Cambridgeshire.  

 in relation to the recent parish council conference that the Leader attended, when he gave a 
commitment that parish councils would be informed when pre-planning applications were 
received within their area and that information be passed onto the parishes, he asked when is 
that going to be delivered? The Leader commented that there is already an avenue to do that 
whereby parish council clerks can take availability of the website to view what is in the pipeline, 
what is delayed etc. As a lot of clerks have not signed up, a further reminder has been sent out 

Page 4



to parish councillors to remind them that both clerks and members can sign up and have this 
information, which is already out there but it is not being used at the moment. Councillor Booth 
commented that he understood that the pre-planning application process was outside the 
statutory planning notifications sent out, so does not think this is possible under the scheme 
talked about. The problem with signing up is that notifications are received about everything 
and the system cannot be tailored for the relevant information only so this may have put people 
off.  

C41/18 TO RECEIVE REPORTS FROM AND ASK QUESTIONS OF CABINET MEMBERS 
WITH PORTFOLIO HOLDER RESPONSIBILITIES, IN ACCORDANCE WITH 
PROCEDURE RULES 8.1 AND 8.2.

Standing orders were suspended to allow full discussion for this item.  

Members asked questions of Portfolio Holders in accordance with Procedure Rules 8.1 and 8.2 as 
follows:

 Councillor Booth asked Councillor Mrs Laws if she could confirm the actions planned to 
improve the planning processes involving Parish and Town Councils following the PAS review, 
and when will these actions be delivered? Councillor Mrs Laws advised that further training has 
commenced with more to follow. The Town and Parish Councils have been provided with 
information and instruction on how to receive direct notifications of new applications and 
appeals and the decisions on these. Access to the online planning file enables the councils to 
view any consultee comments which can help them form comments on the applications. In 
addition, they will be able to view the officer or committee report which will explain how the 
decision on the application was arrived at. It is proposed that a web page will be created where 
larger applications will be listed together with a regularly updated progress report, which will 
enable the Town and Parish Councils to track these proposals. With regard to the Local Plan, 
any new plan will be prepared through a thorough engagement process with the councils.  Also, 
a continual programme of planning training for all members has been made available. 
Councillor Booth added that the parish councils are aware of the reports available to them but 
they are frustrated not to hear directly from planning officers. An automated message stating 
reports are available is not in the spirit of better engagement envisaged, resulting in parish 
councillors feeling ignored and that their local knowledge is not being utilised. 

 Councillor Mrs Bligh asked Councillor Murphy if more enforcement patrols could be committed 
to the villages?  Councillor Murphy replied that there are fewer patrols because less is 
happening in the villages than the towns, but he will arrange a further patrol of the villages in 
this instance.  

 Councillor Mrs Bligh stated that there is still an issue with dog fouling and asked if Councillor 
Murphy would consider anti dog fouling stencils to be spray painted on pavements?  Councillor 
Murphy responded that this method was used about five or six years ago and did not work.  

 Councillor Bligh noted that the Council has committed investment to markets in the Fenland 
towns and requested a breakdown of the investment amount per town. Councillor Murphy 
agreed to provide this.  

 Councillor Tibbs asked Councillor Oliver for updates on Wisbech Vehicle Exchange and the 
abandoned building at the top of Petts Close? Councillor Oliver advised that although he 
currently had no update on Petts Close, he will obtain one.  In relation to Vehicle Exchange, the 
owners have recently applied for a restoration order and have been instructed to sell the 
property within a certain timeframe, therefore, the Council does not want to take any 
enforcement action based on that but if there is no further development, then notice will be 
served to clear the site.  

 Councillor Tierney advised Councillor Oliver that a business in Wisbech was visited by the 
Police this week and told no action could be taken because the Council had reversed a PSPO 
no drinking ban. This is not the case, and he asked if Councillor Oliver would ask the Police, if 
they did give this advice, not to give incorrect information in future? Councillor Oliver confirmed 

Page 5



the matter is in hand. 
 Councillor Mrs Bligh noted that the M11/A47 link could impact Fenland and asked if it could be 

confirmed where, and in future will the affected ward members be informed when they do 
know? Councillor Seaton advised that there would be an impact but this is a long way off.  He 
confirmed that anyone affected by any extension to the M11 will be fully informed.   

 Councillor Garratt asked Councillor Oliver whether anyone from the Community Safety 
Partnership had been linked to the IRM coordinator in Fenland. Councillor Oliver replied in the 
negative.  

 Councillor Booth asked if Councillor Mrs Hay could confirm how to determine the measure that 
93.9% of enquiries to the Council are dealt with at first point of contact and what is the accuracy 
of that figure?  Councillor Mrs Hay stated that all Customer Service staff undertake an 
extensive induction programme to ensure they are able to deal with the diverse nature of 
customer queries and continue to receive regular training and updates. The percentage of calls 
resolved at the first point of contact is automatically measured directly from the telephony 
software. Any calls that require a transfer to any other internal or external number are deducted 
from the number of calls received and answered. The figure that remains is the number of 
queries that are resolved. Furthermore in order to further validate these figures staff maintain a 
post call record of the nature of the call and any outstanding issues to ensure that the 
telephony statistics match manual records. This helps to identify any service areas where 
issues arise that are unable to be resolved as this will inform any future training plans. 
Councillor Booth thanked Councillor Mrs Hay for the explanation but his concern is that the 
metric is having the unintended consequence of customer service staff stating they are 
resolving issues at the first point of contact without this always being the case and stated two 
examples.  Councillor Mrs Hay stated she would take this up with the staff concerned if 
Councillor Booth could provide further details; however, she reiterated that the staff are very 
highly trained and are always trying to provide satisfaction to the customer.  

 Councillor Owen asked Councillor Murphy when and where a discussion took place to stop 
planting winter bedding?  Councillor Murphy responded that the Council has cancelled winter 
bedding this year in order to save money identified during the CSR review and going forwards 
the annual saving will be just over £9,000 per year. Our supplier has made available a number 
of plants this week in order that we can plant out a bed at St. Peters in Wisbech for a 
forthcoming special event.  FDC has received one complaint from an In Bloom group, who 
would have liked to have been given notice so that they could have planted the cancelled 
bedding or planted specific beds with their own plants, which has been  agreed as a valid 
complaint and in the future the Council will ensure adjustments are communicated in a timely 
manner, however, no complaints have been received from the wider community.  Many 
councils have reduced their bedding programmes and planted more shrubs, and the Council 
will consider this approach with some of our open spaces to ensure that towns continue to look 
good but at substantially reduced cost as it recognises the importance of well-maintained green 
spaces to the community and how they contribute to health and wellbeing, with volunteer 
groups continuing to receive support through our Street Pride Co-Ordinator. Councillor Owen 
asked if he was correct in his understanding that some of the cancelled plants had already 
been acquired and paid for? Councillor Murphy stated this was not correct, summer plants had 
been purchased and planted, but winter plant orders were cancelled.  Councillor Mrs French 
also raised her concern that the groups were not informed sooner and that the Town and 
Parish Councils were also not consulted on whether they would like to contribute.  Councillor 
Booth stated that the villages already do not get a fair share and with further cut backs how is 
that fair to the villages who also pay their council tax, making the point that services need to be 
applied proportionately across the whole district.  Councillor Tierney reminded everyone that all 
areas had been cut but, although the CSR was a strategic level document which guided 
members to where they may make savings in the future, that does not mean that members do 
not need to be informed of decisions in good time, and in the instance of winter bedding it is 
communication where we have let ourselves down as talking to everyone can help mitigate 
some of the more problematic outcomes.  

 Councillor Sutton stated that about a year ago Councillor Mrs Bucknor received a dossier 

Page 6



regarding the damage caused by Japanese Knotweed, with some actions being taken on 
Council owned land, but at the time it was unaware of some trials being undertaken by Leeds 
University.  He asked Councillor Murphy if officers were aware of this dossier and that it held a 
contrary view stating that no evidence was found to suggest the plant causes significant 
damage to buildings; he suggested that officers read this report and put out a press release to 
show there are opposing views to what has been said locally.  Councillor Murphy was not 
aware of the trial but agreed to look into it.  

 Councillor Garratt stated that a key worker from St Giles Trust, an agency supporting the 
homeless, had told him she receives more help and support from officers at this Council than 
any other council throughout Cambridgeshire. Councillor Mrs Laws thanked Councillor Garratt 
and confirmed she would relay this to the housing staff; they work tirelessly and the comment 
was appreciated.  

 Councillor Owen stated that the Government is making assisted provision of vehicle electric 
charging points to local authorities and asked how many of these the Council has bid for and 
been awarded, and at which locations? Councillor Murphy responded that the local MP had 
made a similar enquiry in March 2018, for which members at the time were consulted and the 
response was conveyed to the MP by Councillor Oliver. The key sentiments of the note 
responds to some of the issues raised by Councillor Owen, but he stressed there has been no 
request from the community for such points so the demand is not there. Apart from the cost of 
these points in our car parks, the use is difficult to manage without increased management and 
enforcement of parking to ensure no-one parks in the bays all day. Councillor Owen is correct 
about the Government scheme, which provides up to 75% of capital costs but it does not 
provide ongoing revenue costs of power, maintenance and management of the facilities.  This 
Council is not the highway authority, therefore, it has no powers to allocate space on streets for 
residents to charge their own vehicles.  Taking all the factors into account, it is felt that the 
Council is unable to justify the provision of such facilities.  

 Councillor Mrs French asked Councillor Murphy when the trees removed from West End Park 
due to disease or vandalism will be replaced?  She also asked if he was aware that every time 
the County Council remove a tree, they supply two further trees in the district, so he may be 
able to request replacements from them. Councillor Murphy was not aware of this and will 
make enquiries; mature trees are very expensive to replace, unfortunately there is not enough 
money in the budget to replace them all.  

 Councillor Mrs French stated that there is now a defibrillator outside Fenland Hall supplied by 
Councillor Skoulding due his fundraising efforts and asked if the Council would consider 
reimbursing the cost? Councillor Mrs Hay conveyed her thanks to Councillor Skoulding and 
advised she will be talking to him and officers regarding this.  

 Councillor Count stated that as a March resident he would like to formally register that he is 
putting in a call on the car parking spaces to be looked at for an electric charging point. 
Councillor Booth added that the Parish Councils have recently been written to by the County 
Council asking if they want to participate in a pilot, so there is work underway regarding this.  

 Councillor Booth asked Councillor Oliver for an update on FACT and the investigation 
undertaken by this Council.  Councillor Oliver confirmed he would have an update for the next 
meeting.  

 Councillor Garratt asked if it the Council would agree to send a letter of congratulations to 
Jordan Gill on the success of his boxing career? Councillor Buckton agreed to do this.    

C42/18 TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY STATEMENT & ANNUAL INVESTMENT 
STRATEGY MID YEAR REVIEW 2018/19

Members considered the Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual Investment 
Strategy Mid-Year Review 2018/19 presented by Councillor Mrs Hay.

Councillor Boden asked if, in consideration of future versions of the report, a slight modification 
could be made to the statement regarding UK employment numbers as latest figures given by the 
Office of National Statistics suggested growth rather than stagnation. Councillor Mrs Hay stated 

Page 7



she will ask officers to look at that.  

Proposed by Councillor Boden, seconded by Councillor Seaton and AGREED to note the 
report.  

(Councillor Booth declared a non-pecuniary interest in this item by virtue of the fact that he works 
for the Yorkshire Building Society)  

C43/18 COUNCIL AUDIO/VISUAL EQUIPMENT

Councillor Mrs Mayor advised members of a proposed alteration to the recommendation contained 
within the report to include an annual maintenance contract for the preferred option to maximise 
performance of the equipment.  Members agreed to alter the recommendation accordingly.  

Members considered the options within the report presented by Councillor Buckton.  Members 
made comments, asked questions and received responses as follows:

 Councillor Mrs French did not support the webcasting as she felt it was too expensive and 
unnecessary for this Council.

 Councillor Skoulding felt that microphones could be shared and an integrated voting system too 
expensive when people can simply put their hand up.  

 Councillor Boden stated functioning microphones are important in order to do the work of this 
Council and it is commendable to propose a system that can be added to with additional 
functionality if required in the future, but he shared Councillor Skoulding’s concern regarding 
the cost of the voting system and felt it was not value for money for such a small council.  

 Councillor Tierney agreed with this view, although he felt that we have to be forward thinking 
regarding webcasting.  

 Councillor Booth agreed with all the comments, but felt the webcasting costs are too expensive 
and need to be looked at again.  

 Councillor Pugh felt the projector/screen costs were too expensive and needed to be 
reconsidered.  

 Councillor Sutton stated there is no doubt a new system is needed, but questioned the number 
of microphones required and felt that these could be shared.  

 Councillor Booth suggested an amendment, and that members look at Option 2.  He also felt 
the costs for the webcasting and projector need to be looked at again.  

 Councillor Buckton clarified the issue of costs for all of the items in the report and confirmed 
they were indicative costs obtained through research and if Members approve any of the 
recommendations a proper procurement would be undertaken to identify best value. In terms of 
Option 1 microphones, the recommendation is as it is because of the additional functionality 
and there is no opportunity for add-ons in the future with the other options. With regard to web 
or audio broadcasting of Council meetings, he asked if members are minded to look at that as 
an option for the future, then further work will be carried out to look at what options are 
available as there may be some free broadcasting opportunities but there are some issues 
around quality.  

Councillor Booth proposed to amend the recommendation to Option 2, and investigate Option 4, 
this was seconded by Councillor Yeulett.  

Councillor Boden asked if that meant the integrated voting system would be removed. Councillor 
Booth agreed that would be the case.
  
Councillor Count agreed that that the Council does need a modern system for meetings and the 
current situation is unfit for purpose, however, he would suggest now is the time to explore 
webcasting further, but for a cheaper option, which is transparent, the way for the future and will 
help with engagement.  

Page 8



Councillor Yeulett agreed; he seconded the proposition because he felt that the more open the 
Council is the better, it may also be an opportunity for younger people to become interested and 
get involved. 

Members discussed further the issues regarding maintenance. The Chairman stated that this 
would be dependent on procurement as to what maintenance is included and that an extended 
warranty would be looked at.  

Councillor Connor stated the importance of a good projector for Planning Committee.  Councillor 
Miscandlon concurred, stating that it is imperative to replace the projector, although he agreed with 
Councillor Pugh earlier comments on the costings.  

Councillor Mrs Hay suggested that the proposal be amended to include it was agreed that the 
projector needed to be replaced

Proposed by Councillor Booth, seconded by Councillor Yeulett and AGREED to 

 approve the replacement of the projector 
 approve Option 2 and the associated maintenance costs
 delegate further consideration of Option 4 to the Corporate Director of Finance and the 

Portfolio Holders for Finance and ICT to appoint the most economically advantageous 
provider.  

(Councillor Owen requested it be recorded that he abstained from voting on this item)  

C44/18 APPOINTMENT OF CORPORATE DIRECTOR AND CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER 
(S151 OFFICER)

Members considered the Appointment of Corporate Director and Chief Finance Officer (S151 
Officer) presented by Councillor Seaton.

As he had not been part of the Member Appointments Panel, Councillor Booth asked for 
confirmation that all appropriate due diligence had been undertaken and completed.  Councillor 
Seaton assured him that it was a very rigorous process.  

Proposed by Councillor Connor and seconded by Councillor Owen and AGREED to 
approve the appointment of Peter Catchpole as the Council’s Corporate Director (S151 
Officer).  

(Peter Catchpole who was present at the meeting left the room for this item)

5.38 pm                     Chairman

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

Fenland District Council Fenland Hall  County Road  March  Cambridgeshire  PE15 8NQ 
Tel  01354 622281   Fax  01354 606917   DX 30955 March   Minicom  01354 622215   

www.fenland.gov.uk 
 

 
 

Civic Engagements 
 

From 15 November 2018 to 12 December 2018 
 

Tuesday 27 November  Visit to Wisbech by HRH Prince of Wales 
Attended by the Chairman  
 

Wednesday 28 November Mayor of Peterborough Afternoon Tea 
Attended by the Chairman 
 

Sunday 2 December Fenland District Council Community Carol Service 
Attended by the Chairman and Vice Chairman  
 

Monday 3 December  Leisure Centre Staff Christmas Visits 
Attended by Chairman 
 
RAF Alconbury Wing Commanders Reception 
Attended by the Chairman 

Monday 10 December Chairman’s Christmas Staff Visits 
Attended by the Chairman  
 

Tuesday 11 December Chairman’s Christmas Staff Visits 
Attended by the  Chairman 
 

Wednesday 12 December Wisbech Grammar School Carol Service 
Attended by the Chairman 
 
Neale Wade Academy Carol Service 
Attended by the Chairman 
 
Huntingdon Town Council Carol Service 
Attended by the Vice Chairman 
 

 

Page 11

Agenda Item 3

http://www.fenland.gov.uk/


This page is intentionally left blank



Cabinet and 
Corporate Management Team 

Portfolio Holder Briefing Report 

November 2018 
(For performance in October 2018) 

Page 13

Agenda Item 7



Cabinet Members 

Councillor 
Chris Seaton 

Leader of the Council 

Councillor 
Mike Cornwell 

Cabinet Member for 
Communities 

Councillor 
Anne Hay 

Cabinet Member for 
Finance 

Councillor 
Peter Murphy 

Cabinet Member for 
Environment 

Councillor 
David Oliver 

Cabinet Member for 
Growth, Community 

Safety & Heritage 

Councillor 
Dee Laws 

Cabinet Member for 
Neighbourhood 

Planning 

Councillor 
Mark Buckton 

Cabinet Member for 
Leisure & Young 

People 

Page 14



BUSINESS PLAN AREA:  Communities 
 
Business Plan Priority: Support vulnerable members of our community 
 
Business Plan Action: Support residents to maximise their income by accessing 

the benefits they are entitled to.  Process applications for 
Housing Benefit and Council Tax Support quickly and 
accurately through our shared service (Anglia Revenues 
Partnership; ARP) 

 
Business Plan Action: Support residents in managing the effects of welfare 

reform changes by working with partners, including 
Jobcentre Plus and the CAB, and helping them access 
Universal Credits online 

 
Portfolio Holder: Cllr Mrs Anne Hay 
 

Description Target 18/19 Achieved  
(in-month 
only)  

Cumulative 
for 18/19 

Last year 
Cumulative 
performance 
for Sept 
17/18 

RAG 

Performance Measure      
Fenland target ARP1 
Days taken to process Council Tax 
Support new 
claims and changes 

8 days 5.7 7.7 9.7 days  

Fenland target ARP2 
Days taken to process Housing 
Benefit new 
claims and changes 

8 days 6.0 7.1 9.5 days  

 
This month we have exceeded all targets. 
 
For both Council Tax Support and Housing Benefit, new claims and changes have been 
processed in 6 days or under this month, which has kept the YTD figures well within target. 
 
We continue to prioritise new claims, are carrying out additional checks on pending claims and 
we continue to check 100% of earnings assessments going forward.   
The 3000 historic earnings assessment checks are now complete and we are currently checking 
an additional 1000 earnings cases that haven’t been re-assessed this financial year. 
Other 100% checks are also being carried out in light of our recent audit in preparation for next 
year’s audit process. 
 
Generic working ideas are now being put into practice, with the benefits team now awarding 
their own Single Person Discounts and our latest new starters beginning Council Tax training this 
week as the first tranche of billing and benefits officers. 
 
The DWP VEP (Verification of earnings and pensions) notifications are working well and we have 

Page 15



now commenced all 400+ self- employed reviews as part of the DWP incentive. 
 

 
BUSINESS PLAN AREA:  Communities  
 
Business Plan Priority:  Support vulnerable members of our community 
 
Business Plan Action: Deliver the Homelessness Strategy and housing 

duties. Work with the Home Improvement Agency 
to award Disabled Facilities Grants 

 
Portfolio Holder: Cllr Mrs Dee Laws 
 

Description Target 18/19 Achieved  
 

Cumulative for 
18/19 

RAG 

Performance Measure     
LPI CEL1 
Total number of private rented 
homes where positive action 
has been taken to address 
safety and cohesion issues 

200 11 105   

 
At the end of October 2018, the Council had undertaken 27 positive interventions in 
response to new requests for service for Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs) across 
the district.  
 
The Council had also investigated 78 complaints from tenants occupying privately 
rented accommodation in the same period. Council Officers intervened to remove 
Category 1 hazards (serious faults) and Category 2 hazards (less serious faults) from 
properties to make them safe for the residents. 
 
With a higher number of complaints that come through the winter months it is profiled 
that 200 homes target will be reached outside of the Controlling Migration Fund work. 
 
The geographical spread is as follows: 
 
                                    HMOs inspected                     Privately Rented Homes investigated 
 
Wisbech                                   23                                                           38          
March                                       4                                                            15 
Chatteris                                   0                                                              2 
Whittlesey                                 0                                                              6 
Villages                                     0                                                            17 
 
 
Private Sector Housing Enforcement – Controlling Migration fund project  
Performance 
As officers concentrate on their residential inspections, the impact of poor housing 

Page 16



conditions on health outcomes is becoming more visible resulting in a number of 
referrals to social care, requesting support for vulnerable adults.  
 
More landlords and agents are being made accountable for the poor standard of 
accommodation made available to tenants at the start of their tenancies and 
management practices are also being addressed where breaches are identified. It is 
expected that the first tranche of remedial notices relating to fire safety breaches will 
be served in the near future.  
 
The table below identifies the officers’ interventions in the last month which reflects 
their current priorities.  
 

Measure Oct Cumulative 
Total Number of Properties Inspected  155 1207 
Interventions Taken (see table below) 36 417 
Information Packs Issued 9 129 
Smoke Detectors brought into use 18 129 
Hazards Removed 38 134 

 
Breakdown of interventions  
 

Smoke Detector defect letters (Private Rented Sector) 2 
Smoke Detector advisory letters (Owner Occupied) 18 
Formal Inspection Appointment Letters 4 
Notice requesting Information  0 
Informal Letter requesting remedial repair 12 
HMO declaration notices 0 

  
The actions undertaken by the council help to ensure that residents can live safely in 
their private rented homes and landlords are aware of their responsibilities.    
 

 
Description Target 18/19 Achieved  

 
Cumulative for 

18/19 
RAG 

Performance Measure     
LPI 
Number of households 
prevented from becoming 
homeless 

200 56 208  

 
Breakdown: 
Mediation = 40 
Debt Advice = 12 
Resolve rent arrears = 11 
Private rented with deposit support = 70 
Private rented without deposit support = 39 
Housing Register Offer = 23 
Supported Accommodation = 13 

Page 17



 
The total preventions in 2017/18 was 115. 
 

Description Monthly Cumulative 
for 2018/19 

% 

Total number of Households approaching the 
Housing Options Team 

171 1095 N/A 

Total number household receiving advice only 
(i.e not homeless, but advice needed) 

82 537 N/A 

Total number of Personal Housing Plans created 
(i.e. there is a risk of homelessness and an action 
plan has been created aiming to prevent the 
homelessness taking affect) 

43 300 N/A 

i. Number of Main Duty Homeless decisions made.   8 22 N/A 
Successful outcomes in Prevention stage 
(household had their issue resolved within 56 
days) 

39 
out of 

44 

143 out 
of 168 

85% 

Ii Successful, outcomes in Relief stage  
 

17 
out of 

26 

65 out 
of 93 

70% 

 
Statistic for Wales;  Prevention 62%  Relief 42% 

 
I .This is where the personal housing plan has not resolved the problem leading to 
the need for a formal decision to be taken under the legislation.  In 17/18 the 
Council made 159 decisions and experience in Wales and Southwark indicate 
this should be much lower under the new Act. 
 
Ii (cases that came to the Council too late for prevention stage i.e. households 
were awaiting court action to end their tenancy or they lost their last settled 
accommodation, meaning that the Council had to provide some alternative 
form of accommodation whilst the household and the Council work on a 
personal housing plan.  During the 56 day “relief period” they had their housing 
issue resolved). 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Trailblazer Project Update 
 

 
The work of early homeless prevention across the Fenland-led Trailblazer project 
continues to make a valuable difference to people’s lives and wellbeing within 

Page 18



Cambridgeshire and Peterborough. 
 
Since the start of the project in August 2017, there have been 923 referrals. Of these 
387 are Fenland related - the highest rate of referral across Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough, from individuals and partner agencies requesting help to prevent 
families and individuals from becoming homeless. 
 
The Trailblazer team is working with social and private sector landlords to prevent 
homelessness including the use of mediation, debt advice and financial advice. 
 
A specialist Landlord Rent Solution service is in place within Trailblazer and our Housing 
Options Team to support landlords in managing tenancy issues, including support and 
advice, to avoid the need to take court action and evict tenants. 
 
Rough sleeping (Controlling Migration Fund) 
The Council’s Migrant Outreach Worker is working with 35 clients, all of whom are 
rough sleepers in Wisbech.  Regular visits are made with Police and CGL (Change, 
Grow, Live – the local drug and alcohol outreach service). Housing options, advice 
and sign posting is offered in order to provide routes out of rough sleeping for these 
individuals. Options for training and work are also offered along with support and 
temporary accommodation from The Ferry Project.   
 

 
Description Target 18/19 Achieved  

 
Cumulative for 

18/19 
RAG 

Performance Measure     
LPI 
Number of homes adapted to 
assist vulnerable disabled 
residents to remain in their home 

130 13 90  

 
Through this scheme the Council provides adaptation works for elderly and disabled 
home owners and tenants to remain safe, secure and protected in their own homes.  
 
At the end of September 2018, The Council has assisted 90 households with 
adaptation works.  
 
The geographical spread is as follows: 
Wisbech                       35                                                                                                   
March                           24                                                                                  
Chatteris                        7                                                                                          
Whittlesey                      9                                                                                           
Other villages              15                                                                                    
 
 

 
What do our customers say? 

Page 19

https://www.changegrowlive.org/


 Description Baseline Target 
18/19 

No of 
customers 

who 
responded 

 

No of 
customers 
satisfied 

 

% 
18/19 

RAG 

Disabled Facilities 
Grants: 
% of residents who felt 
that the work 
undertaken to adapt 
their property made 
their life easier ( 1 
year on survey) 

96% 90% 3 3 96%  

 
3 households responded to the survey in October for this performance measure.  
 
24 surveys have been completed for the financial year with 23 satisfied culminating in 
satisfaction score of 95% 
 

 
BUSINESS PLAN AREA:  Communities  
 
Business Plan Priority:  Support vulnerable members of our community 
 
Business Plan Action: Work with partners to build capacity and resilience 

so that residents can support themselves and the 
community 

 
Portfolio Holder: Cllr Mike Cornwell 
 
 

Community Locally Led Development (CLLD) 
 

 
The Local Action Group for CLLD has approved a bid from Wisbech Community 
Development Trust (WCDT), who applied for a grant of approximately £25,000 to run 
courses helping the unemployed and those in low skilled jobs. 
 
For residents feeling isolated, WCDT will run sessions including painting therapy, IT, 
confidence building, craft, digital photography, health & beauty, first aid, sport taster 
sessions and cooking courses. These courses will not only introduce them to other 
residents in similar situations but also teach new skills, which can be transferred to 
employability skills or assist in starting up a new business.  
 
These residents will be identified by Community Champion volunteers, recruited from 
the Waterlees Community and WCDT will be employing a part-time Community 
Development worker who will work with the Champions to pull together a Community 
Plan, which will be shared with the Wisbech Town Council, Fenland District Council and 
Cambridgeshire County Council.   

Page 20



 
 
BUSINESS PLAN AREA:  Communities  
 
Business Plan Priority:  Support vulnerable members of our community 
 
Business Plan Action: Encourage a range of partners to support the 

delivery of the Golden Age programme to support 
older people 

 
Portfolio Holder: Cllr Mike Cornwell 
 

 
Golden Age 
 
 
The Senior Citizens Advisory Group (SCAG) met to discuss:  

• Marketing – The marketing for the next Golden Age Fair at Friday Bridge was 
discussed including flyer distribution along with the communication strategy for 
future events which has now been agreed.  

• Previous event feedback – During the assessment process of the feedback, 
provided by partners, the last hour of the event was identified as being less busy 
than the previous two. Therefore SCAG agreed to utilise this hour by dedicating 
the last hour at the next event to the Gypsy, Roma and Traveller (GRT) 
community. Dedicated partners have subsequently been invited and attending 
the event to support the GRT community that are particularly vulnerable.    

• Utilising the Golden Age brand - A further update on the feasibility of supporting 
the development of a timebank / skillshare scheme initiative managed through 
a 3rd sector organisation. Research has started in preparation for a bid to be 
developed by Care Network to CCC’s Cultivate and Innovate fund. 

 
 

Page 21



Business Plan Priority:  Support vulnerable members of our community 
 
Business Plan Action: Deliver the Wisbech 2020 Action Plan across the 

themes of Education and Skills, Health, Wellbeing 
and Cohesion, Infrastructure and the Built 
Environment, and Local Economy 

 
Portfolio Holder: Cllr Chris Seaton 

 
 
Wisbech 2020 Update 
 
 
Celebration Evening 
Back in July, a celebration event was hosted by Business in the Community at the 
Royal Albert Hall to celebrate all that Wisbech has to offer. A central theme of the 
evening was the difference that can be made when business, political leaders and 
local communities come together to deliver positive change. The work that has, and 
is, being done by so many groups in Wisbech, committing to making a positive, 
sustained difference, is was highlighted as an exemplar in the UK.  
 
As there was a limit to those who could be invited to the London Gala, Anglian Water 
hosted a celebration evening in Wisbech to thank as many people as possible who 
have been involved.  The event took place on 30 October, at the Queen Mary Centre 
where key note speakers enthused about the community spirit evident in Wisbech and 
how this creates a firm footing for potential improvements over the coming years. 
Footage from the Royal Albert Hall was shown and there were exceptional live 
performances from two local choirs. 
 
Royal visit 
The work of the Wisbech 2020 Vision will be showcased in front of a Royal audience on 
on 27 November, when the town will welcome Their Royal Highnesses The Prince of 
Wales and The Duchess of Cornwell.   
 
The Royal visit will be overseen by Lord-Lieutenant Julie Spence who has invited the 
Royal couple to the town to learn more about the community groups and partners 
working together in the area to address some of the longstanding issues present in the 
Wisbech. 
 
The Royal couple will be visiting the museum and St Peter and St Paul’s Church to 
meet project leaders and local community group representatives, as well as local 
schoolchildren. 
 

 
 
 
 
Prevention at Scale Update 

Page 22



 
 
A Community Consultation took place on the Market place on Saturday 27 October. 
Partners worked together to speak with residents visiting the market that day.  The 
branding is under the ‘I Heart Wisbech’ campaign to gather people’s views and use 
them to develop future services and projects in the town. 

The campaign has been launched by the I Heart Wisbech team, which is made up of 
a number of local community organisations along with Cambridgeshire County 
Council, Fenland District Council and Wisbech Town Council. 
 
Volunteers have been out and about in the town centre gathering views and an 
online survey has been launched asking three questions – what do you love about 
Wisbech, how would you make it better and what would you like to do about it? 
 
The survey is available at https://www.smartsurvey.co.uk/s/JLTXO/ and is expected to 
run until January 2019. 
 

 
BUSINESS PLAN AREA: Communities 

 
Business Plan Priority: Promote Health & Wellbeing for all 
 
Business Plan Action: Deliver the Council’s Leisure Strategy 

 
Portfolio Holder: Cllr Mark Buckton 

 
Description Target 

October 18/19 
Achieved  

 
Cumulative for 

18/19 
RAG 

Performance Measure     
LPI LS1 
Number of paid visits to our 
leisure centres 

69,801 70,593 502,801  

 
Attendances at the leisure centres continue to remain on track. The current, 
continued, mild weather should ensure that attendances are up throughout 
November, leading into the quieter winter months. 
 

 
Description Target  

 
Achieved  

 
 RAG 

Performance Measure     
MPI  
Number of Direct Debit 
members 

2,931 3,242   

 
The number of Direct Debit members continues to exceed expectations, with this 
being reflected in income levels for the service. The Council’s switch to Freedom 
Leisure is anticipated to be smooth, with Freedom having done this work many times in 

Page 23

https://www.smartsurvey.co.uk/s/JLTXO/


the past, and membership levels post-transfer should continue to remain buoyant. 
 

 
 
Freedom Leisure 
 
 
Freedom Leisure takes over the operation and management of the four Council 
leisure centres on 4 December.  There is considerable background working taking 
place to ensure that the transfer proceeds smoothly.  A lot of detailed work continues 
to take place with regard to policies and procedures, staffing matters and building 
management.  With fewer than 30 days to the go-live date Freedom is indicating that 
the mobilisation plan is in good shape with no major issues reported. 
 
Tuesday 4 December is the handover date to Freedom.  Members are invited to 
attend the George Campbell Leisure Centre on this date at 9.30am, for a 10am 
handover photo-shoot with Freedom. 
 
FDC has commissioned a report from Living Sport, the County Sports Partnership, to 
look into potential options for the Wisbech Indoor Bowls Club.  A meeting is to be 
booked with the Club Committee in December to discuss the initial findings of Living 
Sport’s work.  
 
When the bowls lease with FDC ends on 31 December 2018, Freedom Leisure will issue 
a booking sheet in order that the club can complete this year’s season by the end of 
April. 
 

 
 
Active Fenland Update 
 
 
The Active Fenland team continues to deliver many locally accessible, affordable, fun 
activities to the Fenland community.  Highlights this month included; 
• Halloween Run was successful with 95 people taking part raising money for 
 Wisbech park lights 
• Halloween fit and fed- partnered with ground works for pumpkin carving.  
• Waterlees fun day beat the goalie – partnered with people and animals  
 
In addition to these irregular events, the team provides many regular sessions on a 
weekly basis throughout the Fenland community.  An infographic demonstrating 
activities, attendances and outcomes is being developed to try and highlight the 
importance of this work in a handful of succinct and easy to understand documents. 
 
Events coming up include a Santa run coming on December 22 in Wisbech Park – this 
includes a family run and 5K. 
 
Financial support for activities and clubs 

Page 24



The Active Fenland team continues to work with local activity groups and clubs to 
draw in funding to support activities across Fenland where possible. 6 bids are in the 
pipeline at present with more to follow.  
 
The team is supporting the development of the replacement Skate Park in West End 
Park, March. The Active Fenland team has used Facebook to locally promote a 
community survey regarding a replacement park – more than 450 responses have 
been received.  This feedback will give rich information to support a funding bid to the 
Amey Cespa community fund in December. 
 
Active Fenland has been targeting an improvement in physical activity uptake by 
women and girls, following Sport England’s national strategy.  One effective way of 
getting a message to a high number of people is through advertising at The Light 
Cinema in Wisbech.  This advert has been shown since October and highlights some 
of the options open in Fenland, all supported by the Active Fenland team.   
 
https://youtu.be/j57ZqJ75Xls 
 

 
 
What do our customers say? 

 
This month New Vision Fitness has been given a gold award in the Customer 
Experience Awards developed by our customer interaction software providers, TRP.   
 
TRP software allows gym instructors to log interactions with customers and the software 
then quantifies the quality of that interaction.  The gold award recognises the number 
of interactions that our team is carrying out, as well as the quality of those interactions.   
 
TRP data demonstrates that gym staff interacting with customers increases the number 
of months that customers will remain members.  Further, if the interaction is of a high 
quality that membership length of stay is increased further.  This is the difference that 
good staff make to a customer’s visit to the centres and this then impacts directly on 
retention rates and income levels. 
 
See the awards winners text video here;  
https://m.youtube.com/watch?feature=youtu.be&v=s7UJLMDxJz0 
 

 
 

Page 25

https://youtu.be/j57ZqJ75Xls
https://scanmail.trustwave.com/?c=6600&d=raPs23YA88mfbv9vPPkBTSkr5jpRy-HDmgM_iamiJg&s=1100&u=https%3a%2f%2fm%2eyoutube%2ecom%2fwatch%3ffeature%3dyoutu%2ebe%26v%3ds7UJLMDxJz0


BUSINESS PLAN AREA:  Communities  
 
Business Plan Priority:  Promote health and wellbeing for all 
 
Business Plan Action: Reduce inequality and deprivation by working 

collaboratively with others and deliver the Council’s 
Health & Wellbeing Strategy to tackle our local health 
priorities, including mental wellbeing 

 
Portfolio Holder: Cllr Mike Cornwell 

 
 
Health & Wellbeing Strategy 
 
 
Warm Home Fund Bid update 
In October this year the Cambridgeshire Energy partnership (previously action on 
energy) submitted a bid to the Warm Home Fund. 
 
The Warm Home Fund is aimed at supporting capital works to properties of different 
tenure thus making them more energy efficient and warmer. 
 
The Cambridgeshire partnership submitted a bid which would provide accessible 
funding for both privately rented and social managed properties. In Fenland the main 
aim would be for the private rented sector to receive support as the most vulnerable 
and fuel poor households reside in this sector. 
 
The partnership bid has been successful in the first round of assessment and members 
of the partnership have been invited to present their plans on 7 November to the 
Warm Home Fund. The final decision should be made by the end of November.  
 

 
Portfolio Holder: Cllr Mike Cornwell and Cllr David Oliver 

 
 
Wisbech Alcohol Project 
 
 
The Wisbech Alcohol Partnership’s October meeting was well attended and the 
project plan was reviewed and updated by project leads.  
 
Partnership officers also reviewed the current fixed penalty notice data for breaches 
of the alcohol related Public Spaces Protection Orders (PSPO) with a number of 
actions agreed to be progressed by selected partners.  
 
It has been agreed by the partnership to conduct a workshop either during late 2018 
or early 2019 to work through with both internal and external officers to challenge 
around PSPO breaches and how to best long term enforcement of these areas.  

Page 26



 
 

Portfolio Holder: Cllr Peter Murphy & Cllr Mike Cornwell 
 

 
Energy Conservation 
 
 
The Council has this month focussed on accessing as many sources of funding and 
support for residents as possible leading into the winter.   
 
Funding can be used for emergency fuel purchases or small works to repair heating 
systems and associated costs. 
 
The Council has registered as an intermediary to access the Turn 2 Us Response Fund 
for residents who are in hardship having had a life changing event.  This fund considers 
the persons situation as part of the approval process and enables a fast response to a 
situation with a streamlined grant process. It is envisaged this will fill a gap within other 
funding streams. 
 
We are also a registered partner for the Stay Well fund, whereby we can assist 
residents access an emergency fuel payment.  We have already referred 3 residents 
to Peterborough Environment City Trust too to receive a home energy check, with a 
view to reduce their energy costs. 
  
 This month the Council has assisted a number of residents in accessing funding in 
relation to heating and insulation. Not least has been securing emergency grants from 
3 organisations to pay for a replacement boiler for one resident who had recently 
become unable to work due to a heart condition. Intervention such as this help to 
prevent hospital admissions during the winter due to cold living conditions. 
  

 
 

Page 27



BUSINESS PLAN AREA:  Communities  
 
Business Plan Priority: Work with partners to promote Fenland through culture and 

heritage 
 
Business Plan Action: Work with local stakeholders to develop a Culture Strategy 

for Fenland; strengthening the links between the wider 
Fenland communities and promoting the area to people 
outside the district, including supporting the development 
of Must Farm in Whittlesey 

 
Portfolio Holder: Cllr Mark Buckton 

 
 
Culture Strategy Update 

 
 
The Portfolio Holder and Officers have met with strategy leaders in Lowestoft to discuss 
the impact that the culture strategy had in the town.  Lowestoft shares a lot of 
characteristics with Fenland and the results developed by the implementation of their 
strategy are very impressive.  Successes have included significant funding to develop 
creative projects that have in turn led to a significant fall in the rates of burglary and 
teenage pregnancy in the area. 
 
FDC has discussed the development of a strategy with several key stakeholders 
locally.  Next steps for this partnership group is a discussion regarding a bid to the Arts 
Council to fund consultation and strategy development work in the area. 
 

 
BUSINESS PLAN AREA:  Environment 
 
Business Plan Priority: Deliver a high performing refuse, recycling and 

street cleansing service 
 
Business Plan Action: Work with partners, the community and volunteers 

to divert at least 50% of Cambridgeshire’s 
household waste from landfill  

 
Portfolio Holder: Cllr Peter Murphy 
 

Description Target 18/19 Achieved  
 

Cumulative for 
18/19 

RAG 

Performance Measure     
LPI CEL8 
% of collected household waste 
– blue bin recycling 

28% 28% 28%  

 
Half Year - Collected Household Waste Blue Bin Recycling  

Page 28



 

 
Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Total 

Dry Recycling (Blue Bin) 2,205 2,150 4,355 
Residual Waste (Green Bin)  5,675 5,494 11,169 
Dry Recycling % of waste 28% 28% 28% 

 
Collected blue bin waste is on target and contributes positively to the recycling of 
household waste in the area and an increase of 65 tonnes on the same period last 
year.  
 
The crews have actually collected 4,692 tonnes of materials from Fenland blue bins so 
far this year and rejected 7,834 bins with obvious contamination. Even with this, 
AmeyCespa report that 438 tonnes of those collected were materials not acceptable 
in the bin. Whilst this is an improvement on last year, there remains more to be done. 
  
As a result, we have 4,254 tonnes of blue bin recyclable materials in the first half of the 
year along with 77 tonnes from local bring banks.   
 
A range of actions are planned to tackle the incorrect materials in the blue bins, 
including letters to all customers in January, the Christmas calendar, bespoke blue bin 
stickers and a continued focus from the waste team. The specific materials targeted 
are Textiles, Food, Nappies and General Waste to increase the amount of true 
recycling.  
 

 
Description Target 18/19 Achieved  

 
Cumulative for 

18/19 
RAG 

Performance Measure     
MPI  
% missed bins collected the next 
working day 

92% 92% 95%  

 
Missed Collections October (Blue and Green Bins) 
 

 Oct 18 Overall 
18/19 

Missed Collections Reported 167 1,129 
Collected next working day 153 1,071 
Percentage  92% 95% 

 
The total number of missed brown bin collections reported in October was 40, of 
which 37 were collected the same or next working day. 
 
To date this year customers have reported 1,129 missed collections and 95% (1,071) of 
these have been returned to the same or next working day. This is an average of less 
than 8 green or blue bin collections for each working day. 
 

 

Page 29



BUSINESS PLAN AREA:  Environment 
 
Business Plan Priority: Deliver a high performing refuse, recycling and 

street cleansing service 
 
Business Plan Action: Maximise the value of materials collected for 

recycling, including through Recycling Champions 
 
Portfolio Holder: Cllr Peter Murphy 
 

Description Target 18/19 Achieved  
September 

Cumulative for 
18/19 

RAG 

Performance Measure     
MPI  
Income generated through 
recycling materials 

£285,000 £25,167 £162,113  

 
A set of actions across Recap partners have been put in place involving ensuring that 
sampling is taking place to help identify the nature of non-recyclable materials. This 
information is being used to target future customer communications to reduce the 
levels of unwanted materials and target the right recycling messages.   
 

 

Page 30



BUSINESS PLAN AREA:  Environment 
 
Business Plan Priority: Deliver a high performing refuse, recycling and 

street cleansing service 
 
Business Plan Action:  Deliver an effective, self-funding garden waste 

collection service 
 
Portfolio Holder: Cllr Peter Murphy 
 

 
Garden Waste Service Update 
 
 
Garden Waste Service 2019 Communications 
Following a second successful year of the garden 
waste service, with more than 20,000 subscriptions, 
we are now commencing the communication for 
the 2019 season.  
 
The communications will follow a similar format to 
last year, with bin tags, bespoke webpages, shop 
leaflets, newspaper and parish news adverts 
along with letters and emails directly to existing 
subscribers.   
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Communications - November  
All existing garden waste subscribers will receive an email/ letter outlining the 
service from next year and the payment options available to them.  

Page 31



 
For all customers the Christmas calendar, delivered on all green bins during 
November, will update them on the price of the service for next year.  
 
December  
Just as last year, the online direct debit payments go on 
sale on 1 December at a 10% discount. Customers with 
an existing and valid direct debit need not reapply and 
will see their £36 subscription renew automatically for 
each brown bin they use in 2019.  
 
January 2019  
From 4 January customers can purchase subscriptions via the website by card, 
along with the usual payment methods at the contact centre, shops and hubs.  
 
Adverts in local newspapers and parish newsletters along with a letter to all 
properties will support the promotion and encourage customers to purchase early 
to ensure they have their subscription in place in good time.  
 
New subscriptions will start being dispatched 
early in 2019 using first class post and, if they 
wish, customers can put their sticker straight on 
their brown bin.  
 
February  
A further calendar is delivered to all properties 
in February with the Easter and summer 
arrangements, along with a reminder to those 
that have yet to subscribe.  
 
April 
Whilst our communication efforts are aimed at 
encouraging customers to sign up early, there 
will be tags placed on any unsubscribed 
garden waste bins presented from April.           
 
The new subscription year starts on 1 April 2019.  
 

 

Page 32



BUSINESS PLAN AREA:  Environment 
 
Business Plan Priority: Deliver a high performing refuse, recycling and 

street cleansing service 
 

Business Plan Action: Deliver clean streets and public spaces, as set out 
in the national code of practice 

 
Portfolio Holder: Cllr Peter Murphy 
 

Description Target 18/19 Achieved  
 

Cumulative for 
18/19 

RAG 

Performance Measure     
LPI CEL6 
Rapid or Village Response 
requests actioned same or next 
day 

90% 97% 96%  

 
Cleansing Rapid and Village Response October 2018 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
During October the team attended to 97% of the reported incidents on the same or 
next day. The start of the leaf-fall at this time of year does increase the pressure on the 
team to keep our public spaces clean, but they continue to deliver a good 
performance.  
 

Area Requests  Requests Met Performance 

Chatteris 9 9 100% 
March 23 22 96% 
Villages 23 22 96% 
Whittlesey 18 17 94% 
Wisbech 30 30 100% 
Totals 103 100 97% 

 
Description Target 18/19 Achieved  

 
Cumulative for 

18/19 
RAG 

Performance Measure     
LPI CEL7 
% of inspected streets meeting 
our cleansing standards 
(including graffiti and flyposting) 

93% 99%   

 
 
October Cleansing Inspections 

Page 33



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The regular inspection of the quality of cleansing in Fenland is performed by Street 
Scene officers on a routine basis using national scoring methodology which assesses 
litter, street sweeping and graffiti.  
 

Area Inspections 
carried out 

Standards 
met Performance 

Chatteris 30 30 100% 
March 29 28 97% 
Whittlesey 30 30 100% 
Wisbech 26 26 100% 
Totals 115 114 99% 

 
BUSINESS PLAN AREA:  Environment 
 
Business Plan Priority: Deliver a high performing refuse, recycling and 

street cleansing service 
 
Business Plan Action:  Work with key stakeholders to deliver an effective 

waste partnership and to update the 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Waste Strategy  

 
Portfolio Holder: Cllr Peter Murphy 
 

 
Cambridgeshire & Peterborough Waste Partnership (RECAP) 

 
 
Recap partners have met with representatives of the local pharmacies association, 
Cambridgeshire Community Pharmacies, to discuss sensible solutions to the changes 
to sharps collections that the NHS is planning for East Anglia.  
 
A draft agreement has been discussed and there is a measure of support from the 
representatives towards developing a shared approach to the issue in 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough for the benefit of the customers affected.  
 
The options around this work will be presented to Cabinet for recommendation to full 
Council approval in December for communication and adoption ready for the NHS 
changes in April 2019.   
 

 

Page 34



BUSINESS PLAN AREA:   Environment 
 
Business Plan Priority: Work with partners and the community on projects 

to improve the environment and streetscene 
 
Business Plan Action:  Support improvements to Fenland’s streetscene and 

heritage 
 
Portfolio Holder: Cllr David Oliver 
 

 
Wisbech High Street Townscape Heritage Project  
 
 
Preparation works at No 24 High St (“The Gap”) continue with the removal of 
hazardous waste from the building at the rear which will be followed up by securing 
the building, making it watertight and hopefully pigeon proof! Soil testing has been 
undertaken in the basement – this will enable the engineers to finalise the design for 
the foundations of the new building. Alongside this archaeological monitoring was 
undertaken. This monitoring was one of the conditions placed on the development – 
no evidence of any archaeological remains were observed. 
 
With the support from PCC Legal team we are now progressing with the transfer of the 
derelict properties at no 11 and 12 High St from the current owner to Fenland District 
Council. We have dedicated support from the PCC legal team who are also working 
to produce terms for the new developer, who will take the development forward, 
once a suitable agreement with FDC has been finalised. We then look forward to 
receiving plans from the new owner to the proposed redevelopment of the derelict 
site, followed by the required planning and building regulation approvals in advance 
of construction. 
 
A revised contract detailing the conditions of a grant for the conversion of a vacant 
first floor space into residential units as well as replacement and repair of shopfronts 
over 4 units at 13-17 High Street is now with the applicants. As soon as contracts are 
agreed and exchanged work can begin. This is the first large scheme which will make 
a significant impact on the High Street. 
 
We are still awaiting the applications from the owner of two listed properties who has 
engaged an agent to progress his application for a grant towards roof, window and 
shopfront repairs as well as paint removal which is causing damp issues to the C18th 
brickwork. An application is also due to be submitted from another owner for repairs 
to three historic windows to a property at the Market Place end of the street. 
 
The Project Officer continues to encourage other owners and tenants to apply for a 
grant. Although this has been difficult as there are many still considering the long term 
future of their buildings and leases.  
 
The project continues to develop and deliver popular training events and activities.  

Page 35



On 25th October we delivered “Museums at Night” event with a Halloween theme at 
the Wisbech and Fenland Museum. This event offered free craft activities and 
included a trail to encourage young visitors and parents to engage with the 
exhibitions whilst looking for clues to win a prize. The Mayor of Wisbech kindly came 
along to judge a pumpkin completion for which we had over 20 entries and there was 
an opportunity to hold a real owl in the garden too. The event attracted more than 
300 visitors that evening and was one of the most popular museum events. 
 
Our next event planned for November is the annual gutter clean. A banner will 
appear on the High Street soon… 
 

 
 

 
Portfolio Holder: Cllr Peter Murphy 
 

 
Manage the operation and maintain FDC-owned public car parks 

 
 
During the month of October the following works were undertaken, or have been 
scheduled for FDC Car Parks and Industrial Estates 
 
Undertaken  

1. Church Terrace Car Park, Wisbech shrub bed planting works undertaken in 
association with the Wisbech street pride group 

2. Somers Road Car Park, Wisbech repair to car park user signage following 
vehicle strike  

3. Ringway Infrastructure Services Ltd appointed to undertake FDC Winter Gritting 
operations following a tendered works exercise.  
 

Page 36



Scheduled  
1. New gulley grate and cover to be installed in Furrowfield Road Car Park, 

Chatteris 
2. Chapel Road Car Park, Wisbech perimeter fencing repair works 
3. Church Terrace Car Park, Wisbech trial hole works 
4. Church Terrace Car Park, Wisbech kerb build out realignment to improve 

access to parking bays and car park access 
5. Chapel Road Car Park, pot hole repairs 
6. Darthill Road, March patching works 
7. Horsefair bus station kerb repairs 
8. Brewin Chase, March patching works  

 
City Road Car and Lorry Park, March 
Car Park refurbishment works to City Road car and lorry parks commenced on  
Monday 22nd October. The works will be ongoing for approximately 6 weeks with 
completion anticipated for Friday 30th November. 
 
Sections of the car park will remain open throughout with the works being completed 
in several phases, however there will be a reduced parking provision whilst the works 
are being undertaken.  
 
The works principally consist of: 
 

• Car Park resurfacing and relining 
• Replacement of broken drainage channels 
• Replacement of signage and speed humps 
• Clearance of overgrown shrubbery and removal of dead and unstable tree’s. 

Re-planting, grass seeding, tree trimming and wood barking 
• Replacement of street light lanterns with energy efficient LED luminaires 
• Minor alterations and improvements to car park entrances and pedestrian 

routes.  
 
The completed works will reduce the current maintenance liability whilst providing 
users with a safer and more aesthetically pleasing facility. Additionally the improved 
lighting and landscape works will assist FDC CCTV cameras with ASB incidents. 
   

 

Page 37



Portfolio Holder: Cllr Peter Murphy  
 

 
Manage and maintain highway related assets and infrastructure (street furniture, bus 
shelters, etc) 

 
 
During the month of October the following street furniture repair or replacement works 
were undertaken, or have been scheduled: 
 
Undertaken 
 

1. One street name plate made safe and replace ordered 
2. Highway street furniture asset inspections undertaken 

 
Scheduled 
 

1. South Green, Coates bus shelter base slab repair and improvement works 
Mount Pleasant Road bus shelter repair/improvement works 
 

 
Portfolio Holder: Cllr Mrs Anne Hay  
 

 
Manage and maintain district, parish and Clarion HA street lighting 

 
 
38 street light faults were reported in October by the Assets and Projects Team to 
FDC’s new street lighting contractor for rectification.  
 
Following expiry of the deadline for Parish Councils to confirm if they wanted FDC to 
continue to manage their lighting stock with associated costs being recharged, Six 
Parish Councils opted to remain with FDC. A revised SLA reflecting the Cabinet 
decisions made in July has been drafted and sent to those Parish Councils who have 
opted to remain with FDC.   
 
Six Parish Councils have therefore opted to take back responsibility for their street light 
repairs, maintenance and energy arrangements. Management transfer arrangements 
for those Parishes opting out commenced in September and is currently ongoing. It is 
hoped to conclude this process in December. 
 

 
 

Page 38



BUSINESS PLAN AREA: Environment 
 
Business Plan Priority: Work with partners and the community on projects to 

improve the environment and streetscene 
 
Business Plan Action: Use education, guidance and Council powers to fairly 

enforce environmental standards and tackle issues such 
as flytipping, dog fouling and littering  

 
Portfolio Holder: Cllr Peter Murphy & Cllr David Oliver 
 

 
Environmental Enforcement Update 
 
 
Enforcement Service procurement 
The process to procure a private environmental enforcement provider jointly with 
Peterborough City Council continues. 
 
Four companies submitted bids in October and these are now being evaluated by the 
joint Peterborough and Fenland project team. 
 
It is anticipated a new service should be in place in early 2019. 
 

 
Portfolio Holder: Cllr Peter Murphy 
 

Description Target 
18/19 

Achieved  
 

Cumulative 
for 18/19 

RAG 

Performance Measure     
MPI  
Streetscene Officer hours spent 
on active town patrol 

6,000 511 3322  

 
Throughout October patrols by Streetscene and Kingdom officers have seen us focus 
on our open spaces and town centres. Our main focus has been fly tipping, litter and 
dog fouling prevention, having a visible presence in key areas. 
 
Broken down officers time across the district has been: 
March: 96hrs 
Wisbech: 241hrs 
Chatteris: 71hrs 
Whittlesey: 82hrs 
Rural: 21hrs 
 
Fixed penalty notices served in October: 
Location Fixed Penalty Notices served 
March 5 for parking offences 

Page 39



1 Littering 
Wisbech 35 for littering 

17 Alcohol PSPO  
5 spitting 

Whittlesey 9 for littering 
1 Fly Tipping 

Total 73 
 
The table below shows those fixed penalty notices served since April this year for 
littering and spitting offences. The number of notices served has returned to average 
levels recently as new staff have been recruited to the Fenland team.  
 
Kingdom Services have kept patrols in all key areas even with reduced numbers 
although at times the number of patrol hours is reduced.  
 
The overall payment rate is 67% making the service cost neutral to the Council. 
 

Month  Fixed 
penalty 
Notices 
Served 

Referred for 
prosecution 

Withdrawn/  
cancelled and 
not referred for 
prosecution 

Paid  %age 
paid 

April 87 24 5 58 70% 
May  47 12 6 29 70% 
June 18 4 2 14 77% 
July 4 0 1 3 100% 
August 24 n/a 0 14 58% 
September 23 n/a 0 16 52% 
October 50 n/a 0 28 56% 
Total 
(to July 18) 

156 40 11 105 67% 

Total 
(to October 18) 

253 40 13 163 65% 

 
Prosecutions for littering offences – Tidy Fenland 
In October 12 littering case files were heard at Peterborough Magistrates court. 11 
people were found guilty of littering and fined a total of £410. I case has been 
adjourned for a trial in January following a not guilty plea. 2 further people paid a 
total fine of £150 prior to their court date and the matter was withdrawn.   
 
Fenland has been part of a new Magistrate’s Court trial called ‘Single Justice 
Procedure’ whereby court cases are considered through a paper process. This is part 
of the Court and Tribunal Service transformation plan. The trial in October went well 
with learning points being put in place. A full launch of the process is planned for 2019. 
 
Fly tipping investigations and enforcement 
During October there have been 184 instances of fly tipping. The most commonly 
tipped items were household waste with 111 instances closely followed by 95 

Page 40



instances of commercial waste. Broken down into locations: 
 
Chatteris 9 
March 14 
Whittlesey 15 
Wisbech 72 
Villages 74 
 
During this month Street Scene Officers have attended 74 of the fly tipping sites and 
searched for evidence to try and find out who may be responsible. Any evidence 
found has been followed up.  
 
As part of our investigations 2 people have been invited in for an interview under 
caution. As a result one person was issued with a Fixed Penalty Notice of £400.  
 
Tidy Fenland Green Dog Walkers Campaign 
As part of our work to join in the community dog campaign, Green Dog Walkers, The 
campaign launched on the Whittlesey Market on Friday the 12th October from 10am. 
This event was pre advertised locally through social media and posters. 
Representatives from Fenland District Council, Whittlesey Town Council and the 
Neighbourhood Watch were on hand to sign up local dog walkers to take the Pledge.  
 
The launch was a success and there was a good response on the day from the public 
who happily signed up to become a Green Dog Walker. In total we had 56 owners 
sign up with a total of 76 dogs. This also became a good opportunity for the 
community to report other concerns to the Council which highlighted a number of 
dog fouling sites for patrols. 
Following the purchase of the licence our next steps will be to make contact with 
local community groups and all the towns and parishes to offer the campaign to their 
towns and villages.  
 
It will be a huge driving factor if we have community representatives like in Whittlesey 
willing to champion the campaign and help Street Scene Officers support the 
community in delivering the message and be their point of contact.  
 
We have already had interested from Doddington, and hope a Launch for the 
campaign can be delivered in each of the participating areas in partnership with our 
responsible dog ownership message, of looking after your local environment.  
 
The campaign message compliments the prevention and intervention work within the 
community and will build up useful intelligence for any enforcement work. With the 
winter months approaching ways to reduce the usual spike in reported dog fouling as 
a preventative measure is our focus.  
 
Street Scene actions  

• 20 Reports of abandoned vehicles, all were removed by persons unknown after 
receiving notices.  

• 24 nuisance vehicles were reported and actioned.  
• 36 matters relating to our open spaces, mainly regarding our grounds 

Page 41



maintenance contract. 
• Marked 13 graves. 
• 140 General street scene actions, including requests for service and general 

enquiries.  
• 90 dog fouling issues. (The rise is due to additional patrols and service requests 

made) 
• 35 matters relating to cleansing and refuse across the district. Including 

additional requests for service, domestic waste issues and customer queries. 
• 11 site visits for other service areas. 
• 11 trade waste matters resolved 
• 1 report to Highways regarding issues on their land. 
• 1 Report to Circle Housing regarding issues on their land. 
• 141 Fly posters have been removed. (increased level from the fair & Circus) 

 
 

Description Target 17/18 Achieved  
 

Cumulative for 
18/19 

RAG 

Performance Measure     
MPI 
Memorial inspections 
completed 

5,000 920 2427  

 
Memorial Inspections took place this month in Mount Pleasant and Chatteris New 
Road cemetery. Out of these 28 were identified as being unsafe and service requests 
have been raised to our contractors for them to be made safe. 
 

 

Page 42



BUSINESS PLAN AREA: Environment 
 
Business Plan Priority: Work with partners and the community on projects to 

improve the environment and street scene 
 
Business Plan Action: Ensure well maintained open spaces by working in 

partnership with ISS World and supporting community 
groups (such as Street Pride, In Bloom and ‘Friends Of’) 

 
Portfolio Holder: Cllr Peter Murphy 
 

Description Target 18/19 Achieved  
 

Cumulative for 
18/19 

RAG 

Performance Measure     
LPI CEL10 
Number of Street Pride and 
Friends of community 
environmental events supported 

204 24 
 

151  

 
24 events were held this month by community groups to improve the environment.  
 
Regular work parties were held as well as two litter picks being organised by local 
organisations in Wisbech & March. 
 
On 28th October 3 members of staff from Hughes Electrical in Wisbech conducted a 
litter pick of the local area, working in partnership with the Council who provided the 
equipment and arranged collection of the waste. 
 
Also this month, 20 young people from Neale-Wade Academy, who are part of the 
Community Ambassadors Scheme run by 20Twenty Productions in March, borrowed 
equipment for a litter pick they had arranged of West End Park.  
 
It is great to hear that both young people and local businesses are wanting to help in 
their local community. 
 

 
 
Progress against Street Pride plan: 
Priority 1: ‘helping groups work together / grant funding’ 
Priority 2: ‘Support for groups by varied Council services’ 
Priority 3: ‘ Increased partnership working’ 
Priority 4: ‘Opportunities to involve more young people’ 
Priority 5: ‘Increasing sustainability and resilience’ 
 
 
This month an activity was recognised under priority 5 – increasing sustainability and 
resilience.  
 
March Street Pride / In Bloom won first place & £1000 for a photo of their flowers on 

Page 43



March Town Bridge in an Amberol photo competition.  
 
As well as a clever way to gain funds for the group, it also raised their profile and that 
of the town to other groups and businesses who entered the competition. 
 

 
 
Grounds Maintenance Contract Update 
 
 
Tivoli are addressing hedge maintenance this month, with work taking place across 
the District.  The open spaces team continues to monitor performance closely, with 
non-compliance to our specification requiring a further visit from the contractor. 
  
A decision was made to leave our bedding areas empty over the winter period. This 
will make CSR savings of £5,500 between October and April 2019, with ongoing annual 
CSR savings of over £9,000 being saved.  There has been no wider community 
feedback regarding this decision, however local in bloom groups have expressed 
disappointment suggesting that they may have taken on some planting work.  The 
Council will learn from this and ensure that our voluntary groups are better informed in 
the future. 
 

 
 
West End Park Skate Facility  
 
 
Community consultation with regard to a replacement skate park has been 
completed.  Over 450 different people fed back their thoughts using online surveys 
and paper surveys (distributed by Young People March).  This is excellent information 
that will be used to develop a community focussed bid to the Amey Community Fund 
to support capital funding already in place from FDC for this project. 
 

 
 
Whitemill Coldham / Glassmoor and Ransonmoor updates 

 
 
The current bidding rounds are open for all three funds with grants being available to 
help local community groups improve their environment.  
 
Applications close on January 4th for Glassmoor, January 31st for Whitemill and March 

1st for Ransonmoor. 
 
On 8th November, an open evening has been arranged for community groups and 
organisations in the Whittlesey area to find out more about the grant funding 
available through the Glassmoor fund. Representatives of the Glassmoor Local 
Environment Committee will be on hand to provide an overview of the funding 

Page 44



available, and information on how to apply.  
 
Initial interest in the event has been very positive with a wide range of community 
groups expressing an interest in attending. 
 
Attendees will also have an opportunity to discuss any project ideas they may have. 
 

 
BUSINESS PLAN AREA: Environment 
 
Business Plan Priority: Work with partners and the community on projects to 

improve the environment and street scene 
 
Business Plan Action: Work with Town Councils and the community to provide 

local markets, market town events, and Four Seasons 
events 

 
Portfolio Holder: Cllr Peter Murphy 
 

 
Four Seasons Events 

 
 
The Council has worked in partnership with Cambridgeshire Highways this month to 
facilitate free of charge traffic management training known as ‘Chapter 8’ to 
volunteers from across Cambridgeshire.   
 
The training will mean that organisers and local councils will be qualified to close town 
centre roads for their own events.  40 people attended the session hosted at 
Melbourne Avenue, which particularly attracted remembrance parade organisers.  
Managing our road closures is a further step towards self-sustaining events. 
 

 

Page 45



BUSINESS PLAN AREA:  Environment 
 
Business Plan Priority: Work with partners to keep people safe in their 

neighbourhoods by reducing crime and anti-social 
behaviour and promoting social cohesion 

 
Business Plan Action: Work with partner organisations to reduce crime, 

hate crime and anti-social behaviour in Fenland 
through the Community Safety Partnership  

 
Portfolio Holder:   Cllr David Oliver 
 

Description Target 18/19 Achieved  
(October) 

Cumulative for 
18/19 

RAG 

Performance Measure     
MPI 
Number of incidents recorded 
by CCTV 

1,500 126 1099  

 
During October 2018 the Council was able to respond and detect 126 incidents of 
crime and disorder, including anti-social behaviour, making use of the Council’s CCTV 
service across our four market towns in Fenland. This is a decrease as compared to 
October 2017 in which 170 incidents were reported.  
 
A breakdown of incidents by town for October: 
 
Chatteris 8 
March  16 
Whittlesey  3 
Wisbech 99 

 

 
Description Target 18/19 Achieved  

(October) 
Cumulative for 

18/19 
RAG 

Performance Measure     
MPI 
Number of CCTV incidents 
resulting in positive action 

180 23 171  

 
During October 2018 the Council was able to achieve 23 positive enforcement 
outcomes from incidents responded to or detected by the use of CCTV. This is an 
increase as compared to October 2017 in which 20 positive outcomes were achieved. 
 
These included arrests for drink-driving, shoplifting, criminal damage and alcohol 
related disorder.  
 
 
Positive outcomes achieved for October: 
 

Page 46



Arrests (CCTV led) 6 
Assisted arrests 11 
Fixed Penalty Notices (FPN)        5 
Assisted FPNs                                1 

 

 
Description Target 18/19 Achieved  

(October) 
Cumulative for 

18/19 
RAG 

Performance Measure     
MPI 
Number of pro-active CCTV 
patrols  

3,000 357 2,601  

 
The CCTV team during October 2018 were able to provide 357 camera patrols 
covering the four market towns in Fenland. 
 
This approach allows for the CCTV team to identify, where possible, any community 
issues early to ensure adequate and prompt partnership response and to support the 
service level agreements that are in place for contributing partners and customers. 
 

 
 Target 18/19 Achieved 

Month 
Cumulative for 

18/19 
RAG 

Performance Measure     
MPI 
Number of FDC ASB cases 
where positive action is taken 

90% 100% 

13 

100% 

103 

 

 
The Council received 13 new ASB cases into the Anti-social behaviour team, all were 
responded to and actioned within the relevant timescales, appropriate to their risk 
assessment score and with a focus on the needs of the victim. The13 cases included 
vandalism, motorbikes speeding along footpaths, neighbour ASB & related noise 
nuisance and ASB driving and associated disturbances connected to carparks in 
residential areas.  The total number of ASB cases recorded for 2018 – 2019 is 103. 
Community safety, have delivered individual support for each victim experiencing 
anti-social behaviour where they live.  
 

 
 
Community Safety Partnership Update 
 
 
The 4th meeting of Fenland Community Safety Partnership in 2018 was held on 
Thursday 26 July. 
 
The partnership is a statutory body that are responsible for understanding and tackling 
crime & ASB within their area and reducing the fear of crime & ASB. Statutory members 
of the CSP include police, local authority, fire, probation, and clinical commissioning. 
Fenland also has non-statutory members which include Clarion Housing group and 

Page 47



Inclusion.   
 
At this meeting the partnership were provided with a strategic assessment for Q2 of 
2018/19 on Cybercrime and the impact in Fenland. Following discussion amongst 
partnership members it was suggested and agreed to work towards improving 
awareness amongst the community, business owners and employees who work with 
those considered most vulnerable. This will be achieved by developing a close working 
partnership with Cambridgeshire Constabularies Fraud & Cybercrime Security Advisor.  
 

 
 
Street Drinking Update including Public Space Protection Orders 
 
 
The Wisbech Alcohol Partnership continues to meet monthly to review and check 
progress of the associated action plan and to review current profiles for local service 
support. 
 
The four active Public Spaces Protection Orders that cover the Wisbech town centre 
area continues to be actively supported by the Council and its supporting 
enforcement partners as well as weekly recovery walks provided by Inclusion outreach 
officers. 
 
The CCTV team responded to 45 reports of Street Drinking with 5 leading to positive 
action being taken by enforcement officers and others being provided with words of 
advice by Police. 
 
There have been 16 fixed penalty notices (FPN) issued during October 2018 for breach 
of PSPOs relating to alcohol restrictions. These have included 13 Fixed Penalty Notices 
within St Peter’s Gardens, 2 FPNs within Tillery Field and 1 in the Memorial Gardens, 
Wisbech.  
 
As part of conducting a review of the Wisbech alcohol related PSPO for elected 
members a community survey was conducted. The survey was conducted over two 
weeks between 8th October and 21st October 2018. There was an online link to the 
survey as well as a paper option at the One Stop Shop in Wisbech. In total there were 
240 completed surveys. The findings are being collated and will be presented in due 
course. 
 
For more information on the PSPOs visit: www.fenland.gov.uk/pspo 
 

 

Page 48

http://www.fenland.gov.uk/pspo


BUSINESS PLAN AREA:  Environment 
 
Business Plan Priority: Work with partners to keep people safe in their 

neighbourhoods by reducing crime and anti-social 
behaviour and promoting social cohesion 

 
Business Plan Action: Support the Fenland Diverse Communities Forum to 

deliver the Fenland-wide Community Cohesion 
Action Plan and projects resourced by the 
Controlling Migration Fund 

 
Portfolio Holder:   Cllr Mike Cornwell 
 

 
Fenland Diverse Communities Forum 
 
 
Community Translation and Basic English Language 
Coordinator in place who has recruited 15 volunteers with Lithuanian, Latvian, Russian, 
Bulgarian, Romanian, Polish and Faro language skills. They have supported 213 clients 
and provided 245.5 hours of translation in 7 languages. Supporting clients has resulted 
in 47 statutory service interventions. 
 
Support has been provided with; hospital appointments, tax credit, child tax credit, GP 
appointments, In term school placements, opening bank accounts, National Insurance 
Number applications, Housing issues, rogue landlords, debts, child maintenance, 
homelessness, HM Revenue payments, Job search, solicitor appointment, TB hospital 
appointment, Social care, school information and employment rights issues. 
 
The project has also provided 32 English language sessions between April and 
September with 68 new students. It offers 3 sessions per week, Basic English Drop-in, 
Basic English and a progression class to enable students to move forward. 
 

Page 49



BUSINESS PLAN AREA:  Economy  
 
Business Plan Priority: Attract new businesses, jobs and opportunities, 

whilst supporting our existing businesses in Fenland 
 
Business Plan Action: Working with our partners, local businesses, the 

Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) and the 
Combined Authority, we will raise the business 
profile of Fenland to attract inward investment and 
establish new business opportunities 

 
Portfolio Holder:   Cllr David Oliver 
 

 
Business Engagement & Inward Investment 

 
 
Fenland for Business website - www.fenlandforbusiness.co.uk 
 
Engagement volume has remained steady for October, 
although we are seeing News and Events feature in one 
of the most viewed page, which suggests that customers 
were looking to find out more about events being 
supported by Fenland for Business in conjunction with 
partners. 
 
The most popular pages were: 

• Home Page 
• News and Events 
• Invest in Fenland/Fenland economy 
• Support for businesses/growing your business 

 
 Oct Sept August  July  

 
June  

Sessions 168 139 150 86 122 
Users 154 109 128 73 98 
Page views 255 267 279 179 202 
Pages/Session 1.52 1.92 1.86 2.08 1.66 
Average session duration 00:00:34 00:01:47 00:01:51 00:01:58 00:01:13 
Bounce rate 79.76% 68.35% 70% 73.26% 71.31% 
Returning visitor 6.9% 12.4% 10.3% 18.5% 13.8% 

 
Marketing and Communications 
The October Fenland for Business newsletter promoted upcoming business events, a 
update from The College of West Anglia and live funding streams including: 
 
- KEEP+, a £6m European Regional Development Fund supported programme, 
providing grants to assist small and medium sized enterprises (SMEs) to develop 
innovative new products and services. 

Page 50

http://www.fenlandforbusiness.co.uk/
http://www.fenlandforbusiness.co.uk/�


- Small Grants Programme will support the growth of small and medium enterprises 
(SMEs), offering grants between £2,000 and £20,000 to support capital investment 
projects to a maximum of 20% of the total cost. 

- Business Growth Programme for businesses seeking investment greater than £20,000 
but less than £3million, the Business Growth Programme is focused on unlocking jobs 
and accelerating economic growth. 

- Eastern Agri-tech Growth Initiative supports the development of new and innovative 
ideas within this important sector. The programme covers all of the LEP geography 
PLUS the rest of Norfolk and Suffolk. 

- Skills Capital Fund supports the delivery of its skills strategy, the Combined Authority 
has set aside £2 million and is keen to invest in improved skills infrastructure or specialist 
equipment which will help to meet the needs of the area's businesses. 

Monthly Newsletter activity Oct 18 Sept 18 Aug 18 July 18 June 18 
Sent 547 550 553 560 562 
Delivered 545 549 549 553 561 
Read 61 69 64 80 118 
Top Client iOS iOS iOS iOS iOS 
Clicks 11 5 0 65 10 
Social 0 1 0 14 2 
Unsubscribed 0 2 1 1 1 
Bounces 2 1 4 7 1 

 
Events 
Officers are collaborating with partners to develop a series of joint events and carry 
out joint marketing activities to promote these events. This month the Fenland for 
Business Team collaborated with NWES to deliver the following free events at 
Southfens Business Centre and an event with Cambridgeshire Chamber of Commerce 
at The Boathouse: 
 
Upcoming calendar of events 
Chatteris, South Fens Business Centre 

- First Steps to Start-up (FREE) two day workshop with NWES  
7 & 8 November 2018 
 

- Marketing Strategy (FREE) half day workshop with NWES 
9 November 2018 (am) 
 

- Bookkeeping and Taxation (FREE) half day workshop with NWES 
 9 November 2018 (pm) 
 
Wisbech, The Boathouse Business Centre 

- Grow your business event (FREE) with Cambridgeshire Chamber of Commerce 
14 November 2018 

 

Page 51



 
Description Target 18/19 

(annual) 
Achieved  

 
Cumulative for 

18/19 
RAG 

(profile) 
Performance Measure     
MPI BE5 
Number of inward investment 
enquiries handled 

8 3 10 
(Sep profile = 4) 

 
 
 

 
ED officer held initial meeting with the Department of International Trade and local 
company looking to expand production. The company are looking to expand the 
facility as the site has reached capacity. The company owns adjacent land and are 
currently carrying out full ground, topical and utility surveys to ensure there is enough 
power & water on site and drainage is sufficient to build and accommodate the size 
that they would like. Once surveys are complete, ED officer to arrange a meeting with 
FDC planners.  

It is understood that the company would like to start this works as soon as possible, and 
on completion of the works at least 30 new jobs would be created. 

 
Description Target 18/19 

(annual) 
Achieved  

 
Cumulative for 

18/19 
RAG 

(profile) 
Performance Measure     
MPI BE6 
Number of social media 
followers 
(Fenland business engagement 
and profile enhancement) 

790 
 

Total 17/18 
726 

9 
 

778  

 
• 106 profile visits – Visitors to the ‘@fenlandbusiness' page. 
• 18 tweets – Original content material published from the ‘@fenlandbusiness' 

account. 
• 9 mentions - when someone else uses '@fenlandbusiness' in their tweet, for 

example, to show that they've attended an event we've organised, to share the 
work of Fenland for Business, or even to make us aware of upcoming events or 
initiatives. This is a good indicator of engagement and awareness of the 
account by other organisations. As we had an event this month we had a 
particularly high number of mentions 

• 11.6k tweet impressions - this is the potential number of people that may have 
seen a ‘@fenlandbusiness’ tweet in their news feed. This is a mix of the people 
that follow Fenland for Business and the followers of any accounts that 
interacted with a tweet from Fenland for Business by retweeting, commenting 
on, or liking a tweet as this activity will be shared with them. 
Top Tweet for the month earned 2,263 impressions, ‘Call for Cambridgeshire, 
Growth Deal’ 

• 9 new followers 
 

 
Description Target 18/19 

(annual) 
Achieved  

 
Cumulative for 

18/19 
RAG 

(profile) 

Page 52



Performance Measure     
MPI BE8 
Number of businesses referred 
to Economic Development from 
Business Ambassadors network 

12 2 9 
 
 

(Sep profile = 6)  

 

 
ED officer has engaged with two new business into Fenland; one looking to start a 
catering business, officers signposted the enquiry through to FDC licensing and 
Environmental health for the appropriate support required. The second looking to 
move into new industrial premises, officer supplied FDC’s availability and signposted 
the business through to the Evaluations and Estates surveyor for further support. 
 
ED officer working alongside FDC planning to investigate new premises for a Children’s 
nursery. ED officer currently engaging with local commercial agents to look for 
alterative suitable accommodation. 
 
ED officer currently engaging with local commercial agents for information on 
potential alternative accommodation for the Indoor Bowls Club. At this stage, just 
primary info, such as lettings particulars, or for any properties coming onto the market, 
an indication of likely rent, location and outline terms (availability, lease length, 
repairing obligations) as part of the FDC’s and Living Sports Options Appraisal. 
 

 
 
Market Town Masterplans Update (known as ‘Growing Fenland’) 

 
 
The Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Combined Authority (CPCA) wants every one 
of its market towns (11 of them, 4 of which are in Fenland) to be a vibrant and thriving 
place in its own right, with its own distinct identity and set of ambitions for the future. 
 
To ensure that there is sufficient capacity and expertise to undertake the study, the 
CPCA have committed £200,000 (£50,000 per Market Town) to appoint experts to 
coordinate undertake research & analysis and develop a prospectus for each 
Fenland Town. 
 
Attention is focussed on the introductory meeting being held on the 9 October 2018 
with the four town stakeholder groups and Metro Dynamics the nominated consultant. 
 

 

Page 53

http://cambridgeshirepeterborough-ca.gov.uk/


BUSINESS PLAN AREA:  Economy  
 
Business Plan Priority: Attract new businesses, jobs and opportunities, 

whilst supporting our existing businesses in Fenland 
 
Business Plan Action: Facilitate local business support to encourage 

business growth, improve job diversity and skills. 
Explore funding streams which support jobs and 
economic growth 

 
Portfolio Holder:   Cllr Mark Buckton 
 

 
Partnership Engagement & Funding Activity 

 
 
The Cambridgeshire & Peterborough Combined Authority and Business Board have 
announced the launch of the Growth Funds Prospectus, which is part of the 
Governments ‘Growth Deals’ programme which aims to provide capital funding from 
the Local Growth Fund to local economies via Local Enterprise Partnerships (LEPs) and 
in Cambridgeshire & Peterborough, via the CPCA Business Board. The Business Board is 
then invest in local projects which help overcome strategic barriers to growth - from 
road improvements and incubator space, through to new skills facilities and space for 
innovation. 
 
The Economic Development Team will be working closely with colleagues from the 
CPCA to promote and encourage the take up of the following funds: 
 

• Small Grants Programme will support the growth of Small and Medium 
Enterprises (SMEs), offering grants of between £2,000 and £20,000 to support 
capital investment projects to a maximum of 20% of total project cost. 

• Business Growth Programme will provide loan finance for capital projects – 
generally between £20,000 and £3 million. Projects should be able to pay back 
the loan in less than three years. 

• Eastern Agri-Tech Growth Initiative supports the development of new and 
innovative ideas within this important sector. There are two elements to this fund, 
the: 1) Agri-Tech Growth Fund, which provides grants between £10,000 and 
£150,000 to support product development and improve agricultural 
productivity; and: 2) Research, Development and Prototyping Fund, which helps 
to support the research and development of new product or processes with 
grants of between £10,000 and £60,000. 
 

Officers continue to work closely with businesses to provide high level advice and 
support around the availability and access to grants via the GRANTFinder system. 
GRANTFinder users within the Council have shared around 35 funding opportunities to 
partners this month, with several processing forward into applications. 
 
With respect to larger scale projects, the Growth Fund Prospectus also enables the 

Page 54

http://cambridgeshirepeterborough-ca.gov.uk/assets/Uploads/Business-Board-Growth-Prospectus-201819-F.pdf


submission of applications for more ambitious projects under its Growth Deal 
programme. The Business Board are keen to encourage applications for projects that 
have an emphasis on creating new job opportunities through delivery of new 
employment infrastructure. With the £50 million Growth Deal funds available, it is 
expected that this fund will deliver at least 10,000 new jobs, which equates to an 
average investment of £5,000 per job. All applications should be aligned to the 
recently published CPIER report. 
 
Officers are considering potential submissions (3 projects) to a stage 2 with the call for 
submissions closing on the 30 November 2018 noting there is another bid period in 
Spring 2019. 
 

 
 
Workforce Development, Employment, Skills and Apprenticeships 

 
 
We offer a range of NVQ apprenticeship qualifications out to our workforce already, 
and are currently developing a wider apprenticeship offer to enable a minimum of 9 
apprentice posts being offered by the Council. We already have an HR apprentice, 1 
Business Administration Apprentice in our Business Centres, and 1 management 
Apprenticeship. We will be looking to commence a further 2 management 
apprenticeships and an accountancy apprenticeship within the next few months. 
 
We are seeking to establish new apprentice posts in marine services and property 
maintenance, and are actively looking to providers to support these qualifications. 
 
We also offer work experience and longer term work placements to enable young 
people to develop valuable work skills. 
 

 
 
Work Experience Placements &Work Opportunities Programme 
 
 
The Council has an established work experience programme working with local 
schools to provide a work experience placement programme across a range of 
Council teams. HR, Customer Services, Environmental Health, Planning and 
Conservation, ICT, with further offers currently being explored from our Housing teams. 
 
This is a rolling annual programme, and usually takes place between May and July 
each year.   
  
We have also provided longer-term placements, working with other agencies. 
 

 
 
Work with partners to deliver a programme of supported skills development across the 

Page 55



district 
 
 
We have been working with the Skills Service and local education providers to help 
provide opportunities for young people and to help build their ‘fit for work skills, such 
as interview skills workshops, careers presentations and employability skills 
 

 
 
Explore and expand opportunities for the Council to work in partnership with local 
education providers to promote employment opportunities for the local community, 
and raise the aspirations for people to improve their employment / life prospects 
 
 
We are currently developing a wider apprenticeship offer to enable a minimum of 9 
apprentice posts being offered by the Council, and have approached local 
businesses to offer support where possible. 
 

 
BUSINESS PLAN AREA:  Economy 
 
Business Plan Priority: Attract new businesses, jobs and opportunities 

whilst supporting our existing businesses in Fenland  
 
Business Plan Action: Promote and develop our business premises at 

South Fens, The Boathouse and our light industrial 
estates to encourage investment, job creation and 
skills diversification 

 
Portfolio Holder:   Cllr David Oliver 
 

Description Target 18/19 Achieved  
 

Cumulative for 
18/19 

RAG 

Performance Measure     
LPI BE1 
% occupancy of the 
business premises estate 

90% 92.6% N/A  

 
Boathouse Business Centre: 
One office has is now available to let, Heads of Terms for this company had been 
issued to a company, however they have decided that an office at South Fens 
Business Centre will better suit their needs. 
 
A tenant vacated an office at the end of September, Legal have been instructed 
with regard to an existing Tenant moving in on the 1 November 2018 to ‘upsize’.  
This move will now take place in early December 2018. 
 
South Fens Business Centre: 

Page 56



Legal instructions were issued for an existing tenant who is increasing the size of 
their office, with a view to completing on the 1 November 2018, this date has been 
revised to mid-November. 
 
Heads of Terms have been issued to an existing Tenant of the Boathouse who is 
now taking an additional office at South Fens. 
 
Heads of Terms have been issued to a new tenant company; this lease is due to 
complete towards the end of the calendar year. 
 
Three viewings have been carried out this month, two via Rightmove and one by 
our commercial property agent. We will know the outcome of these viewings 
during the early part of November. 
 
South Fens Enterprise Park: 
Remains 100% occupied. 
 
Light Industrial units 
The current position for the estates is: 
 

Prospect Way, Chatteris    - Fully Let but also note 

o A long-standing tenant has advised they are likely to be serving 3 
months’ notice to quit before Christmas. 

Longhill Road, March         - Fully Let 

New Drove, Wisbech          - Fully Let 

Venture Court Wisbech      - Fully Let 

Boleness Road, Wisbech    - Fully Let but also note: 
o A double unit will be becoming available when tenant reinstatement 

works are complete. The tenant has now served formal notice and 
the unit will be vacant 1st January 2019. 

o Accommodation moves at Fenland Hall are likely to free up a unit 
currently used by FDC so that this can also be let. 

Meeting & conference facilities 
Demand for high quality, low cost conference and meeting spaces continues to 
ensure that both business centres remain very busy with a constant flow of 
bookings. 
 
Summary 
Current floor space occupied 8013m2 out of a total available 8,654 m2. 
 
South Fens Business Centre       58% 
South Fens Enterprise Park        100% 
Boathouse Business Centre       93% 
Light Industrial Units     100% 
 

Page 57



Overall Business Premises Estate occupancy is currently over target at 93.3% 
 

 
What do our customers say? 
Description Baseline Target 

18/19 
(annual) 

No of 
customers 

who 
responded 

 

No of 
customers 
satisfied 

 

% 
18/19 

RAG 
(annual) 

LPI BE2 
% tenant satisfaction 
with business premises 
(October 18) 

100% 94% 11 11 100  

 
An annual tenant satisfaction survey is undertaken in October of each financial year.   
 
42 surveys were sent out to tenants at South Fens and the Boathouse Business Centres, 
of which 11, (26%) took the opportunity to complete them. 
 
100% the service as very good or excellent. Examples of which include: 
 

• The staff are always friendly, helpful and efficient. 
• The staff are very accommodating and go out of their way to assist in whatever 

way they can - we have thoroughly enjoyed our time at the Boat House and 
were sad to leave 

• Reception Staff and Management are always very accommodating and very 
helpful. 

• The team are exceptional and they are extremely efficient and always there to 
help. They are friendly and vary adaptable to all visitors to the centre 

• The front of house staff are diligent and extremely helpful.  I have nothing but 
the highest praise for their professionalism and dedication to the efficient 
running of the Boathouse.  They are very welcoming and always have a smile for 
people. 

• The team are exceptional. Always going the extra mile. As we spend quite a bit 
of time away from the office, their support on reception is a great help and 
gives a peace of mind for when we are away. 

• Always very helpful and friendly 
• Communicate well 

 
 

Description Baseline Target 
18/19 

No of 
customers 

who 
responded 

 

No of 
customers 
satisfied 

 

% 
18/19 

RAG 

MPI BE3 
% conference 
customer satisfaction 
with our Business 
Centres 

100% 94% 15 
(97 

issued) 

15 100%  

Page 58



 
Conference centre users are surveyed annually, in October of each year. The results 
are published in November 2018.  
 
Feedback requests are provided to conference organisers. This year we have received 
15 responses all of which provided very positive feedback which included the following 
comments: 
 

• Great facilities in a great location 
• Simple booking procedures “make my life very easy” 
• Fantastic staff 
• Welcoming environment 
• Welll looked after rooms nicely decorated 

 
Comments included: 
 
Quality of the toilet facilities at South Fens – options are being considered to upgrade 
and repair where necessary. Note – these are the original washroom facilities which 
have not been replaced since the building opened on 2005. 
 

 

Page 59



BUSINESS PLAN AREA:  Economy  
 
Business Plan Priority: Attract new businesses and jobs and support 

existing businesses in Fenland 
 
Business Plan Action: Deliver a proactive and effective Marine Service to 

meet our statutory obligations and promote 
business opportunities for the River Nene 
environment 

 
Portfolio Holder:   Cllr David Oliver 
 

Description Target 18/19 Achieved  
 

Cumulative for 
18/19 

RAG 

Performance Measure     
LPI MS1 
Number of berth holders / 
occupancy of berths at 
Wisbech Yacht Harbour 

90% 
(of 86 

berths) 

84 98%  

 
4 visiting boats called at Wisbech in October. Full time berth numbers remained on 
target with 4 vessel leaving and 3 new full time berth holders joining the Yacht 
Harbour. 
 
Wisbech Yacht Harbour occupancy achieved year to date: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Description Target 18/19 Achieved  
 

Cumulative for 
18/19 

RAG 

Page 60



Performance Measure     
LPI MS2 
Number of boat lift operations 
at Wisbech Port 

353 40 309  

 
The boatyard continued to be very busy throughout October for boatlifts with 11 
leisure vessels; And there was 1 Fishing vessels lifted from Kings Lynn to use the yard. 
Eastern inshore fisheries also used the facility on 1 occasion throughout the month. 
 

 
 

 
Description Target 18/19 Achieved  

 
Cumulative for 

18/19 
RAG 

Performance Measure     
Gross Tonnage to Ports  
 

423,000 42,066GT  275,364 
GT against a 
projection of 

245,792GT 
112% 

 

 

 
Port Sutton Bridge 
Imports to Sutton bridge were down on target for the monthly forecast with a total of 
29,563 GT of cargo (93% from target); this consisted of Steel, Salt, Maize, Oil Seed 
Rape, Beans. The total number of vessels to call at Sutton Bridge was 16.  

Page 61



 
Port of Wisbech 
Imports to Port of Wisbech were above on the monthly forecast target with imports at 
12,503 GT of cargo (160% from target) handled by the port that consisted of in Timber, 
Bricks. The total number of vessels to call at Wisbech was 8.  
 

 
 
Yacht Harbour Marketing Plan Update 

 
 
A wider marketing plan for The Wash area leisure ports is being developed in 
conjunction with Lincs CC and Kings Lynn BC. This work includes the recent submission 
of a bid to the Government’s Coastal and Communities Fund for additional 
infrastructure and revenue operational costs. It is pleasing to note that the joint 
proposals that consists of port infrastructure around the Wash ports and a coordinated 
marketing plan under the banner ‘Sail-the-Wash’ has been successful at stage 1 of 
assessment. A more detailed business case is being developed for a submission to 
Governments stage 2 by 21 January 2019. 
 

 
BUSINESS PLAN AREA:  Economy 
 
Business Plan Priority: Promote and enable housing growth, economic 

growth and regeneration across Fenland 
 
Business Plan Action: Enable appropriate growth, development and 

infrastructure through the delivery of a proactive 
and effective Planning Service and Local Plan 

 
Portfolio Holder:   Cllr Mrs Dee Laws 
 

Description Target 18/19 Achieved  
 

Cumulative for 
18/19 

RAG 

Performance Measure     
LPI EC2 
% of major planning 
applications determined in 13 
weeks (or within extension of 
time) 

75% 100% 100%  

 
7 major applications were determined in the month and all were determined in 13 
weeks or within an alternative timeframe agreed with the applicant. 
 
In relation to the Government 24 month rolling performance tracker target 99% of 
applications were determined in target against a target of 60%. 
 
With regard to appeals performance against the Government 24 month rolling 

Page 62



performance tracker 3% of appeals were allowed against a target of not more than 
10% (target is a percentage of appeals allowed against the total number of major 
applications decided). 
 
Planning permission has been granted for c160 dwellings distributed over 3 sites 
(Doddington, Whittlesey, March). 
  

 
Description Target 18/19 Achieved  

 
Cumulative for 

18/19 
RAG 

Performance Measure     
LPI EC3 
% of minor planning 
applications determined in 8 
weeks or within extension of 
time) 

80% 100% 92%  

 
All 26 applications determined in the month were decided in 8 weeks or within a 
timescale agreed with the applicant. 
 
In relation to the Government 24 month rolling performance tracker for minor 
applications including householder applications 95% of applications were determined 
in target against a target of 70% . 
 
With regard to appeals performance against the Government 24 month rolling 
performance tracker 1% of appeals were allowed against a target of not more than 
10% (target is a percentage of appeals allowed against the total number of minor 
including householder applications decided). 
 

 
Description Target 18/19 Achieved  

 
Cumulative for 

18/19 
RAG 

Performance Measure     
LPI EC4 
% of other planning applications 
determined in 8 weeks or within 
extension of time) 

90% 100% 99%  

 
All 32 applications decided in the month were decided within 8 weeks or within a 
timescale agreed with the applicant. 
 

 
 
 

 
Broad Concept Plans Update 

 
 

Page 63



South Chatteris (London Road) – The Section 106 is in the process of being signed so 
that the planning permission can be issued. This should be in November. 
 
Wenny Rd, Chatteris – An application is expected this autumn. 
 
March – No progress to report on any of the 3 sites. 
 
East Wisbech – Work continuing with the preparation of the planning application 
 
West Wisbech – A flood risk sequential test report has been prepared with discussion 
with the Environment Agency. This forms part of the wider feasibility work on the 
Garden Town. 
 

 
BUSINESS PLAN AREA:  Economy  
 
Business Plan Priority: Promote and enable housing growth, economic 

growth and regeneration across Fenland 
 
Business Plan Action: Work with partners to further develop and help 

deliver a viable holistic regeneration and growth 
proposition of Wisbech Garden Town  

 
Portfolio Holder:   Cllr Chris Seaton 
 

 
Wisbech Garden Town Update 

 
 
The Garden Town feasibility work continues focusing on the 2 potential show stoppers 
of flood protection and highway connectivity. Royal Haskoning of Peterborough is 
carrying out detailed flood modelling (based on successful Dutch projects) work to 
help find a solution that is acceptable to the EA and Government. CCC are 
progressing the connectivity work to help assess the A47 capacity. Initial outcomes 
from these studies indicate that flooding and connectivity issues can be overcome, 
subject to agreement with the EA over flood mitigation solution which is currently 
being discussed. 
  
Discussions have been held with the Combined Authority (CPCA) to consider 
resources to take forward the project management role funded from the previously 
agreed CPCA Garden Town project budget and preparing the bid to Government 
(MHCLG) for inclusion in the Garden Town Prospectus. 
 
Inner Circle Consulting was appointed by CPCA to prepare in conjunction with FDC 
the GT bid to Government, which was submitted by the deadline of 9th November 
2018. Letters of support from local stakeholders are included to compliment the bid. 
  
In addition the CPCA and FDC are considering project governance and 

Page 64



management arrangements for post October. 
 

 
BUSINESS PLAN AREA:  Economy  
 
Business Plan Priority: Promote and enable housing growth, economic 

growth and regeneration across Fenland 
 
Business Plan Action: Use the Council’s assets to support and deliver 

sustainable economic and residential growth 
across the district, including the delivery of mixed 
use development at the Nene Waterfront 

 
Portfolio Holder:   Cllr David Oliver 
 

 
Surplus Asset Disposal Programme  
 
 
The remaining auction site from last round is not ready to go to the auction house due 
to ownership not being fully registered at Land Registry. The matter is with legal 
services. 
 
A tender is to be prepared to engage an auction house for the next round of auction 
sites. 
 
We are looking to recruit a fixed term disposals surveyor to assist with this project, initial 
on a part time basis for 12 months. 
 

 
  
Nene Waterfront Development 

 
 
Whilst the development of Lot 3 is largely complete with the final fit out being 
undertaken on the remaining handful of units, attention will now turn to marketing the 
remaining sites at the Nene Waterfront. 
 

 
 

 
Sutton Bridge Marina 
 
 
The marina at Sutton Bridge, known as Cross Keys Marina is now almost fully occupied. 
FDC Officers are currently in the process of agreeing the terms of the Operating 
Agreement and Lease but still await revised drafts from Lincolnshire County Council.  
 

Page 65



It is anticipated that the agreement will be signed later than planned but should be 
completed by the end of 2018. 
 

 
BUSINESS PLAN AREA:  Economy 
 
Business Plan Priority: Promote and lobby for infrastructure improvements 

across Fenland 
 
Business Plan Action: Promote sustainable transport (infrastructure and 

community) initiatives within Fenland, including rail, 
road and community transport, to improve links to 
employment 

 
Portfolio Holder:   Cllr David Oliver 
 

 
Rail Development Strategy 

 
 
Railway Station improvements - Quick Wins Package  
The solar lighting scheme for Whittlesea Station was implemented in October 2018. This 
scheme lights a significant length of route from the platform to Station Road where 
previously there was no light at all. Further details are available from the website link 
below: 
 
https://www.fenland.gov.uk/article/13820/Solar-power-lights-up-Whittlesea-railway-
station 
 
Hereward CRP – new Logo and re-branding 
Work to complete the Marketing and Tourism Strategy 2017 – 2020, highlighted the 
need to rebrand the CRP including its logo. This is to give the CRP a more modern and 
distinctive identity. The current logo is too aligned to heritage railways. A contractor 
has been appointed to complete the work and a consultation is being held from 22 
October 2018 to 19 November 2018. You can choose your favourite logo design from 
the final 3 versions below. The winning logo will be announced as part of a relaunch of 
the Hereward CRP in early 2019. 
 
https://www.fenland.gov.uk/article/13824/Full-steam-ahead-for-new-rail-partnership-
logo 
 

 
Description Target 18/19 Achieved  

 
Cumulative for 

18/19 
RAG 

Performance Measure     
Number of journeys made by 
dial a ride services 
 
(please note that figures for railway 

Maintain 
14/15 level 

(14,308 

1,575 11,264  

Page 66

https://www.fenland.gov.uk/article/13820/Solar-power-lights-up-Whittlesea-railway-station
https://www.fenland.gov.uk/article/13820/Solar-power-lights-up-Whittlesea-railway-station
https://www.fenland.gov.uk/article/13824/Full-steam-ahead-for-new-rail-partnership-logo
https://www.fenland.gov.uk/article/13824/Full-steam-ahead-for-new-rail-partnership-logo


and car scheme use are reported 
annually) 

journeys) 

 
Since April 2008, FDC has provided a Concessionary Fares scheme for community 
transport services. This means that any Fenland resident who has a Cambridgeshire 
bus pass and is a member of the local Community Transport organisation, can travel 
free of charge on the Dial a Ride Service.  
 

• What is Dial a Ride? 
 Dial-a-Ride (DAR) services provide door to door transport for those people who 
do not have access to a car, where there is no public transport, or where they cannot 
access public transport. These services in Fenland are operated by Fenland 
Association for Community Transport (FACT). To use these services customers must be 
members of FACT. Membership is subject to meeting the eligibility criteria for Dial a 
Ride services.  
 

• FACT Membership 
 To use FACT services you have to be a member. DAR is not available to the 
general public. To become a FACT member you pay a 12 month subscription fee of 
£10 and you must meet one or more of the following criteria: 
o have no access to your own car during the day 
o There is no public transport available 
o Public transport is limited and does meet your needs, e.g. a hospital 
appointment 
o You have difficulty using public transport due to disability or frailty 

 
FACT currently has around 1,431 members in Fenland District (October 2018). 
 

 

Page 67



BUSINESS PLAN AREA:  Economy 
 
Business Plan Priority: Promote and lobby for infrastructure improvements 

across Fenland 
 
Business Plan Action: Engage with partners on the feasibility and delivery 

of major infrastructure projects across Fenland, 
including road (Wisbech and March Access 
Studies, A47 and King’s Dyke improvements) and 
rail (Rail Strategy, improvements to railway stations 
and the March to Wisbech rail link) 

 
Portfolio Holder:   Cllr David Oliver 
 

 
Support strategic transportation objectives 

 
 
A47 
A47 dualling Studies 
The first 100 day plan outlined by the Mayor James Palmer included a commitment to 
the A47 and east/west connectivity. This led to an allocation of £500,000 of 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Combined Authority (CPCA ) funding in June 2017. 
This funding was used to develop a Strategic Outline Business Case (SOBC) and an 
Options Appraisal Report (OAR). This study work was completed and discussed by the 
CPCA Board at their meeting in June 2018. Please see the weblink below for further 
details: 
 
http://cambridgeshirepeterborough-ca.gov.uk/meetings/cambridgeshire-and-
peterborough-combined-authority-board-2/?date=2018-06-27 
 
At the June 2018 meeting the CPCA Board approved commencing work on the next 
stage of the project including exploring a number of delivery models. Discussions with 
Department for Transport (DfT) and Highways England have confirmed that further 
work is needed in order for the A47 to be included in the Highways England Roads 
Investment Strategy 2. Ensuring the scheme is in the strategy is essential for making this 
a priority and securing Government funding 
 
In October 2018 the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Combined Authority (CPCA) 
Board approved a further £1million for additional work in respect of A47 Dualling to 
meet the requirements for including the scheme in the next Roads Investment 
Strategy. Further details and the full paper from the October 2018 CPCA Board 
meeting can be found from the following website link: 

 
http://cambridgeshirepeterborough-ca.gov.uk/meetings/cambridge-and-
peterborough-combined-authority/ 
 
A47 – Guyhirn Roundabout 

Page 68

http://cambridgeshirepeterborough-ca.gov.uk/meetings/cambridgeshire-and-peterborough-combined-authority-board-2/?date=2018-06-27
http://cambridgeshirepeterborough-ca.gov.uk/meetings/cambridgeshire-and-peterborough-combined-authority-board-2/?date=2018-06-27
http://cambridgeshirepeterborough-ca.gov.uk/meetings/cambridge-and-peterborough-combined-authority/
http://cambridgeshirepeterborough-ca.gov.uk/meetings/cambridge-and-peterborough-combined-authority/


This is a Highways England Scheme that is part of the Roads Investment Strategy 1. The 
latest update about this scheme can be found from the following website link: 
 
https://highwaysengland.co.uk/projects/a47-guyhirn-junction/ 
 
It was noted in the above October 2018 CPCA Board paper that if one of the 3 
options being considered for A47 dualling is taken forward the Guyhirn roundabout 
scheme would not be needed. The CPCA Board have delegated authority to the 
CPCA Transport Director to negotiate the continuation or cessation of the roundabout 
scheme with Highways England. The funding for the roundabout scheme could be 
utilised in the development of the wider scheme. 
 
Wisbech Access Strategy 
There is no specific update on this item this month. 
 
March to Wisbech Railway Line 
There is no specific update on this item this month. 
 
A605 Kings Dyke Crossing 
A paper was taken to the CPCA Board Meeting in October 2018 requesting 
£16.4million funding for the A605 Kings Dyke Level Crossing project to completion in 
2020.  
 
An independent review has been completed of the business case work and this 
continues to show that the scheme represents exceptional value for money. 
 
The CPCA Board approved the additional funding. Further information and a paper 
setting out the full details can be found at: 
 
http://cambridgeshirepeterborough-ca.gov.uk/meetings/cambridge-and-
peterborough-combined-authority/ 
 
March Area Transport Study 
There is no specific update on this item this month. 
 

 

Page 69

https://highwaysengland.co.uk/projects/a47-guyhirn-junction/
http://cambridgeshirepeterborough-ca.gov.uk/meetings/cambridge-and-peterborough-combined-authority/
http://cambridgeshirepeterborough-ca.gov.uk/meetings/cambridge-and-peterborough-combined-authority/


BUSINESS PLAN AREA:  Economy 
 
Business Plan Priority: Promote and lobby for infrastructure improvements 

across Fenland 
 
Business Plan Action: Promote and Influence how housing and 

infrastructure funding is used to stimulate housing 
development and economic growth in Fenland 
through working with the Combined Authority 

 
Portfolio Holder:   Cllr David Oliver 
 

 
Housing & Infrastructure Funding from the Combined Authority 

 
 
Key infrastructure feasibility studies are being produced by the CPCA that could 
impact on Fenland. These include the A47 study along with a M11/A47 link. In addition 
proposals are being progressed to improve Fenlands railway stations to enable more 
frequent and longer trains. 
 

 
BUSINESS PLAN AREA: Quality Organisation 
 
Business Plan Priority: Governance, Financial Control and Risk Management 
 
Business Plan Action: Maintain robust and effective financial standards, robust 

internal controls and effective management. Evidence 
this in our Annual Audit Letter, Risk Management Strategy, 
Budget, and Medium Term Financial Strategy 

 
Portfolio Holder:  Cllr Mrs Anne Hay 
 

 
Financial Planning for the May 2019 Elections 
 
 
Letters have been sent to all Town and Parish Clerks to inform them of the estimated 
costs of the Elections scheduled to take place on 2 May 2019, and also to engage 
with them and offer support and guidance around the elections process.  
The estimates sent to them will enable them to undertake financial planning for the 
2019-2020 precept.  
 
In preparing these estimates we have worked closely with the Finance Team, used the 
experience of the elections in 2015 and inflation rates to guide us, we have taken into 
account various costs including electors, postal voters, polling stations, verification and 
count arrangements and staff. The estimated figures provide a robust, realistic 
indication of the costs. 

Page 70



 
 
BUSINESS PLAN AREA: Quality Organisation 
 
Business Plan Priority: Transformation & Efficiency 
 
Business Plan Action: Engage with the Combined Authority’s Public Service 

Reform agenda 
 
Portfolio Holder: Cllr Chris Seaton 
 

 
Combined Authority Update 
 
 
‘Significant progress’ welcomed towards dualling the A47 
The Combined Authority Board recently approved a comprehensive, single route 
approach to dualling the whole of the A47 in Cambridgeshire. The economic case for 
dualling the single carriageway part of the road from the A16 junction east of 
Peterborough through to Walton Highway, east of Wisbech, was reportedly stronger 
than previously thought, resulting in the recent changed approach to the scheme. 
 
The new study has identified three route options for upgrading the whole of the A47 in 
Cambridgeshire to dual carriageway. This represents a different approach to the 
body responsible for the road, Highways England, which has put forward piecemeal 
improvements at certain critical pinch-points. Dualling the whole of the road in the 
county would also align with the Combined Authority’s strategic approach to 
improving the economy and unlocking jobs and housing through critical transport 
infrastructure upgrades. The report found that these economic benefits make a strong 
case to Government for dualling through strong benefit-cost ratio (BCR) figures. 
 
Mayor James Palmer said: “In one of the richest economies in the world, it is frankly 
astonishing that two large, important urban centres in Peterborough and Norwich are 
connected by a road that is majority single carriageway. The A47 connects our 
manufacturing heartland in the Midlands with the East and its ports – it is vital to both 
the local and national economy.” 
 
The next steps are for the Combined Authority to continue to work with the Highways 
England regional team and the Department for Transport Roads Investment Strategy 
team to ensure the scheme is worked up to meet their technical criteria for 
assessment and funding. The Combined Authority Board recently agreed to make 
available £1 million of funding to bring the scheme to this standard. 
 
Please click here for further information 
 
Funding for Kings Dyke Crossing approved 
The Combined Authority approved funding for the new Kings Dyke level Crossing 
project on 31 October. They agreed to provide up to £16.4m over the original £13.6m 

Page 71

http://cambridgeshirepeterborough-ca.gov.uk/news/mayor-james-palmer-welcomes-single-route-approach-as-significant-step-forward-in-accelerating-plan-to-fully-dual-a47-in-cambridgeshire/


allocation to enable the scheme to progress to construction. 
 
Please click here for further information 
 
Combined Authority fund solar lights at Whittlesea Station 
The Combined Authority has helped to fund a new solar powered light installation at 
Whittlesea station, helping stations users to safely find their way from the platform to 
the station entrance. The lighting upgrade is the first in a range of short, medium and 
long term regeneration projects designed to improve Manea, March and Whittlesea 
stations, funded by £9 million of investment from the Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough Combined Authority. 
 
Please click here for further information 
 
Meeting Agendas and Reports 
Please click on the links below to access the meeting papers for the following CPCA 
Committees: 
 
Overview & Scrutiny Committee – 29 October 2018 
 
Combined Authority Board – 31 October 2018 
 

 
BUSINESS PLAN AREA: Quality Organisation 
 
Business Plan Priority: Transformation & Efficiency 
 
Business Plan Action: Deliver required savings (as outlined in our CLG Efficiency 

Plan and Comprehensive Spending Review) whilst 
remaining a stable and sustainable organisation 

 
Portfolio Holder: Cllr Mark Buckton 
 

 
ICT Strategy Update 
 
 
ICT successfully planned, tested and migrated to a new firewall platform during 
October with the cooperation of all service units and partners. 
 
A demonstration of audio visual equipment was provided to members at a recent 
member briefing. Options were presented for the replacement of microphones and 
projector replacement and the introduction of voting technology and web-casting. A 
decision will be made at full council. 
 
The Windows10 migration project is progressing in accordance with the roll-out plan. 
 
Preparatory work is underway to support the leisure services migration to Freedom 

Page 72

http://cambridgeshirepeterborough-ca.gov.uk/news/kings-dyke-crossing-to-move-to-construction-phase/
http://cambridgeshirepeterborough-ca.gov.uk/news/solar-power-lights-up-whittlesea-railway-station/
http://cambridgeshirepeterborough-ca.gov.uk/meetings/show/2018-10-29
http://cambridgeshirepeterborough-ca.gov.uk/meetings/show/2018-10-29
http://cambridgeshirepeterborough-ca.gov.uk/meetings/show/2018-10-31
http://cambridgeshirepeterborough-ca.gov.uk/meetings/show/2018-10-31


Leisure. 
 
All MFDs and large print devices have been configured and replaced. 
 

 
BUSINESS PLAN AREA: Quality Organisation 
 
Business Plan Priority: Consultation and Engagement 
 
Business Plan Action: Appropriately consult with residents about Council 

services and proposals, as outlined in our Consultation 
Strategy. Use feedback to improve service delivery 

 
Portfolio Holder: Cllr Mark Buckton 
 

 
Consultations Update 
 
 
Consultation Summary 

Current Consultations: 
• Polling Districts and Polling Places Review – 1 October to 2 November 2018 
• Hereward CRP logo – 22 October – 19 November 2018 
• I heart Wisbech – 1 November – January 2019  

 
 

Page 73



BUSINESS PLAN AREA: Quality Organisation 
 
Business Plan Priority: Excellent Customer Service 
 
Business Plan Action: Provide good service at our Fenland @ your service shops 

and Community Hubs, in line with Customer Service 
Excellence standards 

 
Portfolio Holder:  Cllr Mrs Anne Hay 
 

Description EOY Target 
18/19 

Last year 
Cumulative 
performanc

e for Sept 
17/18 

Last year 
RAG for 

Sept 
17/18 

Cumulative for 
18/19 

RAG 

Performance Measure      
ARP target ARP3 
 
% Council Tax 
collected 

97.3% 65.93% -0.68% 66.03%  

ARP target ARP5 
 
Net Council Tax 
Receipts payable to 
the Collection Fund 

£52,879,158 £33,178,513 £189,445 £35,458,685.23  

 
COUNCIL TAX 
In year collection remains slightly behind target although the gap has narrowed this 
month, however the collection fund remains significantly above target. 
 
During October 2018 the following recovery documents have been issued 
Reminders 1056 with a value of £137,972.52 
Final Notices 577 with a value of £300531.57 
Summonses 324 with a value of £167,661.96 
 
Currently there are 1608 (last month 1723) processes outstanding for Fenland which 
shows that the measures to reduce the outstanding processes are having an effect. 
There are currently 11,151 processes outstanding across the partnership of which 1831 
are older than 6 weeks (287 Fenland processes). This includes items in pending and new 
properties where we are awaiting information from 3rd parties before it can be 
processed. 
 
We have 10 new colleagues starting on 5th November to fill vacancies in Council Tax 
across the partnership. As these new team members are trained their contribution 
should allow us to make greater progress on reducing process numbers. 
 

 
Description Target 18/19 Last year 

Cumulative 
Last year 

RAG for Sept 
Cumulative 

for 18/19 
RAG 

Page 74



performance for 
Sept 17/18 

17/18 

Performance 
Measure 

     

ARP target ARP4 
 
% NNDR collected 
 

98.3% 66.93% 0.96% 64.77%  

ARP target ARP6 
 
Net NNDR Receipts 
payable to the 
Collection Fund 

£25,604,958 £20,568,620 £580,718 £15,648,629 -£638,563* 

 
BUSINESS RATES 
In year collection target has been re-profiled based on the cash flow analysis of 
payments due for the rest of the year. This shows that the collection is now comfortably 
above target. 
 
The collection fund target remains below expected collection which can be attributed 
to £1.2M backdated refunds in respect of Rateable Value changes. 
 
During October the following recovery documents have been issued 
Reminder notices - 43 with a value of £33,938.31 
Final notices - 59 with a value of £479,057.18 
Summonses - 22 with a value of £93,424.36 
 
There are currently 86 (97 last month) processes outstanding currently which shows that 
we have started to reduce the number of processes. We have recently recruited a new 
team member and training is still on going for our new starter. This has an impact as the 
new team member requires training by an experienced member of the team and 
those just out of training will also require mentoring for some time. (978 ARP total 
previously 1084). 
  
There are only 30 process over 6 weeks old (45 last month) including pending items and 
new properties where we are awaiting information from other sources. The team will 
continue to target older processes to ensure customers receive a prompt service. 
 
We have begun to issue and process discretionary reviews across the partnership which 
will have an impact on the number of processes received. 
 
Work has commenced on the NDR process maps which should help improve the flow 
of work through the team. 
 
* This figure is the difference between what we were targeted to collect at this point in 
the year and what we have actually collected at this point (so for NNDR we are below 
target, caused by the backdated refunds.  
 

 

Page 75



Description Target 18/19 Achieved  
 

Cumulative for 
18/19 

RAG 

Performance Measure     
Target CS1 
% of contact centre calls answered 
within 20 seconds 

35% Year 
to date 

target 

32.8% 29%  

Target CS2 
% of contact centre calls handled 

65% 
Year to 

date target 

70.9% 71.2%  

 
The in-month performance for October in relation to the % of Contact Centre calls 
answered within 20 seconds has improved by 9.8% compared with the performance for 
September. This improvement has arisen as a direct result of the proactive approach 
taken in relation to moving staff from the One Stop Shops to the Contact Centre as this 
currently represents the highest area of customer demand. In addition the first of the 
newly appointed Customer Service Advisors will join the Council on 5th November 
following the recent successful recruitment campaign. These new recruits will become 
operational following a comprehensive induction process and this will undoubtedly have 
a positive impact on the number of available staff to take calls, particularly as the 
working patterns of the new staff accurately reflect how and when our customers present 
rather than historic working practices. 
 

 
Description Target 18/19 Achieved  

 
Cumulative for 

18/19 
RAG 

Performance Measure     
Target CS3 
% customer queries resolved at first 
point of contact 

85% 95% 94%  

 
The Customer Services Team continues to excel at resolving customers queries at the 
initial point of contact where ever possible. The team works collaboratively with services 
across the Council and our partners to ensure the information we hold in relation to all 
services is comprehensive and we are able to action requests for services accordingly. 
Customer Services are continuing to explore the implementation of Service Champions to 
provide increased resilience and additional escalation points for complex queries to 
ensure performance regarding query resolution at the first point of contact remains high.  
 

 

Page 76



BUSINESS PLAN AREA: Quality Organisation 
 
Business Plan Priority: Excellent Customer Service 
 
Business Plan Action: Help residents become digitally enabled and able to self-

serve opportunities (as outlined in our Channel Shift 
Strategy) to allow us to provide more support for 
vulnerable customers and complex queries 

 
Portfolio Holder: Cllr David Oliver & Cllr Mrs Anne Hay 
 

Description Target 18/19 Achieved  
 

Cumulative for 
18/19 

RAG 

Performance Measure     
LPI PC1 
Number of visits to the FDC 
website 

611,000 44,073 340,788  

 
 
News Survey & Social Media Update 
 
 
The number of news stories added to the FDC website and distributed as press releases 
to local media in October = 14 
 
Main articles included; 
 

• Dedicated volunteers recognised at annual awards ceremony 
• Council agrees action to bring derelict buildings back into use 
• Solar power lights up Whittlesey railway station 
• Fenland brews up a storm for Macmillan 
• Views sought on polling districts in Fenland 
• Full steam ahead for new rail partnership logo 
• Wheels in motion for new March skate park 
• Funding approved to improve Whittlesey play area 

 
 

 
Social Media Update 
 
 
Monthly update on FDC social media sites; 
The number of social media updates added to the FDC Facebook and twitter 
accounts in October; 
 
Facebook = 72 
Twitter = 129 
 

Page 77



We currently have 1,849 likes on Facebook and 8,123 followers on twitter.  
 

FDC 
Twitter 

Tweets Tweet 
Impressions 

Profile 
visits 

Mentions New 
followers 

Total no of 
Followers 

 
129 

 

 
109K 

 
2,870 

 
130 

 
55 

 
8,123 

 

FDC 
Facebook 

Posts Reach Post 
Engagem

ents 

Page Likes Total Page 
Likes 

 
72 

 

 
11,638 

 
3,653 

 
29 

 
1,946 

 
We continue to post ‘snippets’ of information about council services, performance and 
‘did you know’ facts on our social media sites.  
 

 
BUSINESS PLAN AREA:  Quality Organisation 
 
Business Plan Priority: Equalities 
 
Business Plan Action: Meet our Public Sector Equality duty by delivering 

the requirements of the 2010 Equality Act and 1998 
Human Rights Act through our core service delivery. 
Publish an Annual Equality Report to demonstrate 
how we do this 

 
Portfolio Holder:   Cllr Mike Cornwell 
 

 
Meet Equality Act Requirements 
 
 
Official statistics regarding the number of Traveller in England is carried out bi- 
annually in both January (includes Travelling Showman: winter quarters) and July 
(does not include Travelling showman) to reflect winter residence and summer 
travelling trends. 
 
In January 2018 the total number of Traveller caravans in England was 22,946.  This is 
1,026 more than the 21,920 reported in January 2017. 
 

• 6,924 caravans were on authorised socially rented sites.  This is an increase of 
141 since the January count. 

• The number of caravans on authorised privately funded sites was 13,038.  This 
was 822 more than the 12,216 recorded in January 2017.  The number of 
caravans on authorised private sites has increased each year since 2008. 

• The number of caravans on unauthorised encampments on land owned by 

Page 78



Travellers was 2,179.  This is an increase of 38 compared to the January figure 
of 2,141. 

• The number of caravans on unauthorised encampments on land not owned 
by Travellers was 805.  This was 25 caravans more than January 2017 count of 
780. 

• Overall, the January 2018 count indicated that 87% of Traveller caravans in 
England were on authorised land and 13% were on unauthorised land. 

 
This Count is a “snap shot” on the day as by their nature Travellers do travel.  
However, this information is useful in a number of ways, especially when ascertain 
the future need for permanent and/ or transit sites. 
 
Cambridgeshire has the highest recorded figures of any county in England with the 
majority of Travellers looking to live in South Cambridgeshire and Fenland.  Although 
East Cambridgeshire too has a higher number of Travellers than a lot of other 
districts. 
 
Fenland had 521 caravans in the district this is 30 caravans less than the count 
undertaken in January 2017 when 551 caravans were counted on all known sites 
and unauthorised locations. 
 
Of these: 

• 149 caravans were on socially rented sites; 
• 365 have either planning consent and/ or would be granted a certificate of 

lawful use if they applied for it; 
• 5 are on their own land and could be subject to enforcement proceedings/ 

and have just applied for consent so all being considered; 
• 12 were by the roadside and were subsequently moved on without recourse 

to court action. 
 
The Council currently have 5 planning applications for sites being discussed from a 2 
pitch to 8 pitch site in size.  
 
 

Page 79



BUSINESS PLAN AREA:  Quality Organisation 
 
Business Plan Priority:  Asset Management and Commercialisation 
 
Business Plan Action: Ensure our asset base is suitable, sustainable and 

maximises service and income benefits 
 
Portfolio Holder:   Cllr David Oliver & Cllr Anne Hay 
 

 
Corporate Asset Management Plan Update 
 
 
The Asset Management Plan 2017-20 sets out the 9 Strategic Asset Management 
Priorities of the Council and the accompanying Action Plan creates a framework for 
Officers to manage, allocate resources and monitor timescales to ensure timely 
delivery of the Actions and improve the Council’s asset management approach. 
 
Due to the size and nature of the work linked to the Asset Management Plan there will 
be periodic updates on specific projects from the action plan. 
 
Attention focuses next onto the centralisation of data onto the IDOX database to 
improve practices and processes and capture key datasets, currently contained on 
disparate electronic and paper-based spreadsheets. This work will utilise data held by 
the Business & Economy and Assets & Projects Teams, with support from the LLPG 
Officer, ICT and PCC Legal Teams. 
 

 
BUSINESS PLAN AREA:  Quality Organisation 
 
Business Plan Priority:  Asset Management and Commercialisation 
 
Business Plan Action: Work jointly with public, private and third sector 

partners to maximise value 
 
Portfolio Holder:   Cllr David Oliver & Cllr Anne Hay 
 

 
Corporate Accommodation Review 
 
 
The internal moves at Fenland Hall and The Base were completed in August. Works 
continue to arrange of the sale and disposal of disused furniture and equipment and 
minor changes to accommodate the relocation of election storage to a centralised 
location at Fenland Hall. 
 
Work is being undertaken to look at any potential refurbishment works required to the 
west wing and a viewing with a prospective tenant was undertaken this month. 

Page 80



Dialogue continues with the interested party and at the same time officers are 
investigating alternative options for the re-use of the vacated space. 
 
In addition to this work, plans are being prepared to assess potential options for sub-
division or amalgamation of the vacant office spaces to enable letting and the 
maximisation of rental income. 
 

 
BUSINESS PLAN AREA:  Quality Organisation 
 
Business Plan Priority:  Asset Management and Commercialisation  
 
Business Plan Action: Develop and deliver a commercial investment 

strategy 
 
Portfolio Holder:   Cllr David Oliver, Cllr Anne Hay, Cllr Chris Seaton 
 

 
Property Investment & Development Strategy (PIDS) 
 
 
The Property Investment & Development Strategy (PIDS) is aimed at seeking greater 
returns from the different use of existing FDC property assets. This could include seeking 
to dispose of surplus assets to reinvest the capital receipts into investment 
opportunities, or like the Accommodation Review, ensuring better utilisation of assets 
to create capacity to generate additional revenue streams. 
 
As projects are identified and develop they will be reported upon here. 
 

 
BUSINESS PLAN AREA: Quality Organisation 
 
Business Plan Priority: Workforce Development 
 
Business Plan Action: Maintain an effective workforce with the right skills to 

deliver the Council priorities 
 
Portfolio Holder: Cllr Mrs Anne Hay 
 

 
Learning & Development 
 
 
The Council retains a very buoyant learning and development programme for its 
workforce; and has a very robust and responsive learning and development 
framework in place to ensure that staff’s learning needs are met. 
 
The IIP Assessor recognised this in our most recent IIP reassessment process: 

Page 81



 
“Learning and development activities are ongoing and there is still a learning culture 
despite the reduced training budget. People are being more creative in terms of 
finding cost-effective methods which meet their development needs. The organisation 
is to be congratulated that this continues to be a strength.”  
 
We have provided a wide range of learning and development interventions for our 
workforce over the past year, such as Managing Conflict Training, 121 coaching, 
Mental Health Awareness and Mental First Aid Training, PACE training, Mediation 
training, Pre-retirement training, Prevent Training, Coaching skills, Licensing, Leadership 
and Safeguarding Children, 121 coaching, management development, , investigation 
skills, health and safety, managing sickness, apprenticeships, funded training, 
resilience training and so on.  
 
In addition to this we have provided a buoyant e-learning programme covering topics 
like: 

• Safeguarding 
• Effective Management skills 

Project Management 
• Effective Financial Management 
• GDPR 
• Equalities 
• Health and Safety, and  
• Induction  

 
We are currently delivering the organisational learning requirements for this financial 
year, and have planned training events for RIPA, GDPR, IT skills, and LGV. Furthermore, 
we have now started our Corporate Programme of Positive Mindset and Service 
training for the whole organisation. 
 
We are currently liaising with ARP to deliver Positive Mindset training for them.  
 

 

Page 82



BUSINESS PLAN AREA: Quality Organisation 
 
Business Plan Priority: Workforce Development 
 
Business Plan Action: Support and empower staff to make effective decisions 

within a pleasant working environment 
 
Portfolio Holder: Cllr Mrs Anne Hay 
 

 
Health Champion Programme 
 
 
The Council has a team of qualified health champions in place, and we are part of a 
Work Healthy Cambridgeshire. This is a Health Improvement Programme run by 
Cambridgeshire County Council specifically for Cambridgeshire businesses and/or 
organisations.  
 
The programme aims to support employers across the county to improve the health 
and wellbeing of their employees, increase productivity and reduce sickness 
absence.  
 
Our Health Champions have developed a programme to promote health and well-
being of employees inside and outside the workplace.  
 

 
 
Mental Health Training 
 
 
We now have an in-house Mental Health First Aid Instructor who is currently rolling out 
Mental Health First Aid Training across the Council. The most recent corporate course 
was delivered in early October, with a further course planned for the new year. 
 
We are currently exploring further opportunities for income generation with partners to 
deliver this training. 
 
We also have a comprehensive suite of training to support this area, such as Personal 
Resilience and Mental Health Awareness and Stress Awareness. 
 
In addition to this we provide 121 coaching a support to employees where required.  
We supported World Mental Health Day on 10th October with events to raise 
awareness in the Council, and are currently promoting National Stress Awareness 
Week. 
 

 
 
People Management Strategy Review Update 

Page 83



 
 
The Council’s People and Development Strategy is aligned to the Council’s Business 
Plan and focus on outputs for 2017 - 2020. It has been developed in recognition of the 
need for our people to continue to work effectively with a range of stakeholders and 
partners. It continues to be reviewed and improved on an annual basis. It is a live 
document that will be refreshed and updated as the Council evolves and faces new 
and emerging challenges.  
 
This strategy informs and responds to the Workforce Development Plans (WfDP) 
created by our Service Managers as part of the Service Planning process to support 
the delivery of the Council’s Business Plan.  
 
We review our WfDPs each year as part of the annual service planning cycle to take 
account of the changing needs of the organisation and the community it serves. 
 

 
BUSINESS PLAN AREA: Quality Organisation 
 
Business Plan Priority: Enforcement 
 
Business Plan Action: Use a fair and proportionate approach to improve living, 

working and environmental standards  
 
Portfolio Holder: Cllr Mrs Dee Laws  
 

 
Planning Enforcement Update 
 
 
This month, 21 requests for service were received (154 year to date) and 34 cases 
were closed during the month (160 year to date). Below are  the outcomes  of  the 
investigations: 
 

• Retrospective  permission given to resolve  the  breach – 8 
• Voluntary action by the owner / occupier to resolve  the breach – 5 
• No breach of planning control found to have taken place – 20 
• Case closed due to it being found to be a  duplicate of  an existing complaint – 

1 
 

 

Page 84



Portfolio Holder: Cllr Mike Cornwell 
 

 
Business Forum 
 
 
As part of the Council’s regulatory support package for local businesses the annual 
business forum took place in October.  
 
The event aims to provide update information about new or emerging regulatory 
requirements thus supporting businesses, particularly small businesses to comply with 
legal requirements and plan for any future changes. 
 
The event was very successful with 37 different businesses being represented. 
Delegates came from a variety of food business types from takeaways to larger food 
manufacturers.   
 
The agenda included presentations from Public Health England, Trading Standards, 
Cambs County Council Public Health and FDC Environmental Health officers covering 
a range of food safety topics including listeria, food allergens, vacuum packing, 
cleaning and healthier options.   
 
Feedback from delegates was good with 93% stating that the presentations were 
either good or very good.   
 

 
BUSINESS PLAN AREA:  Quality Organisation 
 
Business Plan Priority:  Health & Safety 
 
Business Plan Action: Maintain effective Health & Safety policies and 

systems to comply with relevant legislation and 
local requirements 

 
Portfolio Holder:   Cllr Mrs Anne Hay 
 

 
Health & Safety Update 
 
 
A training package has been updated for ‘Stress Management’ which will be 
delivered during November (International Stress Awareness Week). This will be 
delivered to managers that have responsibility for staff to assist them in managing this 
area of potential risk. 
 
The draft ‘Misuse of Alcohol and Substances Policy’ is currently going through 
development and a consultation process. This includes collaboration with an external 
accredited alcohol/drug testing company. 

Page 85



 
The health and safety audit programme continues within three teams/services 
currently undergoing an assessment of their health and safety compliance with 
Council/statutory compliance. 
 
Development of health and safety e-learning training courses is also in progress, which 
will enable staff to complete this training at their workstations. 
 

 
 
Emergency Planning Update 
 
 
Resilience Direct is an online private ‘network’ which enables emergency planners to 
work together – across geographical and organisational boundaries – during the 
preparation, response and recovery phases of an event or emergency. 
 
Joint training for partners within the Local Resilience Forum (Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough) was held during the month. The training covered the various elements 
of the system with the intention that the persons trained will now cascade the training 
to others within their own organisations. 
 
Our emergency plans have now been uploaded onto the system which will enable 
registered users to log on and access the plans from any computer system at any time 
of the day. This greatly adds to our resilience and planning arrangements. 
 
Joint partnership working continues within the Local Resilience Forum on multi-agency 
planning requirements. Areas of current work include reviewing emergency plans, 
reviewing risk assessments and warning informing. 
 

 

Page 86



BUSINESS PLAN AREA:  Quality Organisation 
 
Business Plan Priority:  Health & Safety 
 
Business Plan Action: Ensure the safety and wellbeing of the Council’s 

workforce, partners and wider community 
 
Portfolio Holder:   Cllr Mrs Anne Hay 
 

 
Workforce Wellbeing Strategy & Health Surveillance Programme Update 
 
 
We offer a wide range of support to our employees to help promote and encourage 
their good health and wellbeing, such as: 
 

• A dedicated Occupational Health Advice and guidance support service 
available for all colleagues; 

• A comprehensive programme of health surveillance for groups of employees 
who work in certain service areas (e.g. refuse drivers, leisure centre staff, port 
staff, CCTV staff etc.) 

• We provide a health care plan for all employees (at nil cost to the Council) to 
enable financial support to access to access a wide range of health care 
specialists and interventions (e.g. chiropractic services, dental treatment, 
acupuncture, reflexology, chiropody etc.)  

• A range of Family Friendly People Policies 
• We also have a team of qualified Health Champions drawn from across the 

Council who are promoting quarterly health promotion events. 
 
The current Workplace Wellbeing Strategy is being reviewed and updated to ensure 
that it provides the most appropriate support for the organisation and our workforce. 
 

 

Page 87



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

Agenda Item No: 8  

Committee: Council 

Date:  13 December 2018 

Report Title: Council Tax Reduction Scheme (CTRS) – 2019/20 

 

Cover sheet: 

1 Purpose / Summary 
Each year the Council is required to review its Council Tax Reduction 
(CTR) Scheme. This report advises Cabinet of this year’s review and 
proposals for the CTRS to take effect from 1 April 2019. 
 

2 Key issues 
• No changes are being proposed to the CTRS for 2019-20.  

 

3 Recommendations 
It is recommended by Cabinet that: 

• The Council Tax Reduction Scheme effective from 1 April 2019 as set out 
in Section 2 and at Appendix A to this report be approved. 
  
 
 

Wards Affected All 

Forward Plan 
Reference 

This item is included in the Forward Plan 

Portfolio Holder(s) Cllr Chris Seaton – Leader of the Council 
Cllr Mrs Anne Hay – Portfolio Holder for Finance 

Report Originator(s) Sam Anthony – Head of HR & OD 

Contact Officer(s) Kamal Mehta – Interim Corporate Director and Chief 
Finance Officer 
Sam Anthony – Head of HR & OD 

Background Paper(s) None 

Page 89

Agenda Item 8



 

 
 

Report: 

1 Introduction 
1.1 Before April 2013, Council Tax Benefit (CTB) was a nationally controlled 

scheme administered by District and Unitary Councils that give reductions 
from Council Tax to people on low incomes according to set criteria specified 
by regulations. The maximum reduction was 100%. 
 

1.2 The costs of CTB were fully reimbursed to the Council by the DWP, so that if 
demand rose or fell, the Council did not bear the costs of these changes. 
 

1.3 CTB was localised and replaced by CTR in April 2013. At the same time, 
Government funding was reduced and CTR was localised, coming under the 
control of District and Unitary Councils. Whilst pensioners were protected and 
regulations specified that they must still receive up to 100% CTR, this 
protection did not apply to working age people. 
 

1.4 Unlike CTB, the costs of CTR are borne by Councils. Funding is given by the 
Government, but this is fixed each year so that Councils bear the costs of an 
increase in demand but gain from reduced demand. 
 

1.5 The implementation of CTR left Fenland with a funding gap,  that potentially 
saw working age customers only being entitled to 80% CTR. However, 
Members considered the options available to help increase CTR and were 
able to implement a scheme in 2013-14 that saw working age customers be 
entitled to up to 91.5% of CTR; in two ways. 
 

1.6 Members primarily met the funding shortfall by revising Council Tax 
exemptions on empty properties, permitted by regulations that changed in 
2013. This meant that the Council would no longer give a Council Tax 
reduction for most empty domestic properties. 
 

1.7 The funding shortfall was further closed by a one-off transitional Government 
grant that applied in 2013-14 only. 
 

1.8 In 2014-15 this grant was not available. With demand for CTR not growing as 
much as was predicted for 2013-14, Members were able to revise the CTRS 
to feature a reduction of 14% CTR for working age customers. 
 

1.9 Further annual reviews determined that the CTR remained at 14% in 2015-16 
and 2016-17. 

 
 

Page 90



 

 
 

1.10 As part of the FDC-CSR1 process, Members asked Officers to look at the 
option of increasing the reduction from 14% to 20%. This option was 
considered by Overview and Scrutiny Panel on 28 November 2016 as part of 
the review of the CTRS for 2017-18. Members decided to retain the 14% 
reduction for 2017-18 and this was formally approved by Council on 15 
December 2016.  

1.11 The annual review for 2018-19 retained the 14% CTRS.  
 

2 Reviewing the current CTRS  
 

2.1 Councils are required to review operation of their CTRS each year. Where a 
change is proposed, we are required to undertake customer consultation; the 
results of which assist in the final decision made by the Council regarding the 
CTRS next year. 
 

2.2 The existing Scheme has provision to incorporate DWP welfare reforms and 
to uprate allowances etc in line with DWP so as to achieve harmonisation with 
the prescribed Local CTRS for Pensioners as well as Housing Benefit.  
Officers have reviewed the existing scheme and are recommending that it 
does not change for 2019-20. 
 

2.3 The small changes made to the current scheme during the review for 2018-19 
have worked well – harmonising to DWP welfare reforms and uprating, as well 
as removing the stipulation that customers must make a separate claim for 
Council Tax Reduction when claiming Universal Credit, thereby making the 
Scheme compatible with the introduction and planned expansion of Universal 
Credit. 
 

2.4 Continuing with the existing Scheme enables compliance with DWP benefits 
and the introduction and planned expansion of Universal Credit. 

 
2.5 Consequently, it is proposed not to change the existing 14% reduction level. 

 

3 Consulting about our proposals 
3.1 As there are no changes proposed to the CTRS for 2019-20, there is no 

requirement for any customer consultation.  
 
 
 

Page 91



 

 
 

4 The impact of CTRS to date 
4.1 CTRS with its associated gap between Council Tax payable and the 

maximum help working age people can receive has been in operation now for 
four full years and we are mid-way through the fifth year of its operation. 
 

4.2 The table below shows how the amount of CTR awarded and numbers of 
customers claiming it have changed since CTRS was introduced in 2013:- 
 

CTRS cases and amount awarded  

Date CTR awarded Working age claims Pensioner claims 

1/11/13 £7.68 million 4,682 4,727 

1/11/14 £7.49 million 4,641 4,539 

1/11/15 £7.33 million 4,487 4,281 

1/11/16 £7.10 million 4,063 4,064 

1/11/17 £6.97 million 4,170 3,920 

1/11/18 £7.05 million 4,232 3,702 

Change in 
last year 

1.15% 
£0.08 million 

+1.49% 
+62 

-5.56% 
-218 

    

 
4.3 The reduction in pensioner claims above and similar increase in working age 

claims is primarily a result of the gradual increase in the state retirement age, 
resulting in there being fewer pensioners. 
 

5 Overview and Scrutiny 
5.1 A report detailing the annual review of CTRS and proposals for the 2019-20 

CTRS will be presented to the Overview and Scrutiny Panel at its meeting on 
10 December 2018. 

5.2 Members will be updated at the meeting of any comments Overview and 
Scrutiny have on the proposed scheme for 2019-20. 

 

6 The Final Council Tax Support Scheme for 2019-20 
6.1 The Council is required under the Local Government Finance Act 2012 to 

make a Council Tax reduction scheme each year. The Council will refer to this 
scheme as a Council Tax Reduction Scheme. 

6.2 The scheme for 1 April 2019 onwards for determination by Council is attached 
as Appendix A to this report. 
 
 

Page 92



1 

APPENDIX A 

 

 

 

 

Fenland District Council 
 

 
 

Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/2020 
S13A and Schedule 1a of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 

  

Page 93



2 

 
1.0 Introduction to the Council Tax Reduction Scheme (Council tax reduction) ............................. 8 
2.0 Interpretation ..................................................................................................................................... 9 
3.0 Application of scheme: pensioners and persons who are not pensioners ....................................... 16 
4.0 Meaning of “couple” ........................................................................................................................ 16 
5.0 Polygamous marriages ..................................................................................................................... 17 
6.0 Meaning of “family” ......................................................................................................................... 16 
7.0 Circumstances in which a person is to be treated as responsible or not responsible for another .. 17 
8.0 Households ....................................................................................................................................... 17 
9.0 Non-dependants ............................................................................................................................... 18 
10.0 Remunerative work ........................................................................................................................ 19 

PART 3 Procedural Matters                                                                                                                                  21 
11.0 Procedure for reduction applications and appeals against reduction decisions                                21 
PART 4 Classes of person entitled to a reduction under this scheme .................................................... 21 
12.0 Classes of person entitled to a reduction under this scheme ........................................................ 21 
13.0 Class A: pensioners whose income is no greater than the applicable amount .............................. 21 
14.0 Class B: pensioners whose income is greater than the applicable amount ................................... 21 
15.0 Class C: alternative maximum council tax reduction – pensioners ................................................ 22 
16.0 Class D: persons who are not pensioners whose income is less than the applicable amount ....... 22 
17. Class E: persons who are not pensioners whose income is greater than the applicable amount ... 22 
18.0 Class F: alternative maximum council tax reduction – persons who are not pensioners .............. 23 

A19. No longer used…………………………………………………………………………………….……………………………….…….23 
19.0 Periods of absence from a dwelling ............................................................................................... 23 

19A Transitional Provision …………………………………………………………………………………………………………………27 
PART 5 Classes of person excluded from this scheme ........................................................................... 28 
20.0 Classes of person excluded from this scheme ................................................................................ 28 
21.0 Class of person excluded from this scheme: persons treated as not being in Great Britain .......... 28 
22.0 Class of person excluded from this scheme: persons subject to immigration control ................... 29 
23.0 Class of person excluded from this scheme: capital limit............................................................... 30 
24.0 Class of person excluded from this scheme: students ................................................................... 30 
PART 6 Applicable amounts .................................................................................................................... 30 
25.0  Applicable amounts: pensioners ................................................................................................... 30 
26.0 Applicable amounts: persons who are not pensioners .................................................................. 30 
27.0 Polygamous marriages: persons who are not pensioners .............................................................. 31 

27A Transitional provisions for restrictions on amounts children and young persons……………………….32 
 
28.0 Applicable amount: persons who are not pensioners who have an award of universal credit ..... 33 
PART 7 Maximum council tax reduction for the purposes of calculating eligibility for a reduction under 
this scheme and amount of reduction ................................................................................................... 34 
29.0 Maximum council tax reduction amount under this scheme: pensioners and war pensioners .... 34 
30.0 Non-dependant deductions: pensioners and persons who are not pensioners ............................ 34 
PART 8 Alternative maximum council tax reduction for the purposes of calculating eligibility for a 
reduction under this scheme and amount of reduction ........................................................................ 36 

Page 94



3 

31.0 Alternative maximum council tax reduction under this scheme: pensioners and persons who are 
not pensioners ........................................................................................................................................ 36 
PART 9 Amount of reduction under this scheme ................................................................................... 37 
32.0— Amount of reduction under this scheme: Classes A to F ............................................................ 37 
PART 10 Income and capital for the purposes of calculating eligibility for a reduction under this 
scheme and amount of reduction .......................................................................................................... 38 
CHAPTER 1 Income and capital: general ................................................................................................ 38 
33.0 Calculation of income and capital: applicant's family and polygamous marriages ........................ 38 
34.0 Circumstances in which income and capital of non-dependant is to be treated as applicant's .... 38 
CHAPTER 2 Income and capital: pensioners in receipt of guarantee credit or savings credit ................ 38 
35.0 Applicant in receipt of guarantee credit: pensioners ..................................................................... 38 
36.0 Calculation of applicant's income and capital in savings credit only cases: pensioners ................ 38 
CHAPTER 3 Income and capital where there is an award of universal credit ........................................ 40 
37.0 Calculation of income and capital: persons who are not pensioners who have an award of 
universal credit ....................................................................................................................................... 40 
CHAPTER 4 Income: other pensioners .................................................................................................... 40 
38.0 Calculation of income and capital where state pension credit is not payable: pensioners ........... 40 
39.0 Meaning of “income”: pensioners .................................................................................................. 40 
40.0 Calculation of weekly income: pensioners ..................................................................................... 43 
41.0 Earnings of employed earners: pensioners .................................................................................... 44 
42.0 Calculation of net earnings of employed earners: pensioners ....................................................... 45 
43.0 Calculation of earnings of self-employed earners: pensioners ...................................................... 46 
44.0 Earnings of self-employers earners: pensioners ............................................................................ 47 
45.0 Notional income: pensioners.......................................................................................................... 47 
46.0 Income paid to third parties: pensioners ....................................................................................... 49 
CHAPTER 5 Income: persons who are not pensioners ........................................................................... 49 
47.0 Average weekly earnings of employed earners: persons who are not pensioners ........................ 49 
48.0 Average weekly earnings of self-employed earners: persons who are not pensioners ................. 50 
49.0 Average weekly income other than earnings: persons who are not pensioners ........................... 50 
50.0 Calculation of weekly income of employed earners: persons who are not pensioners ................. 50 
51.0 Earnings of employed earners: persons who are not pensioners .................................................. 51 
52.0 Calculation of net earnings of employed earners: persons who are not pensioners ..................... 52 
53.0 Earnings of self-employed earners: persons who are not pensioners ........................................... 53 
54.0 Calculation of income other than earnings: persons who are not pensioners .............................. 53 
55.0 Capital treated as income: persons who are not pensioners ......................................................... 55 
56.0 Notional income: persons who are not pensioners ....................................................................... 55 
CHAPTER 6 Income: further provisions applying to pensioners and persons who are not pensioners . 58 
57.0 Calculation of income on a weekly basis ........................................................................................ 58 
58.0 Treatment of child care charges ..................................................................................................... 58 
59.0 Calculation of weekly income from tax credits .............................................................................. 63 
60.0 Disregard of changes in tax, contributions etc. .............................................................................. 63 

Page 95



4 

61.0 Calculation of net profit of self-employed earners ........................................................................ 64 
62.0 Calculation of deduction of tax and contributions of self-employed earners ................................ 66 
CHAPTER 7 Capital .................................................................................................................................. 66 
63.0 Calculation of capital ...................................................................................................................... 66 
64.0 Income treated as capital: persons who are not pensioners ......................................................... 67 
65.0 Calculation of capital in the United Kingdom ................................................................................. 67 
66.0 Calculation of capital outside the United Kingdom ........................................................................ 67 
67.0 Notional capital .............................................................................................................................. 68 
68.0 Diminishing notional capital rule: pensioners ................................................................................ 69 
69.0 Diminishing notional capital rule: persons who are not pensioners .............................................. 72 
70.0 Capital jointly held .......................................................................................................................... 74 
71.0 Calculation of tariff income from capital: pensioners .................................................................... 74 
72.0 Calculation of tariff income from capital: persons who are not pensioners .................................. 74 
PART 11  Students .................................................................................................................................. 75 
CHAPTER  1  General............................................................................................................................... 75 
73.0 Interpretation ................................................................................................................................. 75 
74.0 Treatment of students ............................................................................................................. 78 
75.0 Students who are excluded from entitlement to a reduction under this scheme ......................... 78 
CHAPTER 2  Income ................................................................................................................................ 80 
76.0 Calculation of grant income ........................................................................................................... 80 
77.0 Calculation of covenant income where a contribution is assessed ................................................ 81 
78.0 Covenant income where no grant income or no contribution is assessed .................................... 81 
79.0 Relationship with amounts to be disregarded under Schedule 8 .................................................. 81 
80.0 Other amounts to be disregarded .................................................................................................. 82 
81.0 Treatment of student loans ............................................................................................................ 82 
82.0 Treatment of payments from access funds .................................................................................... 83 
83.0 Disregard of contribution ............................................................................................................... 84 
84.0 Further disregard of student's income ........................................................................................... 84 
85.0 Income treated as capital ............................................................................................................... 84 
86.0 Disregard of changes occurring during summer vacation ........................................................ 84 
PART 12 Extended reductions ................................................................................................................ 85 
CHAPTER 1 Extended reductions: pensioners ........................................................................................ 85 
87.0 Extended reductions: pensioners ................................................................................................... 85 
88.0 Extended reductions (qualifying contributory benefits): pensioners ............................................. 85 
89.0 Duration of extended reduction period (qualifying contributory benefits): pensioners ............... 85 
90.0 Amount of extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits): pensioners ............................ 86 
91.0 Extended reductions (qualifying contributory benefits)—movers: pensioners ............................. 86 
92.0 Relationship between extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits) and entitlement to a 
reduction by virtue of classes A to C ...................................................................................................... 86 
93.0 Continuing reductions where state pension credit claimed: pensioners ....................................... 87 
CHAPTER 2 Extended reductions: persons who are not pensioners ...................................................... 87 

Page 96



5 

94.0 Extended reductions: persons who are not pensioners ................................................................. 87 
95.0 Extended reductions: persons who are not pensioners ................................................................. 87 
96.0 Duration of extended reduction period: persons who are not pensioners .................................... 89 
97.0 Amount of extended reduction: persons who are not pensioners ................................................ 89 
98.0 Extended reductions—movers: persons who are not pensioners ................................................. 89 
99.0 Relationship between extended reduction and entitlement to a reduction by virtue of classes D 
to F .......................................................................................................................................................... 89 
100.0— Extended reductions (qualifying contributory benefits): persons who are not pensioners ..... 89 
101.0 Duration of extended reduction period (qualifying contributory benefits): persons who are not 
pensioners .............................................................................................................................................. 90 
102.0— Amount of extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits): persons who are not 
pensioners .............................................................................................................................................. 90 
103.0 Extended reductions (qualifying contributory benefits)—movers: persons who are not 
pensioners .............................................................................................................................................. 91 
104.0 Relationship between extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits) and entitlement to 
reduction by virtue of classes D to F ...................................................................................................... 91 
CHAPTER 3 Extended reductions: movers in the authority's area ......................................................... 91 
105.0 Extended reductions: applicant moving into the authority's area ............................................... 91 
PART 13 When entitlement begins and change of circumstances ......................................................... 92 
106.0 Date on which entitlement begins ............................................................................................... 92 
107.0 Date on which change of circumstances is to take effect ............................................................ 92 
107A When beneficial changes of circumstances take effect ................................................................ 93 
107B Conditions for accepting a delay in notification of a change ........................................................ 93 
108.0 Change of circumstances where state pension credit in payment ............................................... 94 
PART 14  Application (including duties to notify authority of change of circumstances) ...................... 96 
109.0 Making an application .................................................................................................................. 96 
110.0 Date on which an application is made .......................................................................................... 97 
111.0 Back-dating of applications: pensioners ....................................................................................... 99 
112.0 Back-dating of applications: persons who are not pensioners ..................................................... 99 
113.0 Information and evidence ............................................................................................................ 99 
113A  SUSPENSION AND TERMINATION OF REDUCTION AND OTHER MATTERS, : persons who are not 
pensioners ............................................................................................................................................ 101 
114.0 Amendment and withdrawal of application ............................................................................... 102 

114A Nil award of Council Tax Reduction………………………………………………..……………………………………….102 
115.0 Duty to notify changes of circumstances ................................................................................... 102 
PART 15 Decisions by authority ............................................................................................................ 104 
116.0 Decision by authority .................................................................................................................. 104 
117.0 Notification of decision .............................................................................................................. 104 
PART 16  Circumstances in which a payment may be made ................................................................ 105 
118.0— Payment where there is joint and several liability .................................................................. 105 
Schedule 1 ............................................................................................................................................ 106 
Procedural matters ............................................................................................................................... 106 

Page 97



6 

PART 1 Procedure by which a person may apply for a reduction under this scheme .......................... 107 
PART 2 Procedure by which a person may make an appeal against certain decisions of the authority
 .............................................................................................................................................................. 108 
PART 3 Procedure for an application to the authority for a reduction under section 13A(1)(c) of the 
1992 Act ................................................................................................................................................ 108 
PART 4 Electronic communication ....................................................................................................... 108 
Schedule 2 ............................................................................................................................................ 111 
Applicable amounts: pensioners .......................................................................................................... 111 
1. Personal allowance ........................................................................................................................... 112 
2.— Child or young person amounts .................................................................................................... 112 
3. Family premium ................................................................................................................................ 113 
4. Premiums .......................................................................................................................................... 113 
6.— Severe disability premium ............................................................................................................ 114 
7.Enhanced disability premium ............................................................................................................ 115 
8. Disabled child premium .................................................................................................................... 116 
9. Carer premium ................................................................................................................................. 116 
10. Persons in receipt of concessionary payments .............................................................................. 116 
11. Person in receipt of benefit ............................................................................................................ 116 
12.Amounts of premium specified ....................................................................................................... 116 
Schedule 3 ............................................................................................................................................ 118 
Applicable amounts: persons who are not pensioners ........................................................................ 118 
Personal allowances ............................................................................................................................. 119 
Family premium .................................................................................................................................... 120 
Premiums.............................................................................................................................................. 121 

9. Disability premium ........................................................................................................................... 122 
10. Additional condition for the disability premium ............................................................................ 122 
11. Severe disability premium .............................................................................................................. 124 
12. Enhanced disability premium ......................................................................................................... 125 
13. Disabled child premium .................................................................................................................. 125 
14. Carer premium ............................................................................................................................... 126 
15. Persons in receipt of concessionary payments .............................................................................. 126 
16. Persons in receipt of benefit for another ....................................................................................... 126 
17. Amounts of Premiums Specified .................................................................................................... 126 
18. The components ............................................................................................................................. 128 
Schedule 4 ............................................................................................................................................ 131 
Amount of alternative maximum council tax reduction: pensioners and persons who are not 
pensioners ............................................................................................................................................ 132 
Schedule 5 ............................................................................................................................................ 134 
Sums disregarded from applicant’s earnings: pensioners .................................................................... 135 
Schedule 6 ............................................................................................................................................ 139 
Amounts to be disregarded in the calculation of income other than earnings: pensioners ................ 140 

Page 98



7 

Schedule 7 ............................................................................................................................................ 144 
Sums disregarded in the calculation of earnings: persons who are not pensioners ............................ 145 
Schedule 8 ............................................................................................................................................ 150 
Sums disregarded in the calculation of income other than earnings: persons who are not pensioners
 .............................................................................................................................................................. 150 
Schedule 9 ............................................................................................................................................ 162 
Capital disregards: pensioners ............................................................................................................. 163 
Capital disregarded only for the purposes of determining deemed income ....................................... 169 
Schedule 10 .......................................................................................................................................... 170 
Capital disregards: persons who are not pensioners ........................................................................... 171 
Schedule 11 .......................................................................................................................................... 181 
Additional awards due to exceptional and/or extreme Hardship ........................................................ 182 

 

  

Page 99



8 

PART 1 Introduction 
 

 
 

1.0 Introduction to the Council Tax Reduction Scheme (Council tax reduction) 
 
 This document details how the scheme will operate for both pension credit age and working 

age applicants and in accordance with Section 13a of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 
specifies the classes of person who are to be entitled to a reduction under the scheme and is 
effective from 1st April 2019.  

 
This Council Tax Reduction Scheme has been adopted by the council and takes effect for the 
year commencing 1st April 2019. The Council reserves the right to review the scheme in respect 
of subsequent years. 

 
 The scheme in respect of pension age applicants is defined by Central Government within the 

Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012 and the 
Local Government Finance Act 1992 (as amended). The Council has no discretion in relation to 
the calculation of council tax reduction in respect of the pension age scheme and it is designed 
to provide broadly the same level of support provided within the previous (Council Tax Benefit) 
scheme.   

 
 The rates for pensioners will be up-rated by the relevant Statutory Instrument each year in line 

with the Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) (Amendment) as 
applicable. Further amendments to the Scheme for pensioners may also be prescribed and will 
therefore have to be adopted. With effect from 6th December 2018 further changes to 
Applicable Amounts will come into force due to the rising pensionable age`.   

 
 The rates for non-pensioners will be up-rated each year in line with Department for Work & 

Pensions social security benefit up-ratings issued each year by the relevant Statutory 
Instrument.  

 

Page 100



9 

PART 2 Interpretation 
 
2.0 Interpretation 

(1) In this scheme— 
“the 1992 Act” means the Local Government Finance Act 1992; 
“Abbeyfield Home” means an establishment run by the Abbeyfield Society including all 

bodies corporate or unincorporated which are affiliated to that society; 
“adoption leave” means a period of absence from work on ordinary or additional adoption 

leave by virtue of section 75A or 75B of the Employment Rights Act 1996 1; 
“an AFIP” means an armed forces independence payment payable in accordance with an 

armed and reserve forces compensation scheme established under section 1(2) of the 
Armed Forces (Pensions and Compensation) Act 2004; 

“alternative maximum council tax reduction” means the amount determined in accordance 
with paragraph 31 and Schedule 4: 

“applicable amount” means 
(a) in relation to a pensioner, the amount calculated in accordance with paragraph 25 and 

Schedule 2; and 
(b) in relation to a person who is not a pensioner, the amount calculated in accordance 

with 
(i) paragraph 26 and Schedule 3; or 
(ii) paragraph 28, as the case may be; 
“applicant” means a person who has made an application; 
“application” means an application for a reduction under this scheme; 
“approved blood scheme” means a scheme established or approved by the 
 Secretary of State, or trust established with funds provided by the Secretary of State, for the 

purpose of providing compensation in respect of a person having been infected from 
contaminated blood products; 

“assessment period” means 
(a) in relation to pensioners: 
(i) in relation to the earnings of a self-employed earner, the period determined in 

accordance with paragraph 43 for the purpose of calculating the weekly earnings of 
the applicant; or 

(ii) in relation to any other income, the period determined in accordance with paragraph 
40 for the purpose of calculating the weekly income of the applicant; 

(b) in relation to persons who are not pensioners, such period as is set out in paragraphs 
47 to 49 over which income falls to be calculated; 

“attendance allowance” means 
(a) an attendance allowance under Part 3 of the SSCBA; 
(b) an increase of disablement pension under section 104 or 105 of that Act; 
(c) a payment by virtue of article 14, 15, 16, 43 or 44 of the Personal Injuries (Civilians) 

Scheme 1983 or any analogous payment; or 
(d) any payment based on need for attendance which is paid as part of a war disablement 

pension; 
“the authority” means a billing authority in relation to whose area this scheme has effect by 

virtue of paragraph 4(6) of Schedule 1A to the 1992 Act; 
“basic rate”has the meaning given by the Income Tax Act 2007; 
“the benefit Acts” means the SSCBA, the Jobseekers Act 1995, the State Pension Credit Act 

2002, the Welfare Reform Act 2007 and the Pensions Act 2014; 
“board and lodging accommodation” means accommodation provided to a person or, if he is 

a member of a family, to him or any other member of his family, for a charge which is 
inclusive of the provision of that accommodation and at least some cooked or prepared 
meals which both are cooked or prepared (by a person other than the person to whom 
the accommodation is provided or a member of his family) and are consumed in that 
accommodation or associated premises; 

“care home” has the meaning given by section 3 of the Care Standards Act 2000 and in 
Scotland means a care home service within the meaning given by section 2(3) of the 

Page 101



10 

Regulation of Care (Scotland) Act 2001 and in Northern Ireland means a nursing home 
within the meaning of Article 11 of the Health and Personal Social Services (Quality, 
Improvement and Regulation) (Northern Ireland) Order 2003 or a residential care home 
within the meaning of Article 10 of that Order; 

“the Caxton Foundation” means the charitable trust of that name established on 28th March 
2011 out of funds provided by the Secretary of State for the benefit of certain persons 
suffering from hepatitis C and other persons eligible for payment in accordance with its 
provisions; 

“child” means a person under the age of 16; 
“child benefit” has the meaning given by section 141 of the SSCBA; 
“child tax credit” means a child tax credit under section 8 of the Tax Credits Act 2002; 
“close relative” means a parent, parent-in-law, son, son-in-law, daughter, daughter-in-law, 

step-parent, step-son, step-daughter, brother, sister, or if any of the preceding persons is 
one member of a couple, the other member of that couple; 

“concessionary payment” means a payment made under arrangements made by the 
Secretary of State with the consent of the Treasury which is charged either to the National 
Insurance Fund or to a Departmental Expenditure Vote to which payments of benefit or 
tax credits under the benefit Acts or the Tax Credits Act 2002 are charged; 

“contributory employment and support allowance” means an allowance under Part 1 
of the Welfare Reform Act 2007(d) as amended by the provisions of Schedule 3, and 
Part 1 of Schedule 14, to the Welfare Reform Act 2012(e) that remove references to an 
income-related allowance and a contributory allowance under Part 1 of the Welfare 
Reform Act 2007 as that Part has effect apart from those provisions; 

“council tax benefit” means council tax benefit under Part 7 of the SSCBA; 
“couple” has the meaning given by paragraph 4; 
“designated office” means the office of the authority designated by it for the receipt of 

application; 
(a) by notice upon or with a form supplied by it for the purpose of making an application; 

or 
(b) by reference upon or with such a form to some other document available from it and 

sent  by electronic means or otherwise on application and without charge; or 
(c) by any combination of the provisions set out in paragraphs (a) and (b); 
“disability living allowance” means a disability living allowance under section 71 of the 

SSCBA; 
“earnings” has the meaning given by paragraph 41, 44, 51 or 53 as the case may be; 
“the Eileen Trust” means the charitable trust of that name established on 29th March 1993 

out of funds provided by the Secretary of State for the benefit of persons eligible for 
payment in accordance with its provisions; 

“electronic communication” has the same meaning as in section 15(1) of the Electronic 
Communications Act 2000; 

“employed earner” is to be construed in accordance with section 2(1)(a) of the SSCBA and 
also includes a person who is in receipt of a payment which is payable under any 
enactment having effect in Northern Ireland and which corresponds to statutory sick pay 
or statutory maternity pay; 

“the Employment, Skills and Enterprise Scheme” means a scheme under section 17A 
(schemes for assisting persons to obtain employment: ““work for your benefit”” schemes 
etc.) of the Jobseekers Act 1995 known by that name and provided pursuant to 
arrangements made by the Secretary of State that is designed to assist claimants for job-
seekers allowance to obtain employment, including self-employment, and which may 
include for any individual work-related activity (including work experience or job search); 

“employment zone” means an area within Great Britain designated for the purposes of 
section 60 of the Welfare Reform and Pensions Act 1999 and an “employment zone 
programme” means a programme established for such an area or areas designed to assist 
claimants for a jobseeker's allowance to obtain sustainable employment; 

“enactment” includes an enactment comprised in, or in an instrument made under, an Act of 
the Scottish Parliament or the National Assembly for Wales; 

“extended reduction” means a reduction under this scheme for which a person is eligible 

Page 102



11 

under Part 12 (extended reductions); 
“extended reduction period” means the period for which a person is in receipt of an 

extended reduction in accordance with paragraph 89, 96 or 101; 
“extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits)” means a reduction under this 

scheme for which a person is eligible in accordance with paragraph 88 or 95; 
“family” has the meaning given by paragraph 6; 
“the Fund” means moneys made available from time to time by the Secretary of State for the 

benefit of persons eligible for payment in accordance with the provisions of a scheme 
established by him on 24th April 1992 or, in Scotland, on 10th April 1992; 

“guarantee credit” is to be construed in accordance with sections 1 and 2 of the State 
Pension Credit Act 2002; 

“a guaranteed income payment” means a payment made under article 15(1)(c) (injury 
benefits) or 29(1)(a) (death benefits) of the Armed Forces and Reserve Forces 
(Compensation Scheme) Order 2011; 

“housing benefit” means housing benefit under Part 7 of the SSCBA; 
“an income-based jobseeker's allowance” and “a joint-claim jobseeker's allowance” have 

the meanings given by section 1(4) of the Jobseekers Act 1995; 
“income-related employment and support allowance” means an income-related allowance 

under Part 1 of the Welfare Reform Act 2007; 
“independent hospital” 
(a) in England means a hospital as defined by section 275 of the National Health Service Act 

2006 that is not a health service hospital as defined by that section; 
(b) in Wales has the meaning given by section 2 of the Care Standards Act 2000; and 
(c) in Scotland means an independent health care service as defined by section 10F of the 

National Health Service (Scotland) Act 1978; 
“the Independent Living Fund (2006)” means the Trust of that name established by a deed 

dated 10th April 2006 and made between the Secretary of State for Work and Pensions of 
the one part and Margaret Rosemary Cooper, Michael Beresford Boyall and Marie 
Theresa Martin of the other part; 

“invalid carriage or other vehicle” means a vehicle propelled by a petrol engine or by electric 
power supplied for use on the road and to be controlled by the occupant; 

“the London Bombings Relief Charitable Fund” means the company limited by guarantee 
(number 5505072), and registered charity of that name established on 11th July 2005 for 
the purpose of (amongst other things) relieving sickness, disability or financial need of 
victims (including families or dependants of victims) of the terrorist attacks carried out in 
London on 7th July 2005; 

“the London Emergencies Trust” means the company of that name (number 09928465) 
incorporated on 23rd December 2015 and the registered charity of that name (number 
1172307) established on 28th March 2017; 

“lone parent” means a person who has no partner and who is responsible for and a member 
of the same household as a child or young person; 

“the Macfarlane (Special Payments) Trust” means the trust of that name, established on 
29th January 1990 partly out of funds provided by the Secretary of State, for the benefit 
of certain persons suffering from haemophilia; 

“the Macfarlane (Special Payments) (No. 2) Trust” means the trust of that name, established 
on 3rd May 1991 partly out of funds provided by the Secretary of State, for the benefit of 
certain persons suffering from haemophilia and other beneficiaries; 

“the Macfarlane Trust” means the charitable trust, established partly out of funds provided 
by the Secretary of State to the Haemophilia Society, for the relief of poverty or distress 
among those suffering from haemophilia; 

“main phase employment and support allowance” means an employment and support 
allowance where the calculation of the amount payable in respect of the applicant 
includes a component under section 2(1)(b) or 4(2)(b) of the Welfare Reform Act 2007 or 
the applicant is a member of the work-related activity group.  

“maternity leave” means a period during which a woman is absent from work because she is 
pregnant or has given birth to a child, and at the end of which she has a right to return to 
work either under the terms of her contract of employment or under Part 8 of the 

Page 103



12 

Employment Rights Act 1996; 
“maximum council tax reduction amount” means the amount determined in accordance 

with paragraph 29; 
“member of a couple” means a member of a married or unmarried couple; 
“member of the work-related activity group” means a person who has or is  treated as 

having limited capability for work under either— 
(a) Part 5 of the Employment and Support Allowance Regulations 2008 other than by virtue of 

regulation 30 of those Regulations; or 
(b) Part 4 of the Employment and Support Allowance Regulations 2013 other than by virtue 

of regulation 26 of those Regulations; 
“MFET Limited” means the company limited by guarantee (number 7121661) of that name, 

established for the purpose in particular of making payments in accordance with 
arrangements made with the Secretary of State to persons who have acquired HIV as a 
result of treatment by the NHS with blood or blood products; 

“mobility supplement” means 
(a) in relation to pensioners, a supplement to which paragraph 5(1)(a)(vii) of Schedule 5 

refers; 
(b) in relation to persons who are not pensioners, a supplement to which paragraph 13 of 

Schedule 8 refers; 
“mover” means an applicant who changes the dwelling in which the applicant is resident, and 

in respect of which the applicant is liable to pay council tax, from a dwelling in the area of 
the authority to a dwelling in the area of a second authority; 

“net earnings” means such earnings as are calculated in accordance with paragraph 42 or 52, 
as the case may be; 

“net profit” means such profit as is calculated in accordance with paragraph 61; 
“new dwelling” means, for the purposes of the definition of “second authority” and 

paragraphs 91, 98 and 103, the dwelling to which an applicant has moved, or is about to 
move, in which the applicant will be resident; 

“non-dependant” has the meaning given by paragraph 9; 
“occasional assistance” means any payment or provision made by a local authority, the 

Welsh Ministers or the Scottish Ministers for the purposes of: 
(a) meeting, or helping to meet an immediate short-term need— 
(i) arising out of an exceptional event or exceptional circumstances, or 
(ii) that needs to be met to avoid a risk to the well-being of an individual, and 
(b) enabling qualifying individuals to establish or maintain a settled home, and— 
(i) “local authority” has the meaning given by section 270(1) of the Local Government 

Act 1972; and 
 (ii) “qualifying individuals” means individuals who have been, or without the assistance 

might otherwise be 
(aa) in prison, hospital, an establishment providing residential care or other institution, 

or 
(bb) homeless or otherwise living an unsettled way of life;  and “local authority” means 

a local authority in England within the meaning of the Local Government Act 1972; 
“occupational pension” means any pension or other periodical payment under an 

occupational pension scheme but does not include any discretionary payment out of a 
fund established for relieving hardship in particular cases; 

“occupational pension scheme” has the same meaning as in section 1 of the Pension 
Schemes Act 1993; 

“partner”, in relation to a person, means: 
(a) where that person is a member of a couple, the other member of that couple; 
(b) subject to paragraph (c), where that person is polygamously married to two or more 

members of his household, any such member to whom he is married; or 
(c) where that person is polygamously married and has an award of universal credit with 

the other party to the earliest marriage that still subsists, that other party to the 
earliest marriage; 

“paternity leave” means a period of absence from work on paternity leave by virtue of 
section 80A or 80B of the Employment Rights Act 1996  

Page 104



13 

“pension fund holder” means with respect to a personal pension scheme or an occupational 
pension scheme, the trustees, managers or scheme administrators, as the case may be, of 
the scheme concerned; 

“pensionable age” has the meaning given by the rules in paragraph 1 of Schedule 4 to the 
Pensions Act 1995; 

“pensioner” has the meaning given by paragraph 3(2)(a); 
“person on income support” means a person in receipt of income support; 
“person treated as not being in Great Britain” has the meaning given by paragraph 21; 
“person who is not a pensioner” has the meaning given by paragraph 3(2)(b); 
“personal independence payment” has the meaning given by Part 4 of the Welfare Reform 

Act 2012; 
“personal pension scheme” means: 
(a) a personal pension scheme as defined by section 1 of the Pension Schemes Act 1993; 
(b) an annuity contract or trust scheme approved under section 620 or 621 of the Income 

and Corporation Taxes Act 1988 or a substituted contract within the meaning of section 
622(3) of that Act which is treated as having become a registered pension scheme by 
virtue of paragraph 1(1)(f) of Schedule 36 to the Finance Act 2004; 

(c) a personal pension scheme approved under Chapter 4 of Part 14 of the Income and 
Corporation Taxes Act 1988 which is treated as having become a registered pension 
scheme by virtue of paragraph 1(1)(g) of Schedule 36 to the Finance Act 2004; 

“policy of life insurance” means any instrument by which the payment of money is assured 
on death (except death by accident only) or the happening of any contingency dependent 
on human life, or any instrument evidencing a contract which is subject to payment of 
premiums for a term dependent on human life; 

 “polygamous marriage” means any marriage to which paragraph 5 applies; 
“qualifying age for state pension credit” means (in accordance with section 1(2)(b) and (6) 

of the State Pension Credit Act 2002) 
(a) in the case of a woman, pensionable age; or 
 
(b) in the case of a man, the age which is pensionable age in the case of a woman born on 

the  same day as the man; 
“qualifying contributory benefit” means 
(a) severe disablement allowance; 
(b) incapacity benefit; 
(c) contributory employment and support allowance; 
“qualifying income-related benefit” means 
(a) income support; 
(b) income-based jobseeker's allowance; 
(c) income-related employment and support allowance; 
“qualifying person” means a person in respect of whom payment has been made from the 

Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET Limited, the Skipton Fund, the Caxton Foundation, the 
Scottish Infected Blood Support Scheme, an approved blood scheme, the London 
Emergencies Trust, the We Love Manchester Emergency Fund or the London Bombings 
Relief Charitable Fund;  

“reduction week” means a period of seven consecutive days beginning with a Monday and 
ending with a Sunday; 

“relative” means a close relative, grandparent, grandchild, uncle, aunt, nephew or niece; 
“relevant b en ef i t”, is to be construed in accordance with Regulation 7(2)(i) of The Housing 

Benefit and Council Tax Benefit (Decisions and Appeals) Regulations 2001 
“relevant week”, in relation to any particular day, means the week within which the day in 

question falls; 
“remunerative work” has the meaning given by paragraph 10; 
“rent” means ““eligible rent”” to which regulation 12 of the Housing Benefit (Persons who 

have attained the qualifying age for state pension credit) Regulations 2006 37 refer, less 
any deductions in respect of non-dependants which fall to be made under paragraph 30 
(non-dependant deductions); 

“savings credit” is to be construed in accordance with sections 1 and 3 of the State Pension 

Page 105



14 

Credit Act 2002; 
“Scottish basic rate” means the rate of income tax of that name calculated in accordance 

with section 6A of the Income Tax Act 2007(e); 
“the Scottish Infected Blood Support Scheme” means the scheme of that name 
administered by the Common Services Agency (constituted under section 10 of the National 

Health Service (Scotland) Act 1978(b)); 
“Scottish taxpayer” has the same meaning as in Chapter 2 of Part 4A of the Scotland Act 

1998(f); 
“second authority” means the authority to which a mover is liable to make payments for the 

new dwelling; 
“self-employed earner” is to be construed in accordance with section 2(1)(b) of the SSCBA; 
“self-employment route” means assistance in pursuing self-employed earner's 

employment whilst participating in: 
(a) an employment zone programme; 
(b) a programme provided by or under arrangements made pursuant to section 2 of the 

Employment and Training Act 1973 (functions of the Secretary of State) or section 2 of 
the Enterprise and New Towns (Scotland) Act 1990 (functions in relation to training for 
employment, etc.); or 

(c) the Employment, Skills and Enterprise Scheme; 
“shared parental leave” means leave under section 75E or 75G of the Employment 
Rights Act 1996; 
 “single applicant” means an applicant who neither has a partner nor is a lone parent; 
“the Skipton Fund” means the ex-gratia payment scheme administered by the Skipton Fund 

Limited, incorporated on 25th March 2004, for the benefit of certain persons suffering 
from hepatitis C and other persons eligible for payment in accordance with the scheme's 
provisions; 

“sports award” means an award made by one of the Sports Councils named in section 23(2) 
of the National Lottery etc. Act 1993 48 out of sums allocated to it for distribution under 
that section; 

“the SSCBA” means the Social Security Contributions and Benefits Act 1992; 
“state pension credit” means state pension credit under the State Pension Credit Act 2002; 
“student” has the meaning given by paragraph 73; 
“tax year” means a period beginning with 6th April in one year and ending with 5th April in 

the next; 
“training allowance” means an allowance (whether by way of periodical grants or 

otherwise) payable: 
(a) out of public funds by a Government department or by or on behalf of the Secretary of 

State, Skills Development Scotland, Scottish Enterprise or Highlands and Islands 
Enterprise, or the Welsh Ministers; 

(b) to a person for his maintenance or in respect of a member of his family; and 
(c) for the period, or part of the period, during which he is following a course of training or 

instruction provided by, or in pursuance of arrangements made with, that department 
or approved by that department in relation to him or so provided or approved by or on 
behalf of the Secretary of State, Skills Development Scotland, Scottish Enterprise or 
Highlands and Islands Enterprise or the Welsh Ministers, but it does not include an 
allowance paid by any Government department to or in respect of a person by reason 
of the fact that he is following a course of full-time education, other than under 
arrangements made under section 2 of the Employment and Training Act 1973, or is 
training as a teacher; 

“the Trusts” (except where the context otherwise requires) means the Macfarlane Trust, the 
Macfarlane (Special Payments) Trust and the Macfarla7ne (Special Payments) (No. 2) 
Trust and “Trustees” is to be construed accordingly; 

“universal credit” has the meaning given by section 1 of the Welfare Reform Act 2012; 
“voluntary organisation” means a body, other than a public or local authority, the activities 

of which are carried on otherwise than for profit; 
“war disablement pension” means any retired pay or pension or allowance payable in 

respect of disablement under an instrument specified in section 639(2) of the Income Tax 

Page 106



15 

(Earnings and Pensions) Act 2003; 
“war pension” means a war disablement pension, a war widow's pension or a war widower's 

pension; 
“war pensioner” means a person in receipt of a war pension; 
“war widow's pension” means any pension or allowance payable to a woman as a widow 

under an instrument specified in section 639(2) of the Income Tax (Earnings and Pensions) 
Act 2003 in respect of the death or disablement of any person; 

“war widower's pension” means any pension or allowance payable to a man as a widower or 
to a surviving civil partner under an instrument specified in section 639(2) of the Income 
Tax (Earnings and Pensions) Act 2003 in respect of the death or disablement of any 
person; 

“water charges” means: 
(a) as respects England and Wales, any water and sewerage charges under Chapter 1 of 

Part 5 of the Water Industry Act 1991, 
(b) as respects Scotland, any water and sewerage charges established by Scottish Water 

under a charges scheme made under section 29A of the Water Industry (Scotland) Act 
2002 51,  in so far as such charges are in respect of the dwelling which a person occupies 
as his home; 

“the We Love Manchester Emergency Fund” means the registered charity of that  name 
(number 1173260) established on 30th May 2017; 

“working tax credit” means a working tax credit under section 10 of the Tax Credits Act 2002; 
“young person” means a person who falls within the definition of qualifying young person in 

section 142 of the SSCBA. 
 
(2) In this scheme, where an amount is to be rounded to the nearest penny, a fraction of a 

penny must be disregarded if it is less than half a penny and must otherwise be treated as 
a whole penny. 

 
(3) For the purpose of this scheme, a person is on an income-based jobseeker's allowance on 

any day in respect of which an income-based jobseeker's allowance is payable to him and 
on any day: 
(a) in respect of which he satisfies the conditions for entitlement to an income-based 
jobseeker's allowance but where the allowance is not paid because of a reduction in 
accordance with section 19 or 19A or regulations made under section 17A or 19B of the 
Jobseekers Act 1995 (circumstances in which a jobseeker's allowance is not payable); 
(b) which is a waiting day for the purposes of paragraph 4 of Schedule 1 to that Act and 

which falls immediately before a day in respect of which an income-based 
jobseeker's allowance is payable to him or would be payable to him but for section 
19 or 19A or regulations made under section 17A or 19B of that Act; or 

(c) in respect of which an income-based jobseeker's allowance would be payable but 
for a restriction imposed pursuant to section 6B, 7, 8 or 9 of the Social Security 
Fraud Act 2001 (loss of benefit provisions). 

 
(4) For the purposes of this scheme, a person is on an income-related employment and 

support  allowance on any day in respect of which an income-related employment and 
support allowance  is payable to him and on any day: 

(a) in respect of which he satisfies the conditions for entitlement to an income-related 
employment and support allowance but where the allowance is not paid in accordance 
with section 18 of the Welfare Reform Act 2007 (disqualification); or 

(b) which is a waiting day for the purposes of paragraph 2 of Schedule 2 to that Act 
(employment and support allowance: supplementary provisions) and which falls 
immediately before a day in respect of which an income-related employment and 
support allowance is payable to him or would be payable to him but for section 18 of 
that Act. 

 
(5) For the purposes of this scheme, two persons must be taken to be estranged only if their 

 estrangement constitutes a breakdown of the relationship between them. 

Page 107



16 

 
(6)  In this scheme, references to any person in receipt of state pension credit includes a 

person who would be in receipt of state pension credit but for regulation 13 of the State 
Pension Credit Regulations 2002 (small amounts of state pension credit). 

 
(7) In these Regulations, references to a person in class A, B or C (as the case may be) is a 

reference to class A, B or C described in paragraphs 2 to 4 of Schedule 1 
 
(8) References in these Regulations to an applicant participating as a service user are 

to— 
(a) a person who is being consulted by or on behalf of— 
(i) a body which has a statutory duty to provide services in the field of health, 
social care or social housing; or 
(ii) a body which conducts research or undertakes monitoring for the purpose of 
planning or improving such services, 
in their capacity as a user, potential user, carer of a user or person otherwise 
affected by the provision of those services; 

            (aa) a person who is being consulted by or on behalf of— 
            (i) the Secretary of State in relation to any of the Secretary of State’s functions in 
            the field of social security or child support or under section 2 of the Employment and Training 
            Act 1973(d); or 
            (ii) a body which conducts research or undertakes monitoring for the purpose of 

planning or improving such functions, in their capacity as a person affected or potentially 
affected by the exercise of those functions or the carer of such a person; or 
(b) the carer of a person consulted as described in sub-paragraph (a) or (aa) where the carer is 
not being consulted as described in that sub-paragraph. 

3.0 Application of scheme: pensioners and persons who are not pensioners 
 
(1) This scheme applies to— 

(a) pensioners who fall within any of classes A to C; and 
(b) persons who are not pensioners who fall within any of classes D to F. 

 
(2) In this scheme: 

(a) a person is a “pensioner” if— 
(i) he has attained the qualifying age for state pension credit; and 
(ii) he is not and, if he has a partner, his partner is not— 

(aa) a person on income support, on an income-based jobseeker's allowance 
or on an income-related employment and support allowance, or 

(bb) a person with an award of universal credit; and 
(b) a person is a “person who is not a pensioner” if— 

(i) he has not attained the qualifying age for state pension credit; or 
(ii) he has attained the qualifying age for state pension credit and he, or if he has a 

partner, his partner, is— 
(aa) a person on income support, on an income-based jobseeker's allowance 

or on an income-related employment and support allowance, or 
(bb) a person with an award of universal credit. 

 
4.0 Meaning of “couple” 
 

(1) In this scheme “couple” means: 
(a) two people who are married to, or civil partners of, each other and are members of the 

same household; or 
(b) two people who are not married to, or civil partners of, each other but are living together 

as a married couple. 
 

Page 108



17 

5.0 Polygamous marriages 
 

(1) This paragraph applies to any case where— 
(a) a person is a husband or wife by virtue of a marriage entered into under a law which 

permits polygamy; and 
(b) either party to the marriage has for the time being any spouse additional to the 

other party. 
 
(2) For the purposes of paragraph 4 (meaning of “couple”) neither party to the marriage is to 

be taken to be a member of a couple. 
 

6.0 Meaning of “family” 
 

(1) In this scheme “family” means 
(a) a couple; 
(b) a couple and a member of the same household for whom one of them is or both are 

responsible and who is a child or a young person; or 
(c) a person who is not a member of a couple and a member of the same household for 

whom that person is responsible and who is a child or a young person. 
 
(2) The references to a child or young person in sub-paragraph (1)(b) and (c) include a child or 

young person in respect of whom section 145A of the SSCBA applies for the purposes of 
entitlement to child benefit, but only for the period prescribed under section 145A(1). 

 
(3) The references to a young person in sub-paragraph (1)(b) and (c) do not include a young 

person who is— 
(a) on income support, an income-based jobseeker's allowance or an income-related 

employment and support allowance, or has an award of universal credit;  
(b) a person to whom section 6 of the Children (Leaving Care) Act 2000 (exclusion from 

benefits) applies; or 
(c) entitled to an award of universal credit. 

 
7.0 Circumstances in which a person is to be treated as responsible or not responsible for another 
 

(1) A person is to be treated as responsible for a child or young person who is normally living 
with him, including a child or young person to whom paragraph 6(2) applies. 

 
(2) Where a child or young person spends equal amounts of time in different households, or 

where there is a question as to which household he is living in, the child or young person 
must be treated for the purposes of sub-paragraph (1) as normally living with— 
(a) the person who is receiving child benefit in respect of that child or young person, or 
(b) if there is no such person— 

(i) where only one claim for child benefit has been made in respect of him, the 
person who made that claim, or 

(ii) in any other case the person who has the primary responsibility for him. 
 
(3) For the purposes of this scheme a child or young person is the responsibility of only one 

person in any reduction week and any person other than the one treated as responsible 
for the child or young person under this paragraph is to be treated as not so responsible. 

 
8.0 Households 
 

(1) Subject to sub-paragraphs (2) and (3), an applicant and any partner and, where the 
applicant or his partner is treated (by virtue of paragraph 7) as responsible for a child or 
young person, that child or young person and any child of that child or young person, are 
to be treated as members of the same household notwithstanding that any of them is 

Page 109



18 

temporarily absent from that household. 
 
(2) A child or young person is not be treated as a member of the applicant's household where 

he is— 
(a) placed with the applicant or his partner by a local authority under section 22C of the 

Children Act 1989 or by a voluntary organisation under section 59(1)(a) of that Act, 
or section 81(2) of the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 (ways in 
which looked after children are to be accommodated and maintained) or in 
Scotland boarded out or placed with the applicant or his partner under a relevant 
enactment or in Wales, placed with the applicant or the applicant’s partner by a 
local authority under section 81 of the Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act 
2014 or by a voluntary organisation under section 59(1)(a) of the Children Act 1989; 
or 

(b) placed, or in Scotland boarded out, with the applicant or his partner prior to 
adoption; or 

(c) placed for adoption with the applicant or his partner in accordance with the 
Adoption and Children Act 2002 or the Adoption Agencies (Scotland) Regulations 
2009 or the Adoption (Northern Ireland) Order 1987. 

 
(3) Subject to sub-paragraph (4), sub-paragraph (1) does not apply to a child or young person 

who is not living with the applicant and who— 
(a) is being looked after by, or in Scotland is in the care of, a local authority under a 

relevant enactment; or 
(b) has been placed, or in Scotland boarded out, with a person other than the applicant 

prior to adoption; or 
(c) has been placed for adoption in accordance with the Adoption and Children Act 

2002 or the Adoption Agencies (Scotland) Regulations 2009. 
 
(4) The authority must treat a child or young person to whom sub-paragraph (3)(a) applies as 

being a member of the applicant's household in any reduction week where— 
(a) that child or young person lives with the applicant for part or all of that reduction 

week; and 
(b) the authority considers that it is reasonable to do so taking into account the nature 

and frequency of that child's or young person's visits. 
 
(5) In this paragraph “relevant enactment” means: 
 (a) the Army Act 1955; 
 (b) the Air Force Act 1955; 
 (c) the Naval Discipline Act 1957; 
 (d) the Matrimonial Proceedings (Children) Act 1958; 
 (e) the Social Work (Scotland) Act 1968; 
 (f) the Family Law Reform Act 1969; 
 (g) the Children and Young Persons Act 1969; 
 (h) the Matrimonial Causes Act 1973; 
 (i) the Children Act 1975; 
 (j) the Domestic Proceedings and Magistrates’ Courts Act 1978; 
 (k) the Adoption and Children (Scotland) Act 2007; 
 (l) the Family Law Act 1986; 
 (m) the Children Act 1989; 
 (n) the Children (Scotland) Act 1995;  
 (na) the Children’s Hearings (Scotland) Act 2011(3); and 
 (o) the Legal Aid, Sentencing and Punishment of Offenders Act 2012. 
 

9.0 Non-dependants 
 

(1) In this scheme, “non-dependant” means any person, except someone to whom sub-
paragraph (2) applies, who normally resides with an applicant or with whom an applicant 

Page 110



19 

normally resides. 
(2) This paragraph applies to— 

(a) any member of the applicant's family; 
(b) if the applicant is polygamously married— 

(i) where the applicant has (alone or jointly with his partner) an award of universal 
credit, any: 
(aa) party to such a marriage other than the applicant's partner; and 
 
(bb) any child or young person who is a member of his household and for 

whom he or his partner or another party to the polygamous marriage is 
responsible; or 

(ii) in any other case, any partner of his and any child or young person who is a 
member of his household and for whom he or one of his partners is 
responsible; 

(c) a child or young person who is living with the applicant but who is not a member of 
his household by virtue of paragraph 8 (households); 

(d) subject to sub-paragraph (3), any person who, with the applicant, is jointly and 
severally liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling for any day under section 
6 or 7 of the 1992 Act (persons liable to pay council tax); 

(e) subject to sub-paragraph (3), any person who is liable to make payments on a 
commercial basis to the applicant or the applicant's partner in respect of the 
occupation of the dwelling; 

(f) a person who lives with the applicant in order to care for him or a partner of his and 
who is engaged by a charitable or voluntary organisation which makes a charge to 
the applicant or his partner for the services provided by that person. 

 
(3) Excepting persons to whom sub-paragraph (2)(a) to (c) and (f) refer, a person to whom 

any of the following paragraphs applies is a non-dependant: 
(a) a person who resides with the person to whom he is liable to make payments in 

respect of the dwelling and either— 
 (i) that person is a close relative of his or his partner; or 
(ii) the tenancy or other agreement between them is other than on a commercial 

basis; 
 
(b) a person whose liability to make payments in respect of the dwelling appears to the 

authority to have been created to take advantage of a council tax reduction scheme 
except someone who was, for any period within the eight weeks prior to the 
creation of the agreement giving rise to the liability to make such payments, 
otherwise liable to make payments of rent in respect of the same dwelling; 

 
(c) a person who becomes jointly and severally liable with the applicant for council tax 

in respect of a dwelling and who was, at any time during the period of eight weeks 
prior to his becoming so liable, a non-dependant of one or more of the other 
residents in that dwelling who are so liable for the tax, unless the change giving rise 
to the new liability was not made to take advantage of a council tax reduction 
scheme. 

 
10.0 Remunerative work 

 
(1) Subject to the following provisions of this paragraph, a person must be treated for the 

purposes of this scheme as engaged in remunerative work if he is engaged, or, where his 
hours of work fluctuate, he is engaged on average, for not less than 16 hours a week, in 
work for which payment is made or which is done in expectation of payment. 

 
(2) Subject to sub-paragraph (3), in determining the number of hours for which a person is 

engaged in work where his hours of work fluctuate, regard must be had to the average of 
hours worked over 

Page 111



20 

 
(a) if there is a recognisable cycle of work, the period of one complete cycle (including, 

where the cycle involves periods in which the person does no work, those periods 
but disregarding any other absences); 

(b) in any other case, the period of 5 weeks immediately prior to the date of 
application, or such other length of time as may, in the particular case, enable the 
person's weekly average hours of work to be determined more accurately. 

 
(3) Where, for the purposes of sub-paragraph (2)(a), a person's recognisable cycle of work at 

a school, other educational establishment or other place of employment is one year and 
includes periods of school holidays or similar vacations during which he does not work, 
those periods and any other periods not forming part of such holidays or vacations during 
which he is not required to work must be disregarded in establishing the average hours 
for which he is engaged in work. 

 
(4) Where no recognisable cycle has been established in respect of a person's work, regard 

must be had to the number of hours or, where those hours will fluctuate, the average of 
the hours, which he is expected to work in a week. 

 
(5) A person must be treated as engaged in remunerative work during any period for which 

he is absent from work referred to in sub-paragraph (1) if the absence is either without 
good cause or by reason of a recognised, customary or other holiday. 

 
(6) A person on income support, an income-based jobseeker's allowance or an income-

related employment and support allowance for more than 3 days in any reduction week is 
to be treated as not being in remunerative work in that week. 

 
(7) A person must not be treated as engaged in remunerative work on any day on which the 

person is on maternity leave, paternity leave, shared parental leave or adoption leave, or 
is absent from work because he is ill. 

 
(8) A person must not be treated as engaged in remunerative work on any day on which he is 

engaged in an activity in respect of which— 
(a) a sports award has been made, or is to be made, to him; and 
(b) no other payment is made or is expected to be made to him. 

 

Page 112



21 

PART 3 Procedural Matters 
 

11.0 Procedure for reduction applications and appeals against reduction decisions 
 
Schedule 1 contains provisions about the procedure 

(a) by which a person may apply for a reduction under this scheme; 
(b) by which a person may make an appeal against certain decisions of the authority; 
(c) by which a person can apply to the authority for a reduction under section 13A(1)(c) 

of the 1992 Act. 
 

PART 4 Classes of person entitled to a reduction under this scheme 
 

12.0 Classes of person entitled to a reduction under this scheme 
 

(1) The classes of person described in paragraphs 13 to 18 are entitled to a reduction under 
this scheme. 

 
(2) In those paragraphs, references to the applicant's income or capital include, in a case 

where that income or capital cannot accurately be determined, references to the 
applicant's estimated income or capital. 

 
13.0 Class A: pensioners, or those in receipt of a war pension, whose income is no greater than the 

applicable amount 
 
 On any day class A consists of any person who is a pensioner or person in receipt of a war 

pension 
(a) who is for that day liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling of which he is a 

resident; 
(b) who, subject to paragraph 19 (periods of absence from a dwelling), is not absent 

from the dwelling throughout the day; 
(c) in respect of whom a maximum council tax reduction amount can be calculated; 
(d) who does not fall within a class of person not entitled to a reduction under this 

scheme; 
(e) whose income (if any) for the relevant week does not exceed his applicable amount, 

and 
(f) who has made an application. 

 
14.0 Class B: pensioners, or those in receipt of a war pension, whose income is greater than the 

applicable amount 
 

On any day class B consists of any person who is a pensioner or person in receipt of a war pension 
(a) who is for that day liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling of which he is a 

resident; 
(b) who, subject to paragraph 19 (periods of absence from a dwelling), is not absent 

from the dwelling throughout the day; 
(c) in respect of whom a maximum council tax reduction amount can be calculated; 
(d) who does not fall within a class of person not entitled to a reduction under this 

scheme; 
(e) whose income for the relevant week is greater than his applicable amount; 
(f) in respect of whom amount A exceeds amount B where— 

(i) amount A is the maximum council tax reduction in respect of the day in the 
applicant's case; and 

(ii) amount B is 2 6/7 per cent of the difference between his income for the 
relevant week and his applicable amount, and 

(g) who has made an application. 
 

Page 113



22 

15.0 Class C: alternative maximum council tax reduction – pensioners 
 

(1) On any day class C consists of any person who is a pensioner 
(a) who is for that day liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling of which he is a 

resident; 
(b) who, subject to paragraph 19 (periods of absence from a dwelling), is not absent 

from the dwelling throughout the day; 
(c) in respect of whom a maximum council tax reduction amount can be calculated; 
(d) who does not fall within a class of person not entitled to a reduction under this 

scheme; 
(e) who has made an application; and 
(f) in relation to whom the condition in sub-paragraph (2) is met. 

 
(2) The condition referred to in sub-paragraph (1)(f) is that no other resident of the dwelling 

is liable to pay rent to the applicant in respect of the dwelling and there is an alternative 
maximum council tax reduction in respect of the day in the case of that person which is 
derived from the income, or aggregate incomes, of one or more residents to whom this 
sub-paragraph applies. 

 
(3) Sub-paragraph (2) applies to any other resident of the dwelling who: 

(a) is not a person who, in accordance with Schedule 1 to the 1992 Act, falls to be 
disregarded for the purposes of discount; 

(b) is not a person who is liable for council tax solely in consequence of the provisions 
of section 9 of the 1992 Act (spouse's or civil partner's joint and several liability for 
tax); 

(c) is not a person who is residing with a couple or with the members of a polygamous 
marriage where the applicant is a member of that couple or of that marriage and 
(i) in the case of a couple, neither member of that couple is a person who, in 

accordance with Schedule 1 to the 1992 Act (persons disregarded for the 
purposes of discount), falls to be disregarded for the purposes of discount; or 

(ii) in the case of a polygamous marriage, two or more members of that marriage 
are not persons who, in accordance with Schedule 1 to the 1992 Act, fall to be 
disregarded for the purposes of discount; 

(d) is not a person who jointly with the applicant falls within the same paragraph of 
section 6(2)(a) to (e) of the 1992 Act (persons liable to pay council tax) as applies in 
the case of the applicant; or 

(e) is not a person who is residing with two or more persons both or all of whom fall 
within the same paragraph of section 6(2)(a) to (e) of the 1992 Act where two or 
more of those persons are not persons who, in accordance with Schedule 1 to the 
1992 Act, fall to be disregarded for the purposes of discount. 

 
16.0 Class D: persons who are not pensioners whose income is less than the applicable amount 

On any day class D consists of any person who is not a pensioner: 
(a) who is for that day liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling of which he is a 

resident; 
(b) who, subject to paragraph 19 (periods of absence from a dwelling), is not absent 

from the dwelling throughout the day; 
(c) in respect of whom a maximum council tax reduction amount can be calculated; 
(d) who does not fall within a class of person not entitled to a reduction under this 

scheme; 
(e) whose income (if any) for the relevant week is less than his applicable amount, and 
(f) who has made an application. 

 
17. Class E: persons who are not pensioners whose income is greater than the applicable amount 

On any day class E consists of any person who is not a pensioner: 
(a) who is for that day liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling of which he is a 

resident; 

Page 114



23 

(b) who, subject to paragraph 19 (periods of absence from a dwelling), is not absent 
from the dwelling throughout the day; 

(c) in respect of whom a maximum council tax reduction amount can be calculated; 
(d) who does not fall within a class of person not entitled to a reduction under this 

scheme; 
(e) whose income for the relevant week is greater than his applicable amount; 
(f) in respect of whom amount A exceeds amount B where— 

(i) amount A is the maximum council tax reduction in his case; and 
(ii) amount B is 2 6/7 per cent of the difference between his income for the 

relevant week and his applicable amount, and 
(g) who has made an application. 
 

18.0 Class F: alternative maximum council tax reduction – persons who are not pensioners 
(1) On any day class F consists of any person who is not a pensioner— 

(a) who is for that day liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling of which he is a 
resident; 

(b) who, subject to paragraph 19 (periods of absence from a dwelling), is not absent 
from the dwelling throughout the day; 

(c) in respect of whom a maximum council tax reduction amount can be calculated; 
(d) who does not fall within a class of person not entitled to a reduction under this 

scheme; 
(e) who has made an application; and 
(f) in relation to whom the condition in sub-paragraph (2) is met. 

 
(2) The condition referred to in sub-paragraph (1)(f) is that no other resident of the dwelling 

is liable to pay rent to the person in question in respect of the dwelling and there is an 
alternative maximum council tax reduction in respect of the day in the case of that person 
which is derived from the income, or aggregate incomes, of one or more residents to 
whom this sub-paragraph applies. 

 
(3) Sub-paragraph (2) applies to any other resident of the dwelling who: 

(a) is not a person who, in accordance with Schedule 1 to the 1992 Act, falls to be 
disregarded for the purposes of discount; and 

(b) is not a person who is liable for council tax solely in consequence of the provisions 
of section 9 of the 1992 Act (spouse's or civil partner's joint and several liability for 
tax); 

(c) is not a person who is residing with a couple or with the members of a polygamous 
marriage where the applicant for the reduction is a member of that couple or of 
that marriage and— 

(i) in the case of a couple, neither member of that couple is a person who, in 
accordance with Schedule 1 to the 1992 Act, falls to be disregarded for the 
purposes of discount; or 

(ii) in the case of a polygamous marriage, two or more members of that marriage 
are not persons who, in accordance with Schedule 1 to the 1992 Act, fall to be 
disregarded for the purposes of discount; 

(d) is not a person who jointly with the applicant for reduction falls within the same 
paragraph of section 6(2)(a) to (e) of the 1992 Act (persons liable to pay council tax) 
as applies in the case of the applicant; or 

(e) is not a person who is residing with two or more persons both or all of whom fall 
within the same paragraph of section 6(2)(a) to (e) of the 1992 Act where two or 
more of those persons are not persons who, in accordance with Schedule 1 to the 
1992 Act, fall to be disregarded for the purposes of discount. 

 
A19. No longer in use 

 
19.0 Periods of absence from a dwelling 

(1) A person is not absent from a dwelling in relation to any day which falls within a period of 

Page 115



24 

temporary absence from that dwelling. 
(2) In sub-paragraph (1), a “period of temporary absence” means 

(a) a period of absence not exceeding 13 weeks, beginning with the first whole day on 
which a person resides in residential accommodation in Great Britain where and for 
so long as— 

(i) the person resides in that accommodation; 
(ii) the part of the dwelling in which he usually resided is not let or sub-let; and 
(iii) that period of absence does not form part of a longer period of absence from 

the dwelling of more than 52 weeks, 
 where he has entered the accommodation for the purpose of ascertaining whether it 

suits his needs and with the intention of returning to the dwelling if it proves not to suit 
his needs; 
(b) subject to sub-paragraph (2B), a period of absence within Great Britain not 

exceeding 13 weeks, beginning with the first whole day of absence from the 
dwelling, where and for so long as: 

(i) the person intends to return to the dwelling; 
(ii) the part of the dwelling in which he usually resided is not let or sub-let; and 
(iii) that period is unlikely to exceed 13 weeks; and 

(c) subject to sub-paragraph (2D), a period of absence within Great Britain not 
exceeding 52 weeks, beginning with the first whole day of that absence, where and 
for so long as: 

(i) the person intends to return to the dwelling; 
(ii) the part of the dwelling in which he usually resided is not let or sub-let; 
(iii) the person is a person to whom sub-paragraph (3) applies; and  
(iv) the period of absence is unlikely to exceed 52 weeks or, in exceptional 

circumstances, is unlikely substantially to exceed that period ; and 
 (d) subject to sub-paragraphs (2F), (3C), (3E) and (3G) and where sub-paragraph (2E) 

applies, a period of absence outside Great Britain not exceeding 4 weeks, 
beginning with the first day of that absence from Great Britain where and for so 
long as— 

(i) the person intends to return to the dwelling; 
(ii) the part of the dwelling in which he usually resides is not let or sub-let; and 
(iii) the period of absence from Great Britain is unlikely to exceed 4 weeks. 

(2A) The period of 13 weeks referred to in sub-paragraph (2)(b) shall run or continue to 
run during any period of absence from Great Britain. 
(2B) Where— 
 (a) a person returns to Great Britain after a period of absence from Great Britain 
 (period A); 
 (b) that person has been absent from the dwelling, including any absence within 

Great Britain, for less than 13 weeks beginning with the first day of absence from 
that dwelling; and 

 (c) at the outset of, or during, period A, period A ceased to be treated as a period of 
 temporary absence, then any day that follows period A and precedes the person’s 

return to the dwelling, shall not be treated as a period of temporary absence under 
sub-paragraph (2)(b). 

(2C) The period of 52 weeks referred to in sub-paragraph (2)(c) shall run or continue to 
 run during any period of absence from Great Britain. 
(2D) Where — 
 (a) a person returns to Great Britain after a period of absence from Great Britain 
 (period A); 
 (b) that person has been absent from the dwelling, including any absence within 

Great Britain, for less than 52 weeks beginning with the first day of absence from 
that dwelling; and 

 (c) at the outset of, or during, period A, period A ceased to be treated as a period of 
 temporary absence, then, any day that follows period A and precedes the person’s 

return to the dwelling, shall not be treated as a period of temporary absence under 
sub-paragraph (2)(c). 

Page 116



25 

(2E) This sub-paragraph applies where— 
 (a) a person is temporarily absent from Great Britain; 
 (b) immediately before that period of absence from Great Britain, the person was 

not absent from the dwelling. 
(2F) If the temporary absence referred to in sub-paragraph (2)(d) is in connection with 

the death of— 
 (a) the person’s partner or a child or young person for whom the person or the 
 person’s partner is responsible; 
 (b) the person’s close relative; 
 (c) the close relative of the person’s partner; or 
 (d) the close relative of a child or young person for whom the person or the person’s 

 partner is responsible, then the period of 4 weeks in the opening words of sub-
paragraph (2)(d) may be extended by up to 4 further weeks if the relevant 
authority considers it unreasonable to expect the person to return to Great 
Britain within the first 4 weeks (and the reference in subparagraph (iii) of that 
paragraph to a period of 4 weeks shall, where the period is extended, be taken 
as referring to the period as so extended). 

 
(3) This sub-paragraph applies to a person who— 

(a) is a person to whom sub-paragraph (3A) applies; 
 (i) in a dwelling, other than the dwelling referred to in sub-paragraph (1), or  
 (ii) in premises approved under section 13 of the Offender Management Act 

2007, 
 or is detained in custody pending sentence upon conviction; 
(b) is resident in a hospital or similar institution as a patient; 
(c) is undergoing, or whose partner or dependent child is undergoing, in the United 

Kingdom or elsewhere, medical treatment, or medically approved convalescence, in 
accommodation other than residential accommodation; 

(d) is following, in the United Kingdom or elsewhere, a training course; 
(e) is undertaking medically approved care of a person residing in the United Kingdom 

or elsewhere; 
(f) is undertaking the care of a child whose parent or guardian is temporarily absent 

from the dwelling normally occupied by that parent or guardian for the purpose of 
receiving medically approved care or medical treatment; 

(g) is, in the United Kingdom or elsewhere, receiving medically approved care provided 
in accommodation other than residential accommodation; 

(h) is a student; 
(i) is receiving care provided in residential accommodation and is not a person to whom 

sub-paragraph (2)(a) applies; or 
(j) has left the dwelling he resides in through fear of violence, in that dwelling, or by a person 

who was formerly a member of the family of the person first mentioned. 
 (3A) This sub-paragraph applies to a person (“P”) who is— 
 (a) detained in custody on remand pending trial; 
 (b) detained pending sentence upon conviction; or 
 (c) as a condition of bail required to reside— 
  (i) in a dwelling, other than a dwelling P occupies as P’s home; or 
  (ii) in premises approved under section 13 of the Offender Management Act 2007(a), 

and who is not also detained in custody following sentence upon conviction. 
(3B) This sub-paragraph applies where— 
 (a) a person is temporarily absent from Great Britain; 
 (b) the person is a member of Her Majesty’s forces posted overseas, a mariner or a 

continental shelf worker; 
 (c) immediately before that period of absence from Great Britain, the person was not 

absent from the dwelling. 
(3C) Where sub-paragraph (3B) applies, a period of absence from Great Britain not exceeding 

26 weeks, beginning with the first day of absence from Great Britain, shall be treated as a 
period of temporary absence where and for so long as— 

Page 117



26 

 (a) the person intends to return to the dwelling; 
 (b) the part of the dwelling in which he usually resided is not let or sub-let; 
 (c) the period of absence from Great Britain is unlikely to exceed 26 weeks. 
(3D) This sub-paragraph applies where— 
 (a) a person is temporarily absent from Great Britain; 
 (b) the person is a person described in any of paragraphs (b), (c), (g) or (j) of subparagraph 
 (c) immediately before that period of absence from Great Britain, the person was not 
 absent from the dwelling. 
(3E) Where sub-paragraph (3D) applies, a period of absence from Great Britain not exceeding 

26 weeks, beginning with the first day of absence from Great Britain, shall be 
 treated as a period of temporary absence where and for so long as— 
 (a) the person intends to return to the dwelling; 
 (b) the part of the dwelling in which he usually resided is not let or sub-let; 
 (c) the period of absence is unlikely to exceed 26 weeks, or in exceptional circumstances, 

is unlikely substantially to exceed that period. 
(3F) This sub-paragraph applies where— 
 (a) a person is temporarily absent from Great Britain; 
 (b) the person is a person described in any of paragraphs (a), (d), (e), (f), (h) or (i) of sub-

paragraph (3); 
 (c) immediately before that period of absence from Great Britain, the person was not 

absent from the dwelling. 
(3G) Where sub-paragraph (3F) applies, a period of absence from Great Britain not exceeding 

4 weeks, beginning with the first day of absence from Great Britain, shall be treated as a 
period of temporary absence where and for so long as— 

 (a) the person intends to return to the dwelling; 
 (b) the part of the dwelling in which he usually resided is not let or sub-let; 
 
 (c) the period of absence is unlikely to exceed 4 weeks, or in exceptional circumstances, is 

unlikely substantially to exceed that period. 
 

(4) This sub-paragraph applies to a person who is 
(a) detained in custody pending sentence upon conviction or under a sentence imposed 

by a court (other than a person who is detained in hospital under the provisions of 
the Mental Health Act 1983, or, in Scotland, under the provisions of the Mental 
Health (Care and Treatment) (Scotland) Act 2003 or the Criminal Procedure 
(Scotland) Act 1995 or, in Northern Ireland, under Article 4 or 12 of the Mental 
Health (Northern Ireland) Order 1986); and 

(b) on temporary release from detention in accordance with Rules made under the 
provisions of the Prison Act 1952 or the Prisons (Scotland) Act 1989. 

 
(5) Where sub-paragraph (4) applies to a person, then, for any day when he is on temporary 

release— 
(a) if such temporary release was immediately preceded by a period of temporary 

absence under sub-paragraph (2)(b) or (c), he must be treated, for the purposes of 
sub-paragraph (1), as if he continues to be absent from the dwelling, despite any 
return to the dwelling; 

(b) for the purposes of sub-paragraph (3)(a), he must be treated as if he remains in 
detention; 

(c) if he does not fall within paragraph (a), he is not to be considered to be a person 
who is liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling of which he is a resident. 

 
(6) In this paragraph— 
 “continental shelf worker” means a person who is employed, whether under a contract 
  of service or not, in a designated area or a prescribed area in connection with any of the 
  activities mentioned in section 11(2) of the Petroleum Act 1998(a); 
 “designated area” means any area which may from time to time be designated by Order 
  in Council under the Continental Shelf Act 1964(b) as an area within which the rights 

Page 118



27 

  of the United Kingdom with respect to the seabed and subsoil and their natural 
  resources may be exercised; 
 “mariner” means a person who is employed under a contract of service either as a 
  master or member of the crew of any ship or vessel, or in any other capacity on board 
  any ship or vessel, where— 
  (a) the employment in that capacity is for the purposes of that ship or vessel or its 
  crew or any passengers or cargo or mails carried by the ship or vessel; and 
  b) the contract is entered into in the United Kingdom with a view to its performance 
  (in whole or in part) while the ship or vessel is on its voyage;”; 

“medically approved” means certified by a medical practitioner; 
“member of Her Majesty’s forces posted overseas” means a person who is a member 
 of the regular forces or the reserve forces (within the meaning of section 374 of the 

Armed Forces Act 2006(c)), who is absent from the main dwelling because the person 
has been posted outside of Great Britain to perform the duties of a member of Her 
Majesty’s regular forces or reserve forces; 

“patient” means a person who is undergoing medical or other treatment as an in-patient 
in any hospital or similar institution; 

 “prescribed area” means any area over which Norway or any member State (other than 
the United Kingdom) exercises sovereign rights for the purpose of exploring the seabed 
and subsoil and exploiting their natural resources, being an area outside the territorial 
seas of Norway or such member State, or any other area which is from time to time 
specified under section 10(8) of the Petroleum Act 1998; 

“residential accommodation” means accommodation which is provided in 
(a) a care home; 
(b) an independent hospital; 
(c) an Abbeyfield Home; or 
(d) an establishment managed or provided by a body incorporated by Royal Charter or 

constituted by Act of Parliament other than a local social services authority; 
 “training course” means a course of training or instruction provided wholly or partly by or 

on behalf of or in pursuance of arrangements made with, or approved by or on behalf of, 
Skills Development Scotland, Scottish Enterprise, Highlands and Islands Enterprise, a 
government department or the Secretary of State. 

 
19A - Transitional provision 
(1) Subject to paragraph (2), the amendments made to paragraph 19 of this scheme by 

regulation 2(3)(a) of SI 2016 1262 The Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed 
Requirements) (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2016, shall not apply in respect of a 
person who is temporarily absent from Great Britain on 1st April 2017 until the day that 
person returns to Great Britain, in such cases paragraph 19 of the 2016/17 Council Tax 
Reduction Scheme shall apply instead.  

(2) Paragraph (1) does not apply to a person who, on 1st April 2017, is temporarily absent 
from 

 Great Britain and is— 
  (a) a member of Her Majesty’s forces posted overseas; 
  (b) absent in the capacity of a continental shelf worker; or 
  (c) absent in the capacity of a mariner. 
(3) In this regulation— 
 “continental shelf worker” means a person who is employed, whether under a contract of 
 service or not, in a designated area or a prescribed area in connection with any of the 

activities mentioned in section 11(2) of the Petroleum Act 1998; 
 “designated area” means any area which may from time to time be designated by Order 

in Council under the Continental Shelf Act 1964 as an area within which the rights of the 
United Kingdom with respect to the seabed and subsoil and their natural resources may 
be exercised; 

 “mariner” means a person who is employed under a contract of service either as a master 
or member of the crew of any ship or vessel, or in any other capacity on board any ship or 
vessel, 

Page 119



28 

 where— 
 (a) the employment in that capacity is for the purposes of that ship or vessel or its crew or 
 any passengers or cargo or mails carried by the ship or vessel; and 
 (b) the contract is entered into in the United Kingdom with a view to its performance (in 
 whole or in part) while the ship or vessel is on its voyage; 
 “member of Her Majesty’s forces posted overseas” means a person who is a member of 

the regular forces or the reserve forces (within the meaning of section 374 of the Armed 
Forces Act 2006), who is absent from the dwelling that the person normally occupies as 
his home because the person has been posted outside of Great Britain to perform the 
duties of a member of Her Majesty’s regular forces or reserve forces; and 

 “prescribed area” means any area over which Norway or any member State (other than 
the United Kingdom) exercises sovereign rights for the purpose of exploring the seabed 
and subsoil and exploiting their natural resources, being an area outside the territorial 
seas of Norway or such member State, or any other area which is from time to time 
specified under section 10(8) of the Petroleum Act 1998. 

 
PART 5 Classes of person excluded from this scheme 

 
20.0 Classes of person excluded from this scheme 

The classes of person described in paragraphs 21 to 24 are not entitled to a reduction under this 
scheme. 

 
21.0 Class of person excluded from this scheme: persons treated as not being in Great Britain 

(1) The class of person described in this paragraph consists of any person treated as not being 
in Great Britain. 

 
(2) Except where a person falls within sub-paragraph (5) or (6), a person is to be treated as 

not being in Great Britain if the person is not habitually resident in the United Kingdom, 
the Channel Islands, the Isle of Man or the Republic of Ireland. 

 
(3) A person must not be treated as habitually resident in the United Kingdom, the Channel 

Islands, the Isle of Man or the Republic of Ireland unless the person has a right to reside in 
one of those places. 

 
(4) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (3), a right to reside does not include a right which 

exists by virtue of, or in accordance with— 
(a) regulation 13 of the EEA Regulations or Article 6 of Council Directive No 2004/38/EC;  
(aa) regulation 14 of the EEA Regulations, but only in a case where the right exists 

under that regulation because the person is— 
(i) a jobseeker for the purpose of the definition of “qualified person” in 

regulation 6(1) of those Regulations, or 
(ii) a family member (within the meaning of regulation 7 of those Regulations) 

of such a jobseeker; 
(ab) Article 45 of the Treaty on the functioning of the European Union(4) (in a case 
where the person is seeking work in the United Kingdom, the Channel Islands, the Isle 
of Man or the Republic of Ireland); 
or 
(b) regulation 15A(1) of the EEA Regulations, but only in a case where the right exists 

under that regulation because the applicant satisfies the criteria in paragraph (4A) 
of that regulation or Article 20 of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European 
Union (in a case where the right to reside arises because a British citizen would 
otherwise be deprived of the genuine enjoyment of their rights as a European Union 
citizen). 

(5) A person falls within this sub-paragraph if the person is: 
(a) a qualified person for the purposes of regulation 6 of the EEA Regulations as a 

worker or a self-employed person; 

Page 120



29 

(b) a family member of a person referred to in paragraph (a) within the meaning of 
regulation 7(1)(a), (b) or (c) of the EEA Regulations; 

(c) a person who has a right to reside permanently in the United Kingdom by virtue of 
regulation 15(1)(c), (d) or (e) of the EEA Regulations; 

(d) a person recorded by the Secretary of State as a refugee within the definition in 
Article 1 of the Convention relating to the Status of Refugees done at Geneva on 
28th July 1951, as extended by Article 1(2) of the Protocol relating to the Status of 
Refugees done at New York on 31st January 1967; 

(e) a person who has been granted, or who is deemed to have been granted, leave 
outside the rules made under section 3(2) of the Immigration Act 1971(5) where 
that leave is— 

(i) discretionary leave to enter or remain in the United Kingdom, 
(ii) leave to remain under the Destitution Domestic Violence concession(6) 
which came into effect on 1st April 2012, or 
(iii) leave deemed to have been granted by virtue of regulation 3 of the 
Displaced Persons (Temporary Protection) Regulations 2005(7); 

(f) a person who has humanitarian protection granted under those rules;  
(g) a person who is not a person subject to immigration control within the meaning of 

section 115(9) of the Immigration and Asylum Act 1999 and who is in the United 
Kingdom as a result of his deportation, expulsion or other removal by compulsion of 
law from another country to the United Kingdom. 

(h) in receipt of income support, an income-related employment and support allowance; or an 
award of Universal Credit 
(ha) in receipt of an income-based jobseeker’s allowance and has a right to reside 

other than a right to reside falling within paragraph (4); or 
(i) a person who is treated as a worker for the purpose of the definition of “qualified 

person” in regulation 6(1) of the EEA Regulations pursuant to regulation 5 of the 
Accession of Croatia (Immigration and Worker Authorisation) Regulations 2013(8) 
(right of residence of a Croatian who is an “accession State national subject to 
worker authorisation”) 

 
(6) A person falls within this sub-paragraph if the person is a Crown servant or member of Her 

Majesty's forces posted overseas. 
 
(7) A person mentioned in sub-paragraph (6) is posted overseas if the person is performing 

overseas the duties of a Crown servant or member of Her Majesty's forces and was, 
immediately before the posting or the first of consecutive postings, habitually resident in 
the United Kingdom. 

 
(8) In this paragraph— 
“claim for asylum”has the same meaning as in section 94(1) of the Immigration and Asylum 

Act 1999; 
“EEA Regulations” means the Immigration (European Economic Area) Regulations 2006. 
 
 

22.0 Class of person excluded from this scheme: persons subject to immigration control 
 
(1) Subject to paragraph (1A), Persons subject to immigration control are not entitled to a 

reduction under this scheme. 
 

(1A) A person who is a national of a state which has ratified the European Convention on 
Social and Medical Assistance(9) (done in Paris on 11th December 1953) or a state which 
has ratified the Council of Europe Social Charter (signed in Turin on 18th October 1961) 
and who is lawfully present in the United Kingdom is not a person subject to immigration 
control for the purpose of paragraph (1). 

 
(2) “Person subject to immigration control” has the meaning given in section 115(9) of the 

Page 121



30 

Immigration and Asylum Act 1999. 
 
 
 

23.0 Class of person excluded from this scheme: capital limit 
 
(1) The class of person described in this paragraph consists of any person whose capital 

exceeds £16,000. 
 
(2) Capital for the purposes of sub-paragraph (1) is to be calculated in accordance with Part 

10 of this scheme. 
 

24.0 Class of person excluded from this scheme: students 
 The class of person described in this paragraph consists of any student to whom paragraph 

75(1) applies (except to the extent that a student may be entitled to an alternative maximum 
council tax reduction by virtue of paragraph 18). 

 
PART 6 Applicable amounts 

 
25.0  Applicable amounts: pensioners 

(1) The applicable amount for a pensioner for a week is the aggregate of such of the following 
amounts as apply in his case— 
(a) an amount in respect of his personal allowance, determined in accordance with 

paragraph 1 of Schedule 2 (personal allowance); 
(b) an amount determined in accordance with paragraph 2 of that Schedule in respect 

of up to two individuals who are either children or young persons and who are 
members of his family; 

(c) if he is a member of a family of which at least one member is a child or young 
person, an amount determined in accordance with paragraph 3 of that Schedule 
(family premium); 

(d) the amount of any premiums which may be applicable to him, determined in 
accordance with Parts 3 and 4 of that Schedule (premiums). 

 
(1A) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1)(b) as it applies apart from sub-paragraph (1C), 

where the family includes more than two individuals who are either children or young 
persons and under paragraph 2 of that Schedule a different amount applies to different 
individuals, the two amounts to be included in the applicable amount shall be those 
that result in the greatest possible total amount. 

 
(1B) Sub-paragraph (1C) applies where— 
(a) (whether or not as part of a tax credit couple as defined in section 3(5A) of the Tax 

Credits Act 2002) the applicant has an award of child tax credit (whether or not any 
amount is payable by way of such credit) in respect of a child or young person who is a 
member of his family; and 

 
(b) the total amount to be included in the applicable amount under sub-paragraph (1)(b) as 

substituted by sub-paragraph (1C) would be higher than the total amount that would 
be included under paragraph (1)(b) apart from sub-paragraph (1C). 

 
(1C) Where this paragraph applies, for sub-paragraph (1)(b) substitute—  

(c) an amount determined in accordance with paragraph 2 of that Schedule in respect 
of any child or young person who is a member of his family and in respect of 
whom the individual element of child tax credit has been included in the 
determination of the maximum rate of that credit; 

 
(2) In Schedule 2— 

Page 122



31 

“additional spouse” means a spouse of either party to the marriage who is additional to 
the other party to the marriage; 

“patient” means a person (other than a person who is serving a sentence of imprisonment 
or detention in a youth custody institution) who is regarded as receiving free in-
patient treatment within the meaning of regulation 2(4) and (5) of the Social Security 
(Hospital In-Patients) Regulations 2005. 

 
26.0 Applicable amounts: persons who are not pensioners 

26.    (1) Subject to paragraphs 27 and 28, the applicable amount for a week for a person 
who is not a pensioner is the aggregate of such of the following amounts (as stated in 
Schedule 3) as may apply in his case- 

(a) an amount in respect of himself or, if he is a member of a couple, an amount  in 
respect  of  both of  them,  determined in accordance with 

paragraph 1 of Schedule 3; 
 (b) an amount determined in accordance with paragraph 3 of Schedule 3 in respect of up 

to two individuals who are either children or young persons and who are members of 
his family;  

(c) if he is a member of a family of which at least one member is a child or young person, 
an amount determined in accordance with Part 2 of that Schedule (family premium); 

(d)  the  amount  of  any  premiums  which  may  be  applicable  to  him, determined  in  
accordance  with  Parts  3  and  4  of  that  Schedule 

(premiums); 
(e) the amount of either the – 
(i) work-related activity component; or 
(ii) support component, 
which may be applicable to him in accordance with Parts 5 and 6 of that Schedule (the 

components);(f) the amount of any transitional addition 
 which may be applicable to him in  accordance  with  Parts  7  and  8  of  that  Schedule  

(transitional addition). 
 
(2) In Schedule 3- 
“additional spouse” means a spouse by the party to the marriage who is additional to the 

party to the marriage; 
“converted  employment  and  support  allowance”  means  an  employment  and support 

allowance which is not income-related and to which a person is entitled 
as a result of a conversion decision within the meaning of the Employment and 
Support Allowance (Existing Awards) Regulations 2008; 
“patient” means a person (other than a person who is serving a sentence of imprisonment 

or detention in a youth custody institution) who is regarded as 
receiving free in-patient treatment within the meaning of regulation 2(4) and (5) 
of the Social Security (Hospital In-Patients) Regulations 2005. 
 
(3) For the purposes of paragraph (1)(b), as it applies apart from paragraph (5), where the 

family includes more than two individuals who are either children or young persons, 
and, under paragraph 3 of Schedule 3, a different amount applies to different 
individuals, the two amounts to be included in the applicable amount shall be those 
that result in the greatest possible total amount. 

(4) Paragraph (5) applies where— 
(a) (whether or not as part of a tax credit couple as defined in section 3(5A) of the Tax 

Credits Act 2002) the claimant has an award of child tax credit (whether or not any 
amount is payable by way of such credit) in respect of a child or young person who is a 
member of his family; and 

(b) the total amount to be included in the applicable amount under paragraph (1)(b) as 
substituted by paragraph (5) would be higher than the total amount that would be 
included under paragraph (1)(b) apart from paragraph (5). 

 
(5) Where this paragraph applies, for paragraph (1)(b) substitute— 

Page 123



32 

“(b) an amount determined in accordance with paragraph 3 of Schedule 3 in 
respect of any child or young person who is a member of his family and in 
respect of whom the individual element of child tax credit has been included 
in the determination of the maximum rate of that credit;”. 

27.0 Polygamous marriages: persons who are not pensioners 
27.   (1)  This  paragraph  applies  where  an  applicant  who  is  not  a  pensioner  is  a 

member of a polygamous marriage and does not have (alone or jointly with a party 
to a marriage), an award of universal credit. 

 
(2) The applicable amount for a week of an applicant where this paragraph applies is 

the aggregate of such of the following amounts as may apply in his case: 
(a) the amount applicable to him and one of his partners determined in accordance 

with paragraph 1(3) of Schedule 3 as if he and that partner were a couple; 
(b) an amount equal to the difference between the amounts specified in sub-

paragraphs (3) and (1)(b) of paragraph 1 of that Schedule in 
respect of each of his other partners; 
(c) an amount determined in accordance with paragraph 3 of Schedule 3 in respect of 

up to two individuals who are either children or young persons and for whom he or 
a partner of his is responsible and who are members of the same household; 

 (d) if he or another partner of the polygamous marriage is responsible for a child or 
young person who is a member of the same household, 

the amount specified in Part 2 of that Schedule (family premium); 
(e) the amount of any premiums which may be applicable to him determined  in  

accordance  with  Parts  3  and  4  of  that  Schedule 
(premiums); 
(f) the amount of either the- 
(i) work-related activity component; or 
(ii) support component, which may be applicable to him in accordance with Parts 5 and 

6 of that Schedule (the components); 
(g) the amount of any transitional addition which may be applicable to him in 

accordance with Parts 7 and 8 of that Schedule (transitional addition). 
 
(3) For the purposes of paragraph (2)(c), as it applies apart from paragraph (5), where 
the claimant and his partners are between them responsible for more than two 

individuals who are either children or young persons and who are members of the 
same household, and, under paragraph 3 of Schedule 3, a different amount applies 
to different individuals, the two amounts to be included in the applicable amount 
shall be those that result in the greatest possible total amount. 

 
(4) Paragraph (5) applies where— 
(a) (as part of a polygamous unit) the claimant has an award of child tax credit (whether 

or not any amount is payable by way of such credit) in respect of any child or young 
person for whom he or a partner of his is responsible and who is a member of his 
family; and 

(b) the total amount to be included in the applicable amount under paragraph (1)(c) as 
substituted by paragraph (5) would be higher than the total amount that would be 

included under paragraph (2)(c) apart from paragraph (5). 
 
(5) Where this paragraph applies, for paragraph (2)(c) substitute— 
“(c) an amount determined in accordance with paragraph 3 of Schedule 3 in 
respect of any child or young person for whom he or a partner of his is responsible and 

who is a member of the same household and in respect of whom the individual 
element of child tax credit has been included in the determination of the maximum 
rate of that credit;”. 

 
(6) In this regulation, “polygamous unit” has the same meaning as in regulation 2 of the 
Tax Credits (Polygamous Marriages) Regulations 2003(b). 

Page 124



33 

 
 
 
 
27ATransitional provisions for restrictions on amounts for children and young 

persons  
27A.—(1) This regulation applies where - 

a) on 31st March 2018, a person is entitled to a council tax reduction under this 
scheme, and  

b) the person is, or the person and the person’s partner are between them, 
responsible for more than two individuals who are either children or young 
persons and who are members of the same household (each such individual is 
referred to as a “protected individual”).  

(2) Where this regulation applies, Paragraphs 26(1)(b) and 27(2)(c) do not apply to the 
person entitled to a reduction referred to in paragraph (1) until—  

(a) the person makes a new application for a council tax reduction under this scheme; 
or   

(b) the person or the person’s partner (if any) becomes responsible for a new 
individual, whichever is the first to occur.  

(3) Paragraphs (4) to (8) apply where—  
(a) Paragraphs 26(1)(b) and 27(2)(c) apply by virtue of paragraph (2)(b);  
(b) the child tax credit provisions do not apply; and  
(c) the person has not made a new claim for council tax reduction under this scheme.  
(4) Notwithstanding the default provisions, a child amount shall be included in the 

applicable amount in relation to any protected individual, in relation to any time 
when the person or the person’s partner (if any) is responsible for the individual and 
the individual is a member of the same household.  

(5) Paragraph (6) applies where—  
(a) the person or the person’s partner (if any) is responsible for one or more protected 

individuals who are members of the same household; and  
(b) either of them is responsible for one or more new individuals who are members of 

the same household.  
(6) Where this paragraph applies, any protected individual for whom the person or the 

person’s partner is responsible is to be counted for the purpose of deciding 
whether, under the default provisions, an additional child amount is to be included 
in the applicable amount with respect to the new individual or individuals referred 
to in paragraph (5)(b).  

(7) Paragraph (8) applies where—  
(a) the number of protected individuals for whom either the person or the person’s 

partner (if any) is responsible, and who are members of the same household, is one;  
(b) the number of new individuals for whom either the person or the person’s partner 

is responsible, and who are members of the same household, is two or more; and 
(c) a different child amount would apply to different individuals.  

(8) Where this paragraph applies, the child amounts to be included in the applicable 
amount shall be—  

(a) the child amount in relation to the protected individual; and  
(b) a child amount in relation to such one of the new individuals as will result in the 

greatest possible total amount.  
(9) Under paragraph (3), for the purposes of determining whether the child tax credit 

provisions apply, by virtue of Paragraph 25(1B), 26(4) or 27(4) of these regulations 
where the person or the person’s partner is responsible for one or more protected 
individuals, the total amount that would be included in the applicable amount 
under the default provisions shall be taken to be the total that would be included 
under paragraphs (4), (6) and (8).  

(10) For the purposes of this regulation—  
(a)  “child amount” means the amount determined under whichever is relevant of 

paragraph 2 of Schedule 2 of these regulations for pensioners and paragraph 3 of 

Page 125



34 

Schedule 3 of these regulations for persons who are not pensioners 
(b) “child tax credit provisions” means the provisions of paragraph 25(1)(b) (as 

substituted by paragraph 25(1C) for pensioners; the provisions of paragraph of 
paragraph 26(1)(b) (as substituted by paragraph 26(5) for persons who are not 
pensioners; the provisions of 27(2)(c) (as substituted by paragraph 27(5) for persons 
who are not pensioners and in a polygamous marriage.  

(c) “default provisions” means the provisions of paragraph 25(1)(b) (as substituted by 
paragraph 25(1C) for pensioners; the provisions of paragraph of paragraph 26(1)(b) 
(as substituted by paragraph 26(5) for persons who are not pensioners; the 
provisions of 27(2)(c) (as substituted by paragraph 27(5) for persons who are not 
pensioners and in a polygamous marriage 

(d) “new individual” means a child or young person who is not a protected individual;  
(e) any reference to an individual being part of the same household means being part 
of the same household with the person who is entitled to a council tax reduction under 
this scheme and the person’s partner (if any); 
(f) a person is to be treated as responsible for a child or young person in the 
circumstances set out in paragraph 7 of this scheme. 

 
 

28.0 Applicable amount: persons who are not pensioners who have an award of universal credit 
 
(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), in determining the applicable amount for a week of an 

applicant who is not a pensioner: 
(a) who has, or 
(b) who (jointly with his partner) has, 
 

 an award of universal credit, the authority must use the calculation or estimate of the 
maximum amount of the applicant, or the applicant and his partner jointly (as the case 
may be), subject to the adjustment described in sub-paragraph (3). 

 
(2) In determining the applicable amount for a week of an applicant who is a member of a 

polygamous marriage, the fact that two people are husband and wife is to be disregarded 
if: 
(a) one of them is a party to an earlier marriage that still subsists; and 
(b) the other party to that earlier marriage is living in the same household. 

 
(3) The adjustment referred to in sub-paragraph (1) is to multiply the maximum amount by 12 

and divide the product by 52. 
 
(4) In this paragraph “maximum amount” means the maximum amount calculated by the 

Secretary of State in accordance with section 8(2) of the Welfare Reform Act 2012 33. 
 

PART 7 Maximum council tax reduction for the purposes of calculating eligibility 
for a reduction under this scheme and amount of reduction 

 
29.0 Maximum council tax reduction amount under this scheme: pensioners and persons who are 
not pensioners 

(1) Subject to sub-paragraphs (2) to (4), a person's maximum council tax reduction amount in 
respect of a day is  100 per cent of the amount A/B where: 
(a) A is the amount set by the authority as the council tax for the relevant financial year 

in respect of the dwelling in which he is a resident and for which he is liable, subject 
to any discount which may be appropriate to that dwelling under the 1992 Act; and 

(b) B is the number of days in that financial year, less any deductions in respect of non-
dependants which fall to be made under paragraph 30 (non-dependant deductions: 
pensioners and persons who are not pensioners). 

 

Page 126



35 

(2) In calculating a person's maximum council tax reduction under this scheme any reduction 
in the amount that person is liable to pay in respect of council tax, which is made in 
consequence of any enactment in, or made under, the 1992 Act (other than a reduction 
under this scheme), is to be taken into account. 

 
(3) where a person’s daily award of Council Tax Reduction does not meet 100% of their 

Council Tax liability, the Council may consider a further award of Council Tax Reduction; 
(a) where the conditions in Schedule 11 are satisfied and 
 (b) where in the Council’s opinion a person or persons would otherwise suffer extreme or 
exceptional hardship  

 
(4) Subject to sub-paragraph (5), where an applicant is jointly and severally liable for council 

tax in respect of a dwelling in which he is resident with one or more other persons, in 
determining the maximum council tax reduction in his case in accordance with sub-
paragraph (1), the amount A is to be divided by the number of persons who are jointly 
and severally liable for that tax. 

 
(5) Where an applicant is jointly and severally liable for council tax in respect of a dwelling 

with only his partner, sub-paragraph (4) does not apply in his case. 
(6) The reference in sub-paragraph (4) to a person with whom an applicant is jointly and 

severally liable for council tax, does not include a student to whom paragraph 75(1) 
(entitlement of students to a reduction under this scheme) applies. 

 
(7) In this paragraph “relevant financial year” means, in relation to any particular day, the 

financial year within which the day in question falls. 
 

 
30.0 Non-dependant deductions: pensioners and persons who are not pensioners 

 
30. (1)  Subject  to  the  following  provisions  of  this paragraph,  the  non-dependant 

deductions in respect of a day referred to in paragraph 29 for pensioners are as 
prescribed in the relevant “Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed  Requirements) 
England (Amendment) Regulations produced each year up-rating the amounts for the 
forth-coming financial year.  

 (2) Subject  to  the  following  provisions  of  this paragraph,  the  non-dependant deductions 
in respect of a day referred to in paragraph 29 for persons who are not pensioners will be 
adopted from the relevant “Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed  Requirements) 
England (Amendment) Regulations produced each year up-rating the amounts for the 
forth-coming financial year. 

(3) Only one deduction is to be made under this paragraph in respect of a couple or, as the 
case may be, members of a polygamous marriage (other than where there is an award of 
universal credit) and, where, but for this paragraph, the amount that would fall to be 
deducted in respect of one member of a couple or polygamous marriage is higher than 
the amount (if any) that would fall to be deducted in respect of the other, or any other, 
member, the higher amount is to be deducted. 

 
(4) In applying the provisions of sub-paragraph (2) in the case of a couple or, as the case may 

be, a polygamous marriage, regard must be had, for the purpose of that sub-paragraph, 
to the couple's or, as the case may be, all members of the polygamous marriage's joint 
weekly gross income. 

 
(5) Where in respect of a day— 

(a) a person is a resident in a dwelling but is not himself liable for council tax in respect 
of that dwelling and that day; 

(b) other residents in that dwelling (the liable persons) have joint and several liability 
for council tax in respect of that dwelling and that day otherwise than by virtue of 
section 9 of the 1992 Act (liability of spouses and civil partners); and 

Page 127



36 

(c) the person to whom paragraph (a) refers is a non-dependant of two or more of the 
liable persons, 

 the deduction in respect of that non-dependant must be apportioned equally between 
those liable persons. 

 
(6) No deduction is to be made in respect of any non-dependants occupying an applicant's 

dwelling if the applicant or his partner is— 
(a) severely sight-impaired or blind or treated as such by virtue of paragraph 10 of 

Schedule 3 (additional condition for the disability premium); or 
(b) receiving in respect of himself— 

(i) attendance allowance, or would be receiving that allowance but for— 
(aa) a suspension of benefit in accordance with regulations under section 

113(2) of the SSCBA; or 
(bb) an abatement as a result of hospitalisation; or 

(ii) the care component of the disability living allowance, or would be receiving 
that component but for— 
(aa) a suspension of benefit in accordance with regulations under section 

113(2) of the SSCBA; or 
(bb) an abatement as a result of hospitalisation; or 

(iii) the daily living component of personal independence payment, or would be 
receiving that allowance but for a suspension of benefit in accordance with 
regulations under section 86 of the Welfare Reform Act 2012 (hospital in-
patients); or 

(iv) an AFIP, or would be receiving that payment but for a suspension of it in 
accordance with any terms of the armed and reserve forces compensation 
scheme which allows for a suspension because a person is undergoing 
medical treatment in a hospital or similar institution. 

 
(7) No deduction is to be made in respect of a non-dependant if: 

(a) although he resides with the applicant, it appears to the authority that his normal 
home is elsewhere; or 

(b) he is in receipt of a training allowance paid in connection with youth training 
established under section 2 of the Employment and Training Act 1973 or section 2 
of the Enterprise and New Towns (Scotland) Act 1990; or 

(c) he is a full-time student within the meaning of Part 11 (students); or 
(d) he is not residing with the applicant because he has been a patient for a period in 

excess of 52 weeks, and for these purposes— 
(i) “patient” has the meaning given in paragraph 19(6), and 
 
(ii) where a person has been a patient for two or more distinct periods separated 

by one or more intervals each not exceeding 28 days, he is to be treated as 
having been a patient continuously for a period equal in duration to the total 
of those distinct periods. 

(e) he is not residing with the applicant because he is a member of the regular 
forces or the reserve forces (within the meaning of section 374 of the Armed 
Forces Act 2006(10)) who is absent, while on operations, from the dwelling 
usually occupied as their home. 

 
(8) No deduction is to be made in respect of a non-dependant: 

(a) who is on income support, state pension credit, an income-based jobseeker's 
allowance or an income-related employment and support allowance;  

(b) to whom Schedule 1 to the 1992 Act applies (persons disregarded for purposes of 
discount) but this paragraph does not apply to a non-dependant who is a student to 
whom paragraph 4 of that Schedule refers; or 

(c) who is entitled to an award of universal credit where the award is calculated on the 
basis that the person does not have any earned income. 

 

Page 128



37 

(9) In the application of sub-paragraph 2) there is to be disregarded from the non-
dependent’s weekly gross income— 

(a) any attendance allowance, disability living allowance, personal independence 
payment or AFIP received by him; 

(b) any payment made under or by the Trusts, the Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET Limited, 
the Skipton Fund, the Caxton Foundation, the Scottish Infected Blood Support 
Scheme, an approved blood scheme, the London Emergencies Trust, the We Love 
Manchester Emergency Fund or the Independent Living Fund (2006) which are paid 
as income in kind (see sub-paragraph (13)); and 

(c) the payments set out in sub-paragraph (10). 
 

(10) The payments mentioned in sub-paragraph (9) are— 
(a) any payment made under or by the Trusts, the Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET Limited, 

the Skipton Fund, the Caxton Foundation, the Scottish Infected Blood Support Scheme, 
an approved blood scheme, the London Emergencies Trust, the We Love Manchester 
Emergency Fund or the Independent Living Fund (2006); 

(b) any payment by or on behalf of a person who is suffering or who suffered from 
haemophilia or who is or was a qualifying person, which derives from a payment made 
under or by any of the Trusts to which paragraph (a) refers and which is made to or for 
the benefit of— 

(i) that person’s partner or former partner from whom he is not, or where that person has 
died was not, estranged or divorced or with whom he has formed a civil partnership 
that has not been dissolved or, where that person has died, had not been dissolved at 
the time of that person’s death; 

(ii) any child who is a member of that person’s family or who was such a member and who 
is a member of the applicant’s family; or 

(iii) any young person who is a member of that person’s family or who was such a member 
and who is a member of the applicant’s family; 

(c) any payment by or on behalf of the partner or former partner of a person who is 
suffering or who suffered from haemophilia or who is or was a qualifying person 
provided that the partner or former partner and that person are not, or if either of 
them has died were not, estranged or divorced or, where the partner or former partner 
and that person have formed a civil partnership, the civil partnership has not been 
dissolved or, if either of them has died, had not been dissolved at the time of the death, 
which derives from a payment made under or by any of the Trusts to which paragraph 
(a) refers and which is made to or for the benefit of— 

(i) the person who is suffering from haemophilia or who is a qualifying person; 
(ii) any child who is a member of that person’s family or who was such a member and who 

is a member of the applicant’s family; or 
(iii) any young person who is a member of that person’s family or who was such a member 

and who is a member of the applicant’s family; 
(d) any payment by a person who is suffering from haemophilia or who is a qualifying 

person, which derives from a payment under or by any of the Trusts to which 
paragraph (a) refers, where— 

(i) that person has no partner or former partner from whom he is not estranged or 
divorced or with whom he has formed a civil partnership that has not been dissolved, 
nor any child or young person who is or had been a member of that person’s family; 
and 

(ii)the payment is made either 
(aa) to that person’s parent or step-parent, or 
(bb) where that person at the date of the payment is a child, a young person or a student 

who has not completed his full-time education and has no parent or step-parent, to his 
guardian, but only for a period from the date of the payment until the end of two years 
from that person’s death; 

(e) any payment out of the estate of a person who suffered from haemophilia or who was 
a qualifying person, which derives from a payment under or by any of the Trusts to 
which paragraph (a) refers, where— 

Page 129



38 

(i) that person at the date of his death (the relevant date) had no partner or former partner 
from whom he was not estranged or divorced or with whom he has formed a civil 
partnership that has not been dissolved, nor any child or young person who was or had 
been a member of his family; and 

(ii) the payment is made either 
(aa) to that person’s parent or step-parent, or 
(bb) where that person at the relevant date was a child, a young person or a student who 

had not completed his full-time education and had no parent or step-parent, to his 
guardian, but only for a period of two years from the relevant date; 

(f) in the case of a person to whom or for whose benefit a payment referred to in this 
subparagraph is made, any income which derives from any payment of income or 
capital made under or deriving from any of the Trusts. 

(g) any payment made under, or by, a trust which is approved by the Secretary of State 
and which is established for the purpose of giving relief and assistance to a disabled 
person whose disability was caused by their mother having taken a preparation 
containing the drug known as Thalidomide during her pregnancy. 

 
(11) An applicant or his partner is severely sight-impaired or blind or treated as such for 

the purposes of sub-paragraph (6)(a) if the applicant or his partner— 
(a) is registered as severely sight-impaired in a register kept by a local authority in 

Wales under section 18(1) of the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014; or 
(b) is registered as severely sight-impaired in a register kept by a local authority in 

England under section 77(1) of the Care Act 2014 (registers of sight-impaired adults); 
or 

(c) in Scotland, has been certified as blind and in consequence he is registered in a 
register maintained by or on behalf of a council constituted under section 2 of the 
Local Government (Scotland) Act 1994. 

 
(11A) For the purposes of sub paragraph (8) “earned income” has the meaning given in 

regulation 52 of the Universal Credit Regulations 2013 
 
(12) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (11), a person who has ceased to be registered as 

severely sight-impaired or blind on regaining his eyesight is nevertheless to be treated 
as such for a period of 28 weeks following the date on which he ceased to be so 
registered. 

 
(13) The reference in sub-paragraph (9)(b) to “income in kind” does not include a payment 

to a third party made in respect of the applicant which is used by the third party to 
provide benefits in kind to the applicant. 

 
PART 8 Alternative maximum council tax reduction for the purposes of calculating 

eligibility for a reduction under this scheme and amount of reduction 
 

31.0 Alternative maximum council tax reduction under this scheme: pensioners and persons who 
are not pensioners 

(1) Subject to sub-paragraphs (2) and (3), the alternative maximum council tax reduction in 
respect of a day where the conditions set out in paragraph 15 (alternative maximum 
council tax reduction: pensioners) or 18 (alternative maximum council tax reduction: 
persons who are not pensioners) are fulfilled, is the amount determined in accordance 
with Schedule 4 (amount of alternative council tax reduction). 

 
(2) Subject to sub-paragraph (3), where an applicant is jointly and severally liable for council 

tax in respect of a dwelling in which he is resident with one or more other persons, in 
determining the alternative maximum council tax reduction in his case, the amount 
determined in accordance with Schedule 4 must be divided by the number of persons 
who are jointly and severally liable for that tax. 

Page 130



39 

 
(3) Where an applicant is jointly and severally liable for council tax in respect of a dwelling 

with only his partner, solely by virtue of section 9 of the 1992 Act (liability of spouses and 
civil partners), sub-paragraph (2) does not apply in his case. 

 
PART 9 Amount of reduction under this scheme 

 
32.0— Amount of reduction under this scheme: Classes A to F 

 
(1) Where a person is entitled to a reduction under this scheme in respect of a day, the 

amount of the reduction to which he is entitled is as follows. 
 
(2) Where the person is within class A that amount is the amount which is the 

maximum council tax reduction in respect of the day in the applicant's case as 
prescribed in paragraph 29 and 30 of this scheme. 

 
(3) Where the person is within class B, that amount is the amount found by deducting 

amount B from amount A, where “amount A” and “amount B” have the meanings given in 
paragraph 14(f). 

 
(4) Where the person is within class D, that amount is the amount which is 86% of the 

maximum council tax reduction in respect of the day in the applicant’s case. 
 

(5) Where the person is within class E, that amount is 86% of the amount found by deducting 
amount B from amount A, where “amount A” and “amount B” have the meanings given in 
paragraph 17(f). 
 

(6) Where the person is within class C or class F, that amount is the amount which is the 
alternative maximum council tax reduction in respect of the day in the applicant's 
case. 
 

(7) Sub-paragraph (8) applies where both: 
(a) sub-paragraphs (2),(3),(4) or (5), and 
(b) sub-paragraph (6), apply to a person. 
 
(8) The amount of the reduction to which the person is entitled is whichever the greater is of:  
(a) the amount of the reduction given by sub-paragraphs (2), (3), (4) or (5) as the case may 

be, and 
(b) the amount of the reduction given by sub-paragraph (6). 

  

Page 131



40 

 
PART 10 Income and capital for the purposes of calculating eligibility for a 
reduction under this scheme and amount of reduction 
 
CHAPTER 1 Income and capital: general 
 
33.0 Calculation of income and capital: applicant's family and polygamous marriages 

 
(1) The income and capital of— 

(a) an applicant; and 
(b) any partner of that applicant, 
is to be calculated in accordance with the provisions of this Part. 

 
(2) The income and capital of any partner of the applicant is to be treated as income and 

capital of the applicant, and in this Part any reference to the applicant applies equally to 
any partner of that applicant. 

 
(3) Except where paragraph 37 applies, where an applicant or the partner of an applicant is 

married polygamously to two or more members of his household— 
(a) the applicant must be treated as possessing capital and income belonging to each 

such member; and 
(b) the income and capital of that member is to be calculated in accordance with the 

following provisions of this Part in like manner as for the applicant. 
 

34.0 Circumstances in which income and capital of non-dependant is to be treated as applicant's 
 
(1) Sub-paragraph (2) applies where it appears to the authority that a non-dependant and an 

applicant have entered into arrangements in order to take advantage of this scheme and 
the non-dependant has more income and capital than the applicant. 

 
(2) Except where— 

(a) the applicant is a pensioner and is on a guarantee credit, or 
(b) the applicant is not a pensioner and is on income support, an income-based 

jobseeker's allowance or an income-related employment and support allowance, 
 
 the authority must treat the applicant as possessing income and capital belonging to that 

non-dependant and, in such a case, any income and capital which the applicant does 
possess is to be disregarded. 

 
(3) Where an applicant is treated as possessing income and capital belonging to a non-

dependant under sub-paragraph (2) the income and capital of that non-dependant must 
be calculated in accordance with the following provisions of this Part in like manner as for 
the applicant and, except where the context otherwise requires, any reference to the 
“applicant” is to be construed for the purposes of this Part as if it were a reference to that 
non-dependant. 

 
CHAPTER 2 Income and capital: pensioners in receipt of guarantee credit or savings 
credit 

 
35.0 Applicant in receipt of guarantee credit: pensioners 

  
 In the case of an applicant who is a pensioner and who is in receipt, or whose partner is in 

receipt, of a guarantee credit, the whole of his capital and income must be disregarded. 
 

36.0 Calculation of applicant's income and capital in savings credit only cases: pensioners 
(1) In determining the income and capital of an applicant who is a pensioner and who has, or 

Page 132



41 

whose partner has, an award of state pension credit comprising only the savings credit, 
subject to the following provisions of this paragraph, the authority must use the 
calculation or estimate of the applicant's or as the case may be, the applicant's partner's 
income and capital made by the Secretary of State for the purpose of determining the 
award of state pension credit 75. 

 
(2) Where the calculation or estimate provided by the Secretary of State includes the amount 

taken into account in that determination in respect of net income, the authority may only 
adjust that amount so far as necessary to take into account— 
(a) the amount of any savings credit payable; 
(b) in respect of any dependent children of the applicant, child care charges taken into 

account under paragraph 57(1)(c) (calculation of income on a weekly basis); 
(c) the higher amount disregarded under this scheme in respect of— 

(i) lone parent's earnings; or 
(ii) payments of maintenance, whether under a court order or not, which is made 

or due to be made by 
(aa) the applicant's former partner, or the applicant's partner's former 

partner; or 
(bb) the parent of a child or young person where that child or young person 

is a member of the applicant's family except where that parent is the 
applicant or the applicant's partner; 

(d) any amount to be disregarded by virtue of paragraph 10(1) of Schedule 5 (sums 
disregarded from applicant's earnings: pensioners); 

(e) the income and capital of any partner of the applicant who is treated as a member 
of the applicant's household under paragraph 8, to the extent that it is not taken 
into account in determining the net income of the person claiming state pension 
credit; 

(f) paragraph 34 (circumstances in which capital and income of a non-dependant is to 
be treated as applicant's), if the authority determines that that provision applies in 
the applicant's case; 

(g) such further reduction (if any) as the authority thinks fit under section 13A(1)(c) of 
the 1992 Act  (power of billing authority to reduce amount of council tax payable); 

(h) any amount to be disregarded by virtue of paragraph 6 of Schedule 5 (exempt 
work). 

 
(3) Paragraphs 39 to 46 (calculation of income: pensioners) and 57 to 61 (calculation of 

income: pensioners and persons who are not pensioners) do not apply to the amount of 
the net income to be taken into account under sub-paragraph (1), but do apply (so far as 
relevant) for the purpose of determining any adjustments to that amount which the 
authority makes under sub-paragraph (2). 

 
(4) If sub-paragraph (5) applies, the authority must calculate the applicant's capital in 

accordance with paragraphs 63, 65 to 68 and 70 (calculation of capital: pensioners). 
 
(5) This sub-paragraph applies if: 

(a) the Secretary of State notifies the authority that the applicant's capital has been 
determined as being £16,000 or less or the authority determines his capital as being 
£16,000 or less; 

(b) subsequent to that determination the applicant's capital rises to more than 
£16,000; and 

(c) the increase occurs whilst there is in force an assessed income period within the 
meaning of sections 6 and 9 of the State Pension Credit Act 2002. 

 
 

Page 133



42 

CHAPTER 3 Income and capital where there is an award of universal credit 
 

37.0 Calculation of income and capital: persons who are not pensioners who have an award of 
universal credit 

(1) In determining the income of an applicant: 
(a) who has, or 
(b) who (jointly with his partner) has, 
 an award of universal credit the authority must, subject to the following provisions of 

this paragraph, use the calculation or estimate of the amount of the income of the 
applicant, or the applicant and his partner jointly (as the case may be), made by the 
Secretary of State for the purpose of determining the award of universal credit. 

 
(2) The authority must adjust the amount of the income referred to in sub-paragraph (1) by 

multiplying the amount by 12 and dividing the product by 52. 
 
(3) The authority may only adjust the amount of the income as adjusted in accordance with 

sub-paragraph (2) so far as necessary to take into account— 
(a) the amount of the award of universal credit, determined in accordance with sub-

paragraph (3); 
(b) paragraph 34 (circumstances in which income and capital of non-dependant is to be 

treated as applicant's), if the authority determines that the provision applies in the 
applicant's case; 

(c) such further reduction (if any) as the authority thinks fit under section 13A(1)(c) of 
the 1992 Act (power of billing authority to reduce amount of council tax payable). 

 
(4) The amount for the award of universal credit to be taken into account for the purposes of 

sub-paragraph (3)(a) is to be determined by multiplying the amount of the award of 
universal credit by 12 and dividing the product by 52. 

 
(5) Paragraph 34 (income and capital of non-dependant to be treated as applicant's) applies 

for the purpose of determining any adjustments which fall to be made to the figure for 
income under sub-paragraph (3). 

 
(6) In determining the capital of an applicant— 

(a) who has, or 
(b) who (jointly with his partner) has, 

 an award of universal credit, the authority must use the calculation or estimate of the 
capital of the applicant, or the applicant and his partner jointly (as the case may be), 
made by the Secretary of State for the purpose of determining the award of universal 
credit. 

 
CHAPTER 4 Income: other pensioners 
 
38.0 Calculation of income and capital where state pension credit is not payable: pensioners 

 
 Where neither paragraph 35 (applicant in receipt of guarantee credit: pensioners) nor 36 

(applicant in receipt of savings credit only: pensioners) applies in the applicant's case, his 
income and capital is to be calculated or estimated in accordance with paragraphs 39 to 46 and 
57 to 62 (calculation of income) and Chapter 7 of this Part (calculation of capital). 

 
39.0 Meaning of “income”: pensioners 

 
(1) For the purposes of classes A to C in this scheme, “income” means income of any of the 

following descriptions: 
(a) earnings; 
(b) working tax credit; 

Page 134



43 

(c) retirement pension income within the meaning of the State Pension Credit Act 2002; 
(d) income from annuity contracts (other than retirement pension income); 
(e) a war disablement pension or war widow's or widower's pension; 
(f) a foreign war disablement pension or war widow's or widower's pension; 
(g) a guaranteed income payment; 
(h) a payment made under article 29(1)(c) of the Armed Forces and Reserve Forces 

(Compensation Scheme) Order 2011, in any case where article 31(2)(c) applies; 
(i) income from capital other than capital disregarded under Part 1 of Schedule 9; 
(j) social security benefits, other than retirement pension income or any of the 

following benefits: 
  (i) disability living allowance; 
  (ii) personal independence payment; 
  (iii) an AFIP; 
  (iv) attendance allowance payable under section 64 of the SSCBA (entitlement to 

 attendance allowance); 
  (v) an increase of disablement pension under section 104 (increase for constant 

attendance) or 105 of that Act (increase for exceptionally severe disablement); 
  (vi) child benefit; 
  (vii) any guardian's allowance payable under section 77 of the SSCBA (guardian's 

 allowance); 
  (viii) any increase for a dependant, other than the applicant's partner, payable in 

 accordance with Part 4 of that Act (increases for dependants); 
  (ix) any: 
   (aa) social fund payment made under Part 8 of the SSCBA (the social 

fund), or 
   (bb) occasional assistance; 
  (x) Christmas bonus payable under Part 10 of that Act (Christmas bonus for 

pensioners); 
  (xi) housing benefit; 
  (xii) council tax benefit; 
  (xiii) bereavement support payment under section 30 of the Pensions Act 2014; 
  (xiv) statutory sick pay; 
  (xv) statutory maternity pay; 
  (xvi) statutory paternity pay payable under Part 12ZA of the SSCBA; 

(xvia) statutory shared parental pay under Part 12ZC of that Act; 
(xvii) deleted by SI2014/3255   
(xviii) statutory adoption pay payable under Part 12ZB of that Act (statutory 
adoption pay);  
(xix) any benefit similar to those mentioned in the preceding provisions of this 

paragraph payable under legislation having effect in Northern Ireland; 
 (k) all foreign social security benefits which are similar to the social security benefits 

mentioned above; 
 (l) a payment made: 

(i) under article 30 of the Naval, Military and Air Forces Etc. (Disablement and 
Death) Service Pensions Order 2006 79 (award for children who have reached 
the child's age limit), in any case where article 30(1)(b) applies; or 

(ii) under article 12(8) of that Order (unemployability allowances: children who 
have reached the child's age limit), in any case where sub-paragraph (b) of that 
article applies; 

(m) a pension paid to victims of National Socialist persecution under any special 
provision made by the law of the Federal Republic of Germany, or any part of it, or 
of the Republic of Austria; 

(n) payments under a scheme made under the Pneumoconiosis etc. (Worker's 
Compensation) Act 1979; 

(o) payments made towards the maintenance of the applicant by his spouse, civil 
partner, former spouse or former civil partner or towards the maintenance of the 
applicant's partner by his spouse, civil partner, former spouse or former civil 

Page 135



44 

partner, including payments made— 
(i) under a court order; 
(ii) under an agreement for maintenance; or 
(iii) voluntarily; 

(p) payments due from any person in respect of board and lodging accommodation 
provided by the applicant; 

(q) royalties or other sums paid as a consideration for the use of, or the right to use, 
any copyright, design, patent or trade mark; 

 
(r) any payment in respect of any— 

(i) book registered under the Public Lending Right Scheme 1982; or 
(ii) work made under any international public lending right scheme that is 

analogous to the Public Lending Right Scheme 1982; 
(s) any payment, other than a payment ordered by a court or made in settlement of a 

claim, made by or on behalf of a former employer of a person on account of the 
early retirement of that person on grounds of ill-health or disability; 

(t) any sum payable by way of pension out of money provided under— 
(i) the Civil List Act 1837, 
(ii) the Civil List Act 1937, 
(iii) the Civil List Act 1952, 
(iv) the Civil List Act 1972, or 
(v) the Civil List Act 1975; 

(u) any income in lieu of that specified in paragraphs (a) to (r); 
(v) any payment of rent made to an applicant who: 

(i) owns the freehold or leasehold interest in any property or is a tenant of any 
property; 

(ii) occupies part of the property; and 
(iii) has an agreement with another person allowing that person to occupy that 

property on payment of rent; 
(w) any payment made at regular intervals under an equity release scheme; 
(x) PPF periodic payments within the meaning of section 17(1) of the State Pension 

Credit Act 2002. 
 
(2) Where the payment of any social security benefit referred to in sub-paragraph (1) or 

retirement pension income to which section 16(1)(za) to (e) of the State Pension Credit 
Act 2002 applies, is subject to any deduction (other than an adjustment specified in sub-
paragraph (4)) the amount to be taken into account under sub-paragraph (1) is to be the 
amount before the deduction is made. 

 
(3) Where an award of any working tax credit or child tax credit is subject to a deduction by 

way of recovery of an overpayment of working tax credit or child tax credit which arose in 
a previous tax year the amount to be taken into account under sub-paragraph (1) is to be 
the amount of working tax credit or child tax credit awarded less the amount of that 
deduction. 

 
(4) The adjustments specified in this sub-paragraph are those made in accordance with— 

(a) the Social Security (Overlapping Benefits) Regulations 1979; 
(b) the Social Security (Hospital In-Patients) Regulations 1975; 
(c) section 30DD or section 30E of the SSCBA (reductions in incapacity benefit in respect 

of pensions and councillor's allowances); 
(d) section 3 of the Welfare Reform Act 2007 (deductions from contributory 

employment and support allowance in respect of pensions and councillor's 
allowances) and regulations made under it. 

(e) section 14 of the Pensions Act 2014 (pension sharing: reduction in sharer’s section 4 
pension) 

(f) section 45B or 55B of the Social Security Contributions and Benefits Act 1992 
(reduction in additional pension in Category A retirement pension and shared 

Page 136



45 

additional pension: pension sharing) 
 
(5) In sub-paragraph (1)(w), “equity release scheme” means a loan: 

(a) made between a person (“the lender”) and the applicant; 
(b) by means of which a sum of money is advanced by the lender to the applicant by 

way of payments at regular intervals; and 
(c) which is secured on a dwelling in which the applicant owns an estate or interest and 

which he occupies as his home. 
 

40.0 Calculation of weekly income: pensioners 
 
(1) Except in a case within sub-paragraph (2), (3A), (4A) or (5),, for the purposes of calculating 

the weekly income of an applicant who is a pensioner, where the period in respect of 
which a payment is made: 
(a) does not exceed a week, the whole of that payment is to be included in the 

applicant's weekly income; 
 

(b) exceeds a week, the amount to be included in the applicant's weekly income is to be 
determined: 
(i) in a case where that period is a month, by multiplying the amount of the 

payment by 12 and dividing the product by 52; 
(ii) in a case where that period is three months, by multiplying the amount of the 

payment by 4 and dividing the product by 52; 
(iii) in a case where that period is a year, by dividing the amount of the payment 

by 52; 
(iv) in any other case, by multiplying the amount of the payment by 7 and dividing 

the product by the number of days in the period in respect of which it is 
made. 

 
(2) Sub-paragraph (3) applies where: 

(a) the applicant's regular pattern of work is such that he does not work the same hours 
every week; or 

(b) the amount of the applicant's income fluctuates and has changed more than once. 
 
(3) The weekly amount of that applicant's income is to be determined: 
(a) if, in a case to which sub-paragraph (2)(a) applies, there is a recognised cycle of work, 

by reference to his average weekly income over the period of the complete cycle 
(including, where the cycle involves periods in which the applicant does no work, those 
periods but disregarding any other absences); or 

(b) in any other case, on the basis of: 
(i) the last two payments if those payments are one month or more apart; 
(ii) the last four payments if the last two payments are less than one month apart; or 

(iii) calculating or estimating such other payments as may, in the particular 
circumstances of the case, enable the applicant's average weekly income 
to be determined more accurately. 
 

(3A) Income calculated pursuant to sub-paragraphs (2) and (3) must be taken into 
account— 
(a) in the case of an application, on the date on which the application was made or 
treated as made, and the first day of each reduction week thereafter; 
(b) in the case of an application or a reduction under a scheme where the applicant 
commences employment, the first day of the reduction week following the date the 
applicant commences that employment, and the first day of each reduction week 
thereafter; or 
(c) in the case of an application or a reduction under a scheme where the applicant’s 
average weekly earnings from employment change, the first day of the reduction 
week following the date the applicant’s earnings from employment change so as to 

Page 137



46 

require recalculation under this paragraph, and the first day of each reduction week 
thereafter, 

regardless of whether those earnings were actually received in that reduction week. 
 
(4) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (3)(b) the last payments are the last payments before 

the date the application was made or treated as made. 
(4A) An applicant’s earnings from employment as an employed earner not calculated 
pursuant to sub-paragraphs (2) and (3) must be taken into account— 
(a) in the case of an application, on the date on which the application was made or 
treated as made, and the first day of each reduction week thereafter; 
(b) in the case of an application or a reduction under a scheme where the applicant 
commences employment, the first day of the reduction week following the date the 
applicant commences that employment, and the first day of each reduction week 
thereafter; or 
(c) in the case of an application or a reduction under a scheme where the applicant’s 
average weekly earnings from employment change, the first day of the reduction 
week following the date of the change, and the beginning of each reduction week 
thereafter, 

regardless of whether those earnings were actually received in that reduction week. 
 
 (5) If the applicant is entitled to receive a payment to which sub-paragraph (6) applies, the 

amount of that payment is to be treated as if made in respect of a period of a year. 
 
(6) This sub-paragraph applies to: 

(a) royalties or other sums paid as a consideration for the use of, or the right to use, any 
copyright, design, patent or trade mark; 

(b) any payment in respect of any: 
 (i) book registered under the Public Lending Right Scheme 1982; or 
 (ii) work made under any international public lending right scheme that is 

analogous to the Public Lending Right Scheme 1982; and 
(c) any payment which is made on an occasional basis. 

 
(7) The period under which any benefit under the benefit Acts is to be taken into account is 

to be the period in respect of which that benefit is payable. 
 
(8) Where payments are made in a currency other than Sterling, the value of the payment is 

to be determined by taking the Sterling equivalent on the date the payment is made. 
 
(9) The sums specified in Schedule 5 are to be disregarded in calculating— 

(a) the applicant's earnings; and 
(b) any amount to which sub-paragraph (6) applies where the applicant is the first 

owner of the copyright, design, patent or trademark, or an original contributor to 
the book or work referred to in sub-paragraph (6)(b). 

 
(10) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (9)(b), and for that purpose only, the amounts 

specified in sub-paragraph (6) is to be treated as though they were earnings. 
 
(11) Income specified in Schedule 6 is to be disregarded in the calculation of the applicant's 

income. 
 
(12) Schedule 9 (capital disregards: pensioners) has effect so that 

(a) the capital specified in Part 1 is disregarded for the purpose of determining an 
applicant's income; and 

(b) the capital specified in Part 2 is disregarded for the purpose of determining an 
applicant's income under paragraph 71 (calculation of tariff income from capital: 
pensioners). 

 

Page 138



47 

(13) In the case of any income taken into account for the purpose of calculating a person's 
income any amount payable by way of tax is disregarded. 

 
41.0 Earnings of employed earners: pensioners 

(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), “earnings”, in the case of employment as an employed 
earner who is a pensioner, means any remuneration or profit derived from that 
employment and includes 
(a) any bonus or commission; 
(b) any payment in lieu of remuneration except any periodic sum paid to an applicant 

on account of the termination of his employment by reason of redundancy; 
(c) any payment in lieu of notice; 
(d) any holiday pay; 
(e) any payment by way of a retainer; 
(f) any payment made by the applicant's employer in respect of expenses not wholly, 

exclusively and necessarily incurred in the performance of the duties of the 
employment, including any payment made by the applicant's employer in respect 
of— 
(i) travelling expenses incurred by the applicant between his home and place of 

employment; 
(ii) expenses incurred by the applicant under arrangements made for the care of 

a member of his family owing to the applicant's absence from home; 
(g) the amount of any payment by way of a non-cash voucher which has been taken 

into account in the computation of a person's earnings in accordance with Part 5 of 
Schedule 3 to the Social Security (Contributions) Regulations 2001; 

(h) statutory sick pay payable by the employer under the SSCBA; 
(i)statutory maternity pay payable by the employer under the SSCBA; 
(j) statutory paternity pay payable under Part 12ZA of that Act; 
(ja) statutory shared parental pay under Part 12ZC of that Act; 
(k) deleted by SI2014/3255 
(l) statutory adoption pay payable under Part 12ZB of that Act; 
(m) any sums payable under a contract of service- 

(i) for incapacity for work due to sickness or injury; or 
(ii) by reason of pregnancy or confinement. 

 
(2) Earnings does not include— 

(a) subject to sub-paragraph (3), any payment in kind; 
(b) any payment in respect of expenses wholly, exclusively and necessarily incurred in 

the performance of the duties of the employment; 
(c) any occupational pension; 
(d) any lump sum payment made under the Iron and Steel Re-adaptation Benefits 

Scheme; 
(e) any payment of compensation made pursuant to an award by an employment 

tribunal established under the Employment Tribunals Act 1996 in respect of unfair 
dismissal or unlawful discrimination; 

(f) any payment in respect of expenses arising out of the applicant participating as a 
service user. 

 
(3) Sub-paragraph (2)(a) does not apply in respect of any non-cash voucher referred to in sub-

paragraph (1)(g). 
 

42.0 Calculation of net earnings of employed earners: pensioners 
 
(1) For the purposes of paragraph 57 (calculation of income on a weekly basis), the earnings 

of an applicant who is a pensioner derived or likely to be derived from employment as an 
employed earner to be taken into account must, subject to paragraph 40(5) and Schedule 
5 (sums to be disregarded from earnings: pensioners), be his net earnings. 

 

Page 139



48 

(2) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1) net earnings must, except where sub-paragraph (5) 
applies, be calculated by taking into account the gross earnings of the applicant from that 
employment over the assessment period, less— 
(a) any amount deducted from those earnings by way of: 

(i) income tax; 
(ii) primary Class 1 contributions under the SSCBA; 

(b) one-half of any sum paid by the applicant by way of a contribution towards an 
occupational pension scheme; 

(c) one-half of the amount calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph (4) in respect 
of any qualifying contribution payable by the applicant; and 

(d) where those earnings include a payment which is payable under any enactment 
having effect in Northern Ireland and which corresponds to statutory sick pay, 
statutory maternity pay, statutory paternity pay, statutory shared parental pay, or 
statutory adoption pay, any amount deducted from those earnings by way of any 
contributions which are payable under any enactment having effect in Northern 
Ireland and which correspond to primary Class 1 contributions under the SSCBA. 

 
(3) In this paragraph “qualifying contribution” means any sum which is payable periodically as 

a contribution towards a personal pension scheme. 
 
(4) The amount in respect of any qualifying contribution is to be calculated by multiplying the 

daily amount of the qualifying contribution by the number equal to the number of days in 
the assessment period; and for the purposes of this paragraph the daily amount of the 
qualifying contribution is to be determined— 
(a) where the qualifying contribution is payable monthly, by multiplying the amount of 

the qualifying contribution by 12 and dividing the product by 365 or 366 in a leap 
year; 

(b) in any other case, by dividing the amount of the qualifying contribution by the 
number equal to the number of days in the period to which the qualifying 
contribution relates. 

 
(5) Where the earnings of an applicant are determined under paragraph 40(2)(b) (calculation 

of weekly income: pensioners) his net earnings is to be calculated by taking into account 
those earnings over the assessment period, less: 
(a) an amount in respect of income tax equivalent to an amount calculated by applying 

to those earnings the basic rate of tax, or in the case of a Scottish taxpayer, the 
Scottish basic rate, applicable to the assessment period less only the personal reliefs 
to which the applicant is entitled under Chapters 2, 3 and 3A of Part 3 of the Income 
Tax Act 2007 as are appropriate to his circumstances but, if the assessment period is 
less than a year, the earnings to which the basic rate, or the Scottish basic rate, of 
tax is to be applied and the amount of the personal reliefs deductible under this 
sub-paragraph is to be calculated on a pro rata basis; 

(b) an amount equivalent to the amount of the primary Class 1 contributions that 
would be payable by him under the SSCBA in respect of those earnings if such 
contributions were payable; and 

(c) one-half of any sum which would be payable by the applicant by way of a 
contribution towards an occupational or personal pension scheme, if the earnings 
so estimated were actual earnings. 

 
43.0 Calculation of earnings of self-employed earners: pensioners 

 
(1) Where the earnings of an applicant who is a pensioner consist of earnings from 

employment as a self-employed earner, the weekly amount of his earnings is to be 
determined by reference to his average weekly earnings from that employment: 
(a) over a period of one year; or 
(b) where the applicant has recently become engaged in that employment or there has 

been a change which is likely to affect the normal pattern of business, over such 

Page 140



49 

other period (“computation period”) as may, in the particular case, enable the 
weekly amount of his earnings to be determined more accurately. 

 
(2) For the purposes of determining the weekly amount of earnings of an applicant to whom 

sub-paragraph (1)(b) applies, his earnings over the computation period are to be divided 
by the number equal to the number of days in that period and the product multiplied by 
7. 

 
(3) The period over which the weekly amount of an applicant's earnings is calculated in 

accordance with this paragraph is to be his assessment period. 
 

44.0 Earnings of self-employers earners: pensioners 
 
(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), “earnings”, in the case of employment as a self-employed 

earner who is a pensioner, means the gross income of the employment. 
 
(2) “Earnings” in the case of employment as a self-employed earner does not include: 

(a) where an applicant occupies a dwelling as his home and he provides in that dwelling 
board and lodging accommodation for which payment is made, those payments; 

(b) any payment made by a local authority to an applicant— 
(i) with whom a person is accommodated by virtue of arrangements made under 

section 22C of the Children Act 1989 or, as the case may be, section 26 or 26A 
of the Children (Scotland) Act 1995, or in Wales placed with the applicant or 
the applicant’s partner by a local authority under section 81 of the Social 
Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014; or 

(ii) with whom a local authority fosters a child under the Looked After Children 
(Scotland) Regulations 2009 or who is a kinship carer under those Regulations; 

(c) any payment made by a voluntary organisation in accordance with section 59(1)(a) 
of the Children Act 1989 (provision of accommodation by voluntary organisations); 

(d) any payment made to the applicant or his partner for a person (“the person 
concerned”) who is not normally a member of the applicant's household but is 
temporarily in his care, by— 
(i) a local authority but excluding payments of housing benefit made in respect of 

the person concerned; 
(ii) a voluntary organisation; 
(iii) the person concerned where the payment is for the provision of 

accommodation in respect of the meeting of that person’s needs under 
section 18 or 19 of the Care Act 2014 (duty and power to meet needs for care 
and support); 

(iv) the National Health Service Commissioning Board or a clinical 
commissioning group established under section 14D of the National 
Health Service Act 2006;  

(v) a Local Health Board established under section 11 of the National Health 
Service (Wales) Act 2006; or 

(vi) the persons concerned where the payment is for the provision of 
accommodation to meet that person’s needs for care and support under 
section 35 or 36 of the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 
(respectively, duty and power to meet care and support needs of an adult) 

(da) any payment or part of a payment made by a local authority in accordance with 
section 26A of the Children (Scotland) Act 1995 (duty to provide continuing 
care) to a person (“A”) which A passes on to the applicant where A—  

(i) was formerly in the applicant’s care; 
(ii) is aged 16 or over; and 
(iii) continues to live with the applicant; 

(db) any payments made to an applicant under section 73(1)(b) of the Children and 
Young People (Scotland) Act 2014 (kinship care assistance: further provisions) 

(e) any sports award. 

Page 141



50 

 
45.0 Notional income: pensioners 

(1) An applicant who is a pensioner is to be treated as possessing: 
(a) subject to sub-paragraph (2), the amount of any retirement pension income— 

(i) for which no claim has been made; and 
(ii) to which he might expect to be entitled if a claim for it were made; 

(b) income from an occupational pension scheme which the applicant elected to defer. 
 
(2) Sub-paragraph (1)(a) does not apply to the following where entitlement has been 

deferred— 
(a) a Category A or Category B retirement pension payable under sections 43 to 55 of 

the SSCBA; 
(b) a shared additional pension payable under section 55A or 55AA of the SSCBA; 
(c) graduated retirement benefit payable under sections 36 and 37 of the National 

Insurance Act 1965. 
(d) a state pension under Part 1 of the Pensions Act 2014.  

 
(3) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (2), entitlement has been deferred— 

(a) in the case of a Category A or Category B pension, in the circumstances specified in 
section 55(3) of the SSCBA; 

(b) in the case of a shared additional pension, in the circumstances specified in section 
55C(3) of the SSCBA; and 

(c) in the case of graduated retirement benefit, in the circumstances specified in section 
36(4) and (4A) of the National Insurance Act 1965. 

(d) in the case of a state pension under Part 1 of the Pensions Act 2014, in the 
circumstances specified in section 17(7) and (8) of that Act. 

 
(4) This sub-paragraph applies where a person who has attained the qualifying age for state 

pension credit: 
(a) is entitled to oney purchase benefits under an occupational pension scheme or a 

personal pension scheme; 
(b) fails to purchase an annuity with the funds available in that scheme; and 
(c) either— 

(i) defers in whole or in part the payment of any income which would have been 
payable to him by his pension fund holder, or 

(ii) fails to take any necessary action to secure that the whole of any income 
which would be payable to him by his pension fund holder upon his applying 
for it, is so paid, or 

(iii) income withdrawal is not available to him under that scheme. 
 
(5) Where sub-paragraph (4) applies, the amount of any income foregone is to be treated as 

possessed by that person, but only from the date on which it could be expected to be 
acquired were an application for it to be made. 

 
(6) The amount of any income foregone in a case where sub-paragraph (4)(c)(i) or (ii) applies 

is to be the rate of the annuity which may have been purchased with the fund and must 
be determined by the authority, taking account of information provided by the pension 
fund holder. 

 
(7) The amount of any income foregone in a case where sub-paragraph (4)(c)(iii) applies is to 

be the income that the applicant could have received without purchasing an annuity had 
the funds held under the relevant scheme been held under a personal pension scheme or 
occupational pension scheme where income withdrawal was available and is to be 
determined in the manner specified in sub-paragraph (6). 

 
(8) In sub-paragraph (4), “money purchase benefits” has the same meaning as in the Pension 

Schemes Act 1993. 

Page 142



51 

 
(9) Subject to sub-paragraphs (10), (11A), (11B) and (12), a person is to be treated as 

possessing income of which he has deprived himself for the purpose of securing 
entitlement to a reduction under this scheme or increasing the amount of the reduction. 

 
(10) Sub-paragraph (9) does not apply in respect of the amount of an increase of pension or 

benefit where a person, having made an election in favour of that increase of pension or 
benefit under Schedule 5 or 5A to the SSCBA or under Schedule 1 to the Social Security 
(Graduated Retirement Benefit) Regulations 2005, changes that election in accordance 
with regulations made under Schedule 5 or 5A to that Act in favour of a lump sum. 

 
(11) In sub-paragraph (10), “lump sum” means a lump sum under Schedule 5 or 5A to the 

SSCBA or under Schedule 1 to the Social Security (Graduated Retirement Benefit) 
Regulations 2005. 

 
(11A) Sub-paragraph (9) does not apply in respect of the amount of an increase of 
pension where a person, having made a choice in favour of that increase of pension under 

section 8(2) of the Pensions Act 2014, alters that choice in accordance with Regulations 
made under section 8(7) of that Act in favour of a lump sum. 

 
(11B) Sub-paragraph (9) does not apply in respect of the amount of an increase of 
pension where a person, having made a choice in favour of that increase of pension in 

accordance with Regulations made under section 10 of the Pensions Act 2014, which 
include provision corresponding or similar to section 8(2) of that Act, alters that choice in 
favour of a lump sum, in accordance with Regulations made under section 10 of that Act, 
which include provision corresponding or similar to Regulations made under section 8(7) 
of that Act. 

 
(11C) In sub-paragraph (11A), “lump sum” means a lump sum under section 8 of the 
Pensions Act 2014. 
 
(11D) In sub-paragraph (11B), “lump sum” means a lump sum under Regulations made 
under section 10 of the Pensions Act 2014 which include provision corresponding or similar 

to section 8 of that Act. 
 
(12) Sub-paragraph (9) does not apply in respect of any amount of income other than 

earnings, or earnings of an employed earner, arising out of the applicant participating as a 
service user. 

 
(13) Where an applicant is in receipt of any benefit under the benefit Acts and the rate of 

that benefit is altered with effect from a date on or after 1st April in any year but not 
more than 14 days thereafter, the authority must treat the applicant as possessing such 
benefit at the altered rate from either 1st April or the first Monday in April in that year, 
whichever date the authority selects to apply, to the date on which the altered rate is to 
take effect. 

 
(14) In the case of an applicant who has, or whose partner has, an award of state pension 

credit comprising only the savings credit, where the authority treats the applicant as 
possessing any benefit at the altered rate in accordance with sub-paragraph (13), the 
authority must— 
(a) determine the income and capital of that applicant in accordance with paragraph 

36(1) (calculation of applicant's income in savings credit only cases: pensioners) 
where the calculation or estimate of that income and capital is altered with effect 
from a date on or after 1st April in any year but not more than 14 days thereafter; 
and 

(b) treat that applicant as possessing such income and capital at the altered rate by 
reference to the date selected by the relevant authority to apply in its area, for the 

Page 143



52 

purposes of establishing the period referred to in sub-paragraph (13). 
 
(15) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (9), a person is not to be regarded as depriving 

himself of income where: 
(a) his rights to benefits under a registered pension scheme are extinguished and in 

consequence of this he receives a payment from the scheme, and 
(b) that payment is a trivial commutation lump sum within the meaning given by 

paragraph 7 of Schedule 29 to the Finance Act 2004 98. 
 
(16) In sub-paragraph (15), “registered pension scheme” has the meaning given in section 

150(2) of the Finance Act 2004. 
 

46.0 Income paid to third parties: pensioners 
(1) Any payment of income, other than a payment specified in sub-paragraph (2) or (3), to a 

third party in respect of an applicant who is a pensioner is to be treated as possessed by 
the applicant. 

 
(2) Sub-paragraph (1) does not apply in respect of a payment of income made under an 

occupational pension scheme, in respect of a pension or other periodical payment made 
under a personal pension scheme or a payment made by the Board of the Pension 
Protection Fund where— 
(a) a bankruptcy order has been made in respect of the person in respect of whom the 

payment has been made or, in Scotland, the estate of that person is subject to 
sequestration or a judicial factor has been appointed on that person's estate under 
section 41 of the Solicitors (Scotland) Act 1980; 

(b) the payment is made to the trustee in bankruptcy or any other person acting on 
behalf of the creditors; and 

(c) the person referred to in paragraph (a) and his partner does not possess, or is not 
treated as possessing, any other income apart from that payment. 

 
(3) Sub-paragraph (1) does not apply in respect of any payment of income other than 

earnings, or earnings derived from employment as an employed earner, arising out of the 
applicant participating as a service user. 

 
CHAPTER 5 Income: persons who are not pensioners 
 
47.0 Average weekly earnings of employed earners: persons who are not pensioners 

(1) Where the income of an applicant who is not a pensioner consists of earnings from 
employment as an employed earner his average weekly earnings must be estimated by 
reference to his earnings from that employment— 

 (a) over a period immediately preceding the reduction week in which the application is 
made or treated as made and being a period of— 

  (i) 5 weeks, if he is paid weekly; or 
  (ii) 2 months, if he is paid monthly; or 

(b) whether or not paragraph (a)(i) or (ii) applies, where an applicant's earnings 
fluctuate, over such other period preceding the reduction week in which the 
application is made or treated as made as may, in any particular case, enable his 
average weekly earnings to be estimated more accurately. 

 
(2) Where the applicant has been in his employment for less than the period specified in sub-

paragraph (1)(a)(i) or (ii)— 
(a) if he has received any earnings for the period that he has been in that employment 

and those earnings are likely to represent his average weekly earnings from that 
employment his average weekly earnings must be estimated by reference to those 
earnings; 

(b) in any other case, the authority must estimate the applicant's average weekly 

Page 144



53 

earnings 99. 
 
(3) Where the amount of an applicant's earnings changes the authority must estimate his 

average weekly earnings by reference to his likely earnings from the employment over 
such period as is appropriate in order that his average weekly earnings may be estimated 
accurately but the length of the period must not in any case exceed 52 weeks. 

 
(4) For the purposes of this paragraph the applicant's earnings are to be calculated in 

accordance with paragraphs 51 and 52 (earnings of employed earners: persons who are 
not pensioners). 

 
48.0 Average weekly earnings of self-employed earners: persons who are not pensioners 

(1) Where the income of an applicant who is not a pensioner consists of earnings from 
employment as a self-employed earner his average weekly earnings must be estimated by 
reference to his earnings from that employment over such period as is appropriate in 
order that his average weekly earnings may be estimated accurately but the length of the 
period must not in any case exceed a year. 

 
(2) For the purposes of this paragraph the applicant's earnings must be calculated in 

accordance with paragraphs 53, 61 and 62 (earnings, and net profit, of self-employed 
earners). 

 
49.0 Average weekly income other than earnings: persons who are not pensioners 

(1) The income of an applicant who is not a pensioner which does not consist of earnings 
must, except where sub-paragraph (2) applies, be estimated over such period as is 
appropriate in order that his average weekly income may be estimated accurately but the 
length of the period must not in any case exceed 52 weeks; and nothing in this paragraph 
authorises an authority to disregard any such income other than that specified in 
Schedule 8 (sums disregarded in the calculation of income other than earnings: persons 
who are not pensioners). 

 
(2) The period over which any benefit under the benefit Acts is to be taken into account is to 

be the period in respect of which that benefit is payable. 
 
(3) For the purposes of this paragraph income other than earnings is to be calculated in 

accordance with paragraph 54 (calculation of income other than earnings: persons who 
are not pensioners). 

 
50.0 Calculation of weekly income of employed earners: persons who are not pensioners 

(1) For the purposes of paragraphs 47 (average weekly earnings of employed earners), 49 
(average weekly income other than earnings) and 59 (calculation of average weekly 
income from tax credits), where the period in respect of which a payment is made— 
(a) does not exceed a week, the weekly amount is to be the amount of that payment; 
(b) exceeds a week, the weekly amount is to be determined— 

(i) in a case where that period is a month, by multiplying the amount of the 
payment by 12 and dividing the product by 52; 

(ii) in any other case, by dividing the amount of the payment by the number equal 
to the number of days in the period to which it relates and multiplying the 
product by 7. 

 
(2) For the purposes of paragraph 48 (average weekly earnings of self-employed earners) the 

weekly amount of earnings of an applicant is to be determined by dividing his earnings 
over the assessment period by the number equal to the number of days in that period 
and multiplying the product by 7. 

 
51.0 Earnings of employed earners: persons who are not pensioners 

(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), “earnings”, in the case of employment as an employed 

Page 145



54 

earner of a person who is not a pensioner, means any remuneration or profit derived 
from that employment and includes: 
(a) any bonus or commission; 
 
(b) any payment in lieu of remuneration except any periodic sum paid to an applicant 

on account of the termination of his employment by reason of redundancy; 
(c) any payment in lieu of notice or any lump sum payment intended as compensation 

for the loss of employment but only in so far as it represents loss of income; 
(d) any holiday pay except any payable more than 4 weeks after termination or 

interruption of the employment; 
(e) any payment by way of a retainer; 
(f) any payment made by the applicant's employer in respect of expenses not wholly, 

exclusively and necessarily incurred in the performance of the duties of the 
employment, including any payment made by the applicant's employer in respect 
of— 
(i) travelling expenses incurred by the applicant between his home and place of 

employment; 
(ii) expenses incurred by the applicant under arrangements made for the care of 

a member of his family owing to the applicant's absence from home; 
(g) any award of compensation made under section 112(4) or 117(3)(a) of the 

Employment Rights Act 1996 (remedies and compensation for unfair dismissal); 
(h) any payment or remuneration made under section 28, 34, 64, 68 or 70 of the 

Employment Rights Act 1996 (right to guarantee payments, remuneration on 
suspension on medical or maternity grounds, complaints to employment tribunals); 

(i) any such sum as is referred to in section 112 of the SSCBA (certain sums to be 
earnings for social security purposes); 

(j) any statutory sick pay, statutory maternity pay, statutory paternity pay or statutory 
adoption pay, or a corresponding payment under any enactment having effect in 
Northern Ireland; 

(k) any remuneration paid by or on behalf of an employer to the applicant who for the 
time being is on maternity leave, paternity leave or adoption leave or is absent from 
work because he is ill; 

(l) the amount of any payment by way of a non-cash voucher which has been taken into 
account in the computation of a person's earnings in accordance with Part 5 of 
Schedule 3 to the Social Security (Contributions) Regulations 2001. 

 
(2) Earnings does not include— 

(a) subject to sub-paragraph (3), any payment in kind; 
(b) any payment in respect of expenses wholly, exclusively and necessarily incurred in 

the performance of the duties of the employment; 
(c) any occupational pension; 
(d) any payment in respect of expenses arising out of the applicant's participation in a 

service user group. 
 
(3) Sub-paragraph (2)(a) does not apply in respect of any non-cash voucher referred to in sub-

paragraph (1)(l). 
 

52.0 Calculation of net earnings of employed earners: persons who are not pensioners 
 
(1) For the purposes of paragraph 47 (average weekly earnings of employed earners: persons 

who are not pensioners), the earnings of an applicant who is not a pensioner derived or 
likely to be derived from employment as an employed earner to be taken into account 
must, subject to sub-paragraph (2), be his net earnings. 

 
(2) There is to be disregarded from an applicant's net earnings, any sum, where applicable, 

specified in paragraphs 1 to 16 of Schedule 7 (sums disregarded in the calculation of 
earnings: persons who are not pensioners). 

Page 146



55 

 
(3) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1) net earnings must, except where sub-paragraph (6) 

applies, be calculated by taking into account the gross earnings of the applicant from that 
employment over the assessment period, less— 
(a) any amount deducted from those earnings by way of— 
 (i) income tax; 
 (ii) primary Class 1 contributions under the SSCBA; 
(b) one-half of any sum paid by the applicant by way of a contribution towards an 

occupational pension scheme; 
(c) one-half of the amount calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph (5) in respect 

of any qualifying contribution payable by the applicant; and 
(d) where those earnings include a payment which is payable under any enactment 

having effect in Northern Ireland and which corresponds to statutory sick pay, 
statutory maternity pay, statutory paternity pay or statutory adoption pay, any 
amount deducted from those earnings by way of any contributions which are 
payable under any enactment having effect in Northern Ireland and which 
correspond to primary Class 1 contributions under the SSCBA. 

 
(4) In this paragraph “qualifying contribution” means any sum which is payable periodically as 

a contribution towards a personal pension scheme. 
 
(5) The amount in respect of any qualifying contribution is to be calculated by multiplying the 

daily amount of the qualifying contribution by the number equal to the number of days in 
the assessment period; and for the purposes of this paragraph the daily amount of the 
qualifying contribution is to be determined— 
(a) where the qualifying contribution is payable monthly, by multiplying the amount of 

the qualifying contribution by 12 and dividing the product by 365 or 366 in a leap 
year; 

(b) in any other case, by dividing the amount of the qualifying contribution by the 
number equal to the number of days in the period to which the qualifying 
contribution relates. 

 
(6) Where the earnings of an applicant are estimated under paragraph 47(2)(b) (average 

weekly earnings of employed earners: classes D to F), his net earnings is to be calculated 
by taking into account those earnings over the assessment period, less: 
(a) an amount in respect of income tax equivalent to an amount calculated by applying 

to those earnings the basic rate of tax applicable to the assessment period less only 
the personal relief to which the applicant is entitled under sections 35 to 37 of the 
Income Tax Act 2007  (personal allowances) as is appropriate to his circumstances 
but, if the assessment period is less than a year, the earnings to which the basic rate 
of tax is to be applied and the amount of the personal relief deductible under this 
sub-paragraph is to be calculated on a pro rata basis; 

(b) an amount equivalent to the amount of the primary Class 1 contributions that 
would be payable by him under the SSCBA in respect of those earnings if such 
contributions were payable; and 

(c) one-half of any sum which would be payable by the applicant by way of a 
contribution towards an occupational or personal pension scheme, if the earnings 
so estimated were actual earnings. 

 
53.0 Earnings of self-employed earners: persons who are not pensioners 

 
(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), “earnings”, in the case of employment as a self-employed 

earner of a person who is not a pensioner, means the gross income of the employment. 
 
(2) “Earnings” does not include any payment to which paragraph 31 or 32 of Schedule 8 

refers (payments in respect of a person accommodated with the applicant under 
arrangements made by a local authority or voluntary organisation and payments made to 

Page 147



56 

the applicant by a health authority, local authority or voluntary organisation in respect of 
persons temporarily in the applicant's care) nor does it include any sports award. 

 
(3) This paragraph applies to: 

(a) royalties or other sums paid as a consideration for the use of, or the right to use, any 
copyright, design, patent or trade mark; or 

(b) any payment in respect of any— 
(i) book registered under the Public Lending Right Scheme 1982; or 
 
(ii) work made under any international public lending right scheme that is 

analogous to the Public Lending Right Scheme 1982, where the applicant is 
the first owner of the copyright, design, patent or trade mark, or an original 
contributor to the book or work concerned. 

 
(4) Where the applicant's earnings consist of any items to which sub-paragraph (3) applies, 

those earnings must be taken into account over a period equal to such number of weeks 
as is equal to the number obtained (and any fraction is to be treated as a corresponding 
fraction of a week) by dividing the earnings by: 
(a) the amount of reduction under this scheme to which the applicant would have been 

entitled had the payment not been made, plus 
(b) an amount equal to the total of the sums which would fall to be disregarded from 

the payment under Schedule 7 (sums disregarded in the calculation of earnings: 
persons who are not pensioners) as appropriate in the applicant's case. 

 
54.0 Calculation of income other than earnings: persons who are not pensioners 

 
(1) For the purposes of paragraph 49 (average weekly income other than earnings: persons 

who are not pensioners), the income of an applicant who is not a pensioner which does 
not consist of earnings to be taken into account must, subject to sub-paragraphs (2) to (8), 
be his gross income and any capital treated as income under paragraph 55 (capital treated 
as income: persons who are not pensioners). 

 
(2) There is to be disregarded from the calculation of an applicant's gross income under sub-

paragraph (1), any sum, where applicable, specified in Schedule 8. 
 
(3) Where the payment of any benefit under the benefit Acts is subject to any deduction by 

way of recovery the amount to be taken into account under sub-paragraph (1) must be 
the gross amount payable. 

 
(4) Where the applicant or, where he is a member of a couple, his partner is receiving a 

contributory employment and support allowance and that benefit has been reduced 
under regulation 63 of the Employment and Support Allowance Regulations 2008, the 
amount of that benefit to be taken into account is the amount as if it had not been 
reduced. 

 
(5) Where an award of any working tax credit or child tax credit under the Tax Credits Act 

2002 is subject to a deduction by way of recovery of an overpayment of working tax credit 
or child tax credit which arose in a previous tax year the amount to be taken into account 
under sub-paragraph (1) is to be the amount of working tax credit or child tax credit 
awarded less the amount of that deduction. 

 
(6) Sub-paragraphs (7) and (8) apply where— 

(a) a relevant payment has been made to a person in an academic year; and 
(b) that person abandons, or is dismissed from, his course of study before the payment 

to him of the final instalment of the relevant payment. 
 
(7) Where a relevant payment is made quarterly, the amount of a relevant payment to be 

Page 148



57 

taken into account for the assessment period for the purposes of sub-paragraph (1) in 
respect of a person to whom sub-paragraph (7) applies, is to be calculated by applying the 
formula— 
A - (BxC) 

 D 
 Where 

(a) A = the total amount of the relevant payment which that person would have 
received had he remained a student until the last day of the academic term in which 
he abandoned, or was dismissed from, his course, less any deduction under 
paragraph 81(5) (costs of travel, books and equipment); 

(b) B = the number of reduction weeks from the reduction week immediately following 
that which includes the first day of that academic year to the reduction week which 
includes the day on which the person abandoned, or was dismissed from, his 
course; 

(c) C = the weekly amount of the relevant payment, before the application of the £10 
disregard, which would have been taken into account as income under paragraph 
81(2) (treatment of student loans) had the person not abandoned or been 
dismissed from, his course and, in the case of a person who was not entitled to a 
reduction under this scheme immediately before he abandoned or was dismissed 
from his course, had that person, at that time, been entitled to housing benefit; 

(d) D = the number of reduction weeks in the assessment period. 
 

(8) Where a relevant payment is made by two or more instalments in a quarter, the amount 
of a relevant payment to be taken into account for the assessment period for the 
purposes of sub-paragraph (1) in respect of a person to whom sub-paragraph (7) applies, 
is to be calculated by applying the formula in sub-paragraph (8) but as if— 

 A = the total amount of relevant payments which that person received, or would have 
received, from the first day of the academic year to the day the person abandoned the 
course, or was dismissed from it, less any deduction under paragraph 81(5). 

 
(9) In this paragraph— 
“academic year” and “student loan” have the same meanings as in Part 11 (students); 
“assessment period” means 

(a) in a case where a relevant payment is made quarterly, the period beginning with the 
reduction week which includes the day on which the person abandoned, or was 
dismissed from, his course and ending with the reduction week which includes the 
last day of the last quarter for which an instalment of the relevant payment was 
payable to that person; 

(b) in a case where the relevant payment is made by two or more instalments in a 
quarter, the period beginning with the reduction week which includes the day on 
which the person abandoned, or was dismissed from, his course and ending with 
the reduction week which includes— 
(i) the day immediately before the day on which the next instalment of the 

relevant payment would have been due had the payments continued; or 
(ii) the last day of the last quarter for which an instalment of the relevant 

payment was payable to that person, 
whichever of those dates is earlier; 

 “quarter” in relation to an assessment period means a period in that year beginning 
on—(c) 1st January and ending on 31st March; 
(d) 1st April and ending on 30th June; 
(e) 1st July and ending on 31st August; or 
(f) 1st September and ending on 31st December; 
“relevant payment” means either a student loan or an amount intended for the 

maintenance of dependants referred to in paragraph 76(7) or both. 
 
(10) For the avoidance of doubt there must be included as income to be taken into account 

under sub-paragraph (1)— 

Page 149



58 

(a) any payment to which paragraph 41(2) or 51(2) (payments not earnings) applies; or 
(b) in the case of an applicant who is receiving support under section 95 or 98 of the 

Immigration and Asylum Act 1999 including support provided by virtue of 
regulations made under Schedule 9 to that Act, the amount of such support 
provided in respect of essential living needs of the applicant and his dependants (if 
any) as is specified in regulations made under paragraph 3 of Schedule 8 to the 
Immigration and Asylum Act 1999. 

 
 

55.0 Capital treated as income: persons who are not pensioners 
 
(1) Any capital payable by instalments which are outstanding at the date on which the 

application is made or treated as made, or, at the date of any subsequent revision or 
supersession, must, if the aggregate of the instalments outstanding and the amount of 
the applicant's capital otherwise calculated in accordance with Chapter 7 of this Part 
exceeds £16,000, be treated as income. 

 
(2) Any payment received under an annuity is to be treated as income. 
 
(3) Any earnings to the extent that they are not a payment of income is to be treated as 

income. 
 
(4) Any Career Development Loan paid pursuant to section 2 of the Employment and Training 

Act 1973 is to be treated as income. 
 
(5) Where an agreement or court order provides that payments must be made to the 

applicant in consequence of any personal injury to the applicant and that such payments 
are to be made, wholly or partly, by way of periodic payments, any such periodic 
payments received by the applicant (but not a payment which is treated as capital by 
virtue of this Part), is to be treated as income. 

 
56.0 Notional income: persons who are not pensioners 

 
(1) An applicant who is not a pensioner is to be treated as possessing income of which he has 

deprived himself for the purpose of securing entitlement to a reduction under a council 
tax reduction scheme or increasing the amount of the reduction. 

 
(2) Except in the case of— 

(a) a discretionary trust; 
(b) a trust derived from a payment made in consequence of a personal injury; 
(c) a personal pension scheme, occupational pension scheme or a payment made by 

the Board of the Pension Protection Fund where the applicant has not attained the 
qualifying age for state pension credit; 

(d) any sum to which paragraph 50(2)(a) of Schedule 10 (capital disregards: persons 
who are not pensioners) applies which is administered in the way referred to in 
paragraph 50(1)(a); 

(e) any sum to which paragraph 51(a) of Schedule 10 refers; 
(f) rehabilitation allowance made under section 2 of the Employment and Training Act 

1973; 
(g) child tax credit; 
(h) working tax credit, or 
(i) any sum to which sub-paragraph (11) applies, 
 any income which would become available to the applicant upon application being 

made, but which has not been acquired by him, is to be treated as possessed by the 
applicant but only from the date on which it could be expected to be acquired were an 
application made. 

 

Page 150



59 

(3) Any payment of income, other than a payment of income specified in sub-paragraph (4), 
made— 
(a) to a third party in respect of a single applicant or a member of the family (but not a 

member of the third party's family) must, where that payment is a payment of an 
occupational pension, a pension or other periodical payment made under a 
personal pension scheme or a payment made by the Board of the Pension 
Protection Fund, be treated as possessed by that single applicant or, as the case 
may be, by that member; 

(b) to a third party in respect of a single applicant or in respect of a member of the 
family (but not a member of the third party's family) must, where it is not a 
payment referred to in paragraph (a), be treated as possessed by that single 
applicant or by that member to the extent that it is used for the food, ordinary 
clothing or footwear, household fuel or rent of that single applicant or, as the case 
may be, of any member of that family or is used for any council tax or water charges 
for which that applicant or member is liable; 

(c) to a single applicant or a member of the family in respect of a third party (but not in 
respect of another member of that family) must be treated as possessed by that 
single applicant or, as the case may be, that member of the family to the extent that 
it is kept or used by him or used by or on behalf of any member of the family. 

 
(4) Sub-paragraph (3) does not apply in respect of a payment of income made— 

(a) under or by the Macfarlane Trust, the Macfarlane (Special Payments) Trust, the 
Macfarlane (Special Payments) (No. 2) Trust, the Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET 
Limited, the Skipton Fund, the Caxton Foundation or the Independent Living Fund 
(2006); 

(b) pursuant to section 19(1)(a) of the Coal Industry Act 1994 (concessionary coal); 
(c) pursuant to section 2 of the Employment and Training Act 1973 in respect of a 

person's participation— 
(i) in an employment programme specified in regulation 75(1)(a)(ii) of the 

Jobseeker's Allowance Regulations 1996; 
(ii) in a training scheme specified in regulation 75(1)(b)(ii) of those Regulations; 
(iii) in the Intense Activity Period specified in regulation 75(1)(a)(iv) of those 

Regulations; 
(iv) in a qualifying course within the meaning specified in regulation 17A(7) of 

those Regulations; or 
(v) in the Flexible New Deal specified in regulation 75(1)(a)(v) of those 

Regulations; 
(d) in respect of a person's participation in the Work for Your Benefit Pilot Scheme; 
(e) in respect of a person's participation in the Mandatory Work Activity Scheme; 
(f) in respect of an applicant's participation in the Employment, Skills and Enterprise 

Scheme; 
(g) under an occupational pension scheme, in respect of a pension or other periodical 

payment made under a personal pension scheme or a payment made by the Board 
of the Pension Protection Fund where— 
(i) a bankruptcy order has been made in respect of the person in respect of whom 

the payment has been made or, in Scotland, the estate of that person is 
subject to sequestration or a judicial factor has been appointed on that 
person's estate under section 41 of the Solicitors (Scotland) Act 1980; 

(ii) the payment is made to the trustee in bankruptcy or any other person acting 
on behalf of the creditors; and 

(iii) the person referred to in sub-paragraph (i) and any member of his family does 
not possess, or is not treated as possessing, any other income apart from that 
payment. 

 
(5) Where an applicant is in receipt of any benefit under the benefit Acts and the rate of that 

benefit is altered with effect from a date on or after 1st April in any year but not more 
than 14 days thereafter, the authority must treat the applicant as possessing such benefit 

Page 151



60 

at the altered rate from either 1st April or the first Monday in April in that year, whichever 
date the authority selects, to the date on which the altered rate is to take effect. 

 
(6) Subject to sub-paragraph (7), where— 

(a) an applicant performs a service for another person; and 
(b) that person makes no payment of earnings or pays less than that paid for a 

comparable employment in the area, 
 the authority must treat the applicant as possessing such earnings (if any) as is 

reasonable for that employment unless the applicant satisfies the authority that the 
means of that person are insufficient for him to pay or to pay more for the service. 

 
(7) Sub-paragraph (6) does not apply— 

(a) to an applicant who is engaged by a charitable or voluntary organisation or who is a 
volunteer if the authority is satisfied in any of those cases that it is reasonable for 
him to provide those services free of charge; or 

 (b) in a case where the service is performed in connection with— 
 (i) the applicant's participation in an employment or training programme in 

accordance with regulation 19(1)(q) of the Jobseeker's Allowance Regulations 
1996, other than where the service is performed in connection with the 
applicant's participation in the Intense Activity Period specified in regulation 
75(1)(a)(iv) of those Regulations; or 

 (ii) the applicant's or the applicant's partner's participation in an employment or 
training programme as defined in regulation 19(3) of those Regulations for which 
a training allowance is not payable or, where such an allowance is payable, it is 
payable for the sole purpose of reimbursement of travelling or meal expenses to 
the person participating in that programme; or 

 
(c) to an applicant who is participating in a work placement approved by the Secretary 

of State (or a person providing services to the Secretary of State) before the 
placement starts. 

 
(8) In sub-paragraph (7)(c) “work placement” means practical work experience which is not 

undertaken in expectation of payment. 
 
(9) Where an applicant is treated as possessing any income under any of sub-paragraphs (1) 

to (8), the foregoing provisions of this Part apply for the purposes of calculating the 
amount of that income as if a payment had actually been made and as if it were actual 
income which he does possess. 

 
(10) Where an applicant is treated as possessing any earnings under sub-paragraph (6) the 

foregoing provisions of this Part apply for the purposes of calculating the amount of those 
earnings as if a payment had actually been made and as if they were actual earnings 
which he does possess except that paragraph 42(2) or 52(3) (calculation of net earnings of 
employed earners: pensioners and persons who are not pensioners, respectively) do not 
apply and his net earnings are to be calculated by taking into account those earnings 
which he is treated as possessing, less— 
(a) an amount in respect of income tax equivalent to an amount calculated by applying 

to those earnings the basic rate of tax applicable to the assessment period less only 
the personal relief to which the applicant is entitled under sections 35 to 37 of the 
Income Tax Act 2007  (personal allowances) as is appropriate to his circumstances; 
but, if the assessment period is less than a year, the earnings to which the basic rate 
of tax is to be applied and the amount of the personal relief deductible under this 
sub-paragraph is to be calculated on a pro rata basis; 

(b) an amount equivalent to the amount of the primary Class 1 contributions that 
would be payable by him under the SSCBA in respect of those earnings if such 
contributions were payable; and 

(c) one-half of any sum payable by the applicant by way of a contribution towards an 

Page 152



61 

occupational or personal pension scheme. 
 
(11) Sub-paragraphs (1), (2), (3) and (6) do not apply in respect of any amount of income 

other than earnings, or earnings of an employed earner, arising out of the applicant's 
participation in a service user group. 

 
 
 
 

CHAPTER 6 Income: further provisions applying to pensioners and persons who are 
not pensioners 
 
57.0 Calculation of income on a weekly basis 
 

(1) Subject to paragraph 60 (disregard of changes in tax, etc.), the income of an applicant is to 
be calculated on a weekly basis— 
(a) by estimating the amount which is likely to be his average weekly income in 

accordance with this Part; 
(b) by adding to that amount the weekly income calculated— 

(i) if the applicant is a pensioner, under paragraph 71 (tariff income: pensioners); 
(ii) if the applicant is a person who is not a pensioner, under paragraph 72 (tariff 

income: persons who are not pensioners); and 
(c) deducting from the sum of paragraphs (a) and (b) any relevant child care charges to 

which paragraph 58 (treatment of child care charges) applies from any earnings 
which form part of the average weekly income or, in a case where the conditions in 
sub-paragraph (2) are met, from those earnings plus whichever credit specified in 
paragraph (b) of that sub-paragraph is appropriate, up to a maximum deduction in 
respect of the applicant's family of whichever of the sums specified in sub-
paragraph (3) applies in his case. 

 
(2) The conditions of this paragraph are that— 

(a) the applicant's earnings which form part of his average weekly income are less than 
the lower of either his relevant child care charges or whichever of the deductions 
specified in sub-paragraph (3) otherwise applies in his case; and 

 
(b) that applicant or, if he is a member of a couple either the applicant or his partner, is 

in receipt of either working tax credit or child tax credit. 
 
(3) The maximum deduction to which sub-paragraph (1)(c) above refers is to be— 

(a) where the applicant's family includes only one child in respect of whom relevant 
child care charges are paid, £175.00 per week; 

(b) where the applicant's family includes more than one child in respect of whom 
relevant child care charges are paid, £300 per week. 

 
58.0 Treatment of child care charges 

(1) This paragraph applies where an applicant (within the meaning in this paragraph) is 
incurring relevant child care charges and— 
(a) is a lone parent and is engaged in remunerative work; 
(b) is a member of a couple both of whom are engaged in remunerative work; or 
(c) is a member of a couple where one member is engaged in remunerative work and 

the other— 
 (i) is incapacitated; 
(ii) is an in-patient in hospital; or 
(iii) is in prison (whether serving a custodial sentence or remanded in custody 

awaiting trial or sentence). 
 

Page 153



62 

(2) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1) and subject to sub-paragraph (4), a person to 
whom sub-paragraph (3) applies must be treated as engaged in remunerative work for a 
period not exceeding 28 weeks during which he— 
(a) is paid statutory sick pay; 
(b) is paid short-term incapacity benefit at the lower rate under sections 30A to 30E of 

the SSCBA; 
(c) is paid an employment and support allowance; 
(d) is paid income support on the grounds of incapacity for work under regulation 4ZA 

of, and paragraph 7 or 14 of Schedule 1B to, the Income Support (General) 
Regulations 1987; or 

(e) is credited with earnings on the grounds of incapacity for work or limited capability 
for work under regulation 8B of the Social Security (Credits) Regulations 1975. 

 
(3) This sub-paragraph applies to a person who was engaged in remunerative work 

immediately before— 
(a) the first day of the period in respect of which he was first paid statutory sick pay, 

short-term incapacity benefit, an employment and support allowance or income 
support on the grounds of incapacity for work; or 

(b) the first day of the period in respect of which earnings are credited, 
as the case may be. 

 
(4) In a case to which sub-paragraph (2)(d) or (e) applies, the period of 28 weeks begins on 

the day on which the person is first paid income support or on the first day of the period 
in respect of which earnings are credited, as the case may be. 

 
(5) Relevant child care charges are those charges for care to which sub-paragraphs (6) and (7) 

apply, and are to be calculated on a weekly basis in accordance with sub-paragraph (10). 
 
(6) The charges are paid by the applicant for care which is provided— 

(a) in the case of any child of the applicant's family who is not disabled, in respect of 
the period beginning on that child's date of birth and ending on the day preceding 
the first Monday in September following that child's fifteenth birthday; or 

(b) in the case of any child of the applicant's family who is disabled, in respect of the 
period beginning on that person's date of birth and ending on the day preceding the 
first Monday in September following that person's sixteenth birthday. 

 
(7) The charges are paid for care which is provided by one or more of the care providers listed 

in sub-paragraph (8) and are not paid— 
(a) in respect of the child's compulsory education; 
(b) by an applicant to a partner or by a partner to an applicant in respect of any child 

for whom either or any of them is responsible in accordance with paragraph 7 
(circumstances in which a person is treated as responsible or not responsible for 
another); or 

(c) in respect of care provided by a relative of the child wholly or mainly in the child's 
home. 

 
(8) The care to which sub-paragraph (7) refers may be provided— 

(a) out of school hours, by a school on school premises or by a local authority— 
(i) for children who are not disabled in respect of the period beginning on their 

eighth birthday and ending on the day preceding the first Monday in 
September following their fifteenth birthday; or 

(ii) for children who are disabled in respect of the period beginning on their 
eighth birthday and ending on the day preceding the first Monday in 
September following their sixteenth birthday; or 

(b) by a child care provider approved in accordance with the Tax Credit (New Category 
of Child Care Provider) Regulations 1999; or 

(c) by persons registered under Part 2 of the Children and Families (Wales) Measure 

Page 154



63 

2010; or 
(d) by a person who is excepted from registration under Part 2 of the Children and 

Families (Wales) Measure 2010 because the child care that person provides is in a 
school or establishment referred to in article 11, 12 or 14 of the Child Minding and 
Day Care Exceptions (Wales) Order 2010; or 

(e) by— 
(i) persons registered under section 59(1) of the Public Services Reform (Scotland) 

Act 2010; or 
(ii) local authorities registered under section 83(1) of that Act, where the care 

provided is child minding or day care of children within the meaning of that 
Act; or 

(f) by a person prescribed in regulations made pursuant to section 12(4) of the Tax 
Credits Act 2002; or 

(g) by a person who is registered under Chapter 2 or 3 of Part 3 of the Childcare Act 
2006; or 

(h) by any of the schools mentioned in section 34(2) of the Childcare Act 2006 in 
circumstances where the requirement to register under Chapter 2 of Part 3 of that 
Act does not apply by virtue of section 34(2) of that Act; or 

(i) by any of the schools mentioned in section 53(2) of the Childcare Act 2006 in 
circumstances where the requirement to register under Chapter 3 of Part 3 of that 
Act does not apply by virtue of section 53(2) of that Act; or 

(j) by any of the establishments mentioned in section 18(5) of the Childcare Act 2006 in 
circumstances where the care is not included in the meaning of “childcare” for the 
purposes of Part 1 and Part 3 of that Act by virtue of that subsection; or 

(k) by a foster parent or kinship carer under the Fostering Services Regulations 2011, 
the Fostering Services (Wales) Regulations 2003 or the Looked After Children 
(Scotland) Regulations 2009 in relation to a child other than one whom the foster 
parent is fostering or kinship carer is looking after; or 

(l) by a provider of personal care within the meaning of paragraph 1 of Schedule 1 to 
the Health and Social Care Act 2008 (Regulated Activities) Regulations 2010 102 and 
being a regulated activity prescribed by those Regulations; or 

 (m) by a person who is not a relative of the child wholly or mainly in the child's home. 
 
(9) In sub-paragraphs (6) and (8)(a), “the first Monday in September” means the Monday 

which first occurs in the month of September in any year. 
 
(10) Relevant child care charges must be estimated over such period, not exceeding a year, as 

is appropriate in order that the average weekly charge may be estimated accurately 
having regard to information as to the amount of that charge provided by the child 
minder or person providing the care. 

 
(11) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1)(c) the other member of a couple is incapacitated 

where— 
(a) the applicant is a pensioner and the other member of the couple is aged not less 

than 80; 
(b) the applicant is a pensioner and the other member of the couple is aged less than 

80, and— 
(i) the additional condition specified in paragraph 10 of Schedule 3 (additional 

condition for the disability premium) to this scheme is treated as applying in 
his case; and 

(ii) he satisfies that conditions or would satisfy it but for his being treated as 
capable of work by virtue of a determination made in accordance with 
regulations made under section 171E of the SSCBA; 

(c) the applicant is not a pensioner, the applicant's applicable amount includes a 
disability premium on account of the other member's incapacity or the support 
component on account of his having limited capability for work, or the other 
member of the couple would be a member of the work-related activity group; 

Page 155



64 

(d) the applicant is not a pensioner, the applicant's applicable amount would include a 
disability premium on account of the other member's incapacity but for that other 
member being treated as capable of work by virtue of a determination made in 
accordance with regulations made under section 171E of the SSCBA; 

(e) the other member of the couple would be a member of the support group or by 
virtue of a determination made in accordance with the Employment and Support 
Allowance Regulations 2008 or the Employment and Support Allowance Regulations 
2013(a); 

(f) he is, or is treated as, incapable of work and has been so incapable, or has been so 
treated as incapable, of work in accordance with the provisions of, and regulations 
made under, Part 12A of the SSCBA (incapacity for work) for a continuous period of 
not less than 196 days; and for this purpose any two or more separate periods 
separated by a break of not more than 56 days must be treated as one continuous 
period; 

(g) he is, or is treated as having, limited capability for work and has had, or been 
treated as having, limited capability for work in accordance with the Employment 
and Support Allowance Regulations 2008 or the Employment and Support 
Allowance Regulations 2013(a); for a continuous period of not less than 196 days 
and for this purpose any two or more separate periods separated by a break of not 
more than 84 days must be treated as one continuous period; 

(h) there is payable in respect of him one or more of the following pensions or 
allowances— 
(i) long-term incapacity benefit or short-term incapacity benefit at the higher rate 

under Schedule 4 to the SSCBA; 
(ii) attendance allowance under section 64 of the SSCBA; 
(iii) severe disablement allowance under section 68 of the SSCBA; 
(iv) disability living allowance under section 71 of the SSCBA; 
(v) personal independence payment; 
(vi) an AFIP; 
(vii) increase of disablement pension under section 104 of the SSCBA; 
(viii) a pension increase paid as part of a war disablement pension or under an 

industrial injuries scheme which is analogous to an allowance or increase of 
disablement pension under sub-paragraph (ii), (iv), (v) or (vii) above; 

(ix) main phase employment and support allowance; 
(i) a pension or allowance or payment to which sub-paragraph (v), (vii) or (viii) of 

paragraph (h) above refers was payable on account of his incapacity but has ceased 
to be payable in consequence of his becoming a patient, which in this paragraph 
means a person (other than a person who is serving a sentence of imprisonment or 
detention in a youth custody institution) who is regarded as receiving free in-patient 
treatment within the meaning of regulation 2(4) and (5) of the Social Security 
(Hospital In-Patients) Regulations 2005; 

(j) an attendance allowance under section 64 of the SSCBA or disability living allowance 
would be payable to that person but for— 

 (i) a suspension of benefit in accordance with regulations under section 113(2) of 
the SSCBA; or 

 (ii) an abatement as a consequence of hospitalisation; 
(k) the daily living component of personal independence payment would be payable to 

that person but for a suspension of benefit in accordance with regulations under 
section 86 of the Welfare Reform Act 2012 (hospital in-patients); 

(l) an AFIP would be payable to that person but for any suspension of payment in 
accordance with any terms of the armed and reserve forces compensation scheme 
which allow for a suspension because a person is undergoing medical treatment in a 
hospital or similar institution; 

(m) paragraph (h), (i), (j) or (k) would apply to him if the legislative provisions referred 
to in those paragraphs were provisions under any corresponding enactment having 
effect in Northern Ireland; or 

(n) he has an invalid carriage or other vehicle provided to him by the Secretary of State 

Page 156



65 

or a clinical commissioning group under paragraph 9 of Schedule 1 to the National 
Health Service Act 2006  or under section 46 of the National Health Service 
(Scotland) Act 1978 or provided by the Department of Health, Social Services and 
Public Safety in Northern Ireland under Article 30(1) of the Health and Personal 
Social Services (Northern Ireland) Order 1972. 

 
(12) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (11), once sub-paragraph (11)(f) applies to the 

person, if he then ceases, for a period of 56 days or less, to be incapable, or to be treated 
as incapable, of work, that sub-paragraph is, on his again becoming so incapable, or so 
treated as incapable, of work at the end of that period, immediately thereafter to apply to 
him for so long as he remains incapable, or is treated as remaining incapable, of work. 

 
(13) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (11), once sub-paragraph (11)(g) applies to the 

person, if he then ceases, for a period of 84 days or less, to have, or to be treated as 
having, limited capability for work, that paragraph is, on his again having, or being treated 
as having, limited capability for work at the end of that period, immediately thereafter to 
apply to him for so long as he has, or is treated as having, limited capability for work. 

 
(14) For the purposes of sub-paragraphs (6) and (8)(a), a person is disabled if he is a person— 

(a) to whom an attendance allowance or the care component of disability allowance is 
payable or would be payable but for— 
(i) a suspension of benefit in accordance with regulations under section 113(2) of 

the SSCBA; or 
(ii) an abatement as a consequence of hospitalisation; 

(b) to whom the daily living component of personal independence payment is payable or has 
ceased to be payable by virtue of a suspension of benefit in accordance with regulations under 
section 86 of the Welfare Reform Act 2012 (hospital in-patients); 
(c) who is registered as severely sight-impaired in a register kept under section 77(1) of 

the Care Act 2014 (registers of sight-impaired adults), in Scotland, has been certified 
as blind and in consequence he is registered as blind in a register maintained by or 
on behalf of a council constituted under section 2 of the Local Government 
(Scotland) Act 1994 or is registered as severely sight-impaired in a register kept by a 
local authority in Wales under section 18(1) of the Social Services and Well-being 
(Wales) Act 2014; or 

(d) who ceased to be registered as blind or severely sight-impaired in such a register 
within the period beginning 28 weeks before the first Monday in September 
following that person's fifteenth birthday and ending on the day preceding that 
person's sixteenth birthday. 

 
(15) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1) a person on maternity leave, paternity leave, 

shared parental leave or adoption leave is to be treated as if he is engaged in 
remunerative work for the period specified in sub-paragraph (16) (“the relevant period”) 
provided that—  
(a) in the week before the period of maternity leave, paternity leave, shared parental 

leave, or adoption leave began he was in remunerative work; 
(b) the applicant is incurring relevant child care charges within the meaning of sub-

paragraph (5); and 
(c) he is entitled to either statutory maternity pay under section 164 of the SSCBA 105, 

statutory paternity pay by virtue of section 171ZA or 171ZB of that Act, statutory 
paternity pay by virtue of section 171ZEA or 171ZEB of that Act, statutory adoption 
pay by of section 171ZL of that Act, maternity allowance under section 35 of that 
Act, statutory shared parental pay by virtue of section 171ZU or 171ZV of that Act or 
qualifying support. 

 
(16) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (15) the relevant period begins on the day on which 

the person's maternity, paternity leave, shared parental leave, or adoption leave 
commences and ends on— 

Page 157



66 

(a) the date that leave ends; 
(b) if no child care element of working tax credit is in payment on the date that 

entitlement to maternity allowance, qualifying support, statutory maternity pay, 
ordinary or additional statutory paternity pay or statutory adoption pay ends, the 
date that entitlement ends; or 

(c) if a child care element of working tax credit is in payment on the date that 
entitlement to maternity allowance or qualifying support, statutory maternity pay, 
Statutory paternity pay, statutory shared paternity pay or statutory adoption pay 
ends, or statutory adoption pay ends, the date that entitlement to that award of the 
child care element of the working tax credit ends,  whichever occurs first. 

 
(17) In sub-paragraphs (15) and (16)— 

(a) “qualifying support” means income support to which that person is entitled by 
virtue of paragraph 14B of Schedule 1B to the Income Support (General) 
Regulations 1987 106; and 

(b) “child care element” of working tax credit means the element of working tax credit 
prescribed under section 12 of the Tax Credits Act 2002 (child care element). 

 
(18) In this paragraph “applicant” does not include an applicant 

(a) who has, or 
(b) who (jointly with his partner) has, 
an award of universal credit. 

 
59.0 Calculation of weekly income from tax credits 

(1) This paragraph applies where an applicant receives a tax credit. 
 
(2) Where this paragraph applies, the period over which a tax credit is to be taken into 

account is the period set out in sub-paragraph (3). 
 
(3) Where the instalment in respect of which payment of a tax credit is made is— 

(a) a daily instalment, the period is 1 day, being the day in respect of which the 
instalment is paid; 

(b) a weekly instalment, the period is 7 days, ending on the day on which the 
instalment is due to be paid; 

(c) a two weekly instalment, the period is 14 days, commencing 6 days before the day 
on which the instalment is due to be paid; 

(d) a four weekly instalment, the period is 28 days, ending on the day on which the 
instalment is due to be paid. 

 
(4) For the purposes of this paragraph “tax credit” means child tax credit or working tax 

credit. 
 

60.0 Disregard of changes in tax, contributions etc. 
 
In calculating the applicant's income the authority may disregard any legislative change— 

(a) in the basic or other rates of income tax; 
(aa) in the Scottish basic or other rates of income tax;  
(b) in the amount of any personal tax reliefs under Chapters 2, 3, and 3A of Part 3 of the 

Income Tax Act 2007;  
(c) in the rates of national insurance contributions payable under the SSCBA or in the 

lower earnings limit or upper earnings limit for Class 1 contributions under that Act, 
the lower or upper limits applicable to Class 4 contributions under that Act or the 
amount specified in section 11(4) of that Act (small profits threshold in relation to 
Class 2 contributions); 

(d) in the amount of tax payable as a result of an increase in the weekly rate of 
Category A, B, C or D retirement pension or any addition thereto or any graduated 
pension payable under the SSCBA, or a state pension under Part 1 of the Pensions 

Page 158



67 

Act 2014, 
(e) in the maximum rate of child tax credit or working tax credit, for a period not 

exceeding 30 reduction weeks beginning with the reduction week immediately 
following the date from which the change is effective. 

 
61.0 Calculation of net profit of self-employed earners 

 
(1) For the purposes of paragraphs 48 (average weekly earnings of self-employed earners: 

persons who are not pensioners) and 57 (calculation of income on a weekly basis) the 
earnings of an applicant to be taken into account must be— 
(a) in the case of a self-employed earner who is engaged in employment on his own 

account, the net profit derived from that employment; 
(b) in the case of a self-employed earner who is a pensioner whose employment is 

carried on in partnership, his share of the net profit derived from that employment, 
less— 
(i) an amount in respect of income tax and of national insurance contributions 

payable under the SSCBA calculated in accordance with paragraph 62 
(deduction of tax and contributions of self-employed earners); and 

(ii) one-half of the amount calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph (11) in 
respect of any qualifying premium; 

(c) in the case of a self-employed earner who is not a pensioner whose employment is 
carried on in partnership or is that of a share fisherman within the meaning of the 
Social Security (Mariners’ Benefits) Regulations 1975, his share of the net profit 
derived from that employment, less— 
(i) an amount in respect of income tax and of social security contributions 

payable under the SSCBA calculated in accordance with paragraph 62 
(deduction of tax and contributions for self-employed earners); and 

(ii) one-half of the amount calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph (11) in 
respect of any qualifying premium. 

 
(2) There must be disregarded from the net profit of an applicant who is not a pensioner, any 

sum, where applicable, specified in paragraphs 1 to 16 of Schedule 7 (sums disregarded in 
the calculation of earnings: persons who are not pensioners). 

 
(3) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1)(a) the net profit of the employment must, except 

where sub-paragraph (9) applies, be calculated by taking into account the earnings of the 
employment over the assessment period less— 
(a) subject to sub-paragraphs (5) to (8), any expenses wholly and exclusively incurred in 

that period for the purposes of that employment; 
(b) an amount in respect of— 

(i) income tax; and 
(ii) national insurance contributions payable under the SSCBA, 

 calculated in accordance with paragraph 62 (deduction of tax and contributions for 
self-employed earners); and 

(c) one-half of the amount calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph (11) in respect 
of any qualifying premium. 

 
(4) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1)(b) the net profit of the employment is to be 

calculated by taking into account the earnings of the employment over the assessment 
period less, subject to sub-paragraphs (5) to (8), any expenses wholly and exclusively 
incurred in that period for the purposes of the employment. 

 
(5) Subject to sub-paragraph (6), no deduction is to be made under sub-paragraph (3)(a) or 

(4), in respect of— 
(a) any capital expenditure; 
(b) the depreciation of any capital asset; 
(c) any sum employed or intended to be employed in the setting up or expansion of the 

Page 159



68 

employment; 
(d) any loss incurred before the beginning of the assessment period; 
(e) the repayment of capital on any loan taken out for the purposes of the 

employment; 
(f) any expenses incurred in providing business entertainment; and 
 
(g) in the case of an applicant who is not a pensioner, any debts, except bad debts 

proved to be such, but this paragraph does not apply to any expenses incurred in 
the recovery of a debt. 

 
(6) A deduction is to be made under sub-paragraph (3)(a) or (4) in respect of the repayment 

of capital on any loan used for— 
(a) the replacement in the course of business of equipment or machinery; or 
(b) the repair of an existing business asset except to the extent that any sum is payable 

under an insurance policy for its repair. 
 
(7) The authority must refuse to make a deduction in respect of any expenses under sub-

paragraph (3)(a) or (4) where it is not satisfied given the nature and the amount of the 
expense that it has been reasonably incurred. 

 
(8) For the avoidance of doubt— 

(a) a deduction must not be made under sub-paragraph (3)(a) or (4) in respect of any 
sum unless it has been expended for the purposes of the business; 

(b) a deduction must be made thereunder in respect of— 
(i) the excess of any value added tax paid over value added tax received in the 

assessment period; 
(ii) any income expended in the repair of an existing business asset except to the 

extent that any sum is payable under an insurance policy for its repair; 
(iii) any payment of interest on a loan taken out for the purposes of the 

employment. 
 
(9) Where an applicant is engaged in employment as a child minder the net profit of the 

employment is to be one-third of the earnings of that employment, less— 
(a) an amount in respect of— 

(i) income tax; and 
(ii) national insurance contributions payable under the SSCBA, 

 calculated in accordance with paragraph 62 (deduction of tax and contributions for 
self-employed earners); and 

(b) one-half of the amount calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph (11) in respect 
of any qualifying premium. 

 
(10) For the avoidance of doubt where an applicant is engaged in employment as a self-

employed earner and he is also engaged in one or more other employments as a self-
employed or employed earner any loss incurred in any one of his employments must not 
be offset against his earnings in any other of his employments. 

 
(11) The amount in respect of any qualifying premium is to be calculated by multiplying the 

daily amount of the qualifying premium by the number equal to the number of days in the 
assessment period; and for the purposes of this paragraph the daily amount of the 
qualifying premium must be determined— 
(a) where the qualifying premium is payable monthly, by multiplying the amount of the 

qualifying premium by 12 and dividing the product by 355 or 366 in a leap year; 
(b) in any other case, by dividing the amount of the qualifying premium by the number 

equal to the number of days in the period to which the qualifying premium relates. 
 
(12) In this paragraph, “qualifying premium” means any premium which is payable 

periodically in respect of a personal pension scheme and is so payable on or after the date 

Page 160



69 

of application. 
 
 
 
 

62.0 Calculation of deduction of tax and contributions of self-employed earners 
 
(1) The amount to be deducted in respect of income tax under paragraph 61(1)(b)(i), (3)(b)(i) 

or (9)(a)(i) (calculation of net profit of self-employed earners) must be calculated— 
(a) on the basis of the amount of chargeable income, and 
(b) as if that income were assessable to income tax at the basic rate or in the case of a 

Scottish taxpayer, the Scottish basic rate of tax applicable to the assessment period 
less only the personal reliefs to which the applicant is entitled under Chapters 2, 3 
and 3A of Part 3 of the Income Tax Act 2007 as are appropriate to his 
circumstances. 

 
(2) But, if the assessment period is less than a year, the earnings to which the basic rate or 

the Scottish basic rate of tax is to be applied and the amount of the personal reliefs 
deductible under this paragraph must be calculated on a pro rata basis. 

 
(3) The amount to be deducted in respect of national insurance contributions under 

paragraph 60(1)(b)(i), (3)(b)(ii) or (9)(a)(ii) is the total of— 
(a) the amount of Class 2 contributions payable under section 11(2) or, as the case may 

be, 11(8) of the SSCBA at the rate applicable to the assessment period except where 
the applicant's chargeable income is less than the amount specified in section 11(4) 
of that Act (small profits threshold) for the tax year applicable to the assessment 
period; but if the assessment period is less than a year, the amount specified for 
that tax year must be reduced pro rata; and 

(b) the amount of Class 4 contributions (if any) which would be payable under section 
15 of the SSCBA (Class 4 contributions recoverable under the Income Tax Acts) at 
the percentage rate applicable to the assessment period on so much of the 
chargeable income as exceeds the lower limit but does not exceed the upper limit 
of profits and gains applicable for the tax year applicable to the assessment period; 
but if the assessment period is less than a year, those limits must be reduced pro 
rata. 

 
(4) In this paragraph “chargeable income” means 

(a) except where paragraph (b) applies, the earnings derived from the employment less 
any expenses deducted under sub-paragraph (3)(a) or, as the case may be, (5) of 
paragraph 61; 

(b) in the case of employment as a child minder, one-third of the earnings of that 
employment. 

 
CHAPTER 7 Capital  

 
63.0 Calculation of capital 

(1) The capital of an applicant to be taken into account must be, subject to sub-paragraph (2), 
the whole of his capital calculated in accordance with this Part and (in the case of persons 
who are not pensioners) any income treated as capital under paragraph 64 (income 
treated as capital: persons who are not pensioners). 

 
(2) There must be disregarded from the calculation of an applicant's capital under sub-

paragraph (1), any capital, where applicable, specified in— 
(a) Schedule 9, in relation to pensioners; 
(b) Schedule 10, in relation to persons who are not pensioners. 

 

Page 161



70 

(3) In the case of an applicant who is a pensioner, his capital is to be treated as including any 
payment made to him by way of arrears of— 
(a) child tax credit; 
(b) working tax credit; 
(c) state pension credit, 

 if the payment was made in respect of a period for the whole or part of which a reduction 
under this scheme was allowed before those arrears were paid. 

 
(4) The capital of a child or young person who is a member of the family of an applicant who 

is not a pensioner must not be treated as capital of the applicant. 
 

64.0 Income treated as capital: persons who are not pensioners 
 
(1) This paragraph applies in relation to persons who are not pensioners. 
 
(2) Any bounty derived from employment to which paragraph 9 of Schedule 7 (sums 

disregarded in the calculation of earnings: persons who are not pensioners) applies and 
paid at intervals of at least one year is to be treated as capital. 

 
(3) Any amount by way of a refund of income tax deducted from profits or emoluments 

chargeable to income tax under Schedule D or E is to be treated as capital. 
 
(4) Any holiday pay which is not earnings under paragraph 41(1)(d) or 51(1)(d) (earnings of 

employed earners) is to be treated as capital. 
 
(5) Except any income derived from capital disregarded under paragraphs 4, 5, 7, 11, 17, 30 

to 33, 50 or 51 of Schedule 10 (capital disregards: persons who are not pensioners), any 
income derived from capital is to be treated as capital but only from the date it is 
normally due to be credited to the applicant's account. 

 
(6) In the case of employment as an employed earner, any advance of earnings or any loan 

made by the applicant's employer is to be treated as capital. 
 
(7) Any charitable or voluntary payment which is not made or due to be made at regular 

intervals, other than a payment which is made under or by the Trusts, the Fund, the 
Eileen Trust, MFET Limited, the Skipton Fund, the Caxton Foundation, the Independent 
Living Fund (2006) or the London Bombings Charitable Relief Fund, is to be treated as 
capital. 

 
(8) There is to be treated as capital the gross receipts of any commercial activity carried on by 

a person in respect of which assistance is received under the self-employment route, but 
only in so far as those receipts were payable into a special account during the period in 
which that person was receiving such assistance. 

 
(9) Any arrears of subsistence allowance which are paid to an applicant as a lump sum must 

be treated as capital. 
 
(10) Any arrears of working tax credit or child tax credit must be treated as capital. 
 

65.0 Calculation of capital in the United Kingdom 
  
 Capital which an applicant possesses in the United Kingdom is to be calculated at its current 

market or surrender value less— 
(a) where there would be expenses attributable to the sale, 10 per cent; and 
(b) the amount of any encumbrance secured on it. 

 

Page 162



71 

66.0 Calculation of capital outside the United Kingdom 
 
Capital which an applicant possesses in a country outside the United Kingdom must be 

calculated— 
(a) in a case where there is no prohibition in that country against the transfer to the 

United Kingdom of an amount equal to its current market or surrender value in that 
country, at that value; 

(b) in a case where there is such a prohibition, at the price which it would realise if sold 
in the United Kingdom to a willing buyer, less, where there would be expenses 
attributable to sale, 10 per cent and the amount of any encumbrances secured on 
it. 

 
67.0 Notional capital 

 
(1) An applicant is to be treated as possessing capital of which he has deprived himself for the 

purpose of securing entitlement to a reduction or increasing the amount of that reduction 
except to the extent that that capital is reduced in accordance with paragraph 68 
(diminishing notional capital rule). 

 
(2) A person who is a pensioner who disposes of capital for the purpose of— 

(a) reducing or paying a debt owed by the applicant; or 
(b) purchasing goods or services if the expenditure was reasonable in the circumstances 

of the applicant's case, is to be regarded as not depriving himself of it. 
 
(3) Sub-paragraphs (4) to (6) apply in relation to applicants who are not pensioners. 
 
(4) Except in the case of— 

(a) a discretionary trust; or 
(b) a trust derived from a payment made in consequence of a personal injury; or 
(c) any loan which would be obtained only if secured against capital disregarded under 

Schedule 9; or 
(d) a personal pension scheme, occupational pension scheme or a payment made by 

the Board of the Pension Protection Fund; or 
(e) any sum to which paragraph 50(2)(a) of Schedule 10 (capital disregards: persons 

who are not pensioners) applies which is administered in the way referred to in 
paragraph 50(1)(a); or 

(f) any sum to which paragraph 51(a) of Schedule 10 refers; or 
(g) child tax credit; or 
(h) working tax credit, 
 any capital which would become available to the applicant upon application being 

made, but which has not been acquired by him, is to be treated as possessed by him 
but only from the date on which it could be expected to be acquired were an 
application made. 

 
(5) Any payment of capital, other than a payment of capital specified in sub-paragraph (6), 

made— 
(a) to a third party in respect of a single applicant or a member of the family (but not a 

member of the third party's family) must, where that payment is a payment of an 
occupational pension, a pension or other periodical payment made under a 
personal pension scheme or a payment made by the Board of the Pension 
Protection Fund, be treated as possessed by that single applicant or, as the case 
may be, by that member; 

(b) to a third party in respect of a single applicant or in respect of a member of the 
family (but not a member of the third party's family) must, where it is not a 
payment referred to in paragraph (a), be treated as possessed by that single 
applicant or by that member to the extent that it is used for the food, ordinary 
clothing or footwear, household fuel or rent of that single applicant or, as the case 

Page 163



72 

may be, of any member of that family or is used for any council tax or water charges 
for which that applicant or member is liable; 

(c) to a single applicant or a member of the family in respect of a third party (but not in 
respect of another member of the family) must be treated as possessed by that 
single applicant or, as the case may be, that member of the family to the extent that 
it is kept or used by him or used by or on behalf of any member of the family. 

 
(6) Sub-paragraph (5) does not apply in respect of a payment of capital made— 

(a) under or by any of the Trusts, the Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET Limited, the 
Independent Living Fund (2006), the Skipton Fund, the Caxton Foundation, or the 
London Bombings Relief Charitable Fund; 

(b) pursuant to section 2 of the Employment and Training Act 1973 in respect of a 
person's participation 
(i) in an employment programme specified in regulation 75(1)(a)(ii) of the 

Jobseeker's Allowance Regulations 1996; 
(ii) in a training scheme specified in regulation 75(1)(b)(ii) of those Regulations; 
(iii) in the Intense Activity Period specified in regulation 75(1)(a)(iv) of those 

Regulations; 
(iv) in a qualifying course within the meaning specified in regulation 17A(7) of 

those Regulations; or 
(v) in the Flexible New Deal specified in regulation 75(1)(a)(v) of those 

Regulations; 
(c) in respect of a person's participation in the Work for Your Benefit Pilot Scheme; 
(d) in respect of a person's participation in the Mandatory Work Activity Scheme; 
(e) in respect of an applicant's participation in the Employment, Skills and Enterprise 

Scheme; 
 

(f) under an occupational pension scheme, in respect of a pension or other periodical 
payment made under a personal pension scheme or a payment made by the Board 
of the Pension Protection Fund where— 
(i) a bankruptcy order has been made in respect of the person in respect of whom 

the payment has been made or, in Scotland, the estate of that person is 
subject to sequestration or a judicial factor has been appointed on that 
person's estate under section 41 of the Solicitors (Scotland) Act 1980; 

(ii) the payment is made to the trustee in bankruptcy or any other person acting 
on behalf of the creditors; and 

(iii) the person referred to in sub-paragraph (i) and any member of his family does 
not possess, or is not treated as possessing, any other income apart from that 
payment. 

 
(7) Where an applicant stands in relation to a company in a position analogous to that of a 

sole owner or partner in the business of that company, he may be treated as if he were 
such sole owner or partner and in such a case— 
(a) the value of his holding in that company must, notwithstanding paragraph 63 

(calculation of capital) be disregarded; and 
(b) he must, subject to sub-paragraph (8), be treated as possessing an amount of capital 

equal to the value or, as the case may be, his share of the value of the capital of that 
company and the foregoing provisions of this Chapter apply for the purposes of 
calculating that amount as if it were actual capital which he does possess. 

 
(8) For so long as the applicant undertakes activities in the course of the business of the 

company, the amount which he is treated as possessing under sub-paragraph (7) is to be 
disregarded. 

 
(9) Where an applicant is treated as possessing capital under any of sub-paragraphs (1), (4) or 

(5) the foregoing provisions of this Chapter apply for the purposes of calculating its 
amount as if it were actual capital which he does possess. 

Page 164



73 

 
68.0 Diminishing notional capital rule: pensioners 

 
(1) Where an applicant who is a pensioner is treated as possessing capital under paragraph 

67(1) (notional capital), the amount which he is treated as possessing— 
(a) in the case of a week that is subsequent to— 
 (i) the relevant week in respect of which the conditions set out in sub-paragraph 

(2) are satisfied; or 
 (ii) a week which follows that relevant week and which satisfies those conditions, 
 is to be reduced by an amount determined under sub-paragraph (3); 
(b) in the case of a week in respect of which sub-paragraph (1)(a) does not apply but 

where— 
 (i) that week is a week subsequent to the relevant week; and 
 (ii) that relevant week is a week in which the condition in sub-paragraph (4) is 

satisfied, 
 is to be reduced by the amount determined under sub-paragraph (5). 

 
(2) This sub-paragraph applies to a reduction week where the applicant satisfies the 

conditions that— 
(a) he is in receipt of a reduction under this scheme; and 
(b) but for paragraph 67(1), he would have received a greater reduction in council tax 

under this scheme in that week. 
 
(3) In a case to which sub-paragraph (2) applies, the amount of the reduction in the amount 

of capital he is treated as possessing for the purposes of sub-paragraph (1)(a) must be 
equal to the aggregate of— 
(a) an amount equal to the additional amount of the reduction in council tax to which 

sub-paragraph (2)(b) refers; 
(b) where the applicant has also claimed state pension credit, the amount of any state 

pension credit or any additional amount of state pension credit to which he would 
have been entitled in respect of the reduction week to which sub-paragraph (2) 
refers but for the application of regulation 21(1) of the State Pension Credit 
Regulations 2002 (notional capital); 

 
(c) where the applicant has also claimed housing benefit, the amount of any housing 

benefit or any additional amount of housing benefit to which he would have been 
entitled in respect of the whole or part of the reduction week to which sub-
paragraph (2) refers but for the application of regulation 47(1) of the Housing 
Benefit (Persons who have attained the qualifying age for state pension credit) 
Regulations 2006 (notional capital); 

(d) where the applicant has also claimed a jobseeker's allowance, the amount of an 
income-based jobseeker's allowance to which he would have been entitled in 
respect of the reduction week to which sub-paragraph (2) refers but for the 
application of regulation 113 of the Jobseeker's Allowance Regulations 1996 
(notional capital); and 

(e) where the applicant has also claimed an employment and support allowance, the 
amount of an income-related employment and support allowance to which he 
would have been entitled in respect of the reduction week to which sub-paragraph 
(2) refers but for the application of regulation 115 of the Employment and Support 
Allowance Regulations 2008 (notional capital). 

 
(4) Subject to sub-paragraph (7), for the purposes of sub-paragraph (1)(b) the condition is 

that the applicant is a pensioner and would have been entitled to a reduction in council 
tax under this scheme in the relevant week but for paragraph 67(1). 

 
(5) In such a case the amount of the reduction in the amount of capital he is treated as 

possessing for the purposes of sub-paragraph (1)(b) is equal to the aggregate of— 

Page 165



74 

(a) the amount of the reduction in council tax to which the applicant would have been 
entitled in the relevant week but for paragraph 67(1); 

(b) if the applicant would, but for regulation 21 of the State Pension Credit Regulations 
2002, have been entitled to state pension credit in respect of the benefit week, 
within the meaning of regulation 1(2) of those Regulations (interpretation), which 
includes the last day of the relevant week, the amount to which he would have 
been entitled; 

(c) if the applicant would, but for regulation 47(1) of the Housing Benefit (Persons who 
have attained the qualifying age for state pension credit) Regulations 2006, have 
been entitled to housing benefit or to an additional amount of housing benefit in 
respect of the benefit week which includes the last day of the relevant week, the 
amount which is equal to— 
(i) in a case where no housing benefit is payable, the amount to which he would 

have been entitled; or 
(ii) in any other case, the amount equal to the additional amount of housing 

benefit to which he would have been entitled; 
(d) if the applicant would, but for regulation 113 of the Jobseeker's Allowance 

Regulations 1996, have been entitled to an income-based jobseeker's allowance in 
respect of the benefit week, within the meaning of regulation 1(3) of those 
Regulations (interpretation), which includes the last day of the relevant week, the 
amount to which he would have been entitled; and 

(e) if the applicant would, but for regulation 115 of the Employment and Support 
Allowance Regulations 2008, have been entitled to an income-related employment 
and support allowance in respect of the benefit week, within the meaning of 
regulation 2(1) of those Regulations (interpretation), which includes the last day of 
the relevant week, the amount to which he would have been entitled. 

 
(6) But if the amount mentioned in paragraph (a), (b), (c), (d) or (e) of sub-paragraph (5) (“the 

relevant amount”) is in respect of a part-week, the amount that is to be taken into 
account under that paragraph is to be determined by— 
(a) dividing the relevant amount by the number equal to the number of days in that 

part-week, and 
(b) multiplying the result of that calculation by 7. 

 
(7) The amount determined under sub-paragraph (5) is to be re-determined under that sub-

paragraph if the applicant makes a further application and the conditions in sub-
paragraph (8) are satisfied, and in such a case— 

 (a) paragraphs (a) to (e) of sub-paragraph (5) apply as if for the words ““relevant 
week”” there were substituted the words ““relevant subsequent week””; and 

 (b) subject to sub-paragraph (9), the amount as re-determined has effect from the first 
week following the relevant subsequent week in question. 

 
(8) The conditions are that— 

(a) a further application is made 26 or more weeks after— 
 (i) the date on which the applicant made an application in respect of which he 

was first treated as possessing the capital in question under paragraph 67(1); 
 (ii) in a case where there has been at least one re-determination in accordance 

with sub-paragraph (11), the date on which he last made an application which 
resulted in the weekly amount being re-determined, or 

 (iii) the date on which he last ceased to be entitled to a reduction under this 
scheme, 

 whichever last occurred; and 
(b) the applicant would have been entitled to a reduction under this scheme but for 

paragraph 67(1). 
 
(9) The amount as re-determined pursuant to sub-paragraph (7) must not have effect if it is 

less than the amount which applied in that case immediately before the re-determination 

Page 166



75 

and in such a case the higher amount must continue to have effect. 
 
(10) For the purposes of this paragraph— 

“part-week”— 
(a) in relation to an amount mentioned in sub-paragraph (5)(a), means a period of less 

than a week for which a reduction in council tax under this scheme is allowed; 
(b) in relation to an amount mentioned in sub-paragraph (5)(b), means a period of less 

than a week for which housing benefit is payable; 
(c) in relation to an amount mentioned in sub-paragraph (5)(c), (d) or (e), means— 

(i) a period of less than a week which is the whole period for which income 
support, an income-related employment and support allowance or, as the case 
may be, an income-based jobseeker's allowance is payable; and 

(ii) any other period of less than a week for which it is payable; 
“relevant week” means the reduction week or part-week in which the capital in 

question of which the applicant has deprived himself within the meaning of 
paragraph 67(1)— 

(a) was first taken into account for the purpose of determining his entitlement to a 
reduction; or 

 (b) was taken into account on a subsequent occasion for the purpose of determining 
or re-determining his entitlement to a reduction on that subsequent occasion and 
that determination or re-determination resulted in his beginning to receive, or 
ceasing to receive, a reduction; 

  and where more than one reduction week is identified by reference to paragraphs (a) and 
(b) of this definition, the later or latest such reduction week or, as the case may be, the 
later or latest such part-week is the relevant week; 

 “relevant subsequent week” means the reduction week or part-week which includes the 
day on which the further application or, if more than one further application has been 
made, the last such application was made. 

 
69.0 Diminishing notional capital rule: persons who are not pensioners 

 
(1) Where an applicant who is not a pensioner is treated as possessing capital under 

paragraph 67(1) (notional capital), the amount which he is treated as possessing— 
(a) in the case of a week that is subsequent to— 

(i) the relevant week in respect of which the conditions set out in sub-paragraph (2) 
are satisfied; or 

(ii) a week which follows that relevant week and which satisfies those conditions, 
is to be reduced by an amount determined under sub-paragraph (3); 
(b) in the case of a week in respect of which sub-paragraph (1)(a) does not apply but 

where— 
 (i) that week is a week subsequent to the relevant week; and 

 
(ii) that relevant week is a week in which the condition in sub-paragraph (4) is 

satisfied, 
is to be reduced by the amount determined under sub-paragraph (5). 

 
(2) This sub-paragraph applies to a reduction week (or, in the case of persons who are not 

pensioners, part-week) where the applicant satisfies the conditions that— 
(a) he is in receipt of a reduction in council tax under this scheme; and 
(b) but for paragraph 67(1), he would have received a greater reduction in council tax 

under this scheme in that week. 
 
(3) In a case to which sub-paragraph (2) applies, the amount of the reduction in the amount 

of capital he is treated as possessing for the purposes of sub-paragraph (1)(a) is equal to 
the aggregate of— 
(a) an amount equal to the additional amount of the reduction in council tax to which 

sub-paragraph (2)(b) refers; 

Page 167



76 

(b) where the applicant has also claimed housing benefit, the amount of any housing 
benefit or any additional amount of that benefit to which he would have been 
entitled in respect of the whole or part of the reduction week to which sub-
paragraph (2) refers but for the application of regulation 49(1) of the Housing 
Benefit Regulations 2006 (notional capital); 

(c) where the applicant has also claimed income support, the amount of income 
support to which he would have been entitled in respect of the whole or part of the 
reduction week to which sub-paragraph (2) refers but for the application of 
regulation 51(1) of the Income Support (General) Regulations 1987 (notional 
capital); 

(d) where the applicant has also claimed a jobseeker's allowance, the amount of an 
income-based jobseeker's allowance to which he would have been entitled in 
respect of the whole or part of the reduction week to which sub-paragraph (2) 
refers but for the application of regulation 113 of the Jobseeker's Allowance 
Regulations 1996 (notional capital); and 

(e) where the applicant has also claimed an employment and support allowance, the 
amount of an income-related employment and support allowance to which he 
would have been entitled in respect of the whole or part of the reduction week to 
which sub-paragraph (2) refers but for the application of regulation 115 of the 
Employment and Support Allowance Regulations 2008 (notional capital). 

 
(4) Subject to sub-paragraph (7), for the purposes of sub-paragraph (1)(b) the condition is 

that the applicant is not a pensioner and would have been entitled to a reduction in 
council tax in the relevant week but for paragraph 67(1). 

 
(5) In such a case the amount of the reduction in the amount of capital he is treated as 

possessing must be equal to the aggregate of— 
(a) the amount of council tax benefit to which the applicant would have been entitled 

in the relevant week but for paragraph 67(1); 
(b) if the applicant would, but for regulation 49(1) of the Housing Benefit Regulations 

2006, have been entitled to housing benefit or to an additional amount of housing 
benefit in respect of the benefit week which includes the last day of the relevant 
week, the amount which is equal to— 

 (i) in a case where no housing benefit is payable, the amount to which he would 
have been entitled; or 

 (ii) in any other case, the amount equal to the additional amount of housing 
benefit to which he would have been entitled; 

(c) if the applicant would, but for regulation 51(1) of the Income Support (General) 
Regulations 1987, have been entitled to income support in respect of the benefit 
week, within the meaning of regulation 2(1) of those Regulations (interpretation), 
which includes the last day of the relevant week, the amount to which he would 
have been entitled; 

(d) if the applicant would, but for regulation 113 of the Jobseeker's Allowance 
Regulations 1996, have been entitled to an income-based jobseeker's allowance in 
respect of the benefit week, within the meaning of regulation 1(3) of those 
Regulations (interpretation), which includes the last day of the relevant week, the 
amount to which he would have been entitled; and 

(e) if the applicant would, but for regulation 115 of the Employment and Support 
Allowance Regulations 2008, have been entitled to an income-related employment 
and support allowance in respect of the benefit week, within the meaning of 
regulation 2(1) of those Regulations (interpretation), which includes the last day of 
the relevant week, the amount to which he would have been entitled. 

 
(6) But if the amount mentioned in paragraph (a), (b), (c), (d) or (e) of sub-paragraph (5) (“the 

relevant amount”) is in respect of a part-week, the amount that is to be taken into 
account under that paragraph is to be determined by— 
(a) dividing the relevant amount by the number equal to the number of days in that 

Page 168



77 

part-week, and 
(b) multiplying the result of that calculation by 7. 

 
(7) The amount determined under sub-paragraph (5) is to be re-determined under the 

appropriate sub-paragraph if the applicant makes a further application and the conditions 
in sub-paragraph (8) are satisfied, and in such a case— 
(a) paragraphs (a) to (e) of sub-paragraph (5) apply as if for the words ““relevant 

week”” there were substituted the words ““relevant subsequent week””; and 
(b) subject to sub-paragraph (9), the amount as re-determined has effect from the first 

week following the relevant subsequent week in question. 
 
(8) The conditions are that— 

(a) a further application is made 26 or more weeks after— 
(i) the date on which the applicant made an application for a reduction under this 

scheme in respect of which he was first treated as possessing the capital in 
question under paragraph 67(1); 

(ii) in a case where there has been at least one re-determination in accordance 
with sub-paragraph (7), the date on which he last made an application under 
this scheme which resulted in the weekly amount being re-determined, or 

(iii) the date on which he last ceased to be entitled to a reduction under this 
scheme, whichever last occurred; and 

 (b) the applicant would have been entitled to a reduction under this scheme but for 
paragraph 67(1). 

(9) The amount as re-determined pursuant to sub-paragraph (6) must not have effect if it is 
less than the amount which applied in that case immediately before the re-determination 
and in such a case the higher amount must continue to have effect. 

 
(10) For the purposes of this paragraph— 
“part-week” 

(a) in relation to an amount mentioned in sub-paragraph (5)(a), means a period of less 
than a week for which a reduction under this scheme is allowed; 

(b) in relation to an amount mentioned in sub-paragraph (5)(b), means a period of less 
than a week for which housing benefit is payable; 

(c) in relation to an amount mentioned in sub-paragraph (5)(c), (d) or (e), means— 
(i) a period of less than a week which is the whole period for which income 

support, an income-related employment and support allowance or, as the 
case may be, an income-based jobseeker's allowance is payable; and 

(ii) any other period of less than a week for which it is payable; 
 “relevant week” means the reduction week or part-week in which the capital in 

question of which the applicant has deprived himself within the meaning of paragraph 
67(1)— 

 (a) was first taken into account for the purpose of determining his entitlement to a 
reduction; or 

 (b) was taken into account on a subsequent occasion for the purpose of 
determining or re-determining his entitlement to a reduction on that subsequent 
occasion and that determination or re-determination resulted in his beginning to 
receive, or ceasing to receive, a reduction, and where more than one reduction 
week is identified by reference to paragraphs (a) and (b) of  this definition, the later 
or latest such reduction week or, as the case may be, the later or latest such part-
week is the relevant week; “relevant subsequent week” means the reduction week 
or part-week which includes the day on which the further application or, if more 
than one further application has been made, the last such application was made. 

 
70.0 Capital jointly held 

 
 Except where an applicant possesses capital which is disregarded under paragraph 67(7) 

(notional capital), where an applicant and one or more persons are beneficially entitled in 

Page 169



78 

possession to any capital asset they must be treated, in the absence of evidence to the 
contrary, as if each of them were entitled in possession to the whole beneficial interest therein 
in an equal share and the foregoing provisions of this Chapter apply for the purposes of 
calculating the amount of capital which the applicant is treated as possessing as if it were 
actual capital which the applicant does possess. 

 
71.0 Calculation of tariff income from capital: pensioners 

 
 The capital of an applicant who is a pensioner, calculated in accordance with this Part 107, is to 

be treated as if it were a weekly income of— 
(a) £1 for each £500 in excess of £10,000 but not exceeding £16,000; and 
(b) £1 for any excess which is not a complete £500. 

 
72.0 Calculation of tariff income from capital: persons who are not pensioners 

 The capital of an applicant who is not a pensioner, calculated in accordance with this Part 109, is 
to be treated as if it were a weekly income of— 
(a) £1 for each £250 in excess of £6,000 but not exceeding £16,000; 
(b) £1 for any excess which is not a complete £250.  

Page 170



79 

PART 11  Students 
 
CHAPTER  1  General 
 
73.0 Interpretation 

(1) In this Part— 
“academic year” means the period of twelve months beginning on 1st January, 1st April, 1st 

July or 1st September according to whether the course in question begins in the winter, 
the spring, the summer or the autumn respectively but if students are required to begin 
attending the course during August or September and to continue attending through the 
autumn, the academic year of the course is to be considered to begin in the autumn 
rather than the summer; 

“access funds” means 
(a) grants made under section 68 of the Further and Higher Education Act 1992 for the 

purpose of providing funds on a discretionary basis to be paid to students; 
(b) grants made under sections 73(a) and (c) and 74(1) of the Education (Scotland) Act 

1980; 
(c) grants made under Article 30 of the Education and Libraries (Northern Ireland) 

Order 1993 or grants, loans or other payments made under Article 5 of the Further 
Education (Northern Ireland) Order 1997 in each case being grants, or grants, loans 
or other payments as the case may be, for the purpose of assisting students in 
financial difficulties; 

(d) discretionary payments, known as “learner support funds”, which are made 
available to students in further education by institutions out of funds provided by 
the Secretary of State under section 14 of the Education Act 2002 under sections 
100 and 101 of the Apprenticeships, Skills, Children and Learning Act 2009; or 

(e) Financial Contingency Funds made available by the Welsh Ministers; 
“college of further education” means a college of further education within the meaning of 

Part 1 of the Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992; 
“contribution” means 

(a) any contribution in respect of the income of a student or any person which the 
Secretary of State, the Scottish Ministers or an education authority takes into 
account in ascertaining the amount of a student's grant or student loan; or 

(b) any sums, which in determining the amount of a student's allowance or bursary in 
Scotland under the Education (Scotland) Act 1980, the Scottish Ministers or 
education authority takes into account being sums which the Scottish Ministers or 
education authority considers that it is reasonable for the following persons to 
contribute towards the holder's expenses— 
(i) the holder of the allowance or bursary; 
(ii) the holder's parents; 
(iii) the holder's parent's spouse, civil partner or a person ordinarily living with the 

holder's parent as if he or she were the spouse or civil partner of that parent; 
or 

(iv) the holder's spouse or civil partner; 
 
“course of study” means any course of study, whether or not it is a sandwich course and 

whether or not a grant is made for attending or undertaking it; 
“covenant income” means the gross income payable to a full-time student under a Deed of 

Covenant by his parent; 
“education authority” means a government department, a local authority as defined in 

section 579 of the Education Act 1996 (interpretation), a local education authority as 
defined in section 123 of the Local Government (Scotland) Act 1973, an education and 
library board established under Article 3 of the Education and Libraries (Northern Ireland) 
Order 1986, any body which is a research council for the purposes of the Science and 
Technology Act 1965 or any analogous government department, authority, board or body, 
of the Channel Islands, Isle of Man or any other country outside Great Britain; 

Page 171



80 

“full-time course of study” means a full-time course of study which 
(a) is not funded in whole or in part by the Secretary of State under section 14 of the 

Education Act 2002, or under section 100 of the Apprenticeships, Skills, Children 
and Learning Act 2009 or by the Welsh Ministers or a full-time course of study 
which is not funded in whole or in part by the Scottish Ministers at a college of 
further education or a full-time course of study which is a course of higher 
education and is funded in whole or in part by the Scottish Ministers; 

(b) is funded in whole or in part by the Secretary of State under section 14 of the 
Education Act 2002, or under section 100 of the Apprenticeships, Skills, Children 
and Learning Act 2009 or by the Welsh Ministers if it involves more than 16 guided 
learning hours per week for the student in question, according to the number of 
guided learning hours per week for that student set out— 
(i) in the case of a course funded by the Secretary of in the student's learning 

agreement signed on behalf of the establishment which is funded by the 
Secretary of State for the delivery of that course; or 

(ii) in the case of a course funded by the Welsh Ministers, in a document signed on 
behalf of the establishment which is funded by that Council for the delivery of 
that course; or 

(c) is not higher education and is funded in whole or in part by the Scottish Ministers at 
a college of further education and involves— 

(i) more than 16 hours per week of classroom-based or workshop-based 
programmed learning under the direct guidance of teaching staff according to 
the number of hours set out in a document signed on behalf of the college; or 

(ii) 16 hours or less per week of classroom-based or workshop-based programmed 
learning under the direct guidance of teaching staff and additional hours using 
structured learning packages supported by the teaching staff where the 
combined total of hours exceeds 21 hours per week, according to the number 
of hours set out in a document signed on behalf of the college; 

“full-time student” means a person attending or undertaking a full-time course of study and 
includes a student on a sandwich course; 

“grant” (except in the definition of “access funds”) means any kind of educational grant or 
award and includes any scholarship, studentship, exhibition, allowance or bursary but 
does not include a payment from access funds or any payment to which paragraph 16 of 
Schedule 8 or paragraph 55 of Schedule 10 (allowances and payments for courses of 
study) applies; 

“grant income” means 
(a) any income by way of a grant; 
(b) any contribution whether or not it is paid; 

“higher education” means higher education within the meaning of Part 2 of the Further and 
Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992; 

“last day of the course” means 
(a) in the case of a qualifying course, the date on which the last day of that course falls 

or the date on which the final examination relating to that course is completed, 
whichever is the later; 

(b) in any other case, the date on which the last day of the final academic term falls in 
respect of the course in which the student is enrolled; 

“period of study” means 
(a) in the case of a course of study for one year or less, the period beginning with the 

start of the course and ending with the last day of the course; 
(b) in the case of a course of study for more than one year, in the first or, as the case 

may be, any subsequent year of the course, other than the final year of the course, 
the period beginning with the start of the course or, as the case may be, that year's 
start and ending with either— 
(i) the day before the start of the next year of the course in a case where the 

student's grant or loan is assessed at a rate appropriate to his studying 
throughout the year or, if he does not have a grant or loan, where a loan 
would have been assessed at such a rate had he had one; or 

Page 172



81 

(ii) in any other case, the day before the start of the normal summer vacation 
appropriate to his course; 

(c) in the final year of a course of study of more than one year, the period beginning 
with that year's start and ending with the last day of the course; 

“periods of experience” means periods of work experience which form part of a sandwich 
course; 

“qualifying course” means a qualifying course as defined for the purposes of Parts 2 and 4 of 
the Jobseeker's Allowance Regulations 1996; 

“sandwich course” has the meaning prescribed in regulation 2(9) of the Education (Student 
Support) Regulations 2008, regulation 4(2) of the Education (Student Loans) (Scotland) 
Regulations 2007 or regulation 2(8) of the Education (Student Support) Regulations 
(Northern Ireland) 2007, as the case may be; 

“standard maintenance grant” means 
(a) except where paragraph (b) or (c) applies, in the case of a student attending or 

undertaking a course of study at the University of London or an establishment 
within the area comprising the City of London and the Metropolitan Police District, 
the amount specified for the time being in paragraph 2(2)(a) of Schedule 2 to the 
Education (Mandatory Awards) Regulations 2003 (“the 2003 Regulations”) for such 
a student; 

(b) except where paragraph (c) applies, in the case of a student residing at his parent's 
home, the amount specified in paragraph 3 thereof; 

(c) in the case of a student receiving an allowance or bursary under the Education 
(Scotland) Act 1980, the amount of money specified as “standard maintenance 
allowance” for the relevant year appropriate for the student set out in the Student 
Support in Scotland Guide issued by the Student Awards Agency for Scotland, or its 
nearest equivalent in the case of a bursary provided by a college of further 
education or a local education authority; 

(d) in any other case, the amount specified in paragraph 2(2) of Schedule 2 to the 2003 
Regulations other than in sub-paragraph (a) or (b) thereof; 

“student” means a person, other than a person in receipt of a training allowance, who is 
attending or undertaking 
(a) a course of study at an educational establishment; or 
(b) a qualifying course; 

“student loan” means a loan towards a student's maintenance pursuant to any regulations 
made under section 22 of the Teaching and Higher Education Act 1998, section 73 of the 
Education (Scotland) Act 1980 or Article 3 of the Education (Student Support) (Northern 
Ireland) Order 1998 and includes, in Scotland, a young student's bursary paid under 
regulation 4(1)(c) of the Students’ Allowances (Scotland) Regulations 2007. 

 
(2) For the purposes of the definition of “full-time student” in sub-paragraph (1), a person 

must be regarded as attending or, as the case may be, undertaking a full-time course of 
study or as being on a sandwich course—(a) subject to sub-paragraph (3), in the case of 
a person attending or undertaking a part of a modular course which would be a full-
time course of study for the purposes of this Part, for the period beginning on the day 
on which that part of the course starts and ending— 
(i) on the last day on which he is registered with the educational establishment as 

attending or undertaking that part as a full-time course of study; or 
(ii) on such earlier date (if any) as he finally abandons the course or is dismissed from 

it; 
(b) in any other case, throughout the period beginning on the date on which he starts 

attending or undertaking the course and ending on the last day of the course or on 
such earlier date (if any) as he finally abandons it or is dismissed from it. 

 
(3) For the purposes of paragraph (a) of sub-paragraph (2), the period referred to in that 

paragraph includes— 
(a) where a person has failed examinations or has failed successfully to complete a 

module relating to a period when he was attending or undertaking a part of the 

Page 173



82 

course as a full-time course of study, any period in respect of which he attends or 
undertakes the course for the purpose of retaking those examinations or that 
module; 

(b) any period of vacation within the period specified in that paragraph or immediately 
following that period except where the person has registered with the educational 
establishment to attend or undertake the final module in the course and the 
vacation immediately follows the last day on which he is required to attend or 
undertake the course. 

 
(4) In sub-paragraph (2), “modular course” means a course of study which consists of two or 

more modules, the successful completion of a specified number of which is required 
before a person is considered by the educational establishment to have completed the 
course. 

 
74.0 Treatment of students 
 

 This scheme has effect in relation to students who are not pensioners subject to the following 
provisions of this Part. 

 
75.0 Students who are excluded from entitlement to a reduction under this scheme 

 
(1) The students who are excluded from entitlement to a reduction under this scheme are, 

subject to sub-paragraphs (2) and (7)— 
(a) full-time students, and 
(b) students who are persons treated as not being in Great Britain. 

 
(2) Sub-paragraph (1)(b) does not apply to a student— 

(a) who is a person on income support, an income-based jobseeker's allowance or an 
income-related employment and support allowance; 

(b) who is a lone parent; 
(c) whose applicable amount would, but for this paragraph, include the disability 

premium or severe disability premium; 
(d) whose applicable amount would include the disability premium but for his being 

treated as capable of work by virtue of a determination made in accordance with 
regulations made under section 171E of the SSCBA; 

(e) who is, or is treated as, incapable of work and has been so incapable, or has been so 
treated as incapable, of work in accordance with the provisions of, and regulations 
made under, Part 12A of the SSCBA (incapacity for work) for a continuous period of 
not less than 196 days; and for this purpose any two or more separate periods 
separated by a break of not more than 56 days must be treated as one continuous 
period; 

(f) who has, or is treated as having, limited capability for work and has had, or been 
treated as having, limited capability for work in accordance with the Employment 
and Support Allowance Regulations 2008 for a continuous period of not less than 
196 days, and for this purpose any two or more separate periods separated by a 
break of not more than 84 days must be treated as one continuous period; 

(g) who has a partner who is also a full-time student, if he or that partner is treated as 
responsible for a child or young person; 

(h) who is a single applicant with whom a child is placed by a local authority or 
voluntary organisation within the meaning of the Children Act 1989 or, in Scotland, 
boarded out within the meaning of the Social Work (Scotland) Act 1968; 

(i) who is— 
(i) aged under 21 and whose course of study is not a course of higher education, 
(ii) aged 21 and attained that age during a course of study which is not a course 

of higher education, or 
(iii) a qualifying young person or child within the meaning of section 142 of the 

SSCBA (child and qualifying young person); 

Page 174



83 

(j) in respect of whom— 
(i) a supplementary requirement has been determined under paragraph 9 of Part 

2 of Schedule 2 to the Education (Mandatory Awards) Regulations 2003; 
(ii) an allowance, or as the case may be, bursary has been granted which includes 

a sum under paragraph (1)(d) of regulation 4 of the Students’ Allowances 
(Scotland) Regulations 1999 or, as the case may be, under paragraph (1)(d) of 
regulation 4 of the Education Authority (Bursaries) (Scotland) Regulations 
1995, in respect of expenses incurred; 

 (iii) a payment has been made under or by virtue of regulations made under the 
Teaching and Higher Education Act 1998; 

 (iv) a grant has been made under regulation 13 of the Education (Student 
Support) Regulations 2005 or under regulation 13 of the Education (Student 
Support) Regulations (Northern Ireland) 2000; or 

 (v) a supplementary requirement has been determined under paragraph 9 of 
Schedule 6 to the Students Awards Regulations (Northern Ireland) 1999 or a 
payment has been made under Article 50(3) of the Education and Libraries 
(Northern Ireland) Order 1986, 

 on account of his disability by reason of deafness. 
 
(3) Sub-paragraph (2)(i)(ii) only applies to an applicant until the end of the course during 

which the applicant attained the age of 21. 
 
(4) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (2), once sub-paragraph (2)(e) applies to a full-time 

student, if he then ceases, for a period of 56 days or less, to be incapable, or to be treated 
as incapable, of work, that sub-paragraph must, on his again becoming so incapable, or so 
treated as incapable, of work at the end of that period, immediately thereafter apply to 
him for so long as he remains incapable or is treated as remaining incapable, of work. 

 
(5) In sub-paragraph (2)(i) the reference to a course of higher education is a reference to a 

course of any description mentioned in Schedule 6 to the Education Reform Act 1988. 
 
(6) A full-time student to whom sub-paragraph (2)(i) applies must be treated as satisfying that 

sub-paragraph from the date on which he made a request for the supplementary 
requirement, allowance, bursary or payment as the case may be. 

 
(7) Sub-paragraph (1)(b) does not apply to a full-time student for the period specified in sub-

paragraph (8) if— 
(a) at any time during an academic year, with the consent of the relevant educational 

establishment, he ceases to attend or undertake a course because he is— 
(i) engaged in caring for another person; or 
(ii) ill; 

(b) he has subsequently ceased to be engaged in caring for that person or, as the case 
may be, he has subsequently recovered from that illness; and 

(c) he is not eligible for a grant or a student loan in respect of the period specified in 
sub-paragraph (8). 

 
(8) The period specified for the purposes of sub-paragraph (7) is the period, not exceeding 

one year, beginning on the day on which he ceased to be engaged in caring for that 
person or, as the case may be, the day on which he recovered from that illness and ending 
on the day before— 
(a) the day on which he resumes attending or undertaking the course; or 
(b) the day from which the relevant educational establishment has agreed that he may 

resume attending or undertaking the course, 
  whichever first occurs. 
 
 

Page 175



84 

CHAPTER 2  Income 
76.0 Calculation of grant income 

 
(1) The amount of a student's grant income to be taken into account in assessing his income 

must, subject to sub-paragraphs (2) and (3), be the whole of his grant income. 
 
(2) There must be excluded from a student's grant income any payment— 

(a) intended to meet tuition fees or examination fees; 
(b) in respect of the student's disability; 
(c) intended to meet additional expenditure connected with term time residential study 

away from the student's educational establishment; 
(d) on account of the student maintaining a home at a place other than that at which 

he resides during his course; 
(e) on account of any other person but only if that person is residing outside the United 

Kingdom and there is no applicable amount in respect of him; 
(f) intended to meet the cost of books and equipment; 
(g) intended to meet travel expenses incurred as a result of his attendance on the 

course; 
(h) intended for the child care costs of a child dependant; 
(i) of higher education bursary for care leavers made under Part 3 of the Children Act 

1989. 
 
(3) Where a student does not have a student loan and is not treated as possessing such a 

loan, there must be excluded from the student's grant income— 
(a) the sum of £303 per academic year in respect of travel costs; and 
(b) the sum of £390 per academic year towards the costs of books and equipment, 
whether or not any such costs are incurred. 

 
(4) There must also be excluded from a student's grant income the grant for dependants 

known as the parents’ learning allowance paid pursuant to regulations made under Article 
3 of the Education (Student Support) (Northern Ireland) Order 1998 or section 22 of the 
Teaching and Higher Education Act 1998. 

 
(5) Subject to sub-paragraphs (6) and (7), a student's grant income must be apportioned— 

(a) subject to sub-paragraph (8), in a case where it is attributable to the period of study, 
equally between the weeks in that period beginning with the reduction week, the 
first day of which coincides with, or immediately follows, the first day of the period 
of study and ending with the reduction week, the last day of which coincides with, 
or immediately precedes, the last day of the period of study; 

(b) in any other case, equally between the weeks in the period beginning with the 
reduction week, the first day of which coincides with, or immediately follows, the 
first day of the period for which it is payable and ending with the reduction week, 
the last day of which coincides with, or immediately precedes, the last day of the 
period for which it is payable. 

 
(6) Any grant in respect of dependants paid under section 63(6) of the Health Services and 

Public Health Act 1968 (grants in respect of the provision of instruction to officers of 
hospital authorities) and any amount intended for the maintenance of dependants under 
Part 3 of Schedule 2 to the Education (Mandatory Awards) Regulations 2003 must be 
apportioned equally over the period of 52 weeks or, if there are 53 reduction weeks 
(including part-weeks) in the year, 53. 

 
(7) In a case where a student is in receipt of a student loan or where he could have acquired a 

student loan by taking reasonable steps but had not done so, any amount intended for 
the maintenance of dependants to which neither sub-paragraph (6) nor paragraph 80(2) 
(other amounts to be disregarded) applies, must be apportioned over the same period as 
the student's loan is apportioned or, as the case may be, would have been apportioned. 

Page 176



85 

 
(8) In the case of a student on a sandwich course, any periods of experience within the period 

of study must be excluded and the student's grant income must be apportioned equally 
between the weeks in the period beginning with the reduction week, the first day of 
which immediately follows the last day of the period of experience and ending with the 
reduction week, the last day of which coincides with, or immediately precedes, the last 
day of the period of study. 

 
77.0 Calculation of covenant income where a contribution is assessed 

 
(1) Where a student is in receipt of income by way of a grant during a period of study and a 

contribution has been assessed, the amount of his covenant income to be taken into 
account for that period and any summer vacation immediately following must be the 
whole amount of the covenant income less, subject to sub-paragraph (3), the amount of 
the contribution. 

 
(2) The weekly amount of the student's covenant must be determined— 

(a) by dividing the amount of income which falls to be taken into account under sub-
paragraph (1) by 52 or 53, whichever is reasonable in the circumstances; and 

(b) by disregarding £5 from the resulting amount. 
 
(3) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1), the contribution must be treated as increased by 

the amount (if any) by which the amount excluded under paragraph 76(2)(g) falls short of 
the amount specified in paragraph 7(2) of Schedule 2 to the Education (Mandatory 
Awards) Regulations 2003 (travel expenditure). 

 
78.0 Covenant income where no grant income or no contribution is assessed 

 
(1) Where a student is not in receipt of income by way of a grant the amount of his covenant 

income must be calculated as follows— 
(a) any sums intended for any expenditure specified in paragraph 76(2)(a) to (e) 

necessary as a result of his attendance on the course must be disregarded; 
(b) any covenant income, up to the amount of the standard maintenance grant, which 

is not so disregarded, must be apportioned equally between the weeks of the 
period of study; 

(c) there must be disregarded from the amount so apportioned the amount which 
would have been disregarded under paragraph 76(2)(f) and (3) had the student 
been in receipt of the standard maintenance grant; and 

(d) the balance, if any, must be divided by 52 or 53 whichever is reasonable in the 
circumstances and treated as weekly income of which £5 must be disregarded. 

 
(2) Where a student is in receipt of income by way of a grant and no contribution has been 

assessed, the amount of his covenanted income must be calculated in accordance with 
paragraphs (a) to (d) of sub-paragraph (1), except that— 
(a) the value of the standard maintenance grant must be abated by the amount of such 

grant income less an amount equal to the amount of any sums disregarded under 
paragraph 76(2)(a) to (e); and 

(b) the amount to be disregarded under sub-paragraph (1)(c) must be abated by an 
amount equal to the amount of any sums disregarded under paragraph 76(2)(f) and 
(g) and (3). 

 
79.0 Relationship with amounts to be disregarded under Schedule 8 

  
No part of a student's covenant income or grant income is to be disregarded under paragraph 19 

of Schedule 8 (disregard of certain charitable and voluntary, etc., payments). 
 
 

Page 177



86 

80.0 Other amounts to be disregarded 
 
(1) For the purposes of ascertaining income other than grant income, covenant income and 

loans treated as income in accordance with paragraph 81 (treatment of student loans), 
any amounts intended for any expenditure specified in paragraph 76(2) (calculation of 
grant income), necessary as a result of his attendance on the course must be disregarded. 

 
(2) But sub-paragraph (1) applies only if, and to the extent that, the necessary expenditure 

exceeds or is likely to exceed the amount of the sums disregarded under paragraph 76(2) 
or (3), 77(3), 78(1)(a) or (c) or 81(5) (calculation of grant income, covenant income and 
treatment of student loans) on like expenditure. 

 
81.0 Treatment of student loans 

 
(1) A student loan is to be treated as income. 
 
(2) In calculating the weekly amount of the loan to be taken into account as income— 

(a) in respect of a course that is of a single academic year's duration or less, a loan 
which is payable in respect of that period is to be apportioned equally between the 
weeks in the period beginning with— 
(i) except in a case where sub-paragraph (ii) applies, the reduction week, the first 

day of which coincides with, or immediately follows, the first day of the single 
academic year; 

(ii) where the student is required to start attending the course in August or where 
the course is less than an academic year's duration, the reduction week, the 
first day of which coincides with, or immediately follows, the first day of the 
course, 

 and ending with the reduction week, the last day of which coincides with, or 
immediately precedes, the last day of the course; 

(b) in respect of an academic year of a course which starts other than on 1st 
September, a loan which is payable in respect of that academic year is to be 
apportioned equally between the weeks in the period— 
(i) beginning with the reduction week, the first day of which coincides with or 

immediately follows, the first day of that academic year, and 
(ii) ending with the reduction week, the last day of which coincides with or 

immediately precedes, the last day of that academic year, 
 but excluding any reduction weeks falling entirely within the quarter during which, in 

the opinion of the authority, the longest of any vacation is taken and for the purposes 
of this paragraph, “quarter” has the same meaning as for the purposes of the Education 
(Student Support) Regulations 2005; 
(c) in respect of the final academic year of a course (not being a course of a single year's 

duration), a loan which is payable in respect of that final academic year is to be 
apportioned equally between the weeks in the period beginning with— 

  (i) except in a case where sub-paragraph (ii) applies, the reduction week, the first 
day of  which coincides with, or immediately follows, the first day of that 
academic year; 

  (ii) where the final academic year starts on 1st September, the reduction week, the 
first day  of which coincides with, or immediately follows, the earlier of 1st 
September or the first day  of the autumn term, 

 
 and ending with the reduction week, the last day of which coincides with, or 

immediately precedes, the last day of the course; 
 

(d) in any other case, the loan is to be apportioned equally between the weeks in the 
period beginning with the earlier of— 
(i) the first day of the first reduction week in September; or 
(ii) the reduction week, the first day of which coincides with, or immediately 

Page 178



87 

follows the first day of the autumn term, 
 and ending with the reduction week, the last day of which coincides with, or 

immediately precedes, the last day of June, 
 and, in all cases, from the weekly amount so apportioned £10 is to be disregarded. 
 
(3) A student is to be treated as possessing a student loan in respect of an academic year 

where— 
(a) a student loan has been made to him in respect of that year; or 
 
(b) he could acquire such a loan in respect of that year by taking reasonable steps to do 

so. 
 
(4) Where a student is treated as possessing a student loan under sub-paragraph (3), the 

amount of the student loan to be taken into account as income must be, subject to sub-
paragraph (5)— 
(a) in the case of a student to whom a student loan is made in respect of an academic 

year, a sum equal to— 
(i) the maximum student loan he is able to acquire in respect of that year by 

taking reasonable steps to do so; and 
(ii) any contribution whether or not it has been paid to him; 

(b) in the case of a student to whom a student loan is not made in respect of an 
academic year, the maximum student loan that would be made to the student if— 
(i) he took all reasonable steps to obtain the maximum student loan he is able to 

acquire in respect of that year; and 
(ii) no deduction in that loan was made by virtue of the application of a means 

test. 
 
(5) There must be deducted from the amount of income taken into account under sub-

paragraph (4)— 
(a) the sum of £303 per academic year in respect of travel costs; and 
(b) the sum of £390 per academic year towards the cost of books and equipment, 
whether or not any such costs are incurred. 

 
(6) A loan for fees, known as a fee loan or a fee contribution loan, made pursuant to 

regulations made under Article 3 of the Education (Student Support) (Northern Ireland) 
Order 1998, section 22 of the Teaching and Higher Education Act 1998 or section 73(f) of 
the Education (Scotland) Act 1980, shall be disregarded as income. 

 
 
82.0 Treatment of payments from access funds 

 
(1) This paragraph applies to payments from access funds that are not payments to which 

paragraph 85(2) or (3) (income treated as capital) applies. 
 
(2) A payment from access funds, other than a payment to which sub-paragraph (3) applies, 

must be disregarded as income. 
 
(3) Subject to sub-paragraph (4) of this paragraph and paragraph 40 of Schedule 8 (disregards 

in the calculation of income other than earnings: persons who are not pensioners)— 
(a) any payments from access funds which are intended and used for an item of food, 

ordinary clothing or footwear, household fuel, or rent of a single applicant or, as the 
case may be, of the applicant or any other member of his family, and 

(b) any payments from access funds which are used for any council tax or water charges 
for which that applicant or member is liable, 

must be disregarded as income to the extent of £20 per week. 
 
(4) Where a payment from access funds is made— 

Page 179



88 

(a) on or after 1st September or the first day of the course, whichever first occurs, but 
before receipt of any student loan in respect of that year and that payment is 
intended for the purpose of bridging the period until receipt of the student loan; or 

(b) before the first day of the course to a person in anticipation of that person 
becoming a student, 

that payment must be disregarded as income. 
 

83.0 Disregard of contribution 
 
 Where the applicant or his partner is a student and, for the purposes of assessing a 

contribution to the student's grant or student loan, the other partner's income has been taken 
into account, an amount equal to that contribution must be disregarded for the purposes of 
assessing that other partner's income. 

 
84.0 Further disregard of student's income 

 
 Where any part of a student's income has already been taken into account for the purposes of 

assessing his entitlement to a grant or student loan, the amount taken into account must be 
disregarded in assessing that student's income. 

 
85.0 Income treated as capital 

 
(1) Any amount by way of a refund of tax deducted from a student's covenant income must 

be treated as capital. 
 
(2) An amount paid from access funds as a single lump sum must be treated as capital. 
 
(3) An amount paid from access funds as a single lump sum which is intended and used for an 

item other than food, ordinary clothing or footwear, household fuel or rent, or which is 
used for an item other than any council tax or water charges for which that applicant or 
member is liable, must be disregarded as capital but only for a period of 52 weeks from 
the date of the payment. 

 
86.0 Disregard of changes occurring during summer vacation 

  
 In calculating a student's income the authority must disregard any change in the standard 

maintenance grant, occurring in the recognised summer vacation appropriate to the student's 
course, if that vacation does not form part of his period of study from the date on which the 
change occurred to the end of that vacation. 

 

Page 180



89 

PART 12 Extended reductions 
 
CHAPTER 1 Extended reductions: pensioners 

 
87.0 Extended reductions: pensioners 

 
Paragraphs 88 to 93 apply in relation to applicants who are pensioners. 
 

88.0 Extended reductions (qualifying contributory benefits): pensioners 
 
(1) Except in the case of an applicant who is in receipt of state pension credit, an applicant 

who is entitled to a reduction under this scheme by virtue of falling within any of classes A 
to C is entitled to an extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits) where— 
(a) the applicant or the applicant's partner was entitled to a qualifying contributory 

benefit; 
(b) entitlement to a qualifying contributory benefit ceased because the applicant or the 

applicant's partner— 
(i) commenced employment as an employed or self-employed earner; 
(ii) increased their earnings from such employment; or 
(iii) increased the number of hours worked in such employment, 

 and that employment is or, as the case may be, those increased earnings or 
increased number of hours are expected to last five weeks or more; 

(c) the applicant or the applicant's partner had been entitled to and in receipt of a 
qualifying contributory benefit or a combination of qualifying contributory benefits 
for a continuous period of at least 26 weeks before the day on which the 
entitlement to a qualifying contributory benefit ceased; and 

 
(d) the applicant or the applicant's partner was not entitled to and not in receipt of a 

qualifying income-related benefit in the last reduction week in which the applicant, 
or the applicant's partner, was entitled to a qualifying contributory benefit. 

 
(2) An applicant must be treated as entitled to a reduction under this scheme by virtue of 

falling within any of classes A to C where— 
(a) the applicant ceased to be entitled to a reduction under this scheme because the 

applicant vacated the dwelling in which the applicant was resident; 
(b) the day on which the applicant vacated the dwelling was either in the week in which 

entitlement to a qualifying contributory benefit ceased, or in the preceding week; 
and 

(c) entitlement to the qualifying contributory benefit ceased in any of the 
circumstances listed in sub-paragraph (1)(b). 

 
89.0 Duration of extended reduction period (qualifying contributory benefits): pensioners 

 
(1) Where an applicant is entitled to an extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits), 

the extended reduction period starts on the first day of the reduction week immediately 
following the reduction week in which the applicant, or the applicant's partner, ceased to 
be entitled to a qualifying contributory benefit. 

 
(2) For the purpose of sub-paragraph (1), an applicant or an applicant's partner ceases to be 

entitled to a qualifying contributory benefit on the day immediately following the last day 
of entitlement to that benefit. 

 
(3) The extended reduction period ends— 

(a) at the end of a period of four weeks; or 
(b) on the date on which the applicant who is receiving the extended reduction 

(qualifying contributory benefits) has no liability for council tax, if that occurs first. 

Page 181



90 

 
90.0 Amount of extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits): pensioners 

 
(1) For any week during the extended reduction period the amount of the extended 

reduction (qualifying contributory benefits) the applicant is entitled to is the greater of— 
(a) the amount of council tax reduction to which the applicant was entitled by virtue of 

falling within any of classes A to C in the last reduction week before the applicant or 
the applicant's partner ceased to be entitled to a qualifying contributory benefit; 

(b) the amount of reduction under this scheme to which the applicant would be 
entitled under by virtue of falling within any of classes A to C for any reduction week 
during the extended reduction period, if paragraph 88 (extended reductions 
(qualifying contributory benefits): pensioners) did not apply to the applicant; or 

(c) the amount of reduction under this scheme to which the applicant's partner would 
be entitled by virtue of falling within any of classes A to C, if paragraph 88 did not 
apply to the applicant. 

 
(2) Sub-paragraph (1) does not apply in the case of a mover. 
 
(3) Where an applicant is in receipt of an extended reduction (qualifying contributory 

benefits) under this paragraph and the applicant's partner makes an application for a 
reduction under this scheme, the authority must not award a reduction in pursuance of 
that application during the extended reduction period. 

 
91.0 Extended reductions (qualifying contributory benefits)—movers: pensioners 

 
(1) This paragraph applies— 

(a) to a mover; and 
(b) from the Monday following the day of the move. 

 
(2) The amount of the extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits) awarded from 

the Monday from which this paragraph applies until the end of the extended reduction 
period is to be the amount of reduction under this scheme which was payable to the 
mover for the last reduction week before the mover, or the mover's partner, ceased to be 
entitled to a qualifying contributory benefit. 

 
(3) Where a mover's liability to pay council tax in respect of the new dwelling is to a second 

authority, the extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits) may take the form of 
a payment from this authority to— 
(a) the second authority; or 
(b) the mover directly. 

 
92.0 Relationship between extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits) and entitlement 
to a reduction by virtue of classes A to C 

 
(1) Where an applicant's reduction under this scheme would have ended when the applicant 

ceased to be entitled to a qualifying contributory benefit in the circumstances listed in 
paragraph 88(1)(b), that reduction does not cease to have effect until the end of the 
extended reduction period. 

 
(2) Part 13 (when entitlement begins and change of circumstances) does not apply to any 

extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits) payable in accordance with 
paragraph 90(1)(a) or paragraph 91(2) (amount of extended reduction — movers: 
pensioners). 

 
 
 

Page 182



91 

93.0 Continuing reductions where state pension credit claimed: pensioners 
 
(1) This paragraph applies where— 

(a) the applicant is entitled to a reduction under this scheme; 
(b) sub-paragraph (2) is satisfied; and 
(c) either— 

(i) the applicant has attained the qualifying age for state pension credit or, [up to 
and including 5th December 2018] if his entitlement to income-based 
jobseeker's allowance or income-related employment and support allowance 
continued beyond that age, has attained the age of 65; or 

(ii) the applicant's partner has actually claimed state pension credit. 
 
(2) This sub-paragraph is only satisfied if the Secretary of State has certified to the authority 

that the applicant's partner has actually claimed state pension credit or that— 
(a) the applicant's award of— 

(i) income support has terminated because the applicant has attained the 
qualifying age for state pension credit; or 

(ii) income-based jobseeker's allowance or income-related employment and 
support allowance has terminated because the applicant has attained the 
qualifying age for state pension credit or [up to and including 5th December 
2018] the age of 65; and 

(b) the applicant has claimed or is treated as having claimed or is required to make a 
claim for state pension credit. 

 
(3) Subject to sub-paragraph (4), in a case to which this paragraph applies, a person continues 

to be entitled to a reduction under this scheme for the period of 4 weeks beginning on 
the day following the day the applicant's entitlement to income support or, as the case 
may be, income-based jobseeker's allowance, income-related employment and support 
allowance, ceased, if and for so long as the applicant otherwise satisfies the conditions for 
entitlement to a reduction under this scheme. 

 
(4) Where a reduction under this scheme is awarded for the period of 4 weeks in accordance 

with sub-paragraph (3) above, and the last day of that period falls on a day other than the 
last day of a reduction week, then a reduction under this scheme must continue to be 
awarded until the end of the reduction week in which the last day of that period falls. 

 
(5) Throughout the period of 4 weeks specified in sub-paragraph (3) and any further period 

specified in sub-paragraph (4)— 
(a) the whole of the income and capital of the applicant is to be disregarded; 
(b) the maximum council tax reduction amount of the applicant is to be that which was 

applicable in his case immediately before that period commenced. 
 
(6) The maximum reduction is to be calculated in accordance with paragraph 29(1) if, since 

the date it was last calculated— 
(a) the applicant's council tax liability has increased; or 
(b) a change in the deduction under paragraph 30 falls to be made. 

 
CHAPTER 2 Extended reductions: persons who are not pensioners 
 
94.0 Extended reductions: persons who are not pensioners 

 
Paragraphs 95 to 104 apply in relation to applicants who are not pensioners. 
 

95.0 Extended reductions: persons who are not pensioners 
 
(1) An applicant who is entitled to a reduction under this scheme by virtue of falling within 

Page 183



92 

any of classes D to F is entitled to an extended reduction where— 
(a) the applicant or the applicant's partner was entitled to a qualifying income-related 

benefit; 
(b) entitlement to a qualifying income-related benefit ceased because the applicant or 

the applicant's partner— 
(i) commenced employment as an employed or self-employed earner; 
(ii) increased their earnings from such employment; or 
(iii) increased the number of hours worked in such employment, 
 and that employment is or, as the case may be, those increased earnings or 

increased number of hours are expected to last five weeks or more; and 
(c) the applicant or the applicant's partner had been entitled to and in receipt of a 

qualifying income-related benefit, jobseeker's allowance or a combination of those 
benefits for a continuous period of at least 26 weeks before the day on which the 
entitlement to a qualifying income-related benefit ceased. 

 
(2) For the purpose of sub-paragraph (1)(c), an applicant or an applicant's partner is to be 

treated as having been entitled to and in receipt of a qualifying income-related benefit or 
jobseeker's allowance during any period of less than five weeks in respect of which the 
applicant or the applicant's partner was not entitled to any of those benefits because the 
applicant or the applicant's partner was engaged in remunerative work as a consequence 
of their participation in an employment zone programme. 

 
(3) For the purpose of this paragraph, where an applicant or an applicant's partner is entitled 

to and in receipt of joint-claim jobseeker's allowance they must be treated as being 
entitled to and in receipt of jobseeker's allowance. 

 
(4) An applicant must be treated as entitled to a reduction under this scheme by virtue of 

falling within any of classes D to F where— 
(a) the applicant ceased to be entitled to a reduction under this scheme because the 

applicant vacated the dwelling in which the applicant was resident; 
(b) the day on which the applicant vacated the dwelling was either in the week in which 

entitlement to a qualifying income-related benefit ceased, or in the preceding week; 
and 

(c) entitlement to the qualifying income-related benefit ceased in any of the 
circumstances listed in sub-paragraph (1)(b). 

 
(5) This paragraph does not apply where, on the day before an applicant's entitlement to 

income support ceased, regulation 6(5) of the Income Support (General) Regulations 1987 
(remunerative work: housing costs) applied to that applicant. 

 
96.0 Duration of extended reduction period: persons who are not pensioners 

 
(1) Where an applicant is entitled to an extended reduction, the extended reduction period 

starts on the first day of the reduction week immediately following the reduction week in 
which the applicant, or the applicant's partner, ceased to be entitled to a qualifying 
income-related benefit. 

 
(2) For the purpose of sub-paragraph (1), an applicant or an applicant's partner ceases to be 

entitled to a qualifying income-related benefit on the day immediately following the last 
day of entitlement to that benefit. 

 
(3) The extended reduction period ends— 

(a) at the end of a period of four weeks; or 
(b) on the date on which the applicant to whom the extended reduction is payable has 

no liability for council tax, if that occurs first. 
 
 

Page 184



93 

97.0 Amount of extended reduction: persons who are not pensioners 
 
(1) For any week during the extended reduction period the amount of the extended 

reduction to which an applicant is entitled is to be the higher of— 
(a) the amount of the reduction under this scheme to which the applicant was entitled 

by virtue of falling within any of classes D to F in the last reduction week before the 
applicant or the applicant's partner ceased to be entitled to a qualifying income-
related benefit; 

(b) the amount of reduction under this scheme to which the applicant would be 
entitled by virtue of falling within any of classes D to F for any reduction week 
during the extended reduction period, if paragraph 95 (extended reductions: 
persons who are not pensioners) did not apply to the applicant; or 

(c) the amount of reduction under this scheme to which the applicant's partner would 
be entitled by virtue of falling within any of classes D to F, if paragraph 95 did not 
apply to the applicant. 

 
(2) Sub-paragraph (1) does not apply in the case of a mover. 
 
(3) Where an applicant is in receipt of an extended reduction under this paragraph and the 

applicant's partner makes an application for a reduction under this scheme, no amount of 
reduction under this scheme is to be awarded by the authority during the extended 
reduction period. 

 
98.0 Extended reductions—movers: persons who are not pensioners 

 
(1) This paragraph applies— 

(a) to a mover; and 
(b) from the Monday following the day of the move. 

 
(2) The amount of the extended reduction awarded from the Monday from which this 

paragraph applies until the end of the extended reduction period is to be the amount of 
reduction under this scheme to which the mover would have been entitled had they, or 
their partner, not ceased to be entitled to a qualifying income-related benefit. 

 
(3) Where a mover's liability to pay council tax in respect of the new dwelling is to a second 

authority, the extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits) may take the form of 
a payment from this authority to— 
(a) the second authority; or 
(b) the mover directly. 

 
 
99.0 Relationship between extended reduction and entitlement to a reduction by virtue of classes D 
to F 

 
(1) Where an applicant's entitlement to a reduction under this scheme would have ended 

when the applicant ceased to be entitled to a qualifying income-related benefit in the 
circumstances listed in paragraph 95(1)(b), that entitlement does not cease until the end 
of the extended reduction period. 

 
(2) Paragraphs 106 and 107 do not apply to any extended reduction payable in accordance 

with paragraph 95(1)(a) or 98(2) (amount of extended reduction—movers: persons who 
are not pensioners). 

 
100.0— Extended reductions (qualifying contributory benefits): persons who are not pensioners 

 
(1) An applicant who is entitled to a reduction under this scheme by virtue of falling within 

any of classes D to F is entitled to an extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits) 

Page 185



94 

where— 
(a) the applicant or the applicant's partner was entitled to a qualifying contributory 

benefit; 
(b) entitlement to a qualifying contributory benefit ceased because the applicant or the 

applicant's partner— 
(i) commenced employment as an employed or self-employed earner; 
(ii) increased their earnings from such employment; or 
(iii) increased the number of hours worked in such employment, 

 and that employment is or, as the case may be, those increased earnings or 
increased number of hours are expected to last five weeks or more; 

(c) the applicant or the applicant's partner had been entitled to and in receipt of a 
qualifying contributory benefit or a combination of qualifying contributory benefits 
for a continuous period of at least 26 weeks before the day on which the 
entitlement to a qualifying contributory benefit ceased; and 

(d) the applicant or the applicant's partner was not entitled to and not in receipt of a 
qualifying income-related benefit in the last reduction week in which the applicant, 
or the applicant's partner, was entitled to a qualifying contributory benefit. 

 
(2) An applicant must be treated as entitled to a reduction under this scheme by virtue of 

falling within any of classes D to F where— 
(a) the applicant ceased to be entitled to a reduction under this scheme because the 

applicant vacated the dwelling in which the applicant was resident; 
(b) the day on which the applicant vacated the dwelling was either in the week in which 

entitlement to a qualifying contributory benefit ceased, or in the preceding week; 
and 

(c) entitlement to the qualifying contributory benefit ceased in any of the 
circumstances listed in sub-paragraph (1)(b). 

 
101.0 Duration of extended reduction period (qualifying contributory benefits): persons who are 
not pensioners 

 
(1) Where an applicant is entitled to an extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits), 

the extended reduction period starts on the first day of the reduction week immediately 
following the reduction week in which the applicant, or the applicant's partner, ceased to 
be entitled to a qualifying contributory benefit. 

 
(2) For the purpose of sub-paragraph (1), an applicant or an applicant's partner ceases to be 

entitled to a qualifying contributory benefit on the day immediately following the last day 
of entitlement to that benefit. 

 
(3) The extended reduction period ends— 

(a) at the end of a period of four weeks; or 
(b) on the date on which the applicant entitled to the extended reduction (qualifying 

contributory benefits) has no liability for council tax, if that occurs first. 
 

102.0— Amount of extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits): persons who are not 
pensioners 

 
(1) For any week during the extended reduction period the amount of the extended 

reduction (qualifying contributory benefits) payable to an applicant is to be the greater 
of— 
(a) the amount of reduction under this scheme to which the applicant was entitled by 

virtue of falling within any of classes D to F in the last reduction week before the 
applicant or the applicant's partner ceased to be entitled to a qualifying 
contributory benefit; 

(b) the amount of reduction under this scheme to which the applicant would be 
entitled by virtue of falling within any of classes D to F for any reduction week 

Page 186



95 

during the extended reduction period, if paragraph 100 (extended reductions 
(qualifying contributory benefits): persons who are not pensioners) did not apply to 
the applicant; or 

(c) the amount of reduction under this scheme to which the applicant's partner would 
be entitled by virtue of falling within any of classes D to F, if paragraph 100 did not 
apply to the applicant. 

 
(2) Sub-paragraph (1) does not apply in the case of a mover. 
(3) Where an applicant is in receipt of an extended reduction (qualifying contributory 

benefits) under this paragraph and the applicant's partner makes an application for a 
reduction under this scheme, no amount of reduction may be allowed by the appropriate 
authority during the extended reduction period. 

 
103.0 Extended reductions (qualifying contributory benefits)—movers: persons who are not 
pensioners 

 
(1) This paragraph applies— 

(a) to a mover; and 
(b) from the Monday following the day of the move. 

 
(2) The amount of the extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefit) payable from the 

Monday from which this paragraph applies until the end of the extended reduction period 
is to be the amount of reduction under this scheme which was awarded to the mover for 
the last reduction week before the mover, or the mover's partner, ceased to be entitled 
to a qualifying contributory benefit. 

 
(3) Where a mover's liability to pay council tax in respect of the new dwelling is to a second 

authority, the extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits) may take the form of 
a payment from this authority to— 
(a) the second authority; or 
(b) the mover directly. 

 
104.0 Relationship between extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits) and entitlement 
to reduction by virtue of classes D to F 

 
(1) Where an applicant's reduction under this scheme would have ended when the applicant 

ceased to be entitled to a qualifying contributory benefit in the circumstances listed in 
paragraph 100(1)(b), that reduction does not cease until the end of the extended 
reduction period. 

 
(2) Paragraphs 106 and 107 (dates on which entitlement begins and change of circumstances 

take effect) do not apply to any extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits) 
payable in accordance with paragraph 102(1)(a) or 103(2) (amount of extended 
reduction—movers: persons who a re not pensioners). 

 
CHAPTER 3 Extended reductions: movers in the authority's area 
105.0 Extended reductions: applicant moving into the authority's area 

 
Where— 
(a) an application is made to the authority (“the current authority”) for a reduction under 

this scheme, and 
(b) the applicant, or the partner of the applicant, is in receipt of an extended reduction 

from— 
(i) another billing authority in England; or 
(ii) a billing authority in Wales, 

 the current authority must reduce any reduction to which the applicant is entitled under this 

Page 187



96 

scheme by the amount of that extended reduction. 

Page 188



97 

PART 13 When entitlement begins and change of circumstances 
 
106.0 Date on which entitlement begins 

 
(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), any person by whom or in respect of whom an application 

for a reduction under this scheme is made and who is otherwise entitled to that reduction 
is so entitled from the reduction week following the date on which that application is 
made or is treated as made. 

 
(2) Where a person is otherwise entitled to a reduction under this scheme and becomes 

liable for the first time for the authority's council tax in respect of a dwelling of which he 
is a resident in the reduction week in which his application is made or is treated as made, 
he is so entitled from that reduction week. 

 
107.0 Date on which change of circumstances is to take effect 

 
(1) Except in cases where paragraph 60 (disregard of changes in tax, contributions, etc.) 

applies and subject to Paragraph 107A and the following provisions of this paragraph and 
(in the case of applicants who are pensioners) paragraph 108 (change of circumstance 
where state pension credit in payment), a change of circumstances which affects 
entitlement to, or the amount of, a reduction under this scheme (“change of 
circumstances”), takes effect from the first day of the reduction week following the date 
on which the change actually occurs. 

 
(2) Where that change is cessation of entitlement to any benefit under the benefit Acts, the 

date on which the change actually occurs is the day immediately following the last day of 
entitlement to that benefit. 

 
(3) Subject to sub-paragraph (4), where the change of circumstances is a change in the 

amount of council tax payable, it takes effect from the day on which it actually occurs. 
 
(4) Where the change of circumstances is a change in the amount a person is liable to pay in 

respect of council tax in consequence of regulations under section 13 of the 1992 Act 
(reduced amounts of council tax) or changes in the discount to which a dwelling may be 
subject under section 11 or 11A of that Act (discounts), it takes effect from the day on 
which the change in amount has effect. 

 
(5) Where the change of circumstances is the applicant's acquisition of a partner, the change 

takes effect on the day on which the acquisition takes place. 
 
(6) Where the change of circumstances is the death of an applicant's partner or their 

separation, it takes effect on the day the death or separation occurs. 
 
(7) If two or more changes of circumstances occurring in the same reduction week would, but 

for this paragraph, take effect in different reduction weeks in accordance with sub-
paragraphs (1) to (6) they take effect from the day to which the appropriate sub-
paragraph from (3) to (6) above refers, or, where more than one day is concerned, from 
the earlier day. 

 
(8) Where the change of circumstances is that income, or an increase in the amount of 

income, other than a benefit or an increase in the amount of a benefit under the SSCBA, is 
paid in respect of a past period and there was no entitlement to income of that amount 
during that period, the change of circumstances takes effect from the first day on which 
such income, had it been paid in that period at intervals appropriate to that income, 
would have fallen to be taken into account for the purposes of this scheme. 

 

Page 189



98 

(9) Without prejudice to sub-paragraph (8), where the change of circumstances is the 
payment of income, or arrears of income, in respect of a past period, the change of 
circumstances takes effect from the first day on which such income, had it been timeously 
paid in that period at intervals appropriate to that income, would have fallen to be taken 
into account for the purposes of this scheme. 

 
(9)(a) with effect from 6th December 2018, sub paragraphs 10, 11, 12 and 13 apply only to 

persons who have attained pensionable age 
  
(10) Sub-paragraph (11) applies if - 

(a) [up to and including 5th December 2018] the applicant or his partner has attained the 
age of 65; and 
(b) either— 

(i) a non-dependant took up residence in the applicant's dwelling; or 
(ii) there has been a change of circumstances in respect of a non-dependant so 

that the amount of the deduction which falls to be made under paragraph 30 
increased. 

 
(11) Where this sub-paragraph applies, the change of circumstances referred to in sub-

paragraph (10)(b) takes effect from the effective date. 
 
(12) In sub-paragraph (11), but subject to sub-paragraph (13), “the effective date” means 

(a) where more than one change of a kind referred to in sub-paragraph (10)(b) relating 
to the same non-dependant has occurred since— 
(i) the date on which the applicant's entitlement to a reduction under this 

scheme first began; or 
(ii) the date which was the last effective date in respect of such a change, 
whichever is the later, the date which falls 26 weeks after the date on which the 

first such change occurred; 
(b) where paragraph (a) does not apply, the date which falls 26 weeks after the date on 

which the change referred to in sub-paragraph (10)(b) occurred. 
 
(13) If in any particular case the date determined under sub-paragraph (12) is not the first day of 
a reduction week, the effective date in that case is to be the first day of the next reduction week 
to commence after the date determined under that sub-paragraph.  
 
(14) Where the Relevant Benefit rule applies, the change shall take effect from the date on which 
entitlement arises to the relevant benefit or to an increase in the rate of that relevant benefit. 

 
107A When beneficial changes of circumstances take effect 

 (1) for the purposes of determining the date on which a new decision is to take effect, in a case 
where- 

(a) the change of circumstances is a change of circumstances that is required by regulations to 
be notified; and 
(b) that change of circumstances is notified more than one month after it occurs, or such longer 
period as may be allowed under regulation 107B; and  
(c) the new decision is advantageous to the claimant,  

 
the date of notification of the change of circumstances shall be treated as the date on which the 
change of circumstances occurred. 
 

107B Conditions for accepting a delay in notification of a change 
 (1) For the purposes of making a decision under regulation 107A (1), a longer period of time may 
be allowed for the notification of a change of circumstances in so far as it affects the effective 
date of the change where the conditions specified in the following provisions of this regulation 
are satisfied.  
(2) An application for the purposes of paragraph (1) shall  

Page 190



99 

(a) include particulars of the change of circumstances and the reasons for the failure to notify 
the change of circumstances on an earlier date and  
(b) be made within 13 months of the date on which the change occurred. 

(3) An application for the purposes of paragraph (1) shall not be granted unless the appropriate 
relevant authority is satisfied that- 

(a) it is reasonable to grant the application; 
(b) the change of circumstances notified by the applicant is relevant to the decision which is to 
be superseded; and  
(c) special circumstances are relevant and as a result of those special circumstances it was not 
practicable for the applicant to notify the change of circumstances within one month of the 
change occurring.  

(4) In determining whether it is reasonable to grant the application, the appropriate relevant 
authority shall have regard to the principle that the greater the amount of time that has elapsed 
between the date one month after the change of circumstances occurred and the date the 
application for a superseding decision is made, the more compelling should be the special 
circumstances on which the application is based.  
(5) In determining whether it is reasonable to grant an application, no account shall be taken of 
the following- 

(a) that the applicant was unaware of, or misunderstood, the law applicable to his case 
(including ignorance or misunderstanding of the time limits imposed by these Regulations); or  
(b) that the Upper Tribunal or a court has taken a different view of the law from that previously 
understood and applied.  

(6) An application under this regulation which has been refused may not be renewed. 
 

108.0 Change of circumstances where state pension credit in payment 
 
(1) Sub-paragraphs (2) and (3) apply where— 

(a) the applicant is in receipt of state pension credit; 
(b) the amount of state pension credit awarded to him is changed in consequence of a 

change in the applicant's circumstances or the correction of an official error; and 
(c) the change in the amount of state pension credit payable to the applicant results in 

a change in the amount of a reduction he receives under this scheme. 
 
(2) Where the change of circumstance is that an increase in the amount of state pension 

credit payable to the applicant results in— 
(a) an increase in the reduction he receives under this scheme, the change takes effect 

from the first day of the reduction week in which state pension credit becomes 
payable at the increased rate; or 

(b) a decrease in the reduction he receives under this scheme, the change takes effect 
from the first day of the reduction week next following the date on which— 
(i) the local authority receives notification from the Secretary of State of the 

increase in the amount of state pension credit; or 
(ii) state pension credit is increased, 

 whichever is the later. 
 
(3) Where the change of circumstance (“the relevant change”) is that the applicant's state 

pension credit has been reduced and in consequence the reduction the applicant receives 
under this scheme reduces— 
(a) in a case where the applicant's state pension credit has been reduced because the 

applicant failed to notify the Secretary of State timeously of a change of 
circumstances, the relevant change takes effect from the first day of the reduction 
week from which state pension credit was reduced; or 

(b) in any other case the relevant change takes effect from the first day of the reduction 
week next following the date on which— 
(i) the authority receives notification from the Secretary of State of the reduction 

in the amount of state pension credit; or 
(ii) state pension credit is reduced, 

Page 191



100 

 whichever is the later. 
 
(4) Where the change of circumstance is that state pension credit is reduced and in 

consequence of the change, the amount of a reduction he receives under this scheme is 
increased, the change takes effect from the first day of the reduction week in which state 
pension credit becomes payable at the reduced rate. 

 
(5) Where a change of circumstance occurs in that an award of state pension credit has been 

made to the applicant or his partner and this would result in a decrease in the amount of 
reduction he receives under this scheme, the change takes effect from the first day of the 
reduction week next following the date on which— 
(a) the authority receives notification from the Secretary of State of the award of state 

pension credit; or 
(b) entitlement to state pension credit begins, 
whichever is the later. 

 
(6) Where, in the case of an applicant who, or whose partner, is or has been awarded state 

pension credit comprising only the savings credit, there is— 
(a) a change of circumstances of a kind described in any of sub-paragraphs (2) to (5) 

which results from a relevant calculation or estimate; and 
(b) a change of circumstances which is a relevant determination, 

 
 each of which results in a change in the amount of reduction the applicant receives under 

this scheme, the change of circumstances referred to in sub-paragraph (b) takes effect 
from the day specified in sub-paragraph (2), (3), (4) or (5) as the case may be, in relation 
to the change referred to in paragraph (a). 

 
(7) Where a change of circumstance occurs in that a guarantee credit has been awarded to 

the applicant or his partner and this would result in an increase in the amount of a 
reduction the applicant receives under this scheme, the change takes effect from the first 
day of the reduction week next following the date in respect of which the guarantee 
credit is first payable. 

 
(8) Where a change of circumstances would, but for this sub-paragraph, take effect under the 

preceding provisions of this paragraph within the 4 week period specified in paragraph 93 
(continuing reductions where state pension credit claimed), that change takes effect on 
the first day of the first reduction week to commence after the expiry of the 4 week 
period. 

 
(9) In this paragraph— 
“official error” means an error made by 

(a) the authority or a person— 
(i) authorised to carry out any function of the authority relating to this scheme; or 
(ii) providing services relating to this scheme directly or indirectly to the 

authority; or 
(b) an officer of— 

(i) the Department for Work and Pensions; or 
(ii) the Commissioners of Inland Revenue, acting as such, 

 but excludes any error caused wholly or partly by any person or body not specified in 
paragraph (a) or (b) of this definition and any error of law which is shown to have been an 
error only by virtue of a subsequent decision of the court; 

“relevant calculation or estimate” means the calculation or estimate made by the Secretary 
of State of the applicant's or, as the case may be, the applicant's partner's income and 
capital for the purposes of the award of state pension credit; 

“relevant determination” means a change in the determination by the authority of the 
applicant's income and capital using the relevant calculation or estimate, in accordance 
with paragraph 36(1). 

Page 192



101 

 
 

 
PART 14  Application (including duties to notify authority of change of 

circumstances) 
109.0 Making an application 

 
(1) In the case of— 

(a) a couple or (subject to paragraph (b)) members of a polygamous marriage an 
application is to be made by whichever one of them they agree should so apply or, 
in default of agreement, by such one of them as the authority determines; or 

(b) in the case of members of a polygamous marriage to whom paragraph 37 (income 
and capital: award of universal credit) applies, an application is to be made by 
whichever one of the parties to the earliest marriage that still subsists they agree 
should so apply or, in default of agreement, by such one of them as the authority 
determines. 

 
(2) Where a person who is liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling is unable for the 

time being to act, and— 
(a) a deputy has been appointed by the Court of Protection with power to claim, or as 

the case may be, receive benefit on his behalf; or 
(b) in Scotland, his estate is being administered by a judicial factor or any guardian 

acting or appointed under the Adults with Incapacity (Scotland) Act 2000 115 who 
has power to apply or, as the case may be, receive benefit on his behalf; or 

(c) an attorney with a general power or a power to apply or, as the case may be, receive 
benefit, has been appointed by that person under the Powers of Attorney Act 1971 
116, the Enduring Powers of Attorney Act 1985 117 or the Mental Capacity Act 2005 or 
otherwise, 

 
 that deputy, judicial factor, guardian or attorney, as the case may be, may make an 

application on behalf of that person. 
 
(3) Where a person who is liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling is unable for the 

time being to act and sub-paragraph (2) does not apply to him, the authority may, upon 
written application made to them by a person who, if a natural person, is over the age of 
18, appoint that person to exercise on behalf of the person who is unable to act, any right 
to which that person might be entitled under this scheme and to receive and deal on his 
behalf with any sums payable to him. 

 
(4) Where a person who is liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling is for the time 

being unable to act and the Secretary of State has appointed a person to act on his behalf 
under regulation 33 of the Social Security (Claims and Payments) Regulations 1987 
(persons unable to act), the authority may if that person agrees, treat him as if he had 
been appointed by them under sub-paragraph (3). 

 
(5) Where the authority has made an appointment under sub-paragraph (3) or treated a 

person as an appointee under sub-paragraph (4)— 
(a) it may at any time revoke the appointment; 
(b) the person appointed may resign his office after having given 4 weeks notice in 

writing to the authority of his intention to do so; 
(c) any such appointment must terminate when the authority is notified of the 

appointment of a person mentioned in sub-paragraph (2). 
 
(6) Anything required by this scheme to be done by or to any person who is for the time 

being unable to act may be done by or to the persons mentioned in sub-paragraph (2) 
above or by or to the person appointed or treated as appointed under this paragraph and 

Page 193



102 

the receipt of any such person so appointed shall be a good discharge to the authority for 
any sum paid. 

 
(7) The authority must— 

(a) inform any person making an application of the duty imposed by paragraph 
115(1)(a); 

(b) explain the possible consequences (including prosecution) of failing to comply with 
that duty; and 

(c) set out the circumstances a change in which might affect entitlement to the 
reduction or its amount. 

 
110.0 Date on which an application is made 

 
(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (7), the date on which an application is made is— 

(a) in a case where— 
(i) an award of state pension credit which comprises a guarantee credit has 

been made to the applicant or his partner, and 
(ii) the application is made within one month of the date on which the claim for 

that state pension credit which comprises a guarantee credit was received 
at the appropriate DWP office, 

 the first day of entitlement to state pension credit which comprises a guarantee 
credit arising from that claim; 

(b) in a case where— 
(i) an applicant or his partner is a person in receipt of a guarantee credit, 
(ii) the applicant becomes liable for the first time to pay council tax in respect of 

the dwelling which he occupies as his home, and 
(iii) the application to the authority is received at the designated office within 

one month of the date of the change, 
the date on which the change takes place; 

(c) in a case where— 
(i) an award of income support, an income-based jobseeker's allowance or an 

income-related employment and support allowance or an award of 
universal credit has been made to the applicant or his partner, and 

(ii) the application is made within one month of the date on which the claim for 
that income support, jobseeker's allowance, employment and support 
allowance or universal credit was received, 

 the first day of entitlement to income support, an income-based jobseeker's 
allowance, an income-related employment and support allowance or universal credit 
arising from that claim; 
(d) in a case where— 

(i) an applicant or his partner is a person on income support, an income-based 
jobseeker's allowance or an income-related employment and support 
allowance or has an award of universal credit, 

(ii) the applicant becomes liable for the first time to pay council tax in respect of 
the dwelling which he occupies as his home, and 

(iii) the application to the authority is received at the designated office within 
one month of the date of the change, 

the date on which the change takes place; 
(e) in a case where— 

(i) the applicant is the former partner of a person who was, at the date of his 
death or their separation, entitled to a reduction under this scheme, and 

(ii) where the applicant makes an application for a reduction under this scheme 
within one month of the date of the death or the separation, 

the date of the death or separation; 
(f) except where paragraph (a), (b) or (e) is satisfied, in a case where a properly 

completed application is received within one month (or such longer period as the 
authority considers reasonable) of the date on which an application form was 

Page 194



103 

issued to the applicant following the applicant first notifying, by whatever means, 
the authority of an intention to make an application, the date of first notification; 

(g) in any other case, the date on which the application is received at the designated 
office. 

 
(2) For the purposes only of sub-paragraph (1)(c) a person who has been awarded an income-

based jobseeker's allowance or an income-related employment and support allowance or 
an award of universal credit is to be treated as entitled to that allowance for any days 
which immediately precede the first day in that award and on which he would, but for 
regulations made under— 
(a) in the case of income-based jobseeker's allowance, paragraph 4 of Schedule 1 to the 

Jobseekers Act 1995 (waiting days); or 
(b) in the case of income-related employment and support allowance, paragraph 2 of 

Schedule 2 to the Welfare Reform Act 2007 (waiting days), 
 have been entitled to that allowance. 
(c) In a case where an award of universal credit has been made, regulation 19A (waiting days) 

of the Universal Credit Regulations 2013 (as amended) 
 
(3) Where the defect referred to in paragraph 7 of Schedule 1 to this scheme (application by 

telephone)— 
(a) is corrected within one month (or such longer period as the authority considers 

reasonable) of the date the authority last drew attention to it, the authority must 
treat the application as if it had been duly made in the first instance; 

(b) is not corrected within one month (or such longer period as the authority considers 
reasonable) of the date the authority last drew attention to it, the authority must 
treat the application as if it had been duly made in the first instance where it 
considers it has sufficient information to decide on the application. 

 
(4) The authority is to treat a defective application as if it had been validly made in the first 

instance if, in any particular case, the conditions specified in sub-paragraph (5)(a), (b) or 
(c) are satisfied. 

 
(5) The conditions are that— 

(a) where paragraph 4(a) of Schedule 1 (incomplete form) applies, the authority 
receives at its designated office the properly completed application or the 
information requested to complete it or the evidence within one month of the 
request, or such longer period as the authority may consider reasonable; or 

(b) where paragraph 4(b) of Schedule 1 (application not on approved form or further 
information requested by authority) applies— 
(i) the approved form sent to the applicant is received at the designated office 

properly completed within one month of it having been sent to him; or, as the 
case may be, 

(ii) the applicant supplies whatever information or evidence was requested under 
paragraph 4 of that Schedule within one month of the request, 

 or, in either case, within such longer period as the authority may consider reasonable; 
or 
(c) where the authority has requested further information, the authority receives at its 

designated office the properly completed application or the information requested 
to complete it within one month of the request or within such longer period as the 
authority considers reasonable. 

 
(6) Except in the case of an application made by a person treated as not being in Great 

Britain, where a person has not become liable for council tax to the authority but it is 
anticipated that he will become so liable within the period of 8 weeks (the relevant 
period), he may apply for a reduction under this scheme at any time in that period in 
respect of that tax and, provided that liability arises within the relevant period, the 
authority is to treat the application as having been made on the day on which the liability 

Page 195



104 

for the tax arises. 
 
(7) Except in the case of an application made by a person treated as not being in Great 

Britain, where the applicant is not entitled to a reduction under this scheme in the 
reduction week immediately following the date of his application but the authority is of 
the opinion that unless there is a change of circumstances he will be entitled to a 
reduction under this scheme for a period beginning not later than— 
(a) in the case of an application made by— 

(i) a pensioner, or 
(ii) a person who has attained, or whose partner has attained, the age which is 17 

weeks younger than the qualifying age for state pension credit, 
 the seventeenth reduction week following the date on which the application is 

made, or 
(b) in the case of an application made by a person who is not a pensioner, the 

thirteenth reduction week following the date on which the application is made, 
 the authority may treat the application as made on a date in the reduction week 

immediately preceding the first reduction week of that period of entitlement and 
award a reduction accordingly. 

 
(8) In this paragraph “appropriate DWP office” means an office of the Department for Work 

and Pensions dealing with state pension credit or an office which is normally open to the 
public for the receipt of claims for income support, a jobseeker's allowance or an 
employment and support allowance. 

 
111.0 Back-dating of applications: pensioners 

 
(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), the time for the making of an application under this scheme 

by a pensioner is as regards any day on which, apart from satisfying the condition of 
making an application, the applicant is entitled to such a reduction, that day and the 
period of three months immediately following it. 

 
(2) In any case where paragraph 110(1)(a) applies, sub-paragraph (1) does not entitle a 

person to apply for a reduction under this scheme in respect of any day earlier than three 
months before the date on which the claim for state pension credit is made (or treated as 
made by virtue of any provision of the Social Security (Claims and Payments) Regulations 
1987). 

 
112.0 Back-dating of applications: persons who are not pensioners 

 
(1) Where an applicant who is a person who is not a pensioner— 

(a) makes an application under this scheme which includes (or which he subsequently 
requests should include) a period before the application is made; and 

(b) from a day in that period, up to the date he made the application (or subsequently 
requested that the application should include a past period), the applicant had 
continuous good cause for failing to make an application (or request that the 
application should include that period), 

 the application is to be treated as made on the date determined in accordance with sub-
paragraph (2). 

 
(2) That date is the latest of— 

(a) the first day from which the applicant had continuous good cause; 
(b) the day 6 months before the date the application was made; 
(c) the day 6 months before the date when the applicant requested that the application 

should include a past period. 
 

113.0 Information and evidence 
 

Page 196



105 

(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (3), a person who makes an application for a reduction under 
this scheme must satisfy sub-paragraph (2) in relation both to himself and to any other 
person in respect of whom he is making the application. 

 
(2) This sub-paragraph is satisfied in relation to a person if— 

(a) the application is accompanied by— 
(i) a statement of the person's national insurance number and information or 

evidence establishing that that number has been allocated to the person; or 
(ii) information or evidence enabling the authority to ascertain the national 

insurance number that has been allocated to the person; or 
 
(b) the person has made an application for a national insurance number to be allocated 

to him and the application for the reduction is accompanied by— 
(i) evidence of the application for a national insurance number to be so allocated; 

and 
(ii) the information or evidence enabling it to be so allocated. 

 
(3) Sub-paragraph (2) does not apply— 

(a) in the case of a child or young person in respect of whom an application for a 
reduction is made; 

(b) to a person who— 
(i) is a person treated as not being in Great Britain for the purposes of this 

scheme 118; 
(ii) is subject to immigration control within the meaning of section 115(9)(a) of 

the Immigration and Asylum Act 1999; and 
(iii) has not previously been allocated a national insurance number. 

 
(4) Subject to sub-paragraph (5), a person who makes an application, or a person to whom a 

reduction under this scheme has been awarded, must furnish such certificates, 
documents, information and evidence in connection with the application or the award, or 
any question arising out of the application or the award, as may reasonably be required 
by the authority in order to determine that person's entitlement to, or continuing 
entitlement to a reduction under this scheme and must do so within one month of the 
authority requiring him to do so or such longer period as the authority may consider 
reasonable. 

 
(5) Nothing in this paragraph requires a person to furnish any certificates, documents, 

information or evidence relating to a payment to which sub-paragraph (7) applies. 
 
(6) Where a request is made under sub-paragraph (4), the authority must— 

(a) inform the applicant or the person to whom a reduction under this scheme has been 
awarded of his duty under paragraph 115 (duty to notify change of circumstances) 
to notify the authority of any change of circumstances; and 

(b) without prejudice to the extent of the duty owed under paragraph 115, indicate to 
him either orally or by notice or by reference to some other document available to 
him on application and without charge, the kind of change of circumstances which is 
to be notified. 

 
(7) This sub-paragraph applies to any of the following payments— 

(a) a payment which is— 
(i) disregarded under paragraph 28 of Schedule 8 (sums disregarded in the 

calculation of income other than earnings: persons who are not pensioners) 
or paragraph 38 of Schedule 10 (capital disregards: persons who are not 
pensioners); or 

(ii) made under or by the Trusts, the Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET Limited, the 
Skipton Fund, the Caxton Foundation or the London Bombings Relief 
Charitable Fund; 

Page 197



106 

(b) a payment which is disregarded under paragraph 16 of Schedule 9 (payments made 
under certain trusts and certain other payments), other than a payment under the 
Independent Living Fund (2006); 

(c) a payment which is disregarded under paragraph 30(9)(b) or (c) (payment made 
under certain trusts etc.) or paragraph 2(b) or (c) of Schedule 4 (payments made 
under certain trusts etc.) other than a payment under the Independent Living Fund 
(2006). 

 
(8) Where an applicant or a person to whom a reduction under this scheme has been 

awarded or any partner has attained the qualifying age for state pension credit and is a 
member of, or a person deriving entitlement to a pension under, a personal pension 
scheme, he must where the authority so requires furnish the following information— 
(a) the name and address of the pension fund holder; 
(b) such other information including any reference or policy number as is needed to 

enable the personal pension scheme to be identified. 
 

113A  SUSPENSION AND TERMINATION OF REDUCTION AND OTHER MATTERS, : persons who are 
not pensioners  
 
Cases where a relevant authority may suspend 

1.— 
(1) A relevant authority may suspend, in whole or in part any reduction in the amount that a 
person is or will become liable to pay in respect of council tax,  
in the circumstances prescribed in paragraph (2 ).  
(2) The prescribed circumstances are where—  

(a)it appears to the relevant authority that an issue arises whether—  
(i)the conditions for entitlement to council tax reduction are or were fulfilled; or  
(ii)a decision as to an award of such a reduction should be amended as per regulation 107  

 
Making or restoring reductions suspended 

2.—in a case to which regulation 1(2)(a) applies, where the relevant authority is satisfied that the 
reduction so suspended is properly payable and no outstanding issues remain to be resolved the 
relevant authority shall, so far as practicable, restore the reduction within 14 days of the decision to 
make or restore that reduction.  
 
Suspension for failure to furnish information etc. 

3.— 
(1) The relevant authority may suspend in whole or in part—  

(a)any reduction in the amount that a person is or will become liable to pay in respect of 
council tax,  
in relation to persons who fail to comply with the information requirements as defined in 
regulation 113  

(2) The prescribed persons are—  
(a)a person in respect of whom a reduction has been suspended under regulation 1 above;  
(b)a person who has made an application for a decision of the relevant authority to be 
amended;  
(c)a person in respect of whom a question has arisen in connection with a reduction award and 
who fails to comply with the requirement in regulation 113 to furnish information or evidence 
needed for a determination whether a decision on an award should be amended.  

(3) The relevant authority shall notify any person to whom paragraph (2) refers of the 
requirements of this regulation.  

(4) A person to whom paragraph (2) refers must—  
(a)furnish the information or evidence needed within a period of—  

(i)one month beginning with the date on which the notification under paragraph (3) was sent 
to him; or  

Page 198



107 

(ii)such longer period as the relevant authority considers necessary in order to enable him to 
comply with the requirement ; or  

(b)satisfy the relevant authority within the period provided for in paragraph (4)(a) that—  
(i)the information or evidence so required does not exist; or  
(ii)it is not possible for him to obtain the information or evidence so required.  

(5) Where a person satisfies the requirements in paragraph (4), the relevant authority shall, so far 
as practicable, make, or as the case may be restore, the payment within 14 days of the decision 
to make or restore that payment.  

 
 
Termination in cases of a failure to furnish information 

4.— 
(1) A person in respect of whom payment of benefit or a reduction has been suspended—  

(a)under regulation 1 and who subsequently fails to comply with an information requirement; or  
(b)under regulation 3 for failing to comply with such a requirement,  
shall cease to be entitled to the reduction from the date on which the reduction was suspended.  

(2) Paragraph (1) does not apply—  
(a)subject to sub-paragraph (b), where not more than one month has elapsed since the end of 
the period under regulation 3(4) for the provision of information;  
(b)where a reduction has been suspended in part under regulation 1 or regulation 3. 

 
114.0 Amendment and withdrawal of application 

 
(1) A person who has made an application may amend it at any time before a decision has 

been made on it by a notice in writing delivered or sent to the designated office. 
 
(2) Where the application was made by telephone in accordance with Part 1 of Schedule 1, 

the amendment may also be made by telephone. 
 
(3) Any application amended in accordance with sub-paragraph (1) or (2) is to be treated as if 

it had been amended in the first instance. 
 
(4) A person who has made an application may withdraw it by notice to the designated office 

at any time before a decision has been made on it. 
 
(5) Where the application was made by telephone in accordance with Part 1 of Schedule 1, 

the withdrawal may also be made by telephone. 
 
(6) Any notice of withdrawal given in accordance with sub-paragraph (4) or (z5) has effect 

when it is received. 
 
(7) Where a person, by telephone, amends or withdraws an application the person must (if 

required to do so by the authority) confirm the amendment or withdrawal by a notice in 
writing delivered or sent to the designated office. 

 
114A. Nil award of Council Tax Reduction 

(1) Subject to paragraph (2), an application to a reduction under this scheme, made in 
accordance with Part 1 of Schedule 1 (Procedural Matters), will remain effective until the 
amount of reduction determined subsequent to that application reduces to nil upon 
which a new application, made in accordance with the Schedule, will be required to 
receive a further reduction under this scheme.  

(2) Where any of the following apply, a new application for a reduction is not required and 
the original application remains in force:  

(a) Where the decision that a reduction amount should be nil is subsequently changed and 
there is entitlement to a reduction amount from the date the reduction was previously 
determined to be nil; or 

(b) Where entitlement to a reduction is calculated in accordance with Paragraph 38 

Page 199



108 

(Calculation of income and capital: persons who are not pensioners, who have an award 
of universal credit) any period of nil entitlement to a reduction during the award of 
universal credit is disregarded and the award of council tax reduction is treated as 
continuous; or 

(c) Where any period of nil entitlement is determined for a closed period in the past, the 
award of council tax reduction is treated as continuous.  

 
 
 

115.0 Duty to notify changes of circumstances 
 
(1) Subject to sub-paragraphs (3) and (9) for pensioners and 
 Subject to sub-paragraphs (3), (6) and (7) for persons who are not pensioners, the 

applicant (or any person acting on his behalf) must comply with sub-paragraph (2) if there 
is a relevant change of circumstances at any time— 
(a) between the making of an application and a decision being made on it, or 
(b) after the decision is made (where the decision is that the applicant is entitled to a 

reduction under this scheme) including at any time while the applicant is in receipt 
of such a reduction. 

 
(2) The applicant (or any person acting on his behalf) must notify any change of 

circumstances which the applicant (or that person) might reasonably be expected to know 
might affect his entitlement to, or the amount of, a reduction under this scheme (a 
“relevant change of circumstances”) by giving notice to the authority— 
(a) in writing; or 
(b) by telephone— 

(i) where the authority has published a telephone number for that purpose or for 
the purposes of Part 1 of Schedule 1 unless the authority determines that in 
any particular case or class of case notification may not be given by 
telephone; or 

(ii) in any case or class of case where the authority determines that notice may be 
given by telephone; or 

(c) by any other means which the authority agrees to accept in any particular case, 
  
within a period of 21 days beginning with the day on which the change occurs, or as soon 
as reasonably practicable after the change occurs, whichever is later. 

 
(3) The duty imposed on a person by sub-paragraph (1) does not extend to notifying— 

(a) changes in the amount of council tax payable to the authority; 
(b) changes in the age of the applicant or that of any member of his family; 
(c) in the case of an applicant in receipt of a relevant benefit, changes in circumstances 

which affect the amount of the benefit but not the amount of the reduction under 
this scheme to which he is entitled, other than the cessation of that entitlement to 
the benefit. 

 
(4) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (3)(c) “relevant benefit” means income support, an 

income-based jobseeker's allowance or an income-related employment and support 
allowance or universal credit. 

 
(5) Notwithstanding sub-paragraph (3)(b) or (c) an applicant is required by sub-paragraph (1) 

to notify the authority of any change in the composition of his family arising from the fact 
that a person who was a member of his family is now no longer such a person because he 
has ceased to be a child or young person. 

 
(6) The duty imposed on a person by sub-paragraph (1) includes— 

(a) in the case of a person falling within class C (pensioners: alternative maximum 
council tax reduction) giving written notice to the authority of changes which occur 

Page 200



109 

in the number of adults in the dwelling or in their total gross incomes and, where 
any such adult ceases to be in receipt of state pension credit, the date when this 
occurs; 

(b) in the case of a person falling within class F (persons who are not pensioners: 
alternative maximum council tax reduction) giving written notice to the authority of 
changes which occur in the number of adults in the dwelling or in their total gross 
incomes and, where any such adult ceases to be in receipt of income support, an 
income-based jobseeker's allowance or an income-related employment and support 
allowance, the date when this occurs. 

 
(7) A person who has been awarded a reduction under this scheme who is also on state 

pension credit must report— 
(a) changes affecting the residence or income of any non-dependant normally residing 

with the applicant or with whom the applicant normally resides; 
(b) any absence from the dwelling which exceeds or is likely to exceed 
13 weeks or where the absence is from Great Britain, which exceeds or is likely to 

exceed 4 weeks. 
 
(8) In addition to the changes required to be reported under sub-paragraph (7), a person 

whose state pension credit comprises only the savings credit must also report— 
(a) changes affecting a child living with him which may result in a change in the amount 

of reduction under this scheme allowed in his case, but not changes in the age of 
the child; 

(b) any change in the amount of the applicant's capital to be taken into account which 
does or may take the amount of his capital to more than £16,000; 

(c) any change in the income or capital of— 
(i) a non-dependant whose income and capital are treated as belonging to the 

applicant in accordance with paragraph 34 (circumstances in which income of 
a non-dependant is to be treated as applicant's); or 

(ii) a person to whom paragraph 36(2)(e) (partner treated as member of the 
household under paragraph 8) refers, 

 and whether such a person or, as the case may be, non-dependant stops living or 
begins or resumes living with the applicant. 

 
(9) A person who is entitled to a reduction under this scheme and on state pension credit 

need only report to the authority the changes specified in sub-paragraphs (7) and (8). 
 

PART 15 Decisions by authority 
 
116.0 Decision by authority 

  
 The authority must make a decision on an application for a reduction under this scheme within 

14 days of paragraphs 110 and 113 and Part 1 of Schedule 1 being satisfied, or as soon as 
reasonably practicable thereafter. 

 
117.0 Notification of decision 

 
(1) The authority must notify in writing any person affected by a decision made by it under 

this scheme— 
(a) in the case of a decision on an application, forthwith or as soon as reasonably 

practicable thereafter; 
(b) in any other case, within 14 days of that decision or as soon as reasonably 

practicable thereafter. 
 
(2) Where the decision is to award a reduction the notification under sub-paragraph (1) must 

include a statement— 

Page 201



110 

(a) informing the person affected of the duty imposed by paragraph 115(1)(b); 
(b) explaining the possible consequences (including prosecution) of failing to comply 

with that duty; and 
(c) setting out the circumstances a change in which might affect entitlement to the 

reduction or its amount. 
 
(3) Where the decision is to award a reduction, the notification under sub-paragraph (1) must 

include a statement as to how that entitlement is to be discharged. 
 
(4) In any case, the notification under sub-paragraph (1) must inform the person affected of 

the procedure by which an appeal may be made and must refer the person to the 
provisions in this scheme relating to the procedure for making an appeal. 

 
(5) A person affected to whom the authority sends or delivers a notification of decision may, 

within one month of the date of the notification of that decision request in writing the 
authority to provide a written statement setting out the reasons for its decision on any 
matter set out in the notice. 

 
(6) The written statement referred to in sub-paragraph (5) must be sent to the person 

requesting it within 14 days or as soon as reasonably practicable thereafter. 
 
(7) For the purposes of this paragraph a person is to be treated as a person affected by a 

decision of the authority under this scheme where the rights, duties or obligations of that 
person are affected by that decision and the person falls within sub-paragraph (8). 

 
(8) This sub-paragraph applies to— 

(a) the applicant; 
(b) in the case of a person who is liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling and is 

unable for the time being to act— 
(i) a deputy appointed by the Court of Protection with power to claim, or as the 

case may be, receive benefit on his behalf; or 
(ii) in Scotland, a judicial factor or any guardian acting or appointed under the 

Adults with Incapacity (Scotland) Act 2000 who has power to apply or, as the 
case may be, receive benefit on the person's behalf; or 

(iii) an attorney with a general power or a power to apply or, as the case may be, 
receive benefit, has been appointed by that person under the Powers of 
Attorney Act 1971, the Enduring Powers of Attorney Act 1985 or the Mental 
Capacity Act 2005 or otherwise, 

(c) a person appointed by the authority under paragraph 109(3). 
 

PART 16  Circumstances in which a payment may be made 
 
118.0— Payment where there is joint and several liability 

 
(1) Where— 

(a) a person is entitled to a reduction under this scheme in respect of his liability for the 
authority's council tax as it has effect in respect of a financial year; 

(b) the person entitled to the reduction is jointly and severally liable for the council tax; 
and 

(c) the authority determines that discharging his entitlement by reducing the amount of 
his liability to which regulation 20(2) of the Council Tax (Administration and 
Enforcement) Regulations 1992 refers would be inappropriate, 

 it may make a payment to him of the amount of reduction to which he is entitled, 
rounded where necessary to the nearest penny. 

 
(2) Subject to sub-paragraph (3), any payment made under sub-paragraph (1) must be made 

Page 202



111 

to the person who is entitled to the reduction. 
 
(3) Where a person other than the person who is entitled to the reduction under this scheme 

made the application for the reduction and that first person is a person acting pursuant to 
an appointment under paragraph 109(3) (persons appointed to act for a person unable to 
act) or is treated as having been so appointed by virtue of paragraph 109(5), the amount 
of the reduction may be paid to that person. 

  

Page 203



112 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Schedule 1 
Procedural matters 

  

Page 204



113 

PART 1 Procedure by which a person may apply for a reduction under this scheme 
1.  
Paragraphs 2 to 7 apply to an application for a reduction under this scheme. 
2. 
An application may be made— 
(a) in writing, 
(b) by means of an electronic communication in accordance with Part 4 of this Schedule, or 
(c) where the authority has published a telephone number for the purpose of receiving 

such applications, by telephone. 
(d) Department for Work and Pension Local Authority Input Document (LAID) and Local 

Authority Customer Information (LACI) where they declare an intention to claim a 
Council Tax Reduction.  

(e) The following Universal Credit notification from the Department for Work and 
Pensions: 

 (i)  Universal Credit Data Share (UCDS) New Claim record 
 
3. 
(1) An application which is made in writing must be made to the designated office on a 

properly completed form. 
 
(2) The form must be provided free of charge by the authority for the purpose. 
 
4. 
(1) Where an application made in writing is defective because— 

(a) it was made on the form supplied for the purpose but that form is not accepted by 
the authority as being properly completed; or 

(b) it was made in writing but not on the form supplied for the purpose and the 
authority does not accept the application as being in a written form which is 
sufficient in the circumstances of the case having regard to the sufficiency of the 
written information and evidence, 

 the authority may, in a case to which sub-paragraph (a) applies, request the applicant to 
complete the defective application or, in the case to which sub-paragraph (b) applies, supply 
the applicant with the approved form or request further information and evidence. 

(2) An application made on a form provided by the authority is properly completed if 
completed in accordance with the instructions on the form, including any instructions to 
provide information and evidence in connection with the application. 

 
5. 
(1) If an application made by electronic communication is defective the authority must 

provide the person making the application with an opportunity to correct the defect. 
 
(2) An application made by electronic communication is defective if the applicant does not 

provide all the information the authority requires. 
 
6. 
 In a particular case the authority may determine that an application made by telephone is only 

valid if the person making the application approves a written statement of his circumstances 
provided by the authority. 

7. 
(1) If an application made by telephone is defective the authority must provide the person 

making the application with an opportunity to correct the defect. 
 
(2) An application made by telephone is defective if the applicant does not provide all the 

information the authority requests during the telephone call. 
 
 
 

Page 205



114 

PART 2 Procedure by which a person may make an appeal against certain decisions of the authority 
8. 
A person who is aggrieved by a decision of the authority which affects— 
(a) the person's entitlement to a reduction under this scheme, or 
(b) the amount of any reduction under this scheme, 
 may serve a written notice on the authority stating the matter by which, and the grounds on 

which, he is aggrieved. 
 
9. 
The authority must— 
(a) consider the matter to which the notice relates; 
(b) notify the aggrieved person in writing— 

(i) that the ground is not well founded, giving reasons for that belief; or 
(ii) that steps have been taken to deal with the grievance, stating the steps taken. 

 
10. 
 Where, following notification under paragraph 9(b)(i) or (ii), the person is still aggrieved, or if 

the authority fails to notify the person aggrieved in accordance with paragraph 9(b) within two 
months of the service of his notice, he may appeal to a valuation tribunal under section 16 of 
the 1992 Act. 

 
PART 3 Procedure for an application to the authority for a reduction under section 13A(1)(c) of the 
1992 Act 

 
11. 
(1) An application to the authority for a reduction under section 13A(1)(c) of the 1992 Act 

may be made 
 

(a) in writing; 
(b) by means of an electronic communication in accordance with Part 4 of this 

Schedule; or 
(c) where the authority has published a telephone number for the purposes of receiving 

such applications, by telephone. 
 
(2) Where— 

(a) the authority has made a determination under section 13A(1)(c) in relation to a class 
of case in which liability is to be reduced; and 

(b) a person in that class would otherwise be entitled to a reduction under this scheme, 
 that person's application for a reduction under this scheme may also be treated as an 

application for a reduction under section 13A(1)(c). 
 

PART 4 Electronic communication 
12. Interpretation 
In this Part— 
“information” includes an application, certificate, notice or other evidence; 
“official computer system” means a computer system maintained by or on behalf of the 

authority for the sending, receiving, processing or storing of any information. 
 
13.— Conditions for the use of electronic communication 
(1) The authority may use an electronic communication in connection with applications for, 

and awards of, reductions under this scheme. 
 
(2) A person other than the authority may use an electronic communication in connection 

with the matters referred to in sub-paragraph (1) if the conditions specified in sub-
paragraphs (3) to (6) are satisfied. 

 
(3) The first condition is that the person is for the time being permitted to use an electronic 

Page 206



115 

communication by an authorisation given by means of a direction of the Chief Executive 
of the authority. 

 
(4) The second condition is that the person uses an approved method of— 

(a) authenticating the identity of the sender of the communication; 
(b) electronic communication; 
(c) authenticating any application or notice delivered by means of an electronic 

communication; and 
(d) subject to sub-paragraph (7), submitting to the authority any information. 

 
(5) The third condition is that any information sent by means of an electronic communication 

is in a form supplied for the purposes of this Part of this Schedule. 
 
(6) The fourth condition is that the person maintains such records in written or electronic 

form as may be specified in a direction given by the Chief Executive of the authority. 
 
(7) Where the person uses any method other than the method approved of submitting any 

information, that information is to be treated as not having been submitted. 
 
(8) In this paragraph “approved” means approved by means of a direction given by the Chief 

Executive of the authority for the purposes of this Part of this Schedule. 
 
14. Use of intermediaries 
The authority may use intermediaries in connection with— 

(a) the delivery of any information by means of an electronic communication; and 
(b) the authentication or security of anything transmitted by such means, 
and may require other persons to use intermediaries in connection with those matters. 

 
15.— Effect of delivering information by means of electronic communication 
(1) Any information which is delivered by means of an electronic communication is to be 

treated as having been delivered in the manner or form required by any provision of this 
scheme, on the day the conditions imposed— 
(a) by this Part; and 
(b) by or under an enactment, 

 are satisfied. 
 
(2) The authority may determine that any information is to be treated as delivered on a 

different day (whether earlier or later) from the day provided for in sub-paragraph (1). 
 
(3) Information must not be taken to have been delivered to an official computer system by 

means of an electronic communication unless it is accepted by the system to which it is 
delivered. 

 
16. Proof of identity of sender or recipient of information 
If it is necessary to prove, for the purpose of any legal proceedings, the identity of— 

(a) the sender of any information delivered by means of an electronic communication 
to an official computer system; or 

(b) the recipient of any such information delivered by means of an electronic 
communication from an official computer system, 

the sender or recipient, as the case may be, is to be presumed to be the person whose name is 
recorded as such on that official computer system. 

17.— Proof of delivery of information 
 
(1) If it is necessary to prove, for the purpose of any legal proceedings, that the use of an 

electronic communication has resulted in the delivery of any information this must be 
presumed to have been the case where— 
(a) any such information has been delivered to the relevant authority, if the delivery of 

Page 207



116 

that information has been recorded on an official computer system; or 
(b) any such information has been delivered by the relevant authority, if the delivery of 

that information has been recorded on an official computer system. 
 
(2) If it is necessary to prove, for the purpose of any legal proceedings, that the use of an 

electronic communication has resulted in the delivery of any such information, this must 
be presumed not to be the case, if that information delivered to the relevant authority 
has not been recorded on an official computer system. 

 
(3) If it is necessary to prove, for the purpose of any legal proceedings, when any such 

information sent by means of an electronic communication has been received, the time 
and date of receipt must be presumed to be that recorded on an official computer 
system. 

 
18. Proof of content of information 
If it is necessary to prove, for the purpose of any legal proceedings, the content of any information 

sent by means of an electronic communication, the content must be presumed to be that 
recorded on an official computer system. 

  

Page 208



117 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Schedule 2 
Applicable amounts: pensioners 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 209



118 

 
1. Personal allowance 

The amount specified in column (2) below in respect of each person or couple specified in column 
(1) is the amount specified for the purposes of paragraph 25(1)(a) and will be up-rated each 
year in line with the Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) 
(Amendment) Regulations . 

Column (1) 
 

Column (2) 
 

Person, couple or polygamous marriage 
 

Amount 
 

(1) Single applicant or lone parent— 
 

(1) 
 

(a) aged under 65; 
 

(a) £145.40; 
 

(b) aged 65 or over. 
 

(b) £163.50. 
 

(2) Couple— 
 

(2) 
 

(a) both members aged under 65; 
 

(a) £222.05; 
 

(b) one or both members aged 65 or over. 
 

(b) £244.95. 
 

(3) If the applicant is a member of a polygamous marriage and none of the 
members of the marriage has attained the age of 65— 

 

(3) 
 

(a) for the applicant and the other party to the marriage; 
 

(a) £222.05; 
 

(b) for each additional spouse who is a member of the same household as the 
applicant. 

 

(b) £76.65. 
 

(4) If the applicant is a member of a polygamous marriage and one or more 
members of the marriage are aged 65 or over— 

 

(4) 
 

(a) for the applicant and the other party to the marriage; 
 

(a) £244.95; 
 

(b) for each additional spouse who is a member of the same household as the 
applicant. 

 

(b) £81.45. 
 

 
2.— Child or young person amounts 

 
(1) The amounts specified in column (2) below in respect of each person specified in column (1) 

are the amounts, for the relevant period specified in column (1), specified for the purposes of 
paragraph 25(1)(b) and will be up-rated each year in line with the Council Tax Reduction 
Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) (Amendment) Regulations .. 

 
Column (1) 
 

Column (2) 
 

Child or young Person 
 

Amount 
 

Person in respect of the period— 
 

 

Page 210



119 

Column (1) 
 

Column (2) 
 

Child or young Person 
 

Amount 
 

(a) beginning on that person's date of birth and ending on the day preceding the 
first Monday in September following that person's sixteenth birthday; 

 

(a) £65.62; 
 

(b) beginning on the first Monday in September following that person's 
sixteenth birthday and ending on the day preceding that person's twentieth 
birthday. 

 

(b) £65.62 
 

 
(2) In column (1) of the table “the first Monday in September” means the Monday which first 

occurs in the month of September in any year. 
 
 

3. Family premium 
 The amount for the purposes of paragraph 25(1)(c) in respect of a family of which at least one 

member is a child or young person – 
(a) is £17.45 in respect of a reduction week which begins in the period beginning with 
1st April 2016 and ending with 30th April 2016; 

(b) is nil in respect of a reduction week which begins after 1st May 2016. 
 

3A.—(1) Subject to paragraph (2), the amendment in regulation 3(b) does not apply to a person 
who, on 30th April 2016, is liable to pay council tax at a reduced rate by virtue of a council tax 
reduction under an authority’s scheme established under section 13A(2) of the Act and is— 
(a) a member of a family of which at least one member is a child or young person; or 
(b) a partner in a polygamous marriage, where he or she, or another partner of the 
polygamous marriage, is responsible for a child or young person who is a member of the 
same household. 
 
(2) Paragraph (1) does not apply if— 
(a) sub-paragraph (a) or (b) of that paragraph ceases to apply; or 
(b) the person makes a new application for a reduction under an authority’s scheme under 
section 13A(2) of the Act. 
 
(3) For the purposes of this regulation— 
(a) “the Act” means the Local Government Finance Act 1992; 
(b) “child”, “family”, “partner”, “polygamous marriage” and “young person” have the 
meanings given by regulation 2 of the Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed 
Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012. 
 
4. Premiums 

The premiums specified in Part 4 are, for the purposes of paragraph 25(1)(d), applicable to an 
applicant who satisfies the condition specified in this Part in respect of that premium. 

5. 
(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), for the purposes of this Part of this Schedule, once a 

premium is applicable to an applicant under this Part, a person is to be treated as being in 
receipt of any benefit for— 
(a) in the case of a benefit to which the Social Security (Overlapping Benefits) 

Regulations 1979 applies, any period during which, apart from the provision of 
those Regulations, he would be in receipt of that benefit; and 

(b) any period spent by a person in undertaking a course of training or instruction 
provided or approved by the Secretary of State under section 2 of the Employment 
and Training Act 1973, or by Skills Development Scotland, Scottish Enterprise or 
Highland and Islands Enterprise under section 2 of the Enterprise and New Towns 

Page 211



120 

(Scotland) Act 1990 or for any period during which he is in receipt of a training 
allowance. 

 
(2) For the purposes of the carer premium under paragraph 9, a person is to be treated as 

being in receipt of a carer's allowance by virtue of sub-paragraph (1)(a) only if and for so 
long as the person in respect of whose care the allowance has been claimed remains in 
receipt of attendance allowance, or the care component of disability living allowance at 
the highest or middle rate prescribed in accordance with section 72(3) of the SSCBA, or 
the daily living component of personal independence payment paid at either rate 
prescribed in accordance with Part 4 of the Welfare Reform Act 2012 or an AFIP. 

 
6.— Severe disability premium 

(1) The condition is that the applicant is a severely disabled person. 
 
(2) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1), an applicant is to be treated as being a severely 

disabled person if, and only if— 
(a) in the case of a single applicant, a lone parent or an applicant who is treated as having 

no partner in consequence of sub-paragraph (3) — 
(i) he is in receipt of attendance allowance, or the care component of disability living 

allowance at the highest or middle rate prescribed in accordance with section 
72(3) of the SSCBA, or the daily living component of personal independence 
payment paid at either rate prescribed in accordance with Part 4 of the Welfare 
Reform Act 2012, or an AFIP; and 

(ii) subject to sub-paragraph (6), he has no non-dependants aged 18 or over normally 
residing with him or with whom he is normally residing; and 

(iii) no person is entitled to, and in receipt of, a carer's allowance under section 70 of the 
SSCBA or has an award of universal credit which includes the carer element under 

regulation 29 of the Universal Credit Regulations 2013(a) in respect of caring for him; 
(b) in the case of an applicant who has a partner— 

(i) the applicant is in receipt of attendance allowance, or the care component of 
disability living allowance at the highest or middle rate prescribed in accordance 
with section 72(3) of the SSCBA, or the daily living component of personal 
independence payment paid at either rate prescribed in accordance with Part 4 
of the Welfare Reform Act 2012, or an AFIP; 

(ii) his partner is also in receipt of such an allowance or, if he is a member of a 
polygamous marriage, each other member of that marriage is in receipt of such 
an allowance; and 

(iii) subject to sub-paragraph (6), the applicant has no non-dependants aged 18 or 
over normally residing with him or with whom he is normally residing, and either 
a person is entitled to and in receipt of a carer's allowance or has an award of 
universal credit that includes the carer element in respect of caring for only one 
of the couple or, if he is a member of a polygamous marriage, for one or more 
but not all the members of the marriage, or as the case may be, no person is 
entitled to and in receipt of such an allowance or has such an award of universal 
credit in respect of caring for either member of a couple or any of the members 
of the marriage. 

 
(3) Where an applicant has a partner who does not satisfy the condition in sub-paragraph 

(2)(b)(ii), and that partner is severely sight-impaired or blind or is treated as such within 
the meaning of sub-paragraph (4), that partner is to be treated for the purposes of sub-
paragraph (2) as if he were not a partner of the applicant. 

 
(4) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (3), a person is blind or severely sight-impaired if he is 

registered as severely sight-impaired in a register kept by a local authority in England 
under section 77(1) of the Care Act 2014 (registers of sight-impaired adults),  in Scotland, 
has been certified as blind and in consequence he is registered in a register maintained by 
or on behalf of a council constituted under section 2 of the Local Government (Scotland) 

Page 212



121 

Act 1994, or is registered as severely sight-impaired in a register kept by a local authority 
in Wales under section 18(1) of the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014.  

 
(5) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (4), a person who has ceased to be registered as blind 

or severely sight-impaired on regaining his eyesight is nevertheless to be treated as such 
and as satisfying the additional condition set out in that sub-paragraph for a period of 28 
weeks following the date on which he ceased to be so registered. 

 
(6) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (2)(a)(ii) and (2)(b)(iii) no account is to be taken of— 

(a) a person receiving attendance allowance, or the care component of disability living 
allowance at the highest or middle rate prescribed in accordance with section 72(3) 
of the SSCBA, or the daily living component of personal independence payment paid 
at either rate prescribed in accordance with Part 4 of the Welfare Reform Act 2012, 
or an AFIP; or 

(b) a person who is blind or is treated as blind within the meaning of sub-paragraphs (4) 
and (5). 

 
(7) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (2)(b) a person is to be treated— 

(a) as being in receipt of attendance allowance, or the care component of disability 
living allowance at the highest or middle rate prescribed in accordance with section 
72(3) of the SSCBA, if he would, but for his being a patient for a period exceeding 28 
days, be so in receipt; 

(b) as being in receipt of the daily living component of personal independence payment 
paid at the rate prescribed in accordance with Part 4 of the Welfare Reform Act 
2012 if he would, but for his being a patient for a period exceeding 28 days, be so in 
receipt, notwithstanding section 86 of that Act and regulations made thereunder; 

(c) as being in receipt of an AFIP if he would be so in receipt but for a suspension of 
payment in accordance with any terms of the armed and reserve forces 
compensation scheme which allow for a suspension because a person is undergoing 
medical treatment in a hospital or similar institution; 

(d) as being entitled to and in receipt of a carer's allowance or having an award of universal credit 
which includes the carer element if he would, but for the person for whom he was caring being a 
patient in hospital for a period exceeding 28 days, be so entitled and in receipt or have such an award 
of universal credit. 

 
(8) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (2)(a)(iii) and (b) — 

(a) no account is to be taken of an award of carer's allowance to the extent that 
payment of such an award is back-dated for a period before the date on which the 
award is first paid; and 

(b) references to a person being in receipt of a carer's allowance or as having an award of universal 
credit which includes the carer element include reference to a person who would have been in 
receipt of that allowance or had such an award of universal credit but for the application of a 
restriction under section 6B or 7 of the Social Security Fraud Act 2001 (loss of benefit). 

 
7.Enhanced disability premium 

 
(1) The condition is that— 

(a) the care component of disability living allowance is, or would, but for a suspension 
of benefit in accordance with regulations under section 113(2) of the SSCBA or but 
for an abatement as a consequence of hospitalisation, be payable at the highest 
rate prescribed under section 73(2) of that Act; or 

(b) (as the case may be) the daily living component of personal independence payment 
is, or would, but for a suspension of benefit in accordance with regulations under 
section 86 of the Welfare Reform Act 2012, be payable at the enhanced rate 
prescribed in accordance with section 78(2) of that Act, 

in respect of a child or young person who is a member of the applicant's family. 
 

Page 213



122 

(2) Where the condition in sub-paragraph (1) ceases to be satisfied because of the death of a 
child or young person, the condition is that the applicant or partner is entitled to child 
benefit in respect of that person under section 145A of the SSCBA (entitlement after 
death of child or qualifying young person). 

 
8. Disabled child premium 

The condition is that a child or young person for whom the applicant or a partner of his is 
responsible and who is a member of the applicant's household— 
(a) is in receipt of disability living allowance, personal independence payment or is no 

longer in receipt of such allowance or payment because he is a patient, provided 
that the child or young person continues to be a member of the family; or 

(b) is blind within the meaning of paragraph 6(4) or treated as blind in accordance with 
paragraph 6(5); or 

(c) is a child or young person in respect of whom section 145A of the SSCBA 
(entitlement after death of child or qualifying young person) applies for the 
purposes of entitlement to child benefit but only for the period prescribed under 
that section, and in respect of whom a disabled child premium was included in the 
applicant's applicable amount immediately before the death of that child or young 
person, or ceased to be included in the applicant's applicable amount because of 
that child or young person's death. 

 
9. Carer premium 

 
(1) The condition is that the applicant or his partner is, or both of them are, entitled to a 

carer's allowance. 
(2) Where a carer premium has been awarded but— 

(a) the person in respect of whose care the carer's allowance has been awarded dies; or 
(b) the person in respect of whom the premium was awarded ceases to be entitled, or 

ceases to be treated as entitled, to a carer's allowance, 
 this paragraph is to be treated as satisfied for a period of eight weeks from the relevant 

date specified in sub-paragraph (3). 
 
(3) The relevant date for the purposes of sub-paragraph (2) is— 

(a) in a case within sub-paragraph (2)(a), the Sunday following the death of the person 
in respect of whose care the carer's allowance has been awarded (or beginning with 
the date of death if the date occurred on a Sunday); 

(b) in a case within sub-paragraph (2)(b), the date on which that person who was 
entitled to a carer's allowance ceases to be entitled to it. 

 
(4) For the purposes of this paragraph, a person is to be treated as being entitled to and in 

receipt of a carer's allowance for any period not covered by an award but in respect of 
which a payment is made in lieu of an award. 

 
10. Persons in receipt of concessionary payments 

  
For the purpose of determining whether a premium is applicable to a person under paragraphs 6 

to 9, any concessionary payment made to compensate that person for the non-payment of any 
benefit mentioned in those paragraphs is to be treated as if it were a payment of that benefit. 

 
11. Person in receipt of benefit 

 For the purposes of this Part of this Schedule, a person is to be regarded as being in receipt of 
any benefit if, and only if, it is paid in respect of him and is to be so regarded only for any 
period in respect of which that benefit is paid. 

 
12.Amounts of premium specified  

(1) Severe Disability Premium, this will be up-rated each year in line with the Council Tax Reduction 
Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) (Amendment) Regulations . 

Page 214



123 

— 
Provision 
 

Amount 
 

(a) where the applicant satisfies the condition in 
paragraph 6(2)(a); 

 

(a) £59.50; 
 

(b) where the applicant satisfies the condition in 
paragraph 6(2)(b)— 

 

(b) 
 

(i) in a case where there is someone in receipt of a carer's 
allowance or who has an award of universal credit which 
includes the carer element under regulation 29 of the 
Universal Credit Regulations 2013, or if he or any partner 
satisfies that condition only by virtue of paragraph 6(7); 

 

(i) £59.50; 
 

(i) in a case where there is no-one in receipt of such 
an allowance or such an award of universal 
credit. 

. 
 

(ii) £119.00. 
 

(2) Enhanced disability premium. 
 

(2) £23.45 in respect of each child or 
young person in respect of whom the 
conditions specified in paragraph 7 
are satisfied. 

 
(3) Disabled Child Premium. 
 

(3) £57.89 in respect of each child or 
young person in respect of whom the 
condition specified in paragraph 8 is 
satisfied 

 
(4) Carer Premium. 
 

(4) £33.30 in respect of each person who 
satisfies the condition specified in 
paragraph 9. 

 
 

  

Page 215



124 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Schedule 3 
Applicable amounts: persons who are not pensioners 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 216



125 

Personal allowances 
 
A1. The amounts in this Schedule paragraphs (1) to (29) are subject to change in line with the 

Department for Work & Pensions social security benefit uprating as prescribed on the 
appropriate Statutory Instrument issued each year.  

 
1. 
The amounts specified in column (2) below in respect of each person or couple specified in column 

(1) are the amounts specified for the purposes of paragraphs 26(1)(a) and 27(2)(a) and (b)— 
Column (1) 
 

Column (2) 
 

Person or couple 
 

Amount 
 

(1) A single applicant who— 
 

(1) 
 

(a) is entitled to main phase employment and support allowance; 
 

(a) £71.70; 
 

(b) is aged not less than 25; 
 

(b) £71.70; 
 

(c) is aged not less than 18 but less than 25. 
 

(c) £56.80. 
 

(2) Lone parent. 
 

(2) £71.70. 
 

(3) Couple. 
 

(3) £112.55. 
 

 
2. 
For the purposes of paragraph 1 an applicant is entitled to main phase employment and support 

allowance if— 
(a) paragraph 18 is satisfied in relation to the applicant; or 
(b) the applicant is entitled to a converted employment and support allowance. 

 
3.— 
(1) The amounts specified in column (2) below in respect of each person specified in column 

(1) are, for the relevant period specified in column (1), the amounts specified for the 
purposes of paragraphs 26(1)(b) and 27(2)(c)— 

 
 Column (1) 
 

Column (2) 
 

Child or Young person 
 

Amount 
 

Person in respect of the period— 
 

 

(a) beginning on that person's date of birth and ending on the day 
preceding the first Monday in September following that person's 
sixteenth birthday; 

 

£65.62 
 

(b) beginning on the first Monday in September following that person's 
sixteenth birthday and ending on the day preceding that person's 
twentieth birthday. 

 

£65.62 
 

(2) In column (1) of the table in sub-paragraph (1), “the first Monday in September” means 
the Monday which first occurs in the month of September in any year. 

Page 217



126 

 
Family premium 

4.— 
(1) The amount for the purposes of paragraphs 26(1)(c) and 27(2)(d) in respect of a family of 

which at least one member is a child or young person is— 
(a) where the applicant is a lone parent to whom sub-paragraph (2) applies, £22.20; 
(b) in any other case, £17.40. 
(c) is nil in respect of a reduction week which begins after 1st April 2018. 
(1A)(a) Subject to paragraph (b), the amendment in paragraph 1(c) does not apply to a 

person who, on 1st April 2018, is liable to pay council tax at a reduced rate by virtue of 
a council tax reduction under an authority’s scheme established under section 13A(2) 
of the Act and is— 

(i)) a member of a family of which at least one member is a child or young person; or 
(b) a partner in a polygamous marriage, where he or she, or another partner of the 
polygamous marriage, is responsible for a child or young person who is a member of the 

same household. 
 
(b) Paragraph 4(1c) applies if— 
  (i) the person makes a new application for a reduction under an authority’s scheme 

under section 13A(2) of the Act after 1st April 2018.    
 
(c) For the purposes of this regulation— 
(i) “the Act” means the Local Government Finance Act 1992; 
(ii) “child”, “family”, “partner”, “polygamous marriage” and “young person” have the 
meanings given by regulation 2 of the Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed 
Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012. 
 
(2) The amount in sub-paragraph (4)(1)(a) is applicable to a lone parent— 

(a) who was entitled to council tax benefit on 5th April 1998 and whose applicable 
amount on that date included the amount applicable under paragraph 3(1)(a) of 
Schedule 1 to the Council Tax Benefit (Persons who have attained the qualifying age 
for state pension credit) Regulations 2006 as in force on that date; or 

(b) on becoming entitled to council tax benefit where that lone parent— 
(i) had been treated as entitled to that benefit in accordance with sub-paragraph 

(3) as at the day before the date of claim for that benefit; and 
(ii) was entitled to housing benefit as at the date of claim for council tax benefit 

or would have been entitled to housing benefit as at that date had that day 
not fallen during a rent free period as defined in regulation 81 of the Housing 
Benefit Regulations 2006, 

and in respect of whom, all of the conditions specified in sub-paragraph (3) have 
continued to apply. 

 
(3) The conditions specified for the purposes of sub-paragraph (2) are that, in respect of the 

period commencing on 6th April 1998— 
(a) the applicant has not ceased to be entitled, or has not ceased to be treated as 

entitled, to 
(i) council tax benefit (in relation to the period prior to 1st April 2013), and 
(ii) a reduction under this scheme (in relation to the period commencing on 1st 

April 2013); 
(b) the applicant has not ceased to be a lone parent; 

 
(c) where the applicant was entitled to income support or to an income-based 

jobseeker's allowance on 5th April 1998, he has continuously, since that date, been 
entitled to income support, an income-based jobseeker's allowance or income-
related employment and support allowance or a combination of those benefits; 

 
(d) where the applicant was not entitled to income support or to an income-based 

Page 218



127 

jobseeker's allowance on 5th April 1998, he has not become entitled to income 
support, an income-based jobseeker's allowance or an income-related employment 
and support allowance; and 

 
(e) a premium under paragraph 9 or a component under paragraph 21 or 22 has not 

become applicable to the applicant. 
 
(4) For the purposes of sub-paragraphs (2)(b)(i) and (3)(a), an applicant is to be treated as 

entitled to council tax benefit during any period where he was not, or had ceased to be, 
so entitled and— 
(a) throughout that period, he had been awarded housing benefit and his applicable 

amount included the amount applicable under paragraph 3(1)(a) of Schedule 3 to 
the Housing Benefit Regulations 2006 (lone parent rate of family premium); or 

(b) he would have been awarded housing benefit during that period had that period 
not been a rent free period as defined in regulation 81 of the Housing Benefit 
Regulations 2006 and his applicable amount throughout that period would have 
included the amount applicable under paragraph 3(1)(a) of Schedule 3 to those 
Regulations. 

 
Premiums 

5. 
 Except as provided in paragraph 6, the premiums specified in Part 4 are, for the purposes of 

paragraphs 26(1)(d) and 27(1)(e) (premiums), applicable to an applicant who satisfies the 
condition specified in paragraphs 9 to 14 in respect of that premium. 

6. 
 Subject to paragraph 7, where an applicant satisfies the conditions in respect of more than one 

premium in this Part of this Schedule, only one premium is applicable to him and, if they are 
different amounts, the higher or highest amount applies. 

7. 
The following premiums, namely— 

(a) a severe disability premium to which paragraph 11 applies; 
(b) an enhanced disability premium to which paragraph 12 applies; 
(c) a disabled child premium to which paragraph 13 applies; and 
(d) a carer premium to which paragraph 14 applies, 
may be applicable in addition to any other premium which may apply under this Schedule. 

8. 
(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), for the purposes of this Part of this Schedule, once a 

premium is applicable to an applicant under this Part, a person is to be treated as being in 
receipt of any benefit for— 
(a) in the case of a benefit to which the Social Security (Overlapping Benefits) 

Regulations 1979 applies, any period during which, apart from the provisions of 
those Regulations, he would be in receipt of that benefit; and 

(b) any period spent by a person in undertaking a course of training or instruction 
provided or approved by the Secretary of State under section 2 of the Employment 
and Training Act 1973 or by Skills Development Scotland, Scottish Enterprise or 
Highlands and Islands Enterprise under section 2 of the Enterprise and New Towns 
(Scotland) Act 1990 for any period during which he is in receipt of a training 
allowance. 

 
(2) For the purposes of the carer premium under paragraph 14, a person is to be treated as 

being in receipt of carer's allowance by virtue of sub-paragraph (1)(a) only if and for so 
long as the person in respect of whose care the allowance has been claimed remains in 
receipt of attendance allowance, or the care component of disability living allowance at 
the highest or middle rate prescribed in accordance with section 72(3) of the SSCBA or the 
daily living component of personal independence payment payable under Part 4 of the 
Welfare Reform Act 2012. 

 

Page 219



128 

 
9. Disability premium 

The condition is that— 
(a) where the applicant is a single applicant or a lone parent, he has not attained the 

qualifying age for state pension credit and the additional condition specified in 
paragraph 10 is satisfied; or 

(b) where the applicant has a partner, either— 
(i) the applicant has not attained the qualifying age for state pension credit and the 

additional condition specified in paragraph 10(1)(a) or (b) is satisfied by him; or 
(ii) his partner has not attained the qualifying age for state pension credit and the 

additional condition specified in paragraph 10(1)(a) is satisfied by his partner. 
 

10. Additional condition for the disability premium 
 (1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2) and paragraph 8, the additional condition referred to in 

paragraph 9 is that either— 
(a) the applicant or, as the case may be, his partner— 
(i) is in receipt of one or more of the following benefits: attendance allowance, disability 

living allowance, personal independence payment, an AFIP, the disability element or 
the severe disability element of working tax credit as specified in regulation 20(1)(b) 
and (f) of the Working Tax Credit (Entitlement and Maximum Rate) Regulations 2002, 
mobility supplement, long-term incapacity benefit under Part 2 of the SSCBA or 
severe disablement allowance under Part 3 of that Act but, in the case of long-term 
incapacity benefit or severe disablement allowance, only where it is paid in respect 
of him; or 

 
(ii) was in receipt of long-term incapacity benefit under Part 2 of the SSCBA when 

entitlement to that benefit ceased on account of the payment of a retirement 
pension under that Act or a state pension under Part 1 of the Pensions Act 2014, and 
the applicant remained continuously entitled to— 

(aa) council tax benefit (in relation to the period prior to 1st April 2013, and 
 
(bb) a reduction under this scheme (in relation to the period commencing on 1st April 

2013), and if the long-term incapacity benefit was payable to his partner, the 
partner is still a member of the family; or 

 
(iii) was in receipt of attendance allowance or disability living allowance but payment of 

benefit has been suspended in accordance with regulations made under section 
113(2) of the SSCBA or otherwise abated as a consequence of the applicant or his 
partner becoming a patient within the meaning of paragraph 58(11)(i) (treatment of 
child care charges); or 

 
(iv) was in receipt of personal independence payment, but payment of that benefit has 

been suspended in accordance with section 86 of the Welfare Reform Act 2012 as a 
consequence of the applicant becoming a patient within the meaning of paragraph 
58(11)(i) (treatment of child care charges); or 

 
(v) was in receipt of an AFIP, but payment has been suspended in accordance with any 

terms of the armed and reserve forces compensation scheme which allow for 
suspension because a person is undergoing medical treatment in a hospital or similar 
institution; or 

 
(vi) he has an invalid carriage or other vehicle provided to him by the Secretary of State 

or a clinical commissioning group under paragraph 9 of Schedule 1 to the National 
Health Service Act 2006 or under section 46 of the National Health Service (Scotland) 
Act 1978 or provided by the Department of Health, Social Services and Public Safety 
in Northern Ireland under Article 30(1) of the Health and Personal Social Services 
(Northern Ireland) Order 1972; or 

Page 220



129 

 
(vii) is registered as severely sight-impaired in a register kept by a local authority in 

England under section 77(1) of the Care Act 2014 (registers of sight-impaired adults), 
in Scotland, has been certified as blind and in consequence he is registered in a 
register maintained by or on behalf of a council constituted under section 2 of the 
Local Government (Scotland) Act 1994 or is registered as severely sight-impaired in a 
register kept by a local authority in Wales under section 18(1) of the Social Services 
and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014; or 

 
(b) the applicant— 
(i) is, or is treated as, incapable of work in accordance with the provisions of, and 

regulations made under, Part 12A of the SSCBA (incapacity for work); and 
 
(ii) has been incapable, or has been treated as incapable, of work for a continuous 

period of not less than— 
(aa) in the case of an applicant who is terminally ill within the meaning of section 

30B(4) of the SSCBA, 196 days; 
 
(bb) in any other case, 364 days. 
 
(2) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1)(a)(vii), a person who has ceased to be registered as 

blind or severely sight-impaired on regaining his eyesight is nevertheless to be treated as 
such and as satisfying the additional condition set out in that sub-paragraph for a period 
of 28 weeks following the date on which he ceased to be so registered. 

 
(3) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1)(b), once the disability premium is applicable to an 

applicant by virtue of his satisfying the additional condition specified in that provision, if 
he then ceases, for a period of 8 weeks or less, to be treated as incapable of work or to be 
incapable of work he is, on again becoming so incapable of work, immediately thereafter 
to be treated as satisfying the condition in sub-paragraph (1)(b). 

 
(4) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1)(b), once the disability premium is applicable to an 

applicant by virtue of his satisfying the additional condition specified in that provision, he 
is to continue to be treated as satisfying that condition for any period spent by him in 
undertaking a course of training provided under section 2 of the Employment and 
Training Act 1973 or section 2 of the Enterprise and New Towns (Scotland) Act 1990 or for 
any period during which he is in receipt of a training allowance. 

 
(5) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1)(b), where any two or more periods of incapacity 

are separated by a break of not more than 56 days, those periods are to be treated as one 
continuous period. 

 
 (6) For the purposes of this paragraph, a reference to a person who is or was in receipt of 

long-term incapacity benefit includes a person who is or was in receipt of short-term 
incapacity benefit at a rate equal to the long-term rate by virtue of section 30B(4)(a) of 
the Act (short-term incapacity benefit for a person who is terminally ill), or who would be 
or would have been in receipt of short-term incapacity benefit at such a rate but for the 
fact that the rate of short-term incapacity benefit already payable to him is or was equal 
to or greater than the long-term rate. 

 
(7) In the case of an applicant who is a welfare to work beneficiary (a person to whom 

regulation 13A(1) of the Social Security (Incapacity for Work) (General) Regulations 1995 
applies, and who again becomes incapable of work for the purposes of Part 12A of the 
SSCBA)— 

(a) the reference to a period of 8 weeks in sub-paragraph (3); and 
(b) the reference to a period of 56 days in sub-paragraph (5),  
in each case is to be treated as a reference to a period of 104 weeks. 

Page 221



130 

 
(8) The applicant is not entitled to the disability premium if he has, or is treated as having, 

limited capability for work. 
 

11. Severe disability premium 
 (1) The condition is that the applicant is a severely disabled person. 
 
(2) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1), an applicant is to be treated as being a severely 

disabled person if, and only if— 
(a) in the case of a single applicant, a lone parent or an applicant who is treated as having 

no partner in consequence of sub-paragraph (3)— 
(i) he is in receipt of attendance allowance, or the care component of disability living 

allowance at the highest or middle rate prescribed in accordance with section 72(3) 
of the SSCBA, or the daily living component of personal independence payment 
payable at either rate under Part 4 of the Welfare Reform Act 2012, or an AFIP; and 

 
(ii) subject to sub-paragraph (4), he has no non-dependants aged 18 or over normally 

residing with him or with whom he is normally residing; and 
 
(iii) no person is entitled to, and in receipt of, a carer's allowance under section 70 of the 

SSCBA in respect of caring for him; 
 
(b) in the case of an applicant who has a partner— 
(i) the applicant is in receipt of attendance allowance, or the care component of 

disability living allowance at the highest or middle rate prescribed in accordance with 
section 72(3) of the SSCBA or the daily living component of personal independence 
payment payable at either rate under Part 4 of the Welfare Reform Act 2012, or an 
AFIP; and 

 
(ii) his partner is also in receipt of such an allowance or, if he is a member of a 

polygamous marriage, all the partners of that marriage are in receipt of such an 
allowance; and 

 
(iii) subject to sub-paragraph (4), the applicant has no non-dependants aged 18 or over 

normally residing with him or with whom he is normally residing, 
 
and either a person is entitled to and in receipt of a carer's allowance in respect of caring 

for only one of a couple or, in the case of a polygamous marriage, for one or more but 
not all the partners of the marriage, or as the case may be, no person is entitled to and 
in receipt of such an allowance in respect of caring for either member of a couple or 
any partner of a polygamous marriage. 

 
(3) Where an applicant has a partner who does not satisfy the condition in sub-paragraph 

(2)(b)(ii), and that partner is blind or is treated as blind within the meaning of paragraph 
10(1)(a)(v) and (2), that partner is to be treated for the purposes of sub-paragraph 
(2)(b)(ii) as if he were not a partner of the applicant. 

 
(4) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (2)(a)(ii) and (2)(b)(iii) no account is to be taken of— 
(a) a person receiving attendance allowance, or disability living allowance by virtue of the 

care component at the highest or middle rate prescribed in accordance with section 
72(3) of the SSCBA, or the daily living component of personal independence payment 
payable at either rate prescribed in accordance with Part 4 of the Welfare Reform Act 
2012; or 

 
(b) a person who is blind or is treated as blind within the meaning of paragraph 10(1)(a)(v) 

and (2). 
 

Page 222



131 

(5) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (2)(b) a person is to be treated— 
(a) as being in receipt of attendance allowance, or the care component of disability living 

allowance at the highest or middle rate prescribed in accordance with section 72(3) of 
the SSCBA, or the daily living component of personal independence payment payable at 
either rate under Part 4 of the Welfare Reform Act 2012, or an AFIP if he would, but for 
his being a patient for a period exceeding 28 days, be so in receipt; 

 
(b) as being entitled to and in receipt of a carer's allowance if he would, but for the person 

for whom he was caring being a patient in hospital for a period exceeding 28 days, be 
so entitled and in receipt. 

 
(6) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (2)(a)(iii) and (2)(b), no account is to be taken of an 

award of carer's allowance to the extent that payment of such an award is back-dated for 
a period before the date on which the award is first paid. 

 
(7) In sub-paragraph (2)(a)(iii) and (b), references to a person being in receipt of a carer's 

allowance include references to a person who would have been in receipt of that 
allowance but for the application of a restriction under section 6B or 7 of the Social 
Security Fraud Act 2001 (loss of benefit provisions). 

 
12. Enhanced disability premium 

 (1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), the condition is that— 
(a) the Secretary of State has decided that the applicant has, or is to be treated as having, 

limited capability for work-related activity; or 
(b) the care component of disability living allowance is, or would be payable at the highest 

rate prescribed under section 72(3) of the SSCBA, but for a suspension of benefit in 
accordance with regulations made under section 113(2) of the SSCBA or but for an 
abatement as a consequence of hospitalisation be payable at the highest rate 
prescribed under section 72(3) of the SSCBA in respect of— 
(i) the applicant; or 
(ii) a member of the applicant's family, 
who has not attained the qualifying age for state pension credit; or 

(c) the daily living component of personal independence payment is, or would be payable 
at either rate under Part 4 of the Welfare Reform Act 2012, but for a suspension of 
benefit in accordance with section 86 of the Welfare Reform Act 2012 in respect of— 
(i) the applicant; or 
(ii) a member of the applicant's family, 
who has not attained the qualifying age for state pension credit. 

 
(2) Where the condition in sub-paragraph (1) ceases to be satisfied because of the death of a 

child or young person, the condition is that the applicant or partner is entitled to child 
benefit in respect of that person under section 145A of the SSCBA (entitlement after 
death of child or qualifying young person). 

 
(3) The condition is not satisfied if the person to whom sub-paragraph (1) refers is— 
(a) an applicant who— 

(i) is not a member of a couple or a polygamous marriage; and 
(ii) is a patient within the meaning of paragraph 58(11)(i) (treatment of child care 

charges) and has been for a period of more than 52 weeks; or 
(b) a member of a couple or a polygamous marriage where each member is a patient 

within the meaning of paragraph 58(11)(i) and has been for a period of more than 52 
weeks. 

 
13. Disabled child premium 

The condition is that a child or young person for whom the applicant or a partner of his is 
responsible and who is a member of the applicant's household— 

(a) is in receipt of disability living allowance or personal independence payment or is no 

Page 223



132 

longer in receipt of such allowance because he is a patient, provided that the child or 
young person continues to be a member of the family; or 

(b) is blind or treated as blind within the meaning of paragraph 10; or 
(c) is a child or young person in respect of whom section 145A of the SSCBA (entitlement 

after death of child or qualifying young person) applies for the purposes of entitlement 
to child benefit but only for the period prescribed under that section, and in respect of 
whom a disabled child premium was included in the applicant's applicable amount 
immediately before the death of that child or young person, or ceased to be included in 
the applicant's applicable amount because of that child or young person's death. 

 
14. Carer premium 

 (1) The condition is that the applicant or his partner is, or both of them are, entitled to a 
carer's allowance under section 70 of the SSCBA. 

 
(2) Where a carer premium is awarded but— 
(a) the person in respect of whose care the carer's allowance has been awarded dies; or 
 
(b) in any other case the person in respect of whom a carer premium has been awarded 

ceases to be entitled to a carer's allowance, 
 
the condition for the award of the premium is to be treated as satisfied for a period of eight 

weeks from the relevant date specified in sub-paragraph (3). 
 
(3) The relevant date for the purposes of sub-paragraph (2) is— 
(a) where sub-paragraph (2)(a) applies, the Sunday following the death of the person in 

respect of whose care a carer's allowance has been awarded or the date of death if the 
death occurred on a Sunday; 

 
(b) in any other case, the date on which the person who has been entitled to a carer's 

allowance ceases to be entitled to that allowance. 
 
(4) Where a person who has been entitled to a carer's allowance ceases to be entitled to that 

allowance and makes an application for a reduction, the condition for the award of the 
carer premium is to be treated as satisfied for a period of eight weeks from the date on 
which— 

(a) the person in respect of whose care the carer's allowance has been awarded dies; or 
 
(b) in any other case, the person who has been entitled to a carer's allowance ceased to be 

entitled to that allowance. 
 

15. Persons in receipt of concessionary payments 
 For the purpose of determining whether a premium is applicable to a person under paragraphs 

10 to 14, any concessionary payment made to compensate that person for the non-payment of 
any benefit mentioned in those paragraphs is to be treated as if it were a payment of that 
benefit. 

 
16. Persons in receipt of benefit for another 

 For the purposes of this Part of this Schedule, a person is to be regarded as being in receipt of 
any benefit if, and only if, it is paid in respect of him and is to be so regarded only for any 
period in respect of which that benefit is paid. 

 
17. Amounts of Premiums Specified  

 
 (1) Disability Premium— 
Premium 
 

Amount 
 

Page 224



133 

Premium 
 

Amount 
 

(a) where the applicant satisfies the 
condition in paragraph 9(a); 

 

(a) £31.00; 
 

(b) where the applicant satisfies the 
condition in paragraph 9(b). 

 

(b) £44.20. 
 

(2) Severe Disability Premium— 
 

(2) 
 

(a) where the applicant satisfies the 
condition in paragraph 11(2)(a); 

 

(a) £59.50; 
 

(b) where the applicant satisfies the 
condition in paragraph 11(2)(b)— 

 

 

(i) in a case where there is someone in 
receipt of a carer's allowance or if he 
or any partner satisfies that condition 
only by virtue of paragraph 11(5); 

 

(b)(i) £59.50; 
 

(i) in a case where there is no-one in 
receipt of such an allowance. 

 

(b)(ii) £119.00. 
 

(3) Disabled Child Premium. 
 

(3) £57.89 in respect of each child or young person 
in respect of whom the condition specified in 
paragraph 13 is satisfied. 

 
(4) Carer Premium. 
 

(4) £33.30 in respect of each person who satisfies 
the condition specified in paragraph 14. 

 
(5) Enhanced disability premium 
 

(5) 
 

 (a) £23.45 in respect of each child or young person 
in respect of whom the conditions specified in 
paragraph 12 are satisfied; 

 
 (b) £15.15 in respect of each person who is 

neither— 
 

 (i) a child or young person; nor 
 

 (ii) a member of a couple or a polygamous 
marriage, 

 
 in respect of whom the conditions specified in 

paragraph 12 are satisfied; 
 

 (c) £21.75 where the applicant is a member of a 
couple or a polygamous marriage and the 
conditions specified in paragraph 12 are 
satisfied in respect of a member of that couple 

Page 225



134 

Premium 
 

Amount 
 

or polygamous marriage. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
18. The components 

 Subject to paragraph 20 the applicant is entitled to one, but not both, of the components in 
paragraph 21 or 22 if— 
(a) the applicant or the applicant's partner has made a claim for employment and 

support allowance; 
(b) the Secretary of State has decided that the applicant or the applicant's partner has, 

or is to be treated as having, limited capability for work or limited capability for 
work-related activity; and 

(c) either— 
(i) the assessment phase as defined in section 24(2) of the Welfare Reform Act 

has ended; or 
(ii) regulation 7 of the Employment and Support Allowance Regulations 2008 

(circumstances where the condition that the assessment phase has ended 
before entitlement to the support component or the work related activity 
component arises does not apply) applies. 

 
19. 
 Subject to paragraph 20, the applicant is entitled to one, but not both, of the components in 

paragraphs 21 and 22 if the applicant or his partner is entitled to a converted employment and 
support allowance. 

20. 
(1) The applicant has no entitlement under paragraph 21 or 22 if the applicant is entitled to 

the disability premium under paragraphs 9 and 10. 
(2) Where the applicant and the applicant's partner each satisfies paragraph 21 or 22, the 

component to be included in the applicant's applicable amount is that which relates to 
the applicant. 

 
21. The work-related activity component 
 
(1)The applicant is entitled to the work-related activity component under this scheme if the 

Secretary of State has decided that the applicant or the applicant's partner has, or is to be 
treated as having, limited capability for work and receives the Employment and Support 
Allowance work-related activity component by virtue of The Employment and Support 
Allowance and Universal Credit (Miscellaneous Amendments and Transitional and Savings 
Provisions) Regulations 2017. 

 
22. The support component 
 The applicant is entitled to the support component if the Secretary of State has decided that 

the applicant or the applicant's partner has, or is to be treated as having, limited capability for 
work-related activity. 

 
23. Amount of Components 
The amount of the work-related activity component is £28.45. 
 
24. 
The amount of the support component is £34.80. 
 

Page 226



135 

25. Transitional Addition 
 (1) The applicant is entitled to the transitional addition calculated in accordance with 

paragraph 28 where the applicant or the applicant's partner (“the relevant person”)— 
(a) is entitled to a converted employment and support allowance; or 
(b) is appealing a conversion decision as described in regulation 5(2)(b) of the 

Employment and Support Allowance (Transitional Provisions, Housing Benefit and 
Council Tax Benefit) (Existing Awards) (No. 2) Regulations 2008 and— 
(i) is treated as having limited capability for work by virtue of regulation 30 of the 

Employment and Support Allowance Regulations 2008 as modified by the 
Employment and Support Allowance (Transitional Provisions, Housing Benefit 
and Council Tax Benefit) (Existing Awards) (No. 2) Regulations 2008; and 

(ii) is not in receipt of an income-related employment and support allowance, 
 unless the amount of the transitional addition calculated in accordance with 

paragraph 28 would be nil. 
 
(2) The applicant's entitlement to a transitional addition by virtue of this paragraph ends on 

any of the following— 
(a) the reduction of the transitional addition to nil in accordance with paragraph 29; 
(b) the termination of the applicant's award of reduction under this scheme; 
(c) the relevant person ceasing to meet the requirements of sub-paragraph (1)(a) or (b), 

as the case may be; 
(d) the applicant or the applicant's partner becoming entitled to an income-related 

employment and support allowance, an income-based jobseeker's allowance or 
income support; 

(e) 5th April 2020. 
 
26. 
(1) This paragraph applies where— 

(a) the applicant's entitlement to a transitional addition ends, by virtue of the 
termination of the applicant's award of reduction, under— 
(i) paragraph 25(2)(b); 
(ii) sub-paragraph (3)(b); or 
(iii) paragraph 27(3)(b); 

(b) within 12 weeks of that termination but before 5th April 2020 the applicant again 
becomes entitled to a reduction under this scheme; 

(c) in the reduction week in which the applicant again becomes entitled to a reduction 
under this scheme the relevant person is entitled to an employment and support 
allowance which is not income-related; and 

(d) at the date on which the applicant again becomes entitled to a reduction under this 
scheme, neither the applicant nor the applicant's partner is entitled to an income-
related employment and support allowance, an income-based jobseeker's 
allowance or income support. 

(2) Where this paragraph applies, the applicant is entitled, with effect from the day on which 
the applicant again becomes entitled to a reduction under this scheme, to a transitional 
addition of the amount of the transitional addition that would have applied had the 
applicant's entitlement to a transitional addition not ended (but taking account of the 
effect which any intervening change of circumstances would have had by virtue of 
paragraph 29), unless the amount of the transitional addition would be nil. 

(3) The applicant's entitlement to a transitional addition by virtue of this paragraph ends on 
any of the following— 
(a) the reduction of the transitional addition to nil in accordance with paragraph 29; 
(b) the termination of the applicant's award of a reduction under this scheme; 
(c) the relevant person no longer being entitled to the employment and support 

allowance referred to in sub-paragraph (1)(c); 
(d) the applicant or the applicant's partner becoming entitled to an income-related 

employment and support allowance, an income-based jobseeker's allowance or 
income support; 

Page 227



136 

(e) 5th April 2020. 
 
27. 
(1) This paragraph applies where— 

(a) the applicant's entitlement to a transitional addition ends, by virtue of the relevant 
person ceasing to be entitled to an employment and support allowance, under— 
(i) paragraph 25(2)(c); 
(ii) paragraph 26(3)(c); or 
(iii) sub-paragraph (3)(c); 

(b) before 5th April 2020 the relevant person again becomes entitled to an employment 
and support allowance which is not income-related; 

(c) at the date on which the relevant person again becomes entitled to an employment 
support allowance which is not income-related regulation 145(1) of the 
Employment and Support Allowance Regulations 2008 applies to the relevant 
person; and 

(d) at the date on which the relevant person again becomes entitled to an employment 
support allowance which is not income-related, neither the applicant nor the 
applicant's partner is entitled to an income-related employment and support 
allowance, an income-based jobseeker's allowance or income support. 

(2) Where this paragraph applies, the applicant is entitled, with effect from the day that the 
relevant person's entitlement to employment and support allowance takes effect for the 
purposes of a reduction under this scheme, to a transitional addition of the amount of the 
transitional addition that would have applied had the applicant's entitlement to a 
transitional addition not ended (but taking account of the effect which any intervening 
change of circumstances would have had by virtue of paragraph 29), unless the amount of 
the transitional addition would be nil. 

(3) The applicant's entitlement to a transitional addition by virtue of this paragraph ends on 
any of the following— 
(a) the reduction of the transitional addition to nil in accordance with paragraph 29; 
(b) the termination of the applicant's award of a reduction under this scheme; 
(c) the relevant person no longer being entitled to the employment and support 

allowance referred to in sub-paragraph (1)(b); 
(d) the applicant or the applicant's partner becoming entitled to an income-related 

employment and support allowance, an income-based jobseeker's allowance or 
income support; 

(e) 5th April 2020. 
 
28. Amount of Transitional Addition 
(1) Subject to paragraph 29, the amount of the transitional addition is the amount by which 

Amount A exceeds Amount B. 
(2) Where a conversion decision as described in regulation 5(2)(a) of the Employment and 

Support Allowance (Transitional Provisions, Housing Benefit and Council Tax Benefit) 
(Existing Awards) (No. 2) Regulations 2010 (“the 2010 Regulations”) is made in respect of 
the relevant person— 
(a) Amount A is the basic amount that would have applied on the day that decision took 

effect had that decision not been made; and 
(b) Amount B is the basic amount that applied on that day as a result of that decision. 

(3) Where the relevant person is appealing a conversion decision as described in regulation 
5(2)(b) of the 2010 Regulations and is treated as having limited capability for work by 
virtue of regulation 30 of the Employment and Support Allowance Regulations 2008 as 
modified by the 2010 Regulations— 
(a) Amount A is the basic amount that would have applied on the day the relevant 

person was first treated as having limited capability for work if the relevant person 
had not been so treated; and 

(b) Amount B is the basic amount that applied on that day as a result of the relevant 
person being so treated. 

(4) In this paragraph and paragraph 29, “basic amount” means the aggregate of such 

Page 228



137 

amounts as may apply in the applicant's case in accordance with paragraph 26(1)(a) to (e) 
or paragraph 27(2)(a) to (g) (applicable amounts). 

 
29. 
(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), where there is a change of circumstances which leads to an 

increase in the applicant's basic amount, the transitional addition that applies 
immediately before the change of circumstances must be reduced by the amount by 
which Amount C exceeds Amount D. 

(2) If Amount C exceeds Amount D by more than the amount of the transitional addition that 
applies immediately before the change of circumstances, that transitional addition must 
be reduced to nil. 

(3) Amount C is the basic amount that applies as a result of the increase. 
 
(4) Amount D is the basic amount that applied immediately before the increase. 

  

Page 229



138 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Schedule 4 
Amount of alternative maximum council tax reduction: pensioners and persons who are not 

pensioners 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 230



139 

(1) Subject to paragraphs 2 and 3, the alternative maximum council tax reduction in respect 
of a day for the purpose of paragraph 31 (alternative maximum council tax reduction: 
pensioners and persons who are not pensioners) is determined in accordance with the 
following Table  and in line with the Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed 
Requirements) (England) (Amendment), the rates for pensioners will be up-rated by the 
relevant Statutory Instrument each year,  and in this Table— 
(a) “second adult” means any person or persons residing with the applicant to whom 

paragraph 15(2) (class C) or 18(2) (class F) (as the case may be) applies; and 
(b) “persons to whom paragraph 75(1) of this scheme applies” includes any person to 

whom that paragraph would apply were they, and their partner if they had one, 
below the qualifying age for state pension credit. 

 
(2) In this Schedule “council tax due in respect of that day” means the council tax payable 

under section 10 of the 1992 Act less: 
(a) any reductions made in consequence of any enactment in, or under, the 1992 Act 

(other than a reduction under this scheme); and 
(b) in a case to which sub-paragraph (c) in column (1) of the table below applies, the 

amount of any discount which may be appropriate to the dwelling under the 1992 
Act. 

(1) 
 

(2) 
 

Second adult 
 

Alternative maximum council tax 
reduction 

 
(a) Where the second adult or all second 

adults are in receipt of income support, 
an income-related employment and 
support allowance or state pension 
credit or are persons on an income-
based jobseeker's allowance; 

 

(a) 25 per cent of the council tax due in 
respect of that day; 

 

(b) where the gross income of the second 
adult or, where there is more than one 
second adult, their aggregate gross 
income disregarding any income of 
persons on income support, an income-
related employment and support 
allowance, state pension credit or an 
income-based jobseeker's allowance— 

 

(b) 
 

(i) is less than £183.00 per week; 
 

(i) 15 per cent of the council tax due in 
respect of that day; 

 
(ii) is not less than £183.00 per week but 

less than £239.00 per week; 
 

(ii) 7.5 per cent of the council tax due in 
respect of that day; 

 
(c) where the dwelling would be wholly 

occupied by one or more persons to 
whom paragraph 75(1) of this scheme 
applies but for the presence of one or 
more second adults who are in receipt 
of income support, state pension credit, 
an income-related employment and 
support allowance or are persons on an 
income-based jobseeker's allowance. 

(c) 100 per cent of the council tax due in 
respect of that day. 

 

Page 231



140 

(1) 
 

(2) 
 

Second adult 
 

Alternative maximum council tax 
reduction 

 
 
 
2. 
In determining a second adult's gross income for the purposes of this Schedule, the following must 

be disregarded from that income— 
(a) any attendance allowance, any disability living allowance, any personal independence 

payment under Part 4 of the Welfare Reform Act 2012 or an AFIP; 
 
(b) any payment made under or by the Trusts, the Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET Limited, 

the Skipton Fund, the Caxton Foundation or the Independent Living Fund (2006) which, 
had his income fallen to be calculated under paragraph 54 (calculation of income other 
than earnings: persons who are not pensioners), would have been disregarded under 
paragraph 28 of Schedule 8 (income in kind); and 

 
(c) any payment which, had his income fallen to be calculated under paragraph 54, would 

have been disregarded under paragraph 41 of Schedule 8 (payments made under 
certain trusts and certain other payments). 

 
3. 
Where there are two or more second adults residing with the applicant for a reduction under this 

scheme and any such second adult falls to be disregarded for the purposes of discount in 
accordance with Schedule 1 to the 1992 Act, his income must be disregarded in determining 
the amount of any alternative maximum council tax reduction, unless that second adult is a 
member of a couple and his partner does not fall to be disregarded for the purposes of 
discount. 

 
  

Page 232



141 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Schedule 5 
Sums disregarded from applicant’s earnings: pensioners 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 233



142 

 
1. 
Where two or more of paragraphs 2 to 5 apply in any particular case the overall maximum sum 

which falls to be disregarded in that case under those paragraphs is restricted to— 
(a) £25 in the case of a lone parent; 
(b) £20 in any other case. 
 
2. 
In a case where an applicant is a lone parent, £25 of earnings. 
 
3. 
(1) In a case of earnings from any employment or employments to which sub-paragraph (2) 

applies, £20. 
 
(2) This paragraph applies to employment— 

(a) as a part-time fire-fighter employed by a fire and rescue authority constituted by a 
scheme under section 2 of the Fire and Rescue Services Act 2004 or a scheme to 
which section 4 of that Act applies; 

(ab) as a part-time fire-fighter employed by a fire and rescue authority created by 
 an order under section 4A of the Fire and Rescue Services Act 2004; 
(b) a part-time fire-fighter employed by the Scottish Fire and Rescue Service established 

under section 1A of the Fire (Scotland) Act 2005(11); 
(c) as an auxiliary coastguard in respect of coast rescue activities; 
(d) in the manning or launching of a lifeboat if the employment is part-time; 
(e) as a member of any territorial or reserve force prescribed in Part I of Schedule 6 to 

the Social Security (Contributions) Regulations 2001. 
 
(3) If 

(a) any of the earnings of the applicant or, if he has a partner, his partner, or both of 
them, are disregarded under sub-paragraph (1); and 

(b) either of them has, or both of them have, other earnings, 
 so much of those other earnings as would not, in the aggregate with the earnings 

disregarded under that sub-paragraph, exceed £20. 
 
4. 
(1) If the applicant or, if he has a partner, his partner is a carer, or both are carers, £20 of any 

earnings received from his or their employment. 
 
(2) Where the carer premium is awarded in respect of the applicant and of any partner of his, 

their earnings must for the purposes of this paragraph be aggregated, but the amount to 
be disregarded in accordance with sub-paragraph (1) must not exceed £20 of the 
aggregated amount. 

 
(3) In this paragraph the applicant or his partner is a carer if paragraph 14 of Part 3 of 

Schedule 3 (amount applicable for carers) is satisfied in respect of him. 
 
5. 
(1) £20 is disregarded if the applicant or, if he has a partner, his partner— 
(a) is in receipt of— 

(i) long-term incapacity benefit under section 30A of the SSCBA; 
(ii) severe disablement allowance under section 68 of that Act; 
(iii) attendance allowance under sections 64 of that Act; 
(iv) disability living allowance; 
(v) personal independence payment; 
(vi) an AFIP; 
(vii) any mobility supplement under article 20 of the Naval, Military and Air Forces 

Etc. (Disablement and Death) Service Pensions Order 2006 (including such a 

Page 234



143 

supplement by virtue of any other scheme or order) or under article 25A of the 
Personal Injuries (Civilians) Scheme 1983; 

 
(viii) the disability element or the severe disability element of working tax credit 

under Schedule 2 to the Working Tax Credit (Entitlement and Maximum Rate) 
Regulations 2002; or 

(ix) main phase employment and support allowance; or 
 
(b) is or are registered as severely sight-impaired in a register kept by a local authority in 

England under section 77(1) of the Care Act 2014 (registers of sight-impaired adults), or 
in Scotland, has been certified as blind and in consequence is registered in a register 
maintained by or on behalf of a council constituted under section 2 of the Local 
Government (Scotland) Act 1994 or is registered as severely sight-impaired in a register 
kept by a local authority in Wales under section 18(1) of the Social Services and Well-
being (Wales) Act 2014; or  

(c) is, or is treated as, incapable of work in accordance with the provisions of, and 
regulations made under, Part 12A of the SSCBA (incapacity for work), and has been 
incapable, or has been treated as incapable, of work for a continuous period of not less 
than— 
(i) in the case of an applicant who is terminally ill within the meaning of section 

30B(4) of the Act, 196 days; 
(ii) in any other case, 364 days; or 

(d) has, or is treated as having, limited capacity for work within the meaning of section 1(4) 
of the Welfare Reform Act 1997 or limited capability for work-related activity within the 
meaning of section 2(5) of that Act and either— 
(i) the assessment phase as defined in section 24(2) of the Welfare Reform Act has 

ended; or 
(ii) regulation 7 of the Employment and Support Allowance Regulations 2008 or 

regulation 7 of the Employment and Support Allowance Regulations 2013 
(circumstances where the condition that the assessment phase has ended before 
entitlement to the support component arising does not apply) applies. 

 
(2) Subject to sub-paragraph (3), £20 is disregarded if the applicant or, if he has a partner, his 

partner has, within a period of 8 weeks ending on the day in respect of which the 
applicant or his partner attains the qualifying age for state pension credit, had an award 
of housing benefit or council tax benefit or been in receipt of a reduction under this 
scheme and— 
(a) £20 was disregarded in respect of earnings taken into account in that award; and 
(b) the person whose earnings qualified for the disregard continues in employment 

after the termination of that award. 
 
(3) The disregard of £20 specified in sub-paragraph (2) applies so long as there is no break, 

other than a break which does not exceed 8 weeks, in a person's— 
(a) entitlement to housing benefit; or 
(b) receipt of a reduction under a council tax reduction scheme; or 
(c) employment, 

following the first day in respect of which that benefit is awarded under this scheme. 
 
(4) £20 is the maximum amount which may be disregarded under this paragraph, 

notwithstanding that, where the applicant has a partner, both the applicant and his 
partner satisfy the requirements of this paragraph. 

 
6.— 
(1) Where— 

(a) the applicant (or if the applicant is a member of a couple, at least one member of 
that couple) is a person to whom sub-paragraph (5) applies; 

(b) the Secretary of State is satisfied that that person is undertaking exempt work as 

Page 235



144 

defined in sub-paragraph (6); and 
(c) paragraph 35 (applicant in receipt of guarantee credit: pensioners) does not apply, 

the amount specified in sub-paragraph (7) (“the specified amount”). 
 
(2) Where this paragraph applies, paragraphs 1 to 5 and 8 do not apply; but in any case where 

the applicant is a lone parent, and the specified amount would be less than the amount 
specified in paragraph 2, then paragraph 2 applies instead of this paragraph. 

 
(3) Notwithstanding paragraph 33 (calculation of income and capital of members applicant's 

family and of a polygamous marriage), if sub-paragraph (1) applies to one member of a 
couple (““A””) it does not apply to the other member of that couple (“B”) except to the 
extent provided in sub-paragraph (4). 

 
(4) Where A's earnings are less than the specified amount, there is also to be disregarded so 

much of B's earnings as would not when aggregated with A's earnings exceed the 
specified amount; but the amount of B's earnings which may be disregarded under this 
sub-paragraph is limited to a maximum of £20 unless the Secretary of State is satisfied 
that B is also undertaking exempt work. 

 
(5) This sub-paragraph applies to a person who is— 

(a) in receipt of a contributory employment and support allowance; 
(b) in receipt of incapacity benefit; 
(c) in receipt of severe disablement allowance; 
(d) being credited with earnings on the grounds of incapacity for work or limited 

capability for work under regulation 8B of the Social Security (Credits) Regulations 
1975. 

(6) “Exempt work” means work of the kind described in; 
(a) regulation 45(2), (3) or (4) of the Employment and Support Allowance Regulations 2008 or 
regulation 39(1)(a), (b) or (c) of the Employment and Support Allowance Regulations 
2013; or (as the case may be); or 
(b) regulation 17(2), (3) or (4) of the Social Security (Incapacity for Work) (General) 

Regulations 1995, 
 and, in determining for the purposes of this paragraph whether an applicant or a member 

of a couple is undertaking any type of exempt work, it is immaterial whether that person 
or their partner is also undertaking other work. 

 
(7) The specified amount is the amount of money from time to time mentioned in any 

provision referred to in sub-paragraph (6) by virtue of which the work referred to in sub-
paragraph (1) is exempt (or, where more than one such provision is relevant and those 
provisions mention different amounts of money, the highest of those amounts). 

 
7. 
 Any amount or the balance of any amount which would fall to be disregarded under paragraph 

18 or 19 of Schedule 6 had the applicant's income which does not consist of earnings been 
sufficient to entitle him to the full amount disregarded thereunder. 

8. 
 Except where the applicant or his partner qualifies for a £20 disregard under the preceding 

provisions of this Schedule— 
(a) £5 is to be disregarded if an applicant who has no partner has earnings; 
 
(b) £10 is to be disregarded if an applicant who has a partner has earnings. 
 
9. 
Any earnings, other than earnings referred to in paragraph 40(9)(b), derived from employment 

which ended before the day in respect of which the applicant first satisfies the conditions for 
entitlement to a reduction under this scheme. 

10.— 

Page 236



145 

(1) In a case where the applicant is a person who satisfies at least one of the conditions set 
out in sub-paragraph (2), and his net earnings equal or exceed the total of the amounts 
set out in sub-paragraph (3), the amount of his earnings that falls to be disregarded under 
this Schedule is to be increased by £17.10. 

 
(2) The conditions of this sub-paragraph are that— 
(a) the applicant, or if he has a partner, either the applicant or his partner, is a person to 

whom regulation 20(1)(c) of the Working Tax Credit (Entitlement and Maximum Rate) 
Regulations 2002 applies; or 

 
(b) the applicant— 
(i) is, or any partner of his is, aged at least 25 and is engaged in remunerative work for 

on average not less than 30 hours per week; or 
 
(ii) if he is a member of a couple— 
(aa) at least one member of that couple is engaged in remunerative work for on 

average not less than 16 hours per week; and 
 
(bb) his family includes at least one child or young person; or 
 
(iii) is a lone parent who is engaged in remunerative work for on average not less than 

16 hours per week; or 
 
(iv) is, or if he has a partner, one of them is, engaged in remunerative work for on 

average not less than 16 hours per week and paragraph 5(1) above is satisfied in 
respect of that person. 

 
(3) The following are the amounts referred to in sub-paragraph (1)— 
(a) any amount disregarded under this Schedule; 
(b) the amount of child care charges calculated as deductible under paragraph 57(1)(c) 

(deductions from income of certain child care charges); and 
(c) £17.10. 
(4) The provisions of paragraph 10 (remunerative work) apply in determining whether or not 

a person works for on average not less than 30 hours per week, but as if the reference to 
16 hours in sub-paragraph (1) of that paragraph was a reference to 30 hours. 

 
11. 
Where a payment of earnings is made in a currency other than Sterling, any banking charge or 

commission payable in converting to that payment into Sterling. 
  

Page 237



146 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Schedule 6 
Amounts to be disregarded in the calculation of income other than earnings: pensioners 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1. 

Page 238



147 

In addition to any sum which falls to be disregarded in accordance with paragraphs 2 to 6, any of 
the following— 
(a) a war disablement pension (except insofar as such a pension falls to be disregarded 

under paragraph 2 or 3); 
(b) a war widow's pension or war widower's pension; 
(c) a pension payable to a person as a widow, widower or surviving civil partner under 

any power of Her Majesty otherwise than under an enactment to make provision 
about pensions for or in respect of persons who have been disabled or have died in 
consequence of service as members of the armed forces of the Crown; 

(d) a guaranteed income payment and, if the amount of that payment has been abated 
to less than £10 by a pension or payment falling within article 39(1)(a) or (b) of the 
Armed Forces and Reserve Forces (Compensation Scheme) Order 2011, so much of 
that pension or payment as would not, in aggregate with the amount of any 
guaranteed income payment disregarded, exceed £10; 

(e) a payment made to compensate for the non-payment of such a pension or payment 
as is mentioned in any of the preceding sub-paragraphs; 

(f) a pension paid by the government of a country outside Great Britain which is 
analogous to any of the pensions or payments mentioned in sub-paragraphs (a) to 
(d) above; 

(g) a pension paid by a government to victims of National Socialist persecution. 
 
2. 
The whole of any amount included in a pension to which paragraph 1 relates in respect of— 

(a) the applicant's need for constant attendance; 
(b) the applicant's exceptionally severe disablement. 

 
3. 
Any mobility supplement under article 20 of the Naval, Military and Air Forces Etc. (Disablement 

and Death) Service Pensions Order 2006 (including such a supplement by virtue of any other 
scheme or order) or under article 25A of the Personal Injuries (Civilians) Scheme 1983 or any 
payment intended to compensate for the non-payment of such a supplement. 

4. 
Any supplementary pension under article 23(2) of the Naval, Military and Air Forces Etc. 

(Disablement and Death) Service Pensions Order 2006 (pensions to surviving spouses and 
surviving civil partners) and any analogous payment made by the Secretary of State for 
Defence to any person who is not a person entitled under that Order. 

5. 
In the case of a pension awarded at the supplementary rate under article 27(3) of the Personal 

Injuries (Civilians) Scheme 1983 (pensions to widows, widowers or surviving civil partners), the 
sum specified in paragraph 1(c) of Schedule 4 to that Scheme. 

6.— 
(1) Any payment which is— 

(a) made under any of the Dispensing Instruments to a widow, widower or surviving 
civil partner of a person— 
(i) whose death was attributable to service in a capacity analogous to service as a 

member of the armed forces of the Crown; and 
(ii) whose service in such capacity terminated before 31st March 1973; and 

(b) equal to the amount specified in article 23(2) of the Naval, Military and Air Forces 
Etc. (Disablement and Death) Service Pensions Order 2006. 

 
(2) In this paragraph “the Dispensing Instruments” means the Order in Council of 19th 

December 1881, the Royal Warrant of 27th October 1884 and the Order by His Majesty of 
14th January 1922 (exceptional grants of pay, non-effective pay and allowances). 

 
 
 
7. 

Page 239



148 

£15 of any widowed parent's allowance to which the applicant is entitled under section 39A of the 
SSCBA. 

8. 
£15 of any widowed mother's allowance to which the applicant is entitled under section 37 of the 

SSCBA. 
9. 
Where the applicant occupies a dwelling as his home and he provides in that dwelling board and 

lodging accommodation, an amount, in respect of each person for whom such accommodation 
is provided for the whole or any part of a week, equal to— 
(a) where the aggregate of any payments made in respect of any one week in respect of 

such accommodation provided to such person does not exceed £20, 100 per cent. 
of such payments; or 

(b) where the aggregate of any such payments exceeds £20, £20 and 50 per cent. of the 
excess over £20. 

 
10. 
If the applicant— 

(a) owns the freehold or leasehold interest in any property or is a tenant of any 
property; and 

(b) occupies a part of that property; and 
(c) has an agreement with another person allowing that person to occupy another part 

of that property on payment of rent and— 
(i) the amount paid by that person is less than £20 per week, the whole of that 

amount; or 
(ii) the amount paid is £20 or more per week, £20. 

 
11. 
Where an applicant receives income under an annuity purchased with a loan, which satisfies the 

following conditions— 
(a) that the loan was made as part of a scheme under which not less than 90 per cent. 

of the proceeds of the loan were applied to the purchase by the person to whom it 
was made of an annuity ending with his life or with the life of the survivor of two or 
more persons (in this paragraph referred to as “the annuitants”) who include the 
person to whom the loan was made; 

(b) that at the time the loan was made the person to whom it was made or each of the 
annuitants had attained the age of 65 or, if it was higher at the time, pensionable 
age; 

(c) that the loan was secured on a dwelling in Great Britain and the person to whom the 
loan was made or one of the annuitants owns an estate or interest in that dwelling; 

(d) that the person to whom the loan was made or one of the annuitants occupies the 
dwelling on which it was secured as his home at the time the interest is paid; and 

(e) that the interest payable on the loan is paid by the person to whom the loan was 
made or by one of the annuitants, 

the amount, calculated on a weekly basis, equal to— 
(i) where, or insofar as, section 369 of the Income and Corporation Taxes Act 1988 

(mortgage interest payable under deduction of tax) applies to the payments of 
interest on the loan, the interest which is payable after deduction of a sum equal 
to income tax on such payments at the applicable percentage of income tax 
within the meaning of section 369(1A) of that Act; 

(ii) in any other case, the interest which is payable on the loan without deduction of 
such a sum. 

 
12.— 
(1) Any payment, other than a payment to which sub-paragraph (2) applies, made to the 

applicant by Trustees in exercise of a discretion exercisable by them. 
(2) This sub-paragraph applies to payments made to the applicant by Trustees in exercise of a 

discretion exercisable by them for the purpose of— 

Page 240



149 

(a) obtaining food, ordinary clothing or footwear or household fuel; 
(b) the payment of rent, council tax or water charges for which that applicant or his 

partner is liable; 
 
(c) meeting housing costs of a kind specified in Schedule 2 to the State Pension Credit 

Regulations 2002. 
 
(3) In a case to which sub-paragraph (2) applies, £20 or— 

(a) if the payment is less than £20, the whole payment; 
(b) if, in the applicant's case, £10 is disregarded in accordance with paragraph 1(a) to 

(g), £10 or the whole payment if it is less than £10; or 
(c) if, in the applicant's case, £15 is disregarded under paragraph 7 or paragraph 8 

and— 
(i) he has no disregard under paragraph 1(a) to (g), £5 or the whole payment if it 

is less than £5; 
(ii) he has a disregard under paragraph 1(a) to (g), nil. 

 
(4) For the purposes of this paragraph, “ordinary clothing or footwear” means clothing or 

footwear for normal daily use, but does not include school uniforms, or clothing and 
footwear used solely for sporting activities. 

 
13. 
Any increase in pension or allowance under Part 2 or 3 of the Naval, Military and Air Forces Etc. 

(Disablement and Death) Service Pensions Order 2006 paid in respect of a dependent other 
than the pensioner's partner. 

14. 
Any payment ordered by a court to be made to the applicant or the applicant's partner in 

consequence of any accident, injury or disease suffered by the person or a child of the person 
to or in respect of whom the payments are made. 

15. 
Periodic payments made to the applicant or the applicant's partner under an agreement entered 

into in settlement of a claim made by the applicant or, as the case may be, the applicant's 
partner for an injury suffered by him. 

16. 
Any income which is payable outside the United Kingdom for such period during which there is a 

prohibition against the transfer to the United Kingdom of that income. 
17. 
Any banking charges or commission payable in converting to Sterling payments of income made in 

a currency other than Sterling. 
18. 
Where the applicant makes a parental contribution in respect of a student attending a course at 

an establishment in the United Kingdom or undergoing education in the United Kingdom, 
which contribution has been assessed for the purposes of calculating— 
(a) under, or pursuant to regulations made under powers conferred by, section 22 of 

the Teaching and Higher Education Act 1998, that student's award; 
(b) under regulations made in exercise of the powers conferred by section 49 of the 

Education (Scotland) Act 1980, that student's bursary, scholarship, or other 
allowance under that section or under regulations made in exercise of the powers 
conferred by section 73 of that Act of 1980, any payment to that student under that 
section; or 

(c) the student's student loan, 
 
an amount equal to the weekly amount of that parental contribution, but only in respect of the 

period for which that contribution is assessed as being payable. 
19.— 
(1) Where the applicant is the parent of a student aged under 25 in advanced education who 

either— 

Page 241



150 

(a) is not in receipt of any award, grant or student loan in respect of that education; or 
 
(b) is in receipt of an award bestowed by virtue of the Teaching and Higher Education Act 

1998, or regulations made thereunder, or a bursary, scholarship or other allowance 
under section 49(1) of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980, or a payment under section 
73 of that Act of 1980, 

 
and the applicant makes payments by way of a contribution towards the student's 

maintenance, other than a parental contribution falling within paragraph 18, an amount 
specified in sub-paragraph (2) in respect of each week during the student's term. 

 
(2) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1), the amount is to be equal to— 
(a) the weekly amount of the payments; or 
 
(b) the amount by way of a personal allowance for a single applicant under 25 less the 

weekly amount of any award, bursary, scholarship, allowance or payment referred to in 
sub-paragraph (1)(b), 

 
whichever is less.  In line with the Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) 

(England) (Amendment), the rates for pensioners will be up-rated by the relevant Statutory 
Instrument each year 

 
20.— 
(1) Where an applicant's applicable amount includes at least one child or young person, £15 

of any payment of maintenance, whether under a court order or not, which is made or 
due to be made by the applicant's spouse, civil partner, former spouse or former civil 
partner or the applicant's partner's spouse, civil partner, former spouse, or former civil 
partner. 

 
(2) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1), where more than one maintenance payment falls 

to be taken into account in any week, all such payments must be aggregated and treated 
as if they were a single payment. 

 
21. 
Except in a case which falls under paragraph 10 of Schedule 5, where the applicant is a person 

who satisfies any of the conditions of sub-paragraph (2) of that paragraph, any amount of 
working tax credit up to £17.10. 

22. 
Where the total value of any capital specified in Part 2 (capital disregarded only for the purposes 

of determining deemed income) of Schedule 9 does not exceed £10,000, any income actually 
derived from such capital. 

23. 
Except in the case of income from capital specified in Part 2 of Schedule 9, any actual income from 

capital. 
24. 
Where the applicant, or the person who was the partner of the applicant on 31st March 2003, was 

entitled on that date to income support or an income-based jobseeker's allowance but ceased 
to be so entitled on or before 5th April 2003 by virtue only of regulation 13 of the Housing 
Benefit (General) Amendment (No. 3) Regulations 1999 as in force at that date, the whole of 
his income. 

  

Page 242



151 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Schedule 7 
Sums disregarded in the calculation of earnings: persons who are not pensioners 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 243



152 

 
1. 
In the case of an applicant who has been engaged in remunerative work as an employed earner 

or, had the employment been in Great Britain, would have been so engaged— 
(a) where— 

(i) the employment has been terminated because of retirement; and 
(ii) on retirement he is entitled to a retirement pension under the Act, or is not so 

entitled solely because of his failure to satisfy the contribution conditions, 
 any earnings paid or due to be paid in respect of that employment, but only for a 

period commencing on the day immediately after the date on which the 
employment was terminated; 

(b) where before the first day of entitlement to a reduction under this scheme the 
employment has been terminated otherwise than because of retirement, any 
earnings paid or due to be paid in respect of that employment except— 

  (i) any payment of the nature described in— 
  (aa) paragraph 51(1)(e) (retainer), or 
  (bb) section 28, 64 or 68 of the Employment Rights Act 1996 (guarantee 

payments,  suspension from work on medical or maternity grounds); and 
  (ii) any award, sum or payment of the nature described in— 

(aa) paragraph 51(1)(g) or (i) (compensation etc. relating to employment), or 
(bb) section 34 or 70 of the Employment Rights Act 1996 (guarantee payments 

and suspension from work: complaints to employment tribunals), 
  including any payment made following the settlement of a complaint to an 

employment  tribunal or of court proceedings; 
(c) where before the first day of entitlement to a reduction under this scheme— 

(i) the employment has not been terminated, but 
(ii) the applicant is not engaged in remunerative work, 

 any earnings paid or due to be paid in respect of that employment except any 
payment or remuneration of the nature described in paragraph (b)(i) or (ii)(bb) or 
paragraph 51(1)(j) (statutory sick pay etc.). 

 
2. 
In the case of an applicant who, before the first day of entitlement to a reduction under this 

scheme— 
(a) has been engaged in part-time employment as an employed earner or, where the 

employment has been outside Great Britain, would have been so engaged had the 
employment been in Great Britain; and 

(b) has ceased to be engaged in that employment, whether or not that employment has 
been terminated, 

any earnings paid or due to be paid in respect of that employment except— 
(i) where that employment has been terminated, any payment of the nature 

described in paragraph 1(b)(i) or (ii)(bb); 
(ii) where that employment has not been terminated, any payment or remuneration 

of the nature described in paragraph 1(b)(i) or (ii)(bb) or paragraph 51(1)(j) 
(statutory sick pay etc.). 

 
3. 
In the case of an applicant who has been engaged in remunerative work or part-time employment 

as a self-employed earner or, had the employment been in Great Britain, would have been so 
engaged and who has ceased to be so employed, from the date of the cessation of his 
employment, any earnings derived from that employment except earnings to which paragraph 
53(3) and (4) (earnings of self-employed earners) apply. 

4.— 
(1) In a case to which this paragraph applies and paragraph 5 does not apply, £20; but 

notwithstanding paragraph 33 (calculation of income and capital of members of an 
applicant's family and of a polygamous marriage) if this paragraph applies to an applicant 
it does not apply to his partner except where, and to the extent that, the earnings of the 

Page 244



153 

applicant which are to be disregarded under this paragraph are less than £20. 
 
(2) This paragraph applies where the applicant's applicable amount includes an amount by 

way of the disability premium, severe disability premium, work-related activity 
component or support component under Schedule 3 (applicable amounts: persons who 
are not pensioners). 

 
(3) This paragraph applies where— 
(a) the applicant is a member of a couple and his applicable amount includes an amount by 

way of the disability premium under Schedule 3; and 
(b) he or his partner has not attained the qualifying age for state pension credit and at 

least one is engaged in employment. 
 
5. 
In a case where the applicant is a lone parent, £25. 
 
6.— 
(1) In a case to which neither paragraph 4 nor paragraph 5 applies to the applicant and, 

subject to sub-paragraph (2), where the applicant's applicable amount includes an 
amount by way of the carer premium under Schedule 3 (applicable amounts: persons who 
are not pensioners), £20 of the earnings of the person who is, or at any time in the 
preceding eight weeks was, in receipt of carer's allowance or treated in accordance with 
paragraph 14(2) of that Schedule as being in receipt of carer's allowance. 

 
(2) Where the carer premium is awarded in respect of the applicant and of any partner of his, 

their earnings must for the purposes of this paragraph be aggregated, but the amount to 
be disregarded in accordance with sub-paragraph (1) must not exceed £20 of the 
aggregated amount. 

 
7. 
Where the carer premium is awarded in respect of an applicant who is a member of a couple and 

whose earnings are less than £20, but is not awarded in respect of the other member of the 
couple, and that other member is engaged in an employment— 

(a) specified in paragraph 9(1), so much of the other member's earnings as would not 
when aggregated with the amount disregarded under paragraph 6 exceed £20; 

 
(b) other than one specified in paragraph 9(1), so much of the other member's earnings 

from such other employment up to £10 as would not when aggregated with the 
amount disregarded under paragraph 5 exceed £20. 

 
8. 
In a case where paragraphs 4, 6, 7 and 9 do not apply to the applicant and he is one of a couple 

and a member of that couple is in employment, £10; but, notwithstanding paragraph 33 
(calculation of income and capital of members of applicant's family and of a polygamous 
marriage), if this paragraph applies to an applicant it must not apply to his partner except 
where, and to the extent that, the earnings of the applicant which are to be disregarded under 
this paragraph are less than £10. 

9.— 
(1) In a case where paragraphs 4, 6, 7 and 9 do not apply to the applicant, £20 of earnings 

derived from one or more employments as— 
(a) a part-time fire-fighter employed by a fire and rescue authority constituted by a scheme 

under section 2 of the Fire and Rescue Services Act 2004 or a scheme to which section 
4 of that Act applies; 

 
(b) a part-time fire-fighter employed by a fire and rescue authority (as defined in section 1 

of the Fire (Scotland) Act 2005) or a joint fire and rescue board constituted by an 
amalgamation scheme made under section 2(1) of that Act; 

Page 245



154 

 
(c) an auxiliary coastguard in respect of coast rescue activities; 
 
(d) a person engaged part-time in the manning or launching of a life boat; 
 
(e) a member of any territorial or reserve force prescribed in Part I of Schedule 6 to the 

Social Security (Contributions) Regulations 2001; 
 
but, notwithstanding paragraph 33 (calculation of income and capital of members of 

applicant's family and of a polygamous marriage), if this paragraph applies to an applicant 
it must not apply to his partner except to the extent specified in sub-paragraph (2). 

 
(2) If the applicant's partner is engaged in employment— 
(a) specified in sub-paragraph (1), so much of his earnings as would not in aggregate with 

the amount of the applicant's earnings disregarded under this paragraph exceed £20; 
(b) other than one specified in sub-paragraph (1), so much of his earnings from that 

employment up to £10 as would not in aggregate with the applicant's earnings 
disregarded under this paragraph exceed £20. 

 
10. 
Where the applicant is engaged in one or more employments specified in paragraph 9(1), but his 

earnings derived from such employments are less than £20 in any week and he is also engaged 
in any other employment, so much of his earnings from that other employment, up to £5 if he 
is a single applicant, or up to £10 if he has a partner, as would not in aggregate with the 
amount of his earnings disregarded under paragraph 9 exceed £20. 

11. 
In a case to which none of the paragraphs 4 to 10 applies, £5. 
12.— 
(1) Where— 
(a) the applicant (or if the applicant is a member of a couple, at least one member of that 

couple) is a person to whom sub-paragraph (5) applies; 
 
(b) the Secretary of State is satisfied that that person is undertaking exempt work as 

defined in sub-paragraph (6); and 
 
(c) paragraph 14 does not apply, 
 
the amount specified in sub-paragraph (7) (“the specified amount”). 
 
(2) Where this paragraph applies, paragraphs 4 to 11 do not apply; but in any case where the 

applicant is a lone parent, and the specified amount would be less than the amount 
specified in paragraph 5, then paragraph 5 applies instead of this paragraph. 

 
(3) Notwithstanding paragraph 33 (calculation of income and capital of members of 

applicant's family and of a polygamous marriage), if sub-paragraph (1) applies to one 
member of a couple (“A”) it does not apply to the other member of that couple (“B”) 
except to the extent provided in sub-paragraph (4). 

 
(4) Where A's earnings are less than the specified amount, there must also be disregarded so 

much of B's earnings as would not when aggregated with A's earnings exceed the 
specified amount; but the amount of B's earnings which may be disregarded under this 
sub-paragraph is limited to a maximum of £20 unless the Secretary of State is satisfied 
that B is also undertaking exempt work. 

 
(5) This sub-paragraph applies to a person who is— 
(a) in receipt of a contributory employment and support allowance; 
(b) in receipt of incapacity benefit; 

Page 246



155 

(c) in receipt of severe disablement allowance; or 
(d) being credited with earnings on the grounds of incapacity for work or limited capability 

for work under regulation 8B of the Social Security (Credits) Regulations 1975. 
 
(6) “Exempt work” means work of the kind described in 
(a) regulation 45(2), (3) or (4) of the Employment and Support Allowance Regulations 2008; 

or (as the case may be) 
(b) regulation 17(2), (3) or (4) of the Social Security (Incapacity for Work) (General) 

Regulations 1995, 
 
and, in determining for the purposes of this paragraph whether an applicant or a member of 

a couple is undertaking any type of exempt work, it is immaterial whether that person or 
their partner is also undertaking other work. 

 
(7) The specified amount is the amount of money from time to time mentioned in any 

provision referred to in sub-paragraph (6) by virtue of which the work referred to in sub-
paragraph (1) is exempt (or, where more than one such provision is relevant and those 
provisions mention different amounts of money, the highest of those amounts). 

 
13. 
Any amount or the balance of any amount which would fall to be disregarded under paragraph 23 

or 24 of Schedule 8 had the applicant's income which does not consist of earnings been 
sufficient to entitle him to the full disregard thereunder. 

14. 
Where an applicant is on income support, an income-based jobseeker's allowance or an income-

related employment and support allowance, his earnings. 
15. 
Any earnings derived from employment which are payable in a country outside the United 

Kingdom for such period during which there is a prohibition against the transfer to the United 
Kingdom of those earnings. 

16. 
Where a payment of earnings is made in a currency other than Sterling, any banking charge or 

commission payable in converting that payment into Sterling. 
17. 
Any earnings of a child or young person. 
18.— 
(1) In a case where the applicant is a person who satisfies at least one of the conditions set 

out in sub-paragraph (2), and his net earnings equal or exceed the total of the amounts 
set out in sub-paragraph (3), the amount of his earnings that falls to be disregarded under 
paragraphs 4 to 12 must be increased by £17.10. 

 
(2) The conditions of this sub-paragraph are that— 
(a) the applicant, or if he is a member of a couple, either the applicant or his partner, is a 

person to whom regulation 20(1)(c) of the Working Tax Credit (Entitlement and 
Maximum Rate) Regulations 2002 applies; or 

(b) the applicant— 
(i) is, or if he is a member of a couple, at least one member of that couple is aged at 

least 25 and is engaged in remunerative work for on average not less than 30 
hours per week; or 

(ii) is a member of a couple and— 
(aa) at least one member of that couple, is engaged in remunerative work for on 

average not less than 16 hours per week; and 
(bb) his applicable amount includes a family premium under paragraph 4 of 

Schedule 3; or 
(iii) is a lone parent who is engaged in remunerative work for on average not less 

than 16 hours per week; or 
(iv) is, or if he is a member of a couple, at least one member of that couple is 

Page 247



156 

engaged in remunerative work for on average not less than 16 hours per week; 
and— 

(aa) the applicant's applicable amount includes a disability premium under 
paragraph 9, the work-related activity component under paragraph 21 or the 
support component under paragraph 22 of Schedule 3 respectively; 

(bb) where he is a member of a couple, at least one member of that couple 
satisfies the qualifying conditions for the disability premium or either of the 
components referred to in paragraph (aa) above and is engaged in 
remunerative work for on average not less than 16 hours per week; or 

 
 (c) the applicant is, or if he has a partner, one of them is, a person to whom regulation 

18(3) of the Working Tax Credit (Entitlement and Maximum Rate) Regulations 2002 
(eligibility for 50 plus element) applies, or would apply if an application for working tax 
credit were to be made in his case. 

 
(3) The following are the amounts referred to in sub-paragraph (1) — 
(a) the amount calculated as disregardable from the applicant's earnings under paragraphs 

4 to 12; 
(b) the amount of child care charges calculated as deductible under paragraph 57(1)(c); 

and 
(c) £17.10. 
 
(4) The provisions of paragraph 10 (remunerative work) apply in determining whether or not 

a person works for on average not less than 30 hours per week, but as if the reference to 
16 hours in sub-paragraph (1) of that paragraph were a reference to 30 hours. 

 
19. 
In this Schedule “part-time employment” means employment in which the person is engaged on 

average for less than 16 hours a week. 
  

Page 248



157 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Schedule 8 
Sums disregarded in the calculation of income other than earnings: persons who are not pensioners 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 249



158 

 
1. 
Any payment made to the applicant in respect of any child care, travel or other expenses incurred, 

or to be incurred, by him in respect of his participation in the Work for Your Benefit Pilot 
Scheme. 

2. 
Any payment made to the applicant in respect of any travel or other expenses incurred, or to be 

incurred, by him in respect of his participation in the Mandatory Work Activity Scheme. 
3. 
Any payment made to the applicant in respect of any travel or other expenses incurred, or to be 

incurred, by him in respect of his participation in the Employment, Skills and Enterprise 
Scheme. 

4. 
Any amount paid by way of tax on income which is to be taken into account under regulation 30 

(calculation of income other than earnings). 
5. 
Any payment in respect of any expenses incurred or to be incurred by an applicant who is— 
(a) engaged by a charitable or voluntary organisation, or 
(b) a volunteer, 
 
if he otherwise derives no remuneration or profit from the employment and is not to be treated as 

possessing any earnings under paragraph 56(5) (notional income: persons who are not 
pensioners). 

6. 
Any payment in respect of expenses arising out of the applicant's participation in a service user 

group. 
7. 
In the case of employment as an employed earner, any payment in respect of expenses wholly, 

exclusively and necessarily incurred in the performance of the duties of the employment. 
8. 
Where an applicant is on income support, an income-based jobseeker's allowance or an income-

related employment and support allowance, the whole of his income. 
9. 
Where the applicant is a member of a joint-claim couple for the purposes of the Jobseekers Act 

and his partner is on an income-based jobseeker's allowance, the whole of the applicant's 
income. 

10. 
Where the applicant, or the person who was the partner of the applicant on 31st March 2003, was 

entitled on that date to income support or an income-based jobseeker's allowance but ceased 
to be so entitled on or before 5th April 2003 by virtue only of regulation 13 of the Housing 
Benefit (General) Amendment (No. 3) Regulations 1999 as in force at that date, the whole of 
his income. 

11. 
Any disability living allowance, personal independence payment or an AFIP. 
12. 
Any concessionary payment made to compensate for the non-payment of— 
(a) any payment specified in paragraph 11 or 14; 
(b) income support; 
(c) an income-based jobseeker's allowance; 
(d) an income-related employment and support allowance. 
 
13. 
Any mobility supplement under article 20 of the Naval, Military and Air Forces Etc. (Disablement 

and Death) Service Pensions Order 2006 (including such a supplement by virtue of any other 
scheme or order) or under article 25A of the Personal Injuries (Civilians) Scheme 1983 or any 
payment intended to compensate for the non-payment of such a supplement. 

14. 

Page 250



159 

Any attendance allowance. 
15. 
Any payment to the applicant as holder of the Victoria Cross or of the George Cross or any 

analogous payment. 
16.— 
(1) Any payment— 
(a) by way of an education maintenance allowance made pursuant to— 
(i) regulations made under section 518 of the Education Act 1996 (payment of school 

expenses; grant of scholarships etc.); 
(ii) regulations made under section 49 or 73(f) of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980 

(power to assist persons to take advantage of educational facilities); 
(iii) directions made under section 73ZA of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980 and paid 

under section 12(2)(c) of the Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992; 
(b) corresponding to such an education maintenance allowance, made pursuant to— 
(i) section 14 or section 181 of the Education Act 2002 (power of Secretary of State and 

the Welsh Ministers to give financial assistance for purposes related to education or 
childcare, and allowances in respect of education or training); or 

(ii) regulations made under section 181 of that Act; or 
(c) in England, by way of financial assistance made pursuant to section 14 of the Education 

Act 2002. 
 
(2) Any payment, other than a payment to which sub-paragraph (1) applies, made pursuant 

to— 
(a) regulations made under section 518 of the Education Act 1996; 
(b) regulations made under section 49 of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980; or 
(c) directions made under section 73ZA of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980 and paid 

under section 12(2)(c) of the Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992, 
 
in respect of a course of study attended by a child or a young person or a person who is in 

receipt of an education maintenance allowance or other payment made pursuant to any 
provision specified in sub-paragraph (1). 

 
17. 
Any payment made to the applicant by way of a repayment under regulation 11(2) of the 

Education (Teacher Student Loans) (Repayment etc.) Regulations 2002. 
18.— 
(1) Any payment made pursuant to section 2 of the 1973 Act or section 2 of the Enterprise 

and New Towns (Scotland) Act 1990 except a payment— 
(a) made as a substitute for income support, a jobseeker's allowance, incapacity benefit, 

severe disablement allowance or an employment and support allowance; 
(b) of an allowance referred to in section 2(3) of the Employment and Training Act 1973 or 

section 2(5) of the Enterprise and New Towns (Scotland) Act 1990; or 
(c) intended to meet the cost of living expenses which relate to any one or more of the 

items specified in sub-paragraph (2) whilst an applicant is participating in an education, 
training or other scheme to help him enhance his employment prospects unless the 
payment is a Career Development Loan paid pursuant to section 2 of the 1973 Act and 
the period of education or training or the scheme, which is supported by that loan, has 
been completed. 

 
(2) The items specified in this sub-paragraph for the purposes of sub-paragraph (1)(c) are 

food, ordinary clothing or footwear, household fuel or rent of the applicant or, where the 
applicant is a member of a family, any other member of his family, or any council tax or 
water charges for which that applicant or member is liable. 

 
19.— 
(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), any of the following payments— 
(a) a charitable payment; 

Page 251



160 

(b) a voluntary payment; 
(c) a payment (not falling within paragraph (a) or (b) above) from a trust whose funds are 

derived from a payment made in consequence of any personal injury to the applicant; 
(d) a payment under an annuity purchased— 
(i) pursuant to any agreement or court order to make payments to the applicant; or 
(ii) from funds derived from a payment made, 
in consequence of any personal injury to the applicant; or 
 
(e) a payment (not falling within paragraphs (a) to (d)) received by virtue of any agreement 

or court order to make payments to the applicant in consequence of any personal 
injury to the applicant. 

 
(2) Sub-paragraph (1) does not apply to a payment which is made or due to be made by— 
(a) a former partner of the applicant, or a former partner of any member of the applicant's 

family; or 
(b) the parent of a child or young person where that child or young person is a member of 

the applicant's family. 
 
20. 
Any of the following, namely— 
(a) a war disablement pension (except insofar as such a pension falls to be disregarded 

under paragraph 13 or 14 ); 
(b) a war widow's pension or war widower's pension; 
(c) a pension payable to a person as a widow, widower or surviving civil partner under any 

power of Her Majesty otherwise than under an enactment to make provision about 
pensions for or in respect of persons who have been disabled or have died in 
consequence of service as members of the armed forces of the Crown; 

(d) a guaranteed income payment and, if the amount of that payment has been abated to 
less than £10 by a pension or payment falling within article 31(1)(a) or (b) of the Armed 
Forces and Reserve Forces (Compensation Scheme) Order 2005, so much of that 
pension or payment as would not, in aggregate with the amount of any guaranteed 
income payment disregarded, exceed £10; 

(e) a payment made to compensate for the non-payment of such a pension or payment as 
is mentioned in any of the preceding sub-paragraphs; 

(f) a pension paid by the government of a country outside Great Britain which is analogous 
to any of the pensions or payments mentioned in paragraphs (a) to (d) above; 

(g) pension paid to victims of National Socialist persecution under any special provision 
made by the law of the Federal Republic of Germany, or any part of it, or of the 
Republic of Austria. 

 
21. 
Subject to paragraph 40, £15 of any— 
(a) widowed mother's allowance paid pursuant to section 37 of the SSCBA; 
(b) widowed parent's allowance paid pursuant to section 39A of the SSCBA. 
 
22.— 
(1) Any income derived from capital to which the applicant is or is treated under paragraph 

70 (capital jointly held) as beneficially entitled but, subject to sub-paragraph (2), not 
income derived from capital disregarded under paragraphs 4, 5, 7, 11, 17 or 30 to 33 of 
Schedule 10. 

 
(2) Income derived from capital disregarded under paragraphs 5, 7 or 30 to 33 of Schedule 10 

but only to the extent of— 
(a) any mortgage repayments made in respect of the dwelling or premises in the period 

during which that income accrued; or 
(b) any council tax or water charges which the applicant is liable to pay in respect of the 

dwelling or premises and which are paid in the period during which that income 

Page 252



161 

accrued. 
 
(3) The definition of ““water charges”” in paragraph 2(1) (interpretation) applies to sub-

paragraph (2) of this paragraph with the omission of the words ““in so far as such charges 
are in respect of the dwelling which a person occupies as his home””. 

 
23. 
Where the applicant makes a parental contribution in respect of a student attending a course at 

an establishment in the United Kingdom or undergoing education in the United Kingdom, 
which contribution has been assessed for the purposes of calculating— 

(a) under, or pursuant to regulations made under powers conferred by, section 22 of the 
Teaching and Higher Education Act 1998, that student's award; 

 
(b) under regulations made in exercise of the powers conferred by section 49 of the 

Education (Scotland) Act 1980, that student's bursary, scholarship, or other allowance 
under that section or under regulations made in exercise of the powers conferred by 
section 73 of that Act of 1980, any payment to that student under that section; or 

(c) the student's student loan, 
an amount equal to the weekly amount of that parental contribution, but only in respect of the 

period for which that contribution is assessed as being payable. 
24.— 
(1) Where the applicant is the parent of a student aged under 25 in advanced education who 

either— 
(a) is not in receipt of any award, grant or student loan in respect of that education; or 
(b) is in receipt of an award bestowed by virtue of the Teaching and Higher Education Act 

1998, or regulations made thereunder, or a bursary, scholarship or other allowance 
under section 49(1) of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980, or a payment under section 
73 of that Act of 1980, 

 
and the applicant makes payments by way of a contribution towards the student's 

maintenance, other than a parental contribution falling within paragraph 23, an amount 
specified in sub-paragraph (2) in respect of each week during the student's term. 

 
(2) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1), the amount must be equal to— 
(a) the weekly amount of the payments; or 
(b) the amount by way of a personal allowance for a single applicant under 25 less the 

weekly amount of any award, bursary, scholarship, allowance or payment referred to in 
sub-paragraph (1)(b), 

 
whichever is less. 
 
25. 
Any payment made to the applicant by a child or young person or a non-dependant. 
26. 
Where the applicant occupies a dwelling as his home and the dwelling is also occupied by a person 

other than one to whom paragraph 25 or 27 refers and there is a contractual liability to make 
payments to the applicant in respect of the occupation of the dwelling by that person or a 
member of his family— 

(a) where the aggregate of any payments made in respect of any one week in respect of 
the occupation of the dwelling by that person or a member of his family, or by that 
person and a member of his family, is less than £20, the whole of that amount; or 

(b) where the aggregate of any such payments is £20 or more per week, £20. 
 
27. 
Where the applicant occupies a dwelling as his home and he provides in that dwelling board and 

lodging accommodation, an amount, in respect of each person for which such accommodation 
is provided for the whole or any part of a week, equal to— 

Page 253



162 

(a) where the aggregate of any payments made in respect of any one week in respect of 
such accommodation provided to such person does not exceed £20, 100 per cent of 
such payments; 

(b) where the aggregate of any such payments exceeds £20, £20 and 50 per cent of the 
excess over £20. 

 
28.— 
(1) Any income in kind, except where paragraph 54(10)(b) (provision of support under section 

95 or 98 of the Immigration and Asylum Act 1999 in the calculation of income other than 
earnings) applies. 

(2) The reference in sub-paragraph (1) to ““income in kind”” does not include a payment to a 
third party made in respect of the applicant which is used by the third party to provide 
benefits in kind to the applicant. 

 
29. 
Any income which is payable in a country outside the United Kingdom for such period during 

which there is a prohibition against the transfer to the United Kingdom of that income. 
30.— 
(1) Any payment made to the applicant in respect of a person who is a member of his 

family— 
(a) pursuant to regulations under section 2(6)(b), 3 or 4 of the Adoption and Children Act 

2002 or in accordance or with a scheme approved by the Scottish Ministers under 
section 51A of the Adoption (Scotland) Act 1978 (schemes for payments of allowances 
to adopters) or in accordance with an adoption allowance scheme made under section 
71 of the Adoption and Children (Scotland) Act 2007 (adoption allowances schemes); 

(b) which is a payment made by a local authority in pursuance of section 15(1) of, and 
paragraph 15 of Schedule 1 to, the Children Act 1989 (local authority contribution to a 
child's maintenance where the child is living with a person as a result of a residence 
order) or in Scotland section 50 of the Children Act 1975 (payments towards 
maintenance of children); 

(c) which is a payment made by an authority, as defined in Article 2 of the Children 
(Northern Ireland) Order 1995, in pursuance of Article 15 of, and paragraph 17 of 
Schedule 1 to, that Order (contribution by an authority to child's maintenance); 

(d) in accordance with regulations made pursuant to section 14F of the Children Act 1989 
(special guardianship support services); 

(2) Any payment, other than a payment to which sub-paragraph (1)(a) applies, made to the 
applicant pursuant to regulations under section 2(6)(b), 3 or 4 of the Adoption and 
Children Act 2002. 

 
31. 
Any payment made to the applicant with whom a person is accommodated by virtue of 

arrangements made— 
(a) by a local authority under— 
(i) section 23(2)(a) of the Children Act 1989 (provision of accommodation and 

maintenance for a child whom they are looking after), 
(ii) section 26 of the Children (Scotland) Act 1995 (manner of provision of 

accommodation to child looked after by local authority), or 
(iii) regulations 33 or 51 of the Looked After Children (Scotland) Regulations 2009 

(fostering and kinship care allowances and fostering allowances); or 
(b) by a voluntary organisation under section 59(1)(a) of the Children Act 1989 (provision 

of accommodation by voluntary organisations). 
 
32. 
Any payment made to the applicant or his partner for a person (“the person concerned”), who is 

not normally a member of the applicant's household but is temporarily in his care, by— 
(a) a health authority; 
(b) a local authority but excluding payments of housing benefit made in respect of the 

Page 254



163 

person concerned; 
(c) a voluntary organisation; 
(d) the person concerned pursuant to section 26(3A) of the National Assistance Act 1948; 
(e) a primary care trust established under section 16A of the National Health Service Act 

1977 or established by an order made under section 18(2)(c) of the National Health 
Service Act 2006; or 

 
(f) a Local Health Board established under section 11 of the National Health Service (Wales) 

Act 2006. 
 
33. 
Any payment made by a local authority in accordance with section 17, 23B, 23C or 24A of the 

Children Act 1989 or, as the case may be, section 12 of the Social Work (Scotland) Act 1968 or 
section 22, 29 or 30 of the Children (Scotland) Act 1995 (provision of services for children and 
their families and advice and assistance to certain children). 

34.— 
(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), any payment (or part of a payment) made by a local 

authority in accordance with section 23C of the Children Act 1989 or section 29 of the 
Children (Scotland) Act 1995 (local authorities’ duty to promote welfare of children and 
powers to grant financial assistance to persons in, or formerly in, their care) to a person 
(“A”) which A passes on to the applicant. 

 
(2) Sub-paragraph (1) applies only where A— 
(a) was formerly in the applicant's care, and 
(b) is aged 18 or over, and 
(c) continues to live with the applicant. 
35.— 
(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), any payment received under an insurance policy taken out 

to insure against the risk of being unable to maintain repayments— 
(a) on a loan which is secured on the dwelling which the applicant occupies as his home; or 
 
(b) under a regulated agreement as defined for the purposes of the Consumer Credit Act 

1974 or under a hire-purchase agreement or a conditional sale agreement as defined 
for the purposes of Part 3 of the Hire-Purchase Act 1964. 

 
(2) A payment referred to in sub-paragraph (1) is only to be disregarded to the extent that 

the payment received under that policy does not exceed the amounts, calculated on a 
weekly basis, which are used to— 

(a) maintain the repayments referred to in sub-paragraph (1)(a) or, as the case may be, 
(1)(b); and 

 
(b) meet any amount due by way of premiums on— 
(i) that policy; or 
 
(ii) in a case to which sub-paragraph (1)(a) applies, an insurance policy taken out to 

insure against loss or damage to any building or part of a building which is occupied 
by the applicant as his home and which is required as a condition of the loan referred 
to in sub-paragraph (1)(a). 

 
36. 
Any payment of income which by virtue of paragraph 64 (income treated as capital: persons who 

are not pensioners) is to be treated as capital. 
37. 
Any— 
(a) social fund payment made pursuant to Part 8 of the SSCBA (the social fund); or 
 
(b) occasional assistance. 

Page 255



164 

 
38. 
Any payment under Part 10 of the SSCBA (Christmas bonus for pensioners). 
39. 
Where a payment of income is made in a currency other than sterling, any banking charge or 

commission payable in converting that payment into sterling. 
40. 
The total of an applicant's income or, if he is a member of a family, the family's income and the 

income of any person which he is treated as possessing under paragraph 33(3) (calculation of 
income and capital of members of applicant's family and of a polygamous marriage) to be 
disregarded under paragraph 77(2)(b) and paragraph 78(1)(d) (calculation of covenant income 
where a contribution assessed, covenant income where no grant income or no contribution is 
assessed), paragraph 81(2) (treatment of student loans), paragraph 82(3) (treatment of 
payments from access funds) and paragraph 21 must in no case exceed £20 per week. 

41.— 
(1) Any payment made under or by any of the Trusts, the Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET 

Limited, the Skipton Fund, the Caxton Foundation or the Independent Living Fund (2006). 
 
(2) Any payment by or on behalf of a person who is suffering or who suffered from 

haemophilia or who is or was a qualifying person, which derives from a payment made 
under or by any of the Trusts to which sub-paragraph (1) refers and which is made to or 
for the benefit of— 

(a) that person's partner or former partner from whom he is not, or where that person has 
died was not, estranged or divorced or with whom he has formed a civil partnership 
that has not been dissolved or, where that person has died, had not been dissolved at 
the time of that person's death; 

 
(b) any child who is a member of that person's family or who was such a member and who 

is a member of the applicant's family; or 
 
(c) any young person who is a member of that person's family or who was such a member 

and who is a member of the applicant's family. 
 
(3) Any payment by or on behalf of the partner or former partner of a person who is suffering 

or who suffered from haemophilia or who is or was a qualifying person provided that the 
partner or former partner and that person are not, or if either of them has died were not, 
estranged or divorced or, where the partner or former partner and that person have 
formed a civil partnership, the civil partnership has not been dissolved or, if either of 
them has died, had not been dissolved at the time of the death, which derives from a 
payment made under or by any of the Trusts to which sub-paragraph (1) refers and which 
is made to or for the benefit of— 

(a) the person who is suffering from haemophilia or who is a qualifying person; 
 
(b) any child who is a member of that person's family or who was such a member and who 

is a member of the applicant's family; or 
 
(c) any young person who is a member of that person's family or who was such a member 

and who is a member of the applicant's family. 
 
(4) Any payment by a person who is suffering from haemophilia or who is a qualifying person, 

which derives from a payment under or by any of the Trusts to which sub-paragraph (1) 
refers, where— 

(a) that person has no partner or former partner from whom he is not estranged or 
divorced or with whom he has formed a civil partnership that has not been dissolved, 
nor any child or young person who is or had been a member of that person's family; 
and 

 

Page 256



165 

(b) the payment is made either— 
(i) to that person's parent or step-parent, or 
 
(ii) where that person at the date of the payment is a child, a young person or a student 

who has not completed his education and has no parent or step-parent, to his 
guardian, 

 
but only for a period from the date of the payment until the end of two years from that 

person's death. 
 
(5) Any payment out of the estate of a person who suffered from haemophilia or who was a 

qualifying person, which derives from a payment under or by any of the Trusts to which 
sub-paragraph (1) refers, where— 

(a) that person at the date of his death (the relevant date) had no partner or former 
partner from whom he was not estranged or divorced or with whom he has formed a 
civil partnership that has not been dissolved, nor any child or young person who was or 
had been a member of his family; and 

 
(b) the payment is made either— 
(i) to that person's parent or step-parent, or 
 
(ii) where that person at the relevant date was a child, a young person or a student who 

had not completed his full-time education and had no parent or step-parent, to his 
guardian, 

 
but only for a period of two years from the relevant date. 
 
(6) In the case of a person to whom or for whose benefit a payment referred to in this 

paragraph is made, any income which derives from any payment of income or capital 
made under or deriving from any of the Trusts. 

 
(7) For the purposes of sub-paragraphs (2) to (6), any reference to the Trusts is to be 

construed as including a reference to the Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET Limited, the 
Skipton Fund, the Caxton Foundation and the London Bombings Relief Charitable Fund. 

 
42. 
Any housing benefit. 
43. 
Any payment made by the Secretary of State to compensate for the loss (in whole or in part) of 

entitlement to housing benefit. 
44. 
Any payment to a juror or witness in respect of attendance at a court other than compensation for 

loss of earnings or for the loss of a benefit payable under the benefit Acts. 
45. 
Any payment in consequence of a reduction of council tax under section 13 of the 1992 Act 

(reduction of liability for council tax). 
46.— 
(1) Any payment or repayment made— 
(a) as respects England, under regulation 5, 6 or 12 of the National Health Service (Travel 

Expenses and Remission of Charges) Regulations 2003 (travelling expenses and health 
service supplies); 

 
(b) as respects Wales, under regulation 5, 6 or 11 of the National Health Service (Travelling 

Expenses and Remission of Charges) (Wales) Regulations 2007 (travelling expenses and 
health service supplies); 

 
(c) as respects Scotland, under regulation 3, 5 or 11 of the National Health Service 

Page 257



166 

(Travelling Expenses and Remission of Charges) (Scotland) (No. 2) Regulations 2003 
(travelling expenses and health service supplies). 

 
(2) Any payment or repayment made by the Secretary of State for Health, the Scottish 

Ministers or the Welsh Ministers which is analogous to a payment or repayment 
mentioned in sub-paragraph (1). 

 
47. 
Any payment made to such persons entitled to receive benefits as may be determined by or under 

a scheme made pursuant to section 13 of the Social Security Act 1988 in lieu of vouchers or 
similar arrangements in connection with the provision of those benefits (including payments 
made in place of healthy start vouchers, milk tokens or the supply of vitamins). 

48. 
Any payment made by either the Secretary of State for Justice or by the Scottish Ministers under a 

scheme established to assist relatives and other persons to visit persons in custody. 
49.— 
(1) Where an applicant's applicable amount includes an amount by way of family premium, 

£15 of any payment of maintenance, other than child maintenance, whether under a 
court order or not, which is made or due to be made by the applicant's former partner, or 
the applicant's partner's former partner. 

 
(2) For the purpose of sub-paragraph (1) where more than one maintenance payment falls to 

be taken into account in any week, all such payments must be aggregated and treated as 
if they were a single payment. 

 
(3) A payment made by the Secretary of State in lieu of maintenance must, for the purpose of 

sub-paragraph (1), be treated as a payment of maintenance made by a person specified in 
sub-paragraph (1). 

 
50.— 
(1) Any payment of child maintenance made or derived from a liable relative where the child 

or young person in respect of whom the payment is made is a member of the applicant's 
family, except where the person making the payment is the applicant or the applicant's 
partner. 

 
(2) In sub-paragraph (1) — 
“child maintenance” means any payment towards the maintenance of a child or young 

person, including any payment made voluntarily and payments made under—(a) the 
Child Support Act 1991; 

 
(b) the Child Support (Northern Ireland) Order 1991; 
 
(c) a court order; 
 
(d) a consent order; 
 
(e) a maintenance agreement registered for execution in the Books of Council and Session 

or the sheriff court books; 
 
“liable relative” means a person listed in regulation 54 (interpretation) of the Income Support 

(General) Regulations 1987, other than a person falling within sub-paragraph (d) of that 
definition. 

 
51. 
Any payment (other than a training allowance) made, whether by the Secretary of State or any 

other person, under the Disabled Persons (Employment) Act 1944 to assist disabled persons to 
obtain or retain employment despite their disability. 

Page 258



167 

52. 
Any guardian's allowance. 
53.— 
(1) If the applicant is in receipt of any benefit under Part 2, 3 or 5 of the SSCBA, any increase 

in the rate of that benefit arising under Part 4 (increases for dependants) or section 106(a) 
(unemployability supplement) of that Act, where the dependant in respect of whom the 
increase is paid is not a member of the applicant's family. 

 
(2) If the applicant is in receipt of any pension or allowance under Part 2 or 3 of the Naval, 

Military and Air Forces Etc. (Disablement and Death) Service Pensions Order 2006, any 
increase in the rate of that pension or allowance under that Order, where the dependant 
in respect of whom the increase is paid is not a member of the applicant's family. 

 
54. 
Any supplementary pension under article 23(2) of the Naval, Military and Air Forces Etc. 

(Disablement and Death) Service Pensions Order 2006 (pensions to surviving spouses and 
surviving civil partners) and any analogous payment made by the Secretary of State for 
Defence to any person who is not a person entitled under that Order. 

55. 
In the case of a pension awarded at the supplementary rate under article 27(3) of the Personal 

Injuries (Civilians)Scheme 1983 (pensions to widows, widowers or surviving civil partners), the 
sum specified in paragraph 1(c) of Schedule 4 to that Scheme. 

56.— 
(1) Any payment which is— 
(a) made under any of the Dispensing Instruments to a widow, widower or surviving civil 

partner of a person— 
(i) whose death was attributable to service in a capacity analogous to service as a 

member of the armed forces of the Crown; and 
 
(ii) whose service in such capacity terminated before 31st March 1973; and 
 
(b) equal to the amount specified in article 23(2) of the Naval, Military and Air Forces Etc. 

(Disablement and Death) Service Pensions Order 2006. 
 
(2) In this paragraph “the Dispensing Instruments” means the Order in Council of 19th 

December 1881, the Royal Warrant of 27th October 1884 and the Order by His Majesty of 
14th January 1922 (exceptional grants of pay, non-effective pay and allowances). 

57. 
Any council tax benefit to which the applicant is entitled. 
58. 
Except in a case which falls under sub-paragraph (1) of paragraph 18 of Schedule 7, where the 

applicant is a person who satisfies any of the conditions of sub-paragraph (2) of that 
paragraph, any amount of working tax credit up to £17.10. 

59. 
Any payment made under section 12B of the Social Work (Scotland) Act 1968, or under sections 

12A to 12D of the National Health Service Act 2006 (direct payments for health care) or under 
regulations made under section 57 of the Health and Social Care Act 2001 (direct payments). 

60.— 
(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), in respect of a person who is receiving, or who has received, 

assistance under the self-employment route, any payment to that person— 
(a) to meet expenses wholly and necessarily incurred whilst carrying on the commercial 

activity; 
 
(b) which is used or intended to be used to maintain repayments on a loan taken out by 

that person for the purpose of establishing or carrying on the commercial activity, 
 
in respect of which such assistance is or was received. 

Page 259



168 

 
(2) Sub-paragraph (1) applies only in respect of payments which are paid to that person from 

the special account. 
61.— 
(1) Any payment of a sports award except to the extent that it has been made in respect of 

any one or more of the items specified in sub-paragraph (2). 
 
(2) The items specified for the purposes of sub-paragraph (1) are food, ordinary clothing or 

footwear, household fuel or rent of the applicant or where the applicant is a member of a 
family, any other member of his family, or any council tax or water charges for which that 
applicant or member is liable. 

 
(3) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (2) “food” does not include vitamins, minerals or other 

special dietary supplements intended to enhance the performance of the person in the 
sport in respect of which the award was made. 

 
62. 
 Where the amount of subsistence allowance paid to a person in a reduction week exceeds the 

amount of income-based jobseeker's allowance that person would have received in that 
reduction week had it been payable to him, less 50p, that excess amount. 

63. 
In the case of an applicant participating in an employment zone programme, any discretionary 

payment made by an employment zone contractor to the applicant, being a fee, grant, loan or 
otherwise. 

64. 
 Any discretionary housing payment paid pursuant to regulation 2(1) of the Discretionary 

Financial Assistance Regulations 2001. 
65.— 
(1) Any payment made by a local authority or by the Welsh Ministers, to or on behalf of the 

applicant or his partner relating to a service which is provided to develop or sustain the 
capacity of the applicant or his partner to live independently in his accommodation. 

 
(2) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1) ““local authority”” includes, in England, a county 

council. 
 66. 
 Any payment of child benefit. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 260



169 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Schedule 9 
Capital disregards: pensioners 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1. 

Page 261



170 

Any premises acquired for occupation by the applicant which he intends to occupy as his home 
within 26 weeks of the date of acquisition or such longer period as is reasonable in the 
circumstances to enable the applicant to obtain possession and commence occupation of the 
premises. 

2. 
Any premises which the applicant intends to occupy as his home, and in respect of which he is 

taking steps to obtain possession and has sought legal advice, or has commenced legal 
proceedings, with a view to obtaining possession, for a period of 26 weeks from the date on 
which he first sought such advice or first commenced such proceedings whichever is the 
earlier, or such longer period as is reasonable in the circumstances to enable him to obtain 
possession and commence occupation of those premises. 

3. 
Any premises which the applicant intends to occupy as his home to which essential repairs or 

alterations are required in order to render them fit for such occupation, for a period of 26 
weeks from the date on which the applicant first takes steps to effect those repairs or 
alterations, or such longer period as is necessary to enable those repairs or alterations to be 
carried out. 

4. 
Any premises occupied in whole or in part— 
(a) by a person who is a relative of the applicant or his partner as his home where that 

person has attained the qualifying age for state pension credit or is incapacitated; 
 
(b) by the former partner of the applicant as his home; but this provision does not apply 

where the former partner is a person from whom the applicant is estranged or divorced 
or with whom he had formed a civil partnership that has been dissolved. 

 
5. 
Any future interest in property of any kind, other than land or premises in respect of which the 

applicant has granted a subsisting lease or tenancy, including sub-leases or sub-tenancies. 
6. 
Where an applicant has ceased to occupy what was formerly the dwelling occupied as the home 

following his estrangement or divorce from his former partner or the dissolution of a civil 
partnership with his former partner, that dwelling for a period of 26 weeks from the date on 
which he ceased to occupy that dwelling or, where the dwelling is occupied as the home by the 
former partner who is a lone parent, for so long as it is so occupied. 

7. 
Any premises where the applicant is taking reasonable steps to dispose of the whole of his interest 

in those premises, for a period of 26 weeks from the date on which he first took such steps, or 
such longer period as is reasonable in the circumstances to enable him to dispose of those 
premises. 

8. 
All personal possessions. 
9. 
The assets of any business owned in whole or in part by the applicant and for the purposes of 

which he is engaged as a self-employed earner or, if he has ceased to be so engaged, for such 
period as may be reasonable in the circumstances to allow for disposal of those assets. 

10. 
The assets of any business owned in whole or in part by the applicant if— 
(a) he is not engaged as a self-employed earner in that business by reason of some disease 

or bodily or mental disablement; but 
(b) he intends to become engaged (or, as the case may be, re-engaged) as a self-employed 

earner in that business as soon as he recovers or is able to become engaged, or re-
engaged, in that business, 

for a period of 26 weeks from the date on which the application for a reduction under this scheme 
is made or, if it is unreasonable to expect him to become engaged or re-engaged in that 
business within that period, for such longer period as is reasonable in the circumstances to 
enable him to become so engaged or re-engaged. 

Page 262



171 

11. 
The surrender value of any policy of life insurance. 
12. 
The value of any funeral plan contract; and for this purpose, ““funeral plan contract”” means a 

contract under which— 
(a) the applicant makes one or more payments to another person (““the provider””); 
 
(b) the provider undertakes to provide, or secure the provision of, a funeral in the United 

Kingdom for the applicant on his death; and 
 
(c) the sole purpose of the plan is to provide or secure the provision of a funeral for the 

applicant on his death. 
 
13. 
Where an ex-gratia payment has been made by the Secretary of State on or after 1st February 

2001 in consequence of the imprisonment or internment of— 
(a) the applicant; 
 
(b) the applicant's partner; 
 
(c) the applicant's deceased spouse or deceased civil partner; or 
 
(d) the applicant's partner's deceased spouse or deceased civil partner, 
 
by the Japanese during the Second World War, an amount equal to that payment. 
 
14.— 
(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), the amount of any trust payment made to an applicant or an 

applicant's partner who is— 
(a) a diagnosed person; 
 
(b) a diagnosed person's partner or was a diagnosed person's partner at the time of the 

diagnosed person's death; or 
 
(c) a parent of a diagnosed person, a person acting in place of the diagnosed person's 

parents or a person who was so acting at the date of the diagnosed person's death. 
 
(2) Where a trust payment is made to— 
(a) a person referred to in sub-paragraph (1)(a) or (b), that sub-paragraph applies for the 

period beginning on the date on which the trust payment is made and ending on the 
date on which that person dies; 

 
(b) a person referred to in sub-paragraph (1)(c), that sub-paragraph applies for the period 

beginning on the date on which the trust payment is made and ending two years after 
that date. 

 
(3) Subject to sub-paragraph (4), the amount of any payment by a person to whom a trust 

payment has been made or of any payment out of the estate of a person to whom a trust 
payment has been made, which is made to an applicant or an applicant's partner who is— 

(a) the diagnosed person; 
 
(b) a diagnosed person's partner or was a diagnosed person's partner at the date of the 

diagnosed person's death; or 
 
(c) a parent of a diagnosed person, a person acting in place of the diagnosed person's 

parents or a person who was so acting at the date of the diagnosed person's death. 
 

Page 263



172 

(4) Where a payment such as referred to in sub-paragraph (3) is made to— 
(a) a person referred to in sub-paragraph (3)(a) or (b), that sub-paragraph applies for the 

period beginning on the date on which the payment is made and ending on the date on 
which that person dies; 

 
(b) a person referred to in sub-paragraph (3)(c), that sub-paragraph applies for the period 

beginning on the date on which the payment is made and ending two years after that 
date. 

 
(5) In this paragraph, a reference to a person— 
(a) being the diagnosed person's partner; 
 
(b) acting in place of the diagnosed person's parents, 
 
at the date of the diagnosed person's death includes a person who would have been such a 

person or a person who would have been so acting, but for the diagnosed person residing 
in a care home or an independent hospital. 

 
(6) In this paragraph— 
“diagnosed person” means a person who has been diagnosed as suffering from, or who, after 

his death, has been diagnosed as having suffered from, variant Creutzfeldt-Jakob disease; 
“relevant trust” means a trust established out of funds provided by the Secretary of State in 

respect of persons who suffered, or who are suffering, from variant Creutzfeldt-Jakob 
disease for the benefit of persons eligible for payments in accordance with its provisions; 

“trust payment” means a payment under a relevant trust. 
 
15. 
The amount of any payment, other than a war pension, to compensate for the fact that the 

applicant, the applicant's partner, the applicant's deceased spouse or civil partner or the 
applicant's partner's deceased spouse or civil partner— 

(a) was a slave labourer or a forced labourer; 
 
(b) had suffered property loss or had suffered personal injury; or 
 
(c) was a parent of a child who had died, 
 
during the Second World War. 
16.— 
(1) Any payment made under or by— 
(a) the Macfarlane Trust, the Macfarlane (Special Payments) Trust, the Macfarlane (Special 

Payments) (No. 2) Trust, the Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET Limited, the Skipton Fund, 
the Caxton Foundation, the Scottish Infected Blood Support Scheme, an approved 
blood scheme, the London Emergencies Trust, the We Love Manchester Emergency 
Fund or the London Bombings Relief Charitable Fund (collectively referred to in this 
paragraph as “the Trusts”); or 

(b) the Independent Living Fund (2006). 
 
(2) Any payment by or on behalf of a person who is suffering or who suffered from 

haemophilia or who is or was a qualifying person, which derives from a payment made 
under or by any of the Trusts and which is made to or for the benefit of that person's 
partner or former partner— 

(a) from whom he is not, or where that person has died was not, estranged or divorced, or 
 
(b) with whom he has formed a civil partnership that has not been dissolved or, where that 

person has died, had not been dissolved at the time of that person's death. 
 
(3) Any payment by or on behalf of the partner or former partner of a person who is suffering 

Page 264



173 

or who suffered from haemophilia or who is or was a qualifying person which derives 
from a payment made under or by any of the Trusts and which is made to or for the 
benefit of the person who is suffering from haemophilia or who is a qualifying person. 

 
(4) Sub-paragraph (3) does not apply if— 

(a) the partner or former partner and that person are not, or if either of them has died 
were not, estranged or divorced, or 
(b) where the partner or former partner and that person have formed a civil 
partnership, the civil partnership has not been dissolved or, if either of them has died, 
had not been dissolved at the time of the death. 

 
(5) Any payment by a person who is suffering from haemophilia or who is a qualifying person, 

which derives from a payment under or by any of the Trusts, where— 
(a) that person has no partner or former partner from whom he is not estranged or 
divorced or with whom he has formed a civil partnership that has not been 
dissolved, nor any child who is or had been a member of that person's household; 
and 
 
(b) the payment is made either— 

(i) to that person's parent or step-parent; or 
(ii) where that person at the date of the payment is a child or a student who 
has not completed his full-time education and has no parent or step-parent, 
to any person standing in the place of his parent, but only for a period from 
the date of the payment until the end of two years from that person's death. 

 
(6) Any payment out of the estate of a person who suffered from haemophilia or who was a 

qualifying person, which derives from a payment under or by any of the Trusts, where— 
(a) that person at the date of his death (“the relevant date”) had no partner or former 
partner from whom he was not estranged or divorced or with whom he had formed a 
civil partnership that had not been dissolved, nor any child who was or had been a 
member of his household; and 
(b) the payment is made either— 

(i) to that person's parent or step-parent; or 
(ii) where that person at the relevant date was a child or a student who had not 
completed his full-time education and had no parent or step-parent, to any 
person standing in place of his parent, but only for a period of two years from the 
relevant date. 

 
(7) In the case of a person to whom or for whose benefit a payment referred to in this 

paragraph is made, any capital resource which derives from any payment of income or 
capital made under or deriving from any of the Trusts. 

 
16A.   Any payment made under, or by, a trust which is approved by the Secretary of 
State and which is established for the purpose of giving relief and assistance to a disabled 

person whose disabilities were caused by their mother having taken a preparation 
containing the drug known as Thalidomide during her pregnancy. 

 
17.— 
(1) An amount equal to the amount of any payment made in consequence of any personal 

injury to the applicant or, if the applicant has a partner, to the partner. 
 
(2) Where the whole or part of the payment is administered— 
(a) by the High Court or the County Court under Rule 21.11(1) of the Civil Procedure Rules 

1998, or the Court of Protection, or on behalf of a person where the payment can only 
be disposed of by order or direction of any such court; 

(b) in accordance with an order made under Rule 36.14 of the Ordinary Cause Rules 1993 
or under Rule 128 of those Rules; or 

Page 265



174 

(c) in accordance with the terms of a trust established for the benefit of the applicant or his 
partner, 

the whole of the amount so administered. 
 
18. 
Any amount specified in paragraph 19, 20, 21 or 25 for a period of one year beginning with the 

date of receipt. 
19. 
Amounts paid under a policy of insurance in connection with the loss of or damage to the property 

occupied by the applicant as his home and to his personal possessions. 
20. 
So much of any amounts paid to the applicant or deposited in the applicant's name for the sole 

purpose of— 
(a) purchasing premises which the applicant intends to occupy as his home; or 
 
(b) effecting essential repairs or alterations to the premises occupied or intended to be 

occupied by the applicant as his home. 
 
21.— 
(1) Subject to paragraph 22 any amount paid— 
(a) by way of arrears of benefit; 
(b) by way of compensation for the late payment of benefit; 
(c) in lieu of the payment of benefit; 
(d) to rectify, or compensate for, an official error, as defined for the purposes of paragraph 

22, being an amount to which that paragraph does not apply; 
(e) by a local authority out of funds provided under either section 93 of the Local 

Government Act 2000 under a scheme known as “Supporting People” or section 91 of 
the Housing (Scotland) Act 2001; 

(f) by way of occasional assistance including arrears and payments in lieu of occasional 
assistance (and in this paragraph “occasional assistance” has the same meaning as in 
Part 2 - Interpretations).  

(2) In sub-paragraph (1), “benefit” means 
(a) attendance allowance under section 64 of the Act; 
(b) disability living allowance; 
(c) personal independence payment; 
(d) an AFIP; 
(e) income support; 
(f) income-based jobseeker's allowance; 
(g) state pension credit; 
(h) housing benefit; 
(i) council tax benefit; 
(j) child tax credit; 
(k) an increase of a disablement pension under section 104 of the SSCBA (increase where 

constant attendance is needed), and any further increase of such a pension under 
section 105 of the Act (increase for exceptionally severe disablement); 

(l) any amount included on account of the applicant's exceptionally severe disablement or 
need for constant attendance in a war disablement pension or a war widow's or 
widower's pension; 

(m) any discretionary housing payment paid pursuant to regulation 2(1) of the 
Discretionary Financial Assistance Regulations 2001; 

(n) working tax credit;  
(o) income-related employment and support allowance;  
(p) social fund payments under Part 8 of the SSCBA; or 
(q) universal credit 
 
22.— 
(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (3), any payment of £5,000 or more which has been made to 

Page 266



175 

rectify, or to compensate for, an official error relating to a relevant benefit and which has 
been received by the applicant in full on or after the day on which he became entitled to a 
reduction under this scheme. 

 
(2) Subject to sub-paragraph (3), the total amount of any payments disregarded under— 
(a) paragraph 7(2) of Schedule 10 to the Income Support (General) Regulations 1987; 
(b) paragraph 12(2) of Schedule 8 to the Jobseeker's Allowance Regulations 1996(a); 
(c) paragraph 9(2) of Schedule 5 to the Council Tax Benefit Regulations 2006; 
(d) paragraph 20A of Schedule 5 to the State Pension Credit Regulations 2002, 
(e) paragraph 11(2) of Schedule 9 to the Employment and Support Allowance Regulations 

2008(b), 
(f) paragraph 18 of Schedule 10 to the Universal Credit Regulations 2013(12) 
 
where the award in respect of which the payments last fell to be disregarded under those 

Regulations either terminated immediately before the relevant date or is still in existence 
at that date. 

 
(3) Any disregard which applies under sub-paragraph (1) or (2) has effect until the award 

comes to an end. 
 
(4) In this paragraph— 
“the award”, except in sub-paragraph (2), means 
(a) the award of a reduction under the authority's scheme during which the relevant sum 

or, where it is paid in more than one instalment, the first instalment of that sum is 
received; and 

(b) where that award is followed by one or more further awards which, or each of which, 
begins immediately after the previous award ends, such further awards until the end of 
the last such award, provided that, for such further awards, the applicant— 

(i) is the person who received the relevant sum; 
(ii) is the partner of that person; or 
(iii) was the partner of that person at the date of his death; 
 
“official error” 
(a) where the error relates to housing benefit, or council tax benefit (in respect of any 

period before 1st April 2013), has the meaning given by regulation 1(2) of the Housing 
Benefit and Council Tax Benefit (Decisions and Appeals) Regulations 2001; and 

(b) where the error relates to any other relevant benefit, has the meaning given by 
regulation 1(3) of the Social Security and Child Support (Decisions and Appeals) 
Regulations 1999; 

 
“the relevant date” means the date on which the application for a reduction under this 

scheme was made; 
“relevant benefit” means any benefit specified in paragraph 21(2); and 
“the relevant sum” means the total amount referred to in sub-paragraph (1). 
 
23. 
Where a capital asset is held in a currency other than Sterling, any banking charge or commission 

payable in converting that capital into Sterling. 
24. 
The value of the right to receive income from an occupational pension scheme or a personal 

pension scheme. 
25. 
Any arrears of supplementary pension which is disregarded under paragraph 4 of Schedule 6 

(amounts to be disregarded in the calculation of income other than earnings) or of any amount 
which is disregarded under paragraph 5 or 6 of that Schedule. 

26. 
The dwelling occupied as the home; but only one dwelling is to be disregarded under this 

Page 267



176 

paragraph. 
27.— 
(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), where an applicant falls within class C (alternative maximum 

council tax reduction: pensioners), the whole of his capital. 
(2) Sub-paragraph (1) does not apply where an applicant falls within class B and class C. 
 
28. 
Where a person elects to be entitled to a lump sum under Schedule 5 or 5A to SSCBA or under 

Schedule 1 to the Social Security (Graduated Retirement Benefit) Regulations 2005, or is 
treated as having made such an election, and a payment has been made pursuant to that 
election, an amount equal to— 
(a) except where sub-paragraph (b) applies, the amount of any payment or payments 
made on account of that lump sum; 
(b) the amount of that lump sum, but only for so long as that person does not change 
that election in favour of an increase of pension or benefit. 
 

28A. Where a person chooses a lump sum under section 8(2) of the Pensions Act 2014 or 
 in accordance with Regulations made under section 10 of that Act which include 
provision corresponding or similar to section 8(2) of that Act, or fails to make a 
choice, and a lump sum payment has been made, an amount equal to— 

(a) except where sub-paragraph (b) applies, the amount of any payment or 
payments made on account of that lump sum; or 
(b) the amount of that lump sum, but only for so long as that person does not 
alter that choice in favour of an increase of pension. 

 
29. 
Any payments made by virtue of regulations made under— 
(a) by virtue of regulations made under section 57 of the Health and Social Care Act 2001 

(direct payments); 
(b) Deleted by SI/2014/513 
(c) by virtue of regulations made under sections 12A to 12C of the National Health Service 

Act 2006 (direct payments for health care); 
(d) by virtue of regulations made under Article 15 of the Health and Personal Social 

Services (Northern Ireland) Order 1972 (general social welfare); or 
(e) by virtue of regulations made under section 8 of the Carers and Direct 
     Payments Act (Northern Ireland) 2002 (direct payments; 
(f) under sections 31 to 33 of the Care Act 2014 (direct payments), or; 
(g) by virtue of regulations made under section 50 or 52 of the Social Services and 
Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 (direct payments). 
 
29A. 
A payment made under the Age-Related Payments Regulations 2013(13). 
 
29B. Any payments to an applicant made under section 49 of the Children and Families Act 
2014(a)   (personal budgets and direct payments). 

 
29C. (1) Any payment made by a local authority in accordance with section 26A of the Children 

 (Scotland) Act 1995 (duty to provide continuing care)(a). 
(2) Any payment or part of a payment made by a local authority in accordance with that 
section to a person (“A”) which A passes on to the applicant where A— 

(a) was formerly in the applicant’s care; 
(b) is aged 16 or over; and 
(c) continues to live with the applicant. 

 
29ZA  Any payment made as a direct payment as defined in section 4(2) of the Social 
Care (Self-directed Support) (Scotland) Act 2013. 
 

Page 268



177 

 
 

Part 2 
 
Capital disregarded only for the purposes of determining deemed income 

30. 
The value of the right to receive any income under a life interest or from a life rent. 
31. 
The value of the right to receive any rent except where the applicant has a reversionary interest in 

the property in respect of which rent is due. 
32. 
The value of the right to receive any income under an annuity or the surrender value (if any) of 

such an annuity. 
33. 
Where property is held under a trust, other than— 
(a) a charitable trust within the meaning of the Charities Act 1993; or 
(b) a trust set up with any payment to which paragraph 16 applies, 
 
and under the terms of the trust, payments fall to be made, or the trustees have a discretion to 

make payments, to or for the benefit of the applicant or the applicant's partner, or both, that 
property. 

  

Page 269



178 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Schedule 10 
Capital disregards: persons who are not pensioners 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 270



179 

1. 
Any payment made to the applicant in respect of any child care, travel or other expenses incurred, 

or to be incurred, by him in respect of his participation in the Work for Your Benefit Scheme 
but only for 52 weeks beginning with the date of receipt of the payment. 

2. 
Any payment made to the applicant in respect of any travel or other expenses incurred, or to be 

incurred, by him in respect of his participation in the Mandatory Work Activity Scheme but 
only for 52 weeks beginning with the date of receipt of the payment. 

3. 
Any payment made to the applicant in respect of any travel or other expenses incurred, or to be 

incurred, by him in respect of his participation in the Employment, Skills and Enterprise 
Scheme but only for 52 weeks beginning with the date of receipt of the payment. 

4. 
The dwelling together with any garage, garden and outbuildings, normally occupied by the 

applicant as his home including any premises not so occupied which it is impracticable or 
unreasonable to sell separately, but, notwithstanding paragraph 33 (calculation of income and 
capital of members of applicant's family and of a polygamous marriage), only one dwelling is to 
be disregarded under this paragraph. 

5. 
Any premises acquired for occupation by the applicant which he intends to occupy as his home 

within 26 weeks of the date of acquisition or such longer period as is reasonable in the 
circumstances to enable the applicant to obtain possession and commence occupation of the 
premises. 

6. 
Any sum directly attributable to the proceeds of sale of any premises formerly occupied by the 

applicant as his home which is to be used for the purchase of other premises intended for such 
occupation within 26 weeks of the date of sale or such longer period as is reasonable in the 
circumstances to enable the applicant to complete the purchase. 

7. 
Any premises occupied in whole or in part— 
(a) by a partner or relative of a single applicant or any member of the family as his home 

where that person has attained the qualifying age for state pension credit or is 
incapacitated; 

 
(b) by the former partner of the applicant as his home; but this provision does not apply 

where the former partner is a person from whom the applicant is estranged or divorced 
or with whom he had formed a civil partnership that has been dissolved. 

 
8. 
Where an applicant is on income support, an income-based jobseeker's allowance or an income-

related employment and support allowance, the whole of his capital. 
9. 
Where the applicant is a member of a joint-claim couple for the purposes of the Jobseekers Act 

1995 and his partner is on income-based jobseeker's allowance, the whole of the applicant's 
capital. 

10. 
Any future interest in property of any kind, other than land or premises in respect of which the 

applicant has granted a subsisting lease or tenancy, including sub-leases or sub-tenancies. 
11.— 
(1) The assets of any business owned in whole or in part by the applicant and for the 

purposes of which he is engaged as a self-employed earner, or if he has ceased to be so 
engaged, for such period as may be reasonable in the circumstances to allow for disposal 
of any such asset. 

 
(2) The assets of any business owned in whole or in part by the applicant where— 
(a) he is not engaged as a self-employed earner in that business by reason of some disease 

or bodily or mental disablement; but 

Page 271



180 

 
(b) he intends to become engaged or, as the case may be, re-engaged as a self-employed 

earner in that business as soon as he recovers or is able to become engaged or re-
engaged in that business, for a period of 26 weeks from the date on which the 
application for a reduction under this scheme is made, or is treated as made, or, if it is 
unreasonable to expect him to become engaged or re-engaged in that business within 
that period, for such longer period as is reasonable in the circumstances to enable him 
to become so engaged or re-engaged. 

 
(3) In the case of a person who is receiving assistance under the self-employment route, the 

assets acquired by that person for the purpose of establishing or carrying on the 
commercial activity in respect of which such assistance is being received. 

 
(4) In the case of a person who has ceased carrying on the commercial activity in respect of 

which assistance was received as specified in sub-paragraph (3), the assets relating to that 
activity for such period as may be reasonable in the circumstances to allow for disposal of 
any such asset. 

 
12.— 
(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), any arrears of, or any concessionary payment made to 

compensate for arrears due to the non-payment of— 
(a) any payment specified in paragraphs 11, 13 or 14 of Schedule 8; 
(b) an income-related benefit under Part 7 of the SSCBA; 
(c) an income-based jobseeker's allowance; 
(d) any discretionary housing payment paid pursuant to regulation 2(1) of the 

Discretionary Financial Assistance Regulations 2001; 
(e) working tax credit and child tax credit; 
(f) an income-related employment and support allowance, but only for a period of 52 

weeks from the date of the receipt of arrears or of the concessionary payment. 
 
(2) In a case where the total of any arrears and, if appropriate, any concessionary payment 

referred to in sub-paragraph (1) relating to one of the specified payments, benefits or 
allowances amounts to £5,000 or more (referred to in this sub-paragraph and in sub-
paragraph (3) as “the relevant sum”) and is— 
(a) paid in order to rectify or to compensate for, an official error as defined in 

regulation 1(2) of the Housing Benefit and Council Tax Benefit (Decisions and 
Appeals) Regulations 2001; and 

(b) received by the applicant in full on or after 14th October 2001, sub-paragraph (1) 
has effect in relation to such arrears or concessionary payment either for a period 
of 52 weeks from the date of receipt, or, if the relevant sum is received in its 
entirety during the period of an award of a reduction under this scheme, for the 
remainder of that period if that is a longer period. 

 
(3) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (2), “the period of an award of a reduction under 

this scheme” means 
(a) the award in which the relevant sum is first received (or the first part thereof where 

it is paid in more than one instalment); and 
(b) where that award is followed by one or more further awards which, or each of 

which, begins immediately after the end of the previous award, such further award 
provided that for that further award the applicant— 

(i) is the person who received the relevant sum; or 
(ii) is the partner of the person who received the relevant sum, or was that 

person's partner at the date of his death. 
 
 
 
 

Page 272



181 

13. 
Any sum— 

(a) paid to the applicant in consequence of damage to, or loss of the home or any 
personal possession and intended for its repair or replacement; or 

(b) acquired by the applicant (whether as a loan or otherwise) on the express condition 
that it is to be used for effecting essential repairs or improvement to the home, 

which is to be used for the intended purpose, for a period of 26 weeks from the date on which 
it was so paid or acquired or such longer period as is reasonable in the circumstances to 
effect the repairs, replacement or improvement. 

14. 
Any sum— 

(a) deposited with a housing association as defined in section 1(1) of the Housing 
Associations Act 1985 as a condition of occupying the home; 

(b) which was so deposited and which is to be used for the purchase of another home, 
for the period of 26 weeks or such longer period as may be reasonable in the 
circumstances to enable the applicant to complete the purchase. 

15. 
Any personal possessions except those which have been acquired by the applicant with the 

intention of reducing his capital in order to secure entitlement to a reduction under this 
scheme or to increase the amount of that reduction. 

16. 
The value of the right to receive any income under an annuity or the surrender value (if any) of 

such an annuity. 
17. 
Where the funds of a trust are derived from a payment made in consequence of any personal 

injury to the applicant or applicant's partner, the value of the trust fund and the value of the 
right to receive any payment under that trust. 

18.— 
(1) Any payment made to the applicant or the applicant's partner in consequence of any 

personal injury to the applicant or, as the case may be, the applicant's partner. 
 
(2) But sub-paragraph (1)— 

(a) applies only for the period of 52 weeks beginning with the day on which the 
applicant first receives any payment in consequence of that personal injury; 

(b) does not apply to any subsequent payment made to him in consequence of that 
injury (whether it is made by the same person or another); 

(c) ceases to apply to the payment or any part of the payment from the day on which 
the applicant no longer possesses it; 

(d) does not apply to any payment from a trust where the funds of the trust are derived 
from a payment made in consequence of any personal injury to the applicant. 

 
(3) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (2)(c), the circumstances in which an applicant no 

longer possesses a payment or a part of it include where the applicant has used a 
payment or part of it to purchase an asset. 

 
(4) References in sub-paragraphs (2) and (3) to the applicant are to be construed as including 

references to his partner (where applicable). 
 
19. 
The value of the right to receive any income under a life interest or from a life rent. 
 
20. 
The value of the right to receive any income which is disregarded under paragraph 15 of Schedule 

7 or paragraph 29 of Schedule 8. 
 
21. 
The surrender value of any policy of life insurance. 

Page 273



182 

22. 
Where any payment of capital falls to be made by instalments, the value of the right to receive 

any outstanding instalments. 
23. 
Any payment made by a local authority in accordance with section 17, 23B, 23C or 24A of the 

Children Act 1989 or, as the case may be, section 12 of the Social Work (Scotland) Act 1968 or 
sections 22, 29 or 30 of the Children (Scotland) Act 1995 (provision of services for children and 
their families and advice and assistance to certain children). 

 
24.— 
(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), any payment (or part of a payment) made by a local 

authority in accordance with section 23C of the Children Act 1989 or section 29 of the 
Children (Scotland) Act 1995 (local authorities’ duty to promote welfare of children and 
powers to grant financial assistance to persons in, or formerly in, their care) to a person 
(“A”) which A passes on to the applicant. 

(2) Sub-paragraph (1) applies only where A— 
(a) was formerly in the applicant's care, and 
(b) is aged 18 or over, and 
(c) continues to live with the applicant. 

 
25. 
Any— 

(a) social fund payment made pursuant to Part 8 of the SSCBA (the social fund); or 
(b) occasional assistance. 

 
26. 
Any refund of tax which falls to be deducted under section 369 of the Income and Corporation 

Taxes Act 1988 (deduction of tax from certain loan interest) on a payment of relevant loan 
interest for the purpose of acquiring an interest in the home or carrying out repairs or 
improvements to the home. 

27. 
Any capital which by virtue of paragraph 55 or 81 (capital treated as income: persons who are not 

pensioners, treatment of student loans) is to be treated as income. 
28. 
Where any payment of capital is made in a currency other than sterling, any banking charge or 

commission payable in converting that payment into sterling. 
29.— 
(1) Any payment made under or by the Trusts, the Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET Limited, the 

Independent Living Fund (2006), the Skipton Fund, the Caxton Foundation or the London 
Bombings Relief Charitable Fund. 

 
(2) Any payment by or on behalf of a person who is suffering or who suffered from 

haemophilia or who is or was a qualifying person, which derives from a payment made 
under or by any of the Trusts to which sub-paragraph (1) refers and which is made to or 
for the benefit of— 
(a) that person's partner or former partner from whom he is not, or where that person 

has died was not, estranged or divorced or with whom he has formed a civil 
partnership that has not been dissolved or, where that person has died, had not 
been dissolved at the time of that person's death; 

(b) any child who is a member of that person's family or who was such a member and 
who is a member of the applicant's family; or 

(c) any young person who is a member of that person's family or who was such a 
member and who is a member of the applicant's family. 

 
(3) Any payment by or on behalf of the partner or former partner of a person who is suffering 

or who suffered from haemophilia or who is or was a qualifying person which derives 
from a payment made under or by any of the Trusts to which sub-paragraph (1) refers and 

Page 274



183 

which is made to or for the benefit of— 
(a) the person who is suffering from haemophilia or who is a qualifying person; 
(b) any child who is a member of that person's family or who was such a member and 

who is a member of the applicant's family; or 
(c) any young person who is a member of that person's family or who was such a 

member and who is a member of the applicant's family. 
 
(4) Sub-paragraph (3) does not apply if— 

(a) the partner or former partner and that person are not, or if either of them has died 
were not, estranged or divorced, or 

(b) where the partner or former partner and that person have formed a civil 
partnership, the civil partnership has not been dissolved or, if either of them has 
died, had not been dissolved at the time of the death. 

 
(5) Any payment by a person who is suffering from haemophilia or who is a qualifying person, 

which derives from a payment under or by any of the Trusts to which sub-paragraph (1) 
refers, where— 
(a) that person has no partner or former partner from whom he is not estranged or 

divorced or with whom he has formed a civil partnership that has not been 
dissolved, nor any child or young person who is or had been a member of that 
person's family; and 

(b) the payment is made either— 
(i) to that person's parent or step-parent; or 
(ii) where that person at the date of the payment is a child, a young person or a 

student who has not completed his full-time education and has no parent or 
step-parent, to his guardian, 

 but only for a period from the date of the payment until the end of two years from that 
person's death. 

 
(6) Any payment out of the estate of a person who suffered from haemophilia or who was a 

qualifying person, which derives from a payment under or by any of the Trusts to which 
sub-paragraph (1) refers, where— 
(a) that person at the date of his death (the relevant date) had no partner or former 

partner from whom he was not estranged or divorced or with whom he had formed 
a civil partnership that had not been dissolved, nor any child or young person who 
was or had been a member of his family; and 

(b) the payment is made either— 
(i) to that person's parent or step-parent; or 
(ii) where that person at the relevant date was a child, a young person or a student 

who had not completed his full-time education and had no parent or step-
parent, to his guardian, 

but only for a period of two years from the relevant date. 
 
(7) In the case of a person to whom or for whose benefit a payment referred to in this 

paragraph is made, any capital resource which derives from any payment of income or 
capital made under or deriving from any of the Trusts. 

 
(8) For the purposes of sub-paragraphs (2) to (6), any reference to the Trusts is to be 

construed as including a reference to the Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET Limited, the 
Skipton Fund, the Caxton Foundation, and the London Bombings Relief Charitable Fund. 

 
30.— 
(1) Where an applicant has ceased to occupy what was formerly the dwelling occupied as the 

home following his estrangement or divorce from, or dissolution of his civil partnership 
with, his former partner, that dwelling for a period of 26 weeks from the date on which he 
ceased to occupy that dwelling or, where the dwelling is occupied as the home by the 
former partner who is a lone parent, for so long as it is so occupied. 

Page 275



184 

 
(2) In this paragraph “dwelling” includes any garage, garden and outbuildings, which were 

formerly occupied by the applicant as his home and any premises not so occupied which it 
is impracticable or unreasonable to sell separately, in particular, in Scotland, any croft 
land on which the dwelling is situated. 

 
31. 
Any premises where the applicant is taking reasonable steps to dispose of those premises, for a 

period of 26 weeks from the date on which he first took such steps, or such longer period as is 
reasonable in the circumstances to enable him to dispose of those premises. 

 
32. 
Any premises which the applicant intends to occupy as his home, and in respect of which he is 

taking steps to obtain possession and has sought legal advice, or has commenced legal 
proceedings, with a view to obtaining possession, for a period of 26 weeks from the date on 
which he first sought such advice or first commenced such proceedings whichever is the 
earlier, or such longer period as is reasonable in the circumstances to enable him to obtain 
possession and commence occupation of those premises. 

33. 
Any premises which the applicant intends to occupy as his home to which essential repairs or 

alterations are required in order to render them fit for such occupation, for a period of 26 
weeks from the date on which the applicant first takes steps to effect those repairs or 
alterations, or such longer period as is necessary to enable those repairs or alterations to be 
carried out. 

 
34. 
Any payment made by the Secretary of State to compensate for the loss (in whole or in part) of 

entitlement to housing benefit. 
 
35. 
The value of the right to receive an occupational or personal pension. 
 
36. 
The value of any funds held under a personal pension scheme. 
 
37. 
The value of the right to receive any rent except where the applicant has a reversionary interest in 

the property in respect of which rent is due. 
 
38. 
Any payment in kind made by a charity or under or by the Trusts, the Fund, MFET Limited, the 

Skipton Fund, the Caxton Foundation or the Independent Living Fund (2006). 
 
39. 
Any payment made pursuant to section 2 of the Employment and Training Act 1973 or section 2 of 

the Enterprise and New Towns (Scotland) Act 1990, but only for the period of 52 weeks 
beginning on the date of receipt of the payment. 

 
40. 
Any payment in consequence of a reduction of council tax under section 13 of the 1992 Act 

(reduction of liability for council tax), but only for a period of 52 weeks from the date of the 
receipt of the payment. 

 
41. 
Any grant made in accordance with a scheme made under section 129 of the Housing Act 1988 or 

section 66 of the Housing (Scotland) Act 1988 (schemes for payments to assist local housing 
authority and local authority tenants to obtain other accommodation) which is to be used— 

Page 276



185 

(a) to purchase premises intended for occupation as his home; or 
(b) to carry out repairs or alterations which are required to render premises fit for 

occupation as his home, for a period of 26 weeks from the date on which he received 
such a grant or such longer period as is reasonable in the circumstances to enable the 
purchase, repairs or alterations to be completed and the applicant to commence 
occupation of those premises as his home. 

 
42. 
 Any arrears of supplementary pension which is disregarded under paragraph 54 of Schedule 8 

(sums to be disregarded in the calculation of income other than earnings) or of any amount 
which is disregarded under paragraph 55 or 56 of that Schedule, but only for a period of 52 
weeks from the date of receipt of the arrears. 

 
43.— 
(1) Any payment or repayment made— 
(a) as respects England, under regulation 5, 6 or 12 of the National Health Service (Travel 

Expenses and Remission of Charges) Regulations 2003 (travelling expenses and health 
service supplies); 

(b) as respects Wales, under regulation 5, 6 or 11 of the National Health Service (Travelling 
Expenses and Remission of Charges) (Wales) Regulations 2007 (travelling expenses and 
health service supplies); 

(c) as respects Scotland, under regulation 3, 5 or 11 of the National Health Service 
(Travelling Expenses and Remission of Charges) (Scotland) (No. 2) Regulations 2003 
(travelling expenses and health service supplies), but only for a period of 52 weeks from 
the date of receipt of the payment or repayment. 

 
(2) Any payment or repayment made by the Secretary of State for Health, the Scottish 

Ministers or the Welsh Ministers which is analogous to a payment or repayment 
mentioned in sub-paragraph (1), but only for a period of 52 weeks from the date of 
receipt of the payment or repayment. 

 
44. 
Any payment made to such persons entitled to receive benefits as may be determined by or under 

a scheme made pursuant to section 13 of the Social Security Act 1988 in lieu of vouchers or 
similar arrangements in connection with the provision of those benefits (including payments 
made in place of healthy start vouchers, milk tokens or the supply of vitamins), but only for a 
period of 52 weeks from the date of receipt of the payment. 

 
45. 
Any payment made under Part 8A of the SSCBA (entitlement to health in pregnancy grant). 
 
46. 
Any payment made either by the Secretary of State for Justice or by Scottish Ministers under a 

scheme established to assist relatives and other persons to visit persons in custody, but only 
for a period of 52 weeks from the date of the receipt of the payment. 

 
47. 
Any payment (other than a training allowance) made, whether by the Secretary of State or any 

other person, under the Disabled Persons (Employment) Act 1944 to assist disabled persons to 
obtain or retain employment despite their disability. 

 
48. 
Any payment made by a local authority under section 3 of the Disabled Persons (Employment) Act 

1958. to homeworkers assisted under the Blind Homeworkers’ Scheme. 
 
49.— 
(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), where an applicant falls within class F (alternative maximum 

Page 277



186 

council reduction: persons who are not pensioners), the whole of his capital. 
 
(2) Sub-paragraph (1) does not apply where an applicant falls within class E and class F. 
 
50.— 
(1) Any sum of capital to which sub-paragraph (2) applies and— 

(a) which is administered on behalf of a person by the High Court or the County Court 
under Rule 21.11(1) of the Civil Procedure Rules 1998 or by the Court of Protection; 

(b) which can only be disposed of by order or direction of any such court; or 
(c) where the person concerned is under the age of 18, which can only be disposed of 

by order or direction prior to that person attaining age 18. 
(2) This sub-paragraph applies to a sum of capital which is derived from— 

(a) an award of damages for a personal injury to that person; or 
(b) compensation for the death of one or both parents where the person concerned is 

under the age of 18. 
 
51. 
Any sum of capital administered on behalf of a person in accordance with an order made under 

section 13 of the Children (Scotland) Act 1995, or under Rule 36.14 of the Ordinary Cause Rules 
1993 or under Rule 128 of those Rules, where such sum derives from— 
(a) award of damages for a personal injury to that person; or 
(b) compensation for the death of one or both parents where the person concerned is 

under the age of 18. 
 
52. 
Any payment to the applicant as holder of the Victoria Cross or George Cross. 
53. 
In the case of a person who is receiving, or who has received, assistance under the self-

employment route, any sum of capital which is acquired by that person for the purpose of 
establishing or carrying on the commercial activity in respect of which such assistance is or was 
received but only for a period of 52 weeks from the date on which that sum was acquired. 

 
54.— 
(1) Any payment of a sports award for a period of 26 weeks from the date of receipt of that 

payment except to the extent that it has been made in respect of any one or more of the 
items specified in sub-paragraph (2). 

(2) The items specified for the purposes of sub-paragraph (1) are food, ordinary clothing or 
footwear, household fuel or rent of the applicant or, where the applicant is a member of a 
family, any other member of his family, or any council tax or water charges for which that 
applicant or member is liable. 

(3) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (2) “food” does not include vitamins, minerals or other 
special dietary supplements intended to enhance the performance of the person in the 
sport in respect of which the award was made. 

 
55.— 
(1) Any payment— 

(a) by way of an education maintenance allowance made pursuant to— 
(i) regulations made under section 518 of the Education Act 1996; 
(ii) regulations made under section 49 or 73(f) of the Education (Scotland) Act 

1980; 
(iii) directions made under section 73ZA of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980 and 

paid under section 12(2)(c) of the Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 
1992; 

(b) corresponding to such an education maintenance allowance, made pursuant to— 
(i) section 14 or section 181 of the Education Act 2002 (power of Secretary of State 

and the Welsh Ministers to give financial assistance for purposes related to 
education or childcare, and allowances in respect of education or training); or 

Page 278



187 

(ii) regulations made under section 181 of that Act; or 
(c) in England, by way of financial assistance made pursuant to section 14 of the 

Education Act 2002. 
 
(2) Any payment, other than a payment to which sub-paragraph (1) applies, made pursuant 

to— 
(a) regulations made under section 518 of the Education Act 1996; 
(b) regulations made under section 49 of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980; or 
(c) directions made under section 73ZA of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980 and paid 

under section 12(2)(c) of the Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992, in 
respect of a course of study attended by a child or a young person or a person who is in 
receipt of an education maintenance allowance or other payment made pursuant to 
any provision specified in sub-paragraph (1). 

 
56. 
In the case of an applicant participating in an employment zone programme, any discretionary 

payment made by an employment zone contractor to the applicant, being a fee, grant, loan or 
otherwise, but only for the period of 52 weeks from the date of receipt of the payment. 

 
57. 
Any arrears of subsistence allowance paid as a lump sum but only for the period of 52 weeks from 

the date of receipt of the payment. 
 
58. 
Where an ex-gratia payment of £10,000 has been made by the Secretary of State on or after 1st 

February 2001 in consequence of the imprisonment or internment of— 
(a) the applicant; 
(b) the applicant's partner; 
(c) the applicant's deceased spouse or deceased civil partner; or 
(d) the applicant's partner's deceased spouse or deceased civil partner, by the Japanese 

during the Second World War, £10,000. 
59.— 
(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), the amount of any trust payment made to an applicant or a 

member of an applicant's family who is— 
(a) a diagnosed person; 
(b) the diagnosed person's partner or the person who was the diagnosed person's 

partner at the date of the diagnosed person's death; 
(c) a parent of a diagnosed person, a person acting in place of the diagnosed person's 

parents or a person who was so acting at the date of the diagnosed person's death; 
or 

(d) a member of the diagnosed person's family (other than his partner) or a person who 
was a member of the diagnosed person's family (other than his partner) at the date 
of the diagnosed person's death. 

 
(2) Where a trust payment is made to— 

(a) a person referred to in sub-paragraph (1)(a) or (b), that sub-paragraph applies for 
the period beginning on the date on which the trust payment is made and ending 
on the date on which that person dies; 

(b) a person referred to in sub-paragraph (1)(c), that sub-paragraph applies for the 
period beginning on the date on which the trust payment is made and ending two 
years after that date; 

(c) a person referred to in sub-paragraph (1)(d), that sub-paragraph applies for the 
period beginning on the date on which the trust payment is made and ending— 

(i) two years after that date; or 
(ii) on the day before the day on which that person— 

(aa) ceases receiving full-time education; or 
(bb) attains the age of 20, 

Page 279



188 

whichever is the latest. 
 
(3) Subject to sub-paragraph (4), the amount of any payment by a person to whom a trust 

payment has been made or of any payment out of the estate of a person to whom a trust 
payment has been made, which is made to an applicant or a member of an applicant's 
family who is— 
(a) the diagnosed person's partner or the person who was the diagnosed person's 

partner at the date of the diagnosed person's death; 
(b) a parent of a diagnosed person, a person acting in place of the diagnosed person's 

parents or a person who was so acting at the date of the diagnosed person's death; 
or 

(c) a member of the diagnosed person's family (other than his partner) or a person who 
was a member of the diagnosed person's family (other than his partner) at the date 
of the diagnosed person's death,  but only to the extent that such payments do not 
exceed the total amount of any trust payments made to that person. 

 
(4) Where a payment as referred to in sub-paragraph (3) is made to— 

(a) a person referred to in sub-paragraph (3)(a), that sub-paragraph applies for the 
period beginning on the date on which that payment is made and ending on the 
date on which that person dies; 

(b) a person referred to in sub-paragraph (3)(b), that sub-paragraph applies for the 
period beginning on the date on which that payment is made and ending two years 
after that date; or 

(c) person referred to in sub-paragraph (3)(c), that sub-paragraph applies for the period 
beginning on the date on which that payment is made and ending— 

(i) two years after that date; or 
(ii) on the day before the day on which that person— 

(aa) ceases receiving full-time education; or 
(bb) attains the age of 20, whichever is the latest. 

 
(5) In this paragraph, a reference to a person— 

(a) being the diagnosed person's partner; 
(b) being a member of a diagnosed person's family; 
(c) acting in place of the diagnosed person's parents, at the date of the diagnosed 

person's death includes a person who would have been such a person or a person 
who would have been so acting, but for the diagnosed person residing in a care 
home, an Abbeyfield Home or an independent hospital on that date. 

 
(6) In this paragraph— 
“diagnosed person” means a person who has been diagnosed as suffering from, or who, after 

his death, has been diagnosed as having suffered from, variant Creutzfeld-Jakob disease; 
“relevant trust” means a trust established out of funds provided by the Secretary of State in 

respect of persons who suffered, or who are suffering, from variant Creutzfeld-Jakob 
disease for the benefit of persons eligible for payments in accordance with its provisions; 

“trust payment” means a payment under a relevant trust. 
 
60. 
The amount of any payment, other than a war pension, to compensate for the fact that the 

applicant, the applicant's partner, the applicant's deceased spouse or deceased civil partner or 
the applicant's partner's deceased spouse or deceased civil partner— 
(a) was a slave labourer or a forced labourer; 
(b) had suffered property loss or had suffered personal injury; or 
(c) was a parent of a child who had died, 
during the Second World War. 
 

61.— 
(1) Any payment made by a local authority, or by the Welsh Ministers, to or on behalf of the 

Page 280



189 

applicant or his partner relating to a service which is provided to develop or sustain the 
capacity of the applicant or his partner to live independently in his accommodation. 

 
(2) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1) “local authority” includes in England a county 

council. 
 
62. 
Any payment made under regulations made under section 57 of the Health and Social Care Act 

2001 or under section 12B of the Social Work (Scotland) Act 1968, or under sections 12A to 
12D of the National Health Service Act 2006 (direct payments for health care). 

 
63. 
Any payment made to the applicant pursuant to regulations under section 2(6)(b), 3 or 4 of the 

Adoption and Children Act 2002. 
 
64. 
Any payment made to the applicant in accordance with regulations made pursuant to section 14F 

of the Children Act 1989 (special guardianship support services). 
   

Page 281



190 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Schedule 11 
Additional awards due to exceptional and/or extreme Hardship  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 282



191 

Discretionary Exceptional hardship payments 
1. (1)The Council may make discretionary payments by way of financial assistance (“exceptional 
hardship payments”) to persons who—  

(a)are entitled a council tax reduction under the Council’s Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme and 
(b)appear to such an authority to require some further financial assistance (in addition to the 
reduction to which they are entitled) in order to meet Council tax liability.  

(2) Subject to paragraph (3)  the council has a discretion—  
(a)as to whether or not to make exceptional hardship payments in a particular case; and  
(b)as to the amount of the payments and the period for, or in respect of which, they are made.  

(3) Paragraphs (1) and (2) shall not apply in respect of council tax liability for any period before 1 April 
2013 
 
Circumstances in which Exceptional hardship payments may be made 
2.  For the purposes of the Council Tax Reduction Scheme, the prescribed circumstance in which 
exceptional hardship payments may be made is where a person has made a claim for an exceptional 
hardship payment and the requirement for financial assistance does not arise as a consequence of—  

(a)a liability to meet council tax payments in a case where the person is  not entitled to a council tax 
reduction under the scheme;  
 (b)a liability to meet council tax where an alternative maximum council tax benefit is payable;  
 (c)a reduction of an amount of benefit by virtue of section 46(11) of the Child Support Act 1991;  
(d)a reduction of a specified amount of benefit by virtue of section 2A of the Social Security 
Administration Act 1992;  
(e)a reduction in the amount of a jobseeker’s allowance payable by virtue of section 17 of the 
Jobseekers Act 1995;  
(f)the non-payability of a jobseeker’s allowance or a reduction in the amount of a jobseeker’s 
allowance payable, pursuant to a decision made by virtue of section 19 or 20A of the Jobseekers Act 
1995;  
(g)the suspension of payment of an amount of benefit by virtue of section 21, 22 or 24 of the Social 
Security Act 1998 or section 68 of, and paragraphs 13 and 14 of Schedule 7 to, the Child Support, 
Pensions and Social Security Act 2000.  
(f) any factor that  the Council considers that  the person or persons entitled to a council tax 
reduction under this scheme could have taken reasonable actions to avoid or mitigate. 

 
 
Limit on the amount of the discretionary exceptional hardship  payment that may be made 
3.  The amount of a discretionary exceptional hardship payment (if calculated as a weekly sum) shall 
not exceed, in a case where the need for further financial assistance arises as a consequence of the 
liability to make payments in respect of council tax, an amount equal to the weekly amount of council 
tax liability of that person calculated on a weekly basis.  
 
Period for, or in respect of which, discretionary exceptional hardship payments may be made 
4.  The Council shall restrict the period for or in respect of which discretionary exceptional hardship 
payments may be made to such period as it considers appropriate in the particular circumstances of a 
case.  
Form, manner and procedure for claims 
5.—(1) A claim for Exceptional Hardship payment  must be:  

(a)in writing or, in such form and manner as is accepted;  
(b)from—  

(i)a person entitled to either council tax reduction; or  
(ii)where it appears reasonable in the circumstances of a particular case, an authorised 
person acting on behalf of a person so entitled.  

(2) an award of entitlement to exceptional hardship will be paid directly to the person’s Council Tax 
account to the person entitled council tax reduction,.  
(3) The council shall give a person who has claimed discretionary exceptional hardship payments or 
who has requested a review of a decision made in respect of his claim, written notice of its decision in 
respect of that claim or review and the reasons for that decision as soon as is reasonably practicable.  
 

Page 283



192 

Provision of information 
6.  A person claiming or receiving exceptional hardship payments shall provide the council with the 
following information—  

(a)particulars of the grounds of claim or, as the case may be, particulars of the grounds for a review;  
(b)changes in circumstances which may be relevant to the continuance of discretionary payments,  
and such other information as may be specified by the council within such time as the council thinks 
appropriate.  

Reviews 
7.—(1) The Council may review any decision it has made with respect to the making, cancellation or 
recovery of discretionary exceptional hardship payments in such circumstances as it thinks fit.  
(2) Without prejudice to the generality of paragraph (1) above, the council may, on any such review, 
cancel the making of further such payments and recover a payment already made where that 
authority has determined that—  

(a)whether fraudulently or otherwise, any person has misrepresented, or failed to disclose, a 
material fact and, as a consequence of that misrepresentation or failure to disclose, a payment has 
been made; or  
(b)an error has been made when determining the application for a payment, and as a consequence 
of that error, a payment had been made which would not have been made but for that error. 

 
 

Page 284



 

Agenda Item No: 9  

Committee: COUNCIL 

Date:  13 DECEMBER 2018 

Report Title: POLLING DISTRICTS AND POLLING PLACES REVIEW 

 
1 Purpose / Summary 

 
To consider the outcome of the recent review of polling districts and places, as required 
by the Electoral Registration and Administration Act 2013. 
 

2 Key issues 
 

• The Electoral Registration and Administration Act 2013 introduced a change to the 
timing of compulsory reviews of UK Parliamentary polling districts and polling 
places; 

• The last compulsory review was agreed by Full Council on 18 December 2014; 
• Subsequent compulsory reviews must be started and completed within the period of 

16 months that starts on 1 October of every fifth year after 1 October 2013, which 
means the next review should be started and completed between 1 October 2018 
and 31 January 2020; 

• This review is being carried out at this time due to the District and Town and Parish 
Council elections due to take place on 2 May 2019 and the need to implement  
changes as a result of the Local Government Boundary Commission for England 
Review of Cambridgeshire County Council to some parish wards and the 
Community Governance Review in Whittlesey; 

• The Council has undertaken a consultation exercise on the proposals within the 
report and received a number of comments which have been taken into account in 
the final recommendations.  All comments and responses are detailed in Appendix 
B; 

• This review has no effect upon the number of electoral wards or councillors. 
 

3 Recommendations 
 
That the Council 
• notes the outcome of the review and the consultation undertaken; 
• agrees the changes recommended to polling districts and polling places, as detailed 

in the report at Appendix C; 
• notes that a review of all polling districts will be undertaken at least every five years 

and delegates authority to the Returning Officer/Electoral Registration Officer to 
keep polling districts under review, in the intervening period between compulsory 
reviews, and propose any changes which appear necessary to Full Council for its 
consideration and determination. 

  

Page 285

Agenda Item 9



 
Wards Affected All 

Forward Plan Reference  

Portfolio Holder(s) Councillor Anne Hay, Portfolio Holder for Finance 

Report Originator(s) Elaine Cooper, Team Leader Elections, Land Charges and 
Member Services 
Anna Goodall, Head of Legal and Governance 

Contact Officer(s) Paul Medd, Chief Executive 
Anna Goodall, Head of Legal and Governance 
Elaine Cooper, Team Leader Elections, Land Charges and 
Member Services 

Background Paper(s) Electoral Registration and Administration Act 2013 
Schedule A1, Representation of the People Act 1983 
Consultation responses 

Page 286



4 Background / introduction 
 
4.1 The Electoral Registration and Administration Act 2013 places a duty on local 

authorities to carry out a full review of their Parliamentary polling districts and polling 
places every fifth year after 1 October 2013.  This means that a review should be 
started and completed between 1 October 2018 and 31 January 2020.  The same 
polling districts and polling places are used for local government elections. 
 

4.2 In undertaking a review, the Council must: 
• publish a notice indicating the holding of a review 
• consult the Returning Officer for every Parliamentary constituency which is wholly or 

partly in its area 
• enable any such Returning Officer to make representations to the authority and 

publish them in a prescribed manner 
• seek representations from such persons that it thinks has particular expertise in 

relation to access to premises or facilities for persons who have different forms of 
disability 

• allow any elector in the authority’s area to make representations which could include 
proposals for alternative polling places. 
 

4.3 On completion of the review, details of the new polling districts and polling places must 
be made available to the public. 
 

4.4 The definitions of polling district, polling place and polling station are: 
• A polling district is the area created by separation of a ward, division or 

constituency into smaller parts, within which a polling place can be determined 
which is convenient to the electors 

• A polling place is the building or area in which polling stations will be selected by 
the Returning Officer 

• A polling station is the actual area where the process of voting takes place.  This 
must be located within the polling place and designated for the particular polling 
district.  This function is the responsibility of the Returning Officer. 
 

The Council is responsible for designating polling places, whereas the Returning 
Officer is responsible for determining where the polling stations are situated.  
 

5 Considerations 
 
5.1 When undertaking a review the Council is required to give due regard to the following 

considerations: 
• It must seek to ensure that all electors in the area have reasonable facilities for 

voting as are practicable in the circumstances; 
• It must seek to ensure that, so far as is reasonable and practicable, every polling 

place is accessible to all electors. 
 

5.2 A schedule of existing polling districts and polling places is set out in Appendix A. 
 

5.3 The review takes into account the Local Government Boundary Commission for 
England (LGBCE) electoral review on the electoral arrangements for Cambridgeshire 
County Council, which came into effect on 17 February 2017, but has an impact at 
Town/Parish Council level for the elections due to take place on 2 May 2019. 
 

5.4 The review also takes into account the outcome of the LGBCE's consideration of the 
Community Governance Review in relation to Whittlesey to address boundary 
anomalies that resulted from the LGBCE electoral review.   

Page 287



The LGBCE agreed to the proposals to 
o amalgamate the parish wards of Bassenhally, Elm and Delph into one parish ward to 

reflect the district ward boundaries, with the new parish ward being called 
Bassenhally represented by four town councillors 

o amalgamate St Andrews parish ward with St Mary’s North parish ward, with the new 
parish ward being renamed St Andrews and St Marys North parish ward represented 
by two parish Councillors. 

o increase the elected representatives for the Stonald parish ward from one to two. 
 

6 Effect on corporate objectives 
 
6.1 Quality Organisation: 

• this review fulfils the Council’s legal obligations under The Electoral Registration 
and Administration Act 2013 

• the review ensures voter engagement is maximised in the democratic process by 
establishing polling stations that electors deem suitable and accessible. 

 
7 Community Impact 
 
7.1 The Council undertook a formal consultation period from 1 October to 2 November 

2018.  A public notice of the holding of the review was displayed on the Council's 
website, Fenland@YourService shops/community hubs and business reception.  In 
addition, the following specific consultations were undertaken with: 
• all members of Fenland District Council 
• the Returning Officer(s) for East Cambs District Council & Cambridgeshire County 

Council 
• the Member of Parliament and the Members of European Parliament for the Eastern 

Region 
• Members of East Cambs District & Cambridgeshire County Council representing 

wards within the North East Cambridgeshire Constituency area  
• all the Clerks for Town / Parish Councils in the North East Cambridgeshire 

Constituency area  
• organisations which have particular expertise regarding access to premises or 

facilities for persons who have different forms of disability including Camsight, The 
Varrier-Jones Foundation, Age UK, Fenland Association for Community Transport 
Ltd, Fenland Area Community Enterprise Trust, Caerus Care Ltd, Papworth Trust, 
Wisbech St Raphael Club, Cambridgeshire and Peterborough NHS Foundation 
Trust & East Cambs Access Group 

• Candidates and Election Agents who acted at the 2015 District and 2017 County 
Council elections 

• Polling places within the Fenland area. 
 

7.2 50 interested parties responded to the consultation and the comments and responses 
are reported at Appendix B.    

 
7.3 Election officers have visited the potential new polling station venues and consider them 

to be suitable. 
 
7.4 The proposed changes to the current polling districts and polling places are detailed in 

Appendix C.  As referred to in the consultation comments, attempts have been made to 
identify specific alternative polling stations that could be used within each polling district 
should the current choice become unavailable.  As a consequence, many alternatives 
that have been identified are schools, which have previously been avoided due to the 
increased measures implemented in schools to safeguard students.  These alternative 

Page 288



polling stations have not been contacted or visited to see if they are suitable to be a 
polling station, which will be undertaken following this review. 
 

8 Conclusions 
 
8.1 Council is asked to agree the recommended Polling Districts and Polling places outlined 

in the report, subject to members agreement details of the new polling districts and 
polling places must be made available to the public.  Specified interested parties may 
make representations to the Electoral Commission to reconsider any polling districts 
and polling places. 
 

8.2 The new electoral register containing revised arrangements for polling districts will be 
published on 1 February 2019.  New polling districts and polling places will become 
effective at elections held after this date. 

 

Page 289



APPENDIX A 
FENLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 

SCHEDULE OF CURRENT POLLING DISTRICTS AND POLLING PLACES 
 

DISTRICT 
WARD 

POLLING 
DISTRICT 
LETTER 

PARISH/ 
TOWN 

POLLING PLACE 

BIRCH AA Birch, 
Chatteris 

Chatteris Library, Furrowfields Road 
Or any within the polling districts 

SLADE LODE AB Slade Lode, 
Chatteris 

Quaker Way Residents Community Room  
Or any within the polling districts 

THE MILLS AC The Mills, 
Chatteris 

The Masonic Hall, Huntingdon Road 
Or any within the polling district 

WENNEYE AD Wenneye, 
Chatteris 

Emmanuel Church Hall, East Park Street 
Or any within the polling district  

MARCH EAST BA1 March East, 
March 

Roman Catholic Church Hall, St Johns Road 
Or any within the polling district 

BA2 March East, 
March 

Fleming Court off Smiths Drive 
Or any within the polling district 

BA3 
 

March East, 
March 

March and District Children’s Centre, Cavalry 
Drive 
Or any within the polling district BA4 

BA5 March East, 
March 

St Peters Church Room, High Street 
Or any within the polling district 

MARCH NORTH BB1 March North, 
March 

March Youth & Community Centre, Station Road 
Or any within the polling district 

BB2 March North, 
March 

St Johns Church Hall, Station Road 
Or any within the polling district 

BB3 March North, 
March 

GER Sports Club Function Room, 
Robingoodfellows Lane 
Or any within the polling district 

BB4 March North, 
March 

St Marys Church Hall, Wisbech Road, Westry 
Or any within the polling district 

MARCH WEST BC1 March West, 
March 

British Legion Hall, West End  
Or any within the polling district 

BC2 March West, 
March 

March Cricket Club, Burrowmoor Road 
Or any within the polling district  

BC3 March West, 
March 

St Wendredas Church Hall, Church Street 
Or any within the polling district 

BC4 March West, 
March 

St Marys Church Hall, Wisbech Road, Westry 
Or any within the polling district 

BENWICK, 
COATES & 
EASTREA 

CA Benwick Benwick Village Hall, High Street 
Or any within the polling district 

DE Coates & 
Eastrea, 
Whittlesey 
(Coates) 

Coates Public Hall, 1 The Fold 
Or any within the polling district 

DF Coates & 
Eastrea, 
Whittlesey 
(Eastrea) 

Eastrea Centre, Roman Gardens 
Or any within the polling district 

DG Coates & 
Eastrea, 
Whittlesey 
(Pondersbridge) 

Pondersbridge Village Hall, Oilmills Road 
Or any within the polling district 

    

Page 290



DISTRICT 
WARD 

POLLING 
DISTRICT 
LETTER 

PARISH/ 
TOWN 

POLLING PLACE 

BENWICK, 
COATES & 
EASTREA 

DH Coates & 
Eastrea, 
Whittlesey 
(Turves) 

The Three Horseshoes Inn, March Road 
Or any within the polling district 

DI Coates & 
Eastrea, 
Whittlesey 
(Kings Delph) 

St Johns Ambulance HQ, Plough Road 
Or any within polling district DI or DD 

BASSENHALLY DA1 Bassenhally, 
Whittlesey 

Alderman Jacobs School, Drybread Road 
Or any within the polling districts DA1/DA2/DA3 

DA2 Elm, Whittlesey Ivy Leaf Club, Gracious Street 
Or any within the polling districts DA1/DA2/DA3 

DA3 Delph, 
Whittlesey 

Ivy Leaf Club, Gracious Street 
Or any within the polling district DA1/DA2/DA3 

LATTERSEY DB Lattersey 
Whittlesey 

Quinion Close 
Or any within the polling district 

ST ANDREWS DC1 St Andrews, 
Whittlesey St Andrews Parish Hall, Parkinson Lane 

Or any within the polling district DC2 St Marys, 
Whittlesey 

DC3 St Marys, 
Whitlesey 

Whittlesey Library, Market Street 
Or any within the polling district 

STONALD DD Stonald 
Whittlesey  

St Johns Ambulance HQ, Plough Road 
Or any within the polling district 

CLARKSON EA Clarkson, 
Wisbech  

Robert Hall Centre, Lynn Road  
Or any within the polling district 

OCTAVIA HILL EB1 Octavia Hill, 
Wisbech 

College of West Anglia Isle Campus, Ramnoth 
Road 
Or any within the polling district 

EB2 Awdry House, Ramnoth Road 
Or any within the polling district 

KIRKGATE EC Kirkgate, 
Wisbech 

Walsoken Village Hall, Kirkgate Street 
Or any within the polling district 

MEDWORTH ED Medworth, 
Wisbech 

Wisbech St Raphael Disabled Club, Love Lane  
Or any within the polling district 

PECKOVER EE Peckover, 
Wisbech 

Wisbech Rugby Football Club, Chapel Road 
Or any within the polling district 

STAITHE EF Staithe,  
Wisbech 

Meadowgate School, Meadowgate Lane 
Or any within the polling districts EC and EF 

WATERLEES 
VILLAGE 

EG1 
 

Waterlees 
Village,  
Wisbech 

The Oasis Village Centre, St Michaels Avenue 
Or any within the polling district EG1 or EG2 EG2 

DODDINGTON & 
WIMBLINGTON 

FA Doddington Doddington Village Hall, Benwick Road  
Or any within the polling district 

KA Wimblington Wimblington Parish Hall, Addison Road 
Or any within the polling district 

KB Wimblington 
(Stonea) 

The Golden Lion Public House, Sixteen Foot 
Bank 
Or any within the polling district KA or KB 

ELM & 
CHRISTCHURCH 

GA Elm 
(Friday Bridge ) 

Fridaybridge Tower Hall, Maltmas Road 
Or any within the polling district 

GB Elm Elm Centre, Main Road 
Or any within the polling district 

    

Page 291



DISTRICT 
WARD 

POLLING 
DISTRICT 
LETTER 

PARISH/ 
TOWN 

POLLING PLACE 

ELM & 
CHRISTCHURCH 

GC Elm 
(Coldham) 

Chapel Cottage, March Road 
Or any within the polling district 

GD Elm  
(Rings End) 

The Oliver Twist, High Road 
Or any within polling district GD or PD 

GE Christchurch Christchurch Community Centre, Upwell Road 
Or any within the polling district 

MANEA HA 
 

Manea Manea Village Hall, School Lane 
Or any within the polling district 

PARSON DROVE 
& WISBECH ST 
MARY 

PA Parson Drove Parson Drove Village Hall, Main Road 
Or any within the polling district 

PB Wisbech St 
Mary 

Wisbech St Mary Sports and Community Centre, 
Beechings Close 
Or any within the polling district 

PC Wisbech St 
Mary (Murrow) 

Murrow Village Hall, Murrow Bank 
Or any within the polling district 

PD Wisbech St 
Mary (Guyhirn) 

The Oliver Twist, High Road 
Or any within the polling district 

PE Wisbech St 
Mary  
(Thorney Toll) 

Thorney Toll Village Hall, Main Road 
Or any within the polling district 

ROMAN BANK RA Gorefield Gorefield Community Hall, Wolf Lane 
Or any within the polling district 

RB1 Leverington Leverington Village Hall, Gorefield Road 
Or any within the polling district RB1/RB2 

RB2 Leverington Leverington Sports and Social Club, Church 
Road 
Or any within the polling district RB1/RB2 

RC Newton-in-the-
Isle 

Newton-in-the-Isle Village Hall, Church Lane 
Or any within the polling district 

RD Tydd St Giles Tydd St Giles Community Centre, Broad Drove 
East 
Or any within the polling district 

 

Page 292



APPENDIX B 
Consultation Comments and Responses 

 
Consultee Comment Response 

Councillor Chris Boden I support all of the polling districts proposed for the Fenland 
District Council area in the consultation document, although 
would ask for consideration of a minor boundary change 
between polling districts DA1 and DA2 in Bassenhally Ward. 
 
I request some specific polling places be amended, together with 
a general change in the definition of polling places across the 
Fenland District Council area. 
 
I ask that the names proposed for Town Council wards in March 
be amended to correspond with the names proposed by the 
LGBCE and authorised by the Cambridgeshire (Electoral 
Changes) Order 2016 (SI 1222 (2016)). 
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                 
WHITTLESEY: 
The successful Corporate Governance Review in Whittlesey 
allows FDC to rationalise polling districts within St Andrews 
District Ward and Bassenhally District Ward. 
 
Within St Andrews District Ward the creation as proposed in the 
consultation document of two polling districts (reflecting the 
County Council Division boundary running through the District 
Council Ward) provides the most efficient and effective 
arrangement of polling districts in that area.  Each polling district 
covers the area of a new Town Council Ward.  The proposals 
are logical and sensible. 
 
Within Bassenhally District Ward, following the successful 
Corporate Governance Review, the absorption of Elm and Delph 
Town Wards into Bassenhally Town Ward allows for a more 
rational division of Bassenhally District Ward into polling districts.  
The need for this is exacerbated by the amount of new housing 
development taking place in the Ward.  The arrangement of 
polling districts proposed in the consultation document comes 

There was an appendix to these comments which 
referred to changes within the Consultation 
Document itself and these have been addressed. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 293



Consultee Comment Response 
satisfactorily close to equalising the electorates between 
Bassenhally District Ward’s three proposed polling districts, and 
I therefore generally support those proposed changed polling 
district boundaries. 
 
I would nevertheless ask that consideration be given, however, 
to including in polling district DA1 the westernmost part of 
Drybread Road (currently proposed to be in polling district DA2) , 
together with Otago Road and the two roads off it (Otago Close 
and Whiteacres).  This will increase the ease with which 
residents in those roads would be able to vote, involving a 
shorter walking distance to the Straw Bear than to the Ivy Leaf 
Centre, and this would not produce an excessive number of 
potential voters in polling district DA1, nor would it produce an 
unviably small electorate within polling district DA2. 
 
OBJECTION TO SPECIFIC POLLING PLACES: 
Within Whittlesey’s Bassenhally Ward it is proposed that electors 
from polling districts DA1, DA2 and DA3 vote at the Ivy Leaf 
Centre, the Ivy Leaf Centre and Whittlesey Library respectively. 
 
This is unsatisfactory because two of the three proposed polling 
places would be outside the polling district they are meant to 
serve, and the substantial distances some electors would need 
to travel to vote would create a barrier to voting, especially for 
those electors who are less mobile.  I understand that the Straw 
Bear will be available and that the Queen Street Town Offices 
will soon be available as better placed alternative polling places.  
As an alternative to the Queen Street Offices, should they be 
unavailable, Whittlesey Library could be used as a back-up 
polling place.  I would therefore advocate that the polling place 
for polling district DA1 should be the Straw Bear, that the polling 
place for polling district DA2 should remain the Ivy Leaf Centre 
and that the polling place for polling district DA3 should be the 
Queen Street Town Council Offices, with Whittlesey Library 
being named as a back-up should the Town Council Offices be 
unavailable.   

 
 
 
 
 
Agreed – the westernmost part of Drybread Road, 
Otago Close, Otago Road and Whiteacres have all 
been moved into DA1. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
It is proposed that the following polling stations be 
used: 
DA1 – Straw Bear Public House 
DA2 – Ivy Leaf Club 
DA3 – Whittlesey Library, for May 2019 elections 
due to these elections being for the Town Council as 
well as the District and the fact that Whittlesey Town 
Council offices may not be available due to building 
work and it has not been assessed for its suitability. 
It is then proposed that the Queen Street Offices be 
the future polling station for DA3, subject to a visit to 
determine its suitability.  There also may be a facility 
within the new development off Eastrea Road, 
Willow Court off Sorrel Avenue, that could be used 
as a polling station if suitable when it is developed. 
 

P
age 294



Consultee Comment Response 
My proposed revised scheme of polling places would ensure that 
all polling places within Bassenhally District Ward would lie 
within the boundaries of the polling places they serve, thus 
increasing voter accessibility. 
 
OBJECTION TO POLLING PLACES GENERALLY: 
In listing, on Page 5 of the review consultation document, 
guidance from the Electoral Commission as to key 
considerations of this review process, the consultation document 
inexplicably fails to mention the Electoral Commission’s strong 
guidance as to specificity of polling place definition.  
 
The Electoral Commission has produced a 28 page guidance 
document for the 2018 review cycle entitled “Reviews of polling 
districts, polling places and polling stations”.  It is openly 
available on the Electoral Commission’s website.  Paragraph 
2.15 on page six of the Commission’s guidance states: “We are 
aware that some authorities designate the entire polling district 
as the polling place. However, Section 18B(4)(e) of the RPA 
1983 states that ‘the polling place must be small enough to 
indicate to electors in different parts of the district how they will 
be able to reach the polling station’.  We therefore consider that 
polling places should always be defined more specifically than 
simply the polling district - for example, by designating the name 
of the polling place (normally a particular building or area and its 
environs).” One of the purposes of complying with Section 
18B(4)(e) is said to be to provide some degree of certainty to 
voters as to whether or not they need to apply for an absent vote 
to ensure that they are able to exercise their right to vote.  I 
agree with the Electoral Commission’s guidance as to the legal 
requirement in defining polling places, and therefore request that 
all references when defining polling places to “Or any other 
place within the polling district” (or words to that effect) be 
removed from the final version of the review. 
 
There may be urgent circumstances (such as a fire or a flood in 
a building designated as a polling place) which make it 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 295



Consultee Comment Response 
impossible to locate a polling station within a designated polling 
place.  Such circumstances are rare, but they do happen and we 
need as an authority to ensure that the Returning Officer is able 
to act appropriately in siting a polling station when such 
circumstances arise. The Electoral Commission’s guidance 
provides assistance in this regard in paragraphs 8.1 to 8.3 of the 
guidance, on pages 18 and 19:                                                     
“8.1 If a polling station becomes unavailable, the (Acting) 
Returning Officer should consider whether another polling 
station could be designated within the polling place. Changing 
the polling station within the polling place would not require a 
review. 
 

8.2 If a building becomes unavailable before an election, the 
polling place can be changed by the local authority in 
accordance with their decision making arrangements. If 
delegation procedures are in place, for example to a committee 
of the council, these should be followed as set out in the 
council’s constitution and the person or persons who are entitled 
to make changes to polling places should be contacted. 

8.3 Between compulsory reviews, all polling places and polling 
stations used should be kept under consideration, and an 
evaluation of their suitability carried out after each election. If 
any changes are identified as being desirable, the same steps 
should be followed as for conducting the compulsory review.” 

I therefore request that, if necessary, a suitable scheme of 
delegation (to the Returning Officer, if felt appropriate) be 
brought to Full Council, either at the meeting at which this review 
is approved or at the following meeting of Full Council, to provide 
the delegation procedures recommended by the Electoral 
Commission in paragraph 8.2 of their guidance. 
 
NAMES OF TOWN COUNCIL WARDS IN MARCH: 
I note on pages 16-18 of the consultation document for this 
review that the March Town Council Wards are named as 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Attempts have been made to identify suitable 
alternative polling stations for each polling district 
should those that we currently use become 
unavailable.  This has been difficult due to the rural 
nature and lack of facilities in some polling districts. 
Some of the polling stations suggested would need 
further investigation to see if they are suitable and 
willing to be a polling station. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
One of the recommendations in the report is for it to 
the delegated to the Returning Officer/Electoral 
Registration Officer to keep polling districts or polling 
places under review, in the intervening period 
between compulsory reviews, and to determine any 
changes necessary via an interim review. 
 
 

P
age 296



Consultee Comment Response 
follows: 
MARCH CENTRAL WARD 
MARCH SOUTH WARD 
MARCH EAST WARD 
MARCH NORTH WARD 
MARCH EASTWOOD WARD 
MARCH RURAL NORTH WARD 
MARCH RURAL SOUTH WARD 
 
My understanding is that a polling district and polling place 
review does not have the power to change the names of wards, 
even at Town Council level.  My reading of the names proposed 
for the new March Town Council Wards by the LGBCE 
(referenced to the official map) and authorised in law by the 
Cambridgeshire (Electoral Changes) Order 2016 (SI 1222 
(2016)) do not include the word “MARCH” and that the Town 
Council wards should therefore be named as follows: 
CENTRAL WARD 
SOUTH WARD 
EAST WARD 
NORTH WARD 
EASTWOOD WARD 
RURAL NORTH WARD 
RURAL SOUTH WARD 
 
This decision as to Ward Names by the LGBCE is sensible as it 
will ensure that wards which are not co-terminous at District and 
at Town level do not share the same name (Specifically relating 
to “March East” District Council Ward and “March North” District 
Council Ward, which are not co-terminous with “East” Town 
Council Ward and “North” Town Council Ward respectively).  I 
therefore request that, in the Official Ward names for Town 
Council Wards in March, the practice currently in place in 
Wisbech, Chatteris and Whittlesey is followed and the name of 
the Town be excluded from the Official Town Council Ward 
names. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Comments noted and the wards will be named as 
set out in the Cambridgeshire (Electoral Changes) 
Order 2016 (SI 1222 (2016)). 
 

P
age 297



Consultee Comment Response 
Councillor Stephen Court BB1, BB2 and BB3 

The GER has easy access for pedestrians and a car park and 
being a social club has big rooms to use.  The Community 
Centre in Station Road a good choice as it has a car park and 
easy for pedestrians to use.  St Johns Church Hall suitable but 
parking may be difficult. 
Westwood School could be used as an alternative polling station 
for the March North Ward. 
Two of the polling stations are on the same road – Station Road 
at either end. 

None required.  Although, Westwood School was 
previously used as a polling station, but we have 
tried to move away from the use of schools where 
possible due to the restrictions put in place for 
electors by schools due to their requirement to 
safeguard their students. 

Councillor Carol Cox EA – The Robert Hall Centre 
Polling station central to Clarkson Ward, has disabled access, 
easy parking and is a suitable walking distance. 

None required 

Councillor Sam Clark 
 

RC – Newton Village Hall 
No issues – suitable, easy to locate and easily accessible 

None required 

Councillor Michael 
Humphrey 

RA – Gorefield Community Hall 
No issues – suitable, good access and parking 

None required 

Councillor Simon King EB1 (College of West Anglia) and EB2 (Awdry House) 
No issues - both suitable and central to the ward. 

None required 

Councillor David Mason DC1 – St Andrews Parish Hall 
This location has been used for a number of years satisfactorily 
and is still central for all wards within the new district. 

None required 

Councillors David and 
Christine Ambrose Smith 

1F1, 1E1 and 1G1 – Littleport East, Littleport West and Black 
Horse Drove 
All are in suitable locations and the buildings are suitable – large 
enough, easy access, facilities on site, parking available nearby 
and voting areas easily accessible. 
Slight negative for the elderly/inform at Black Horse Drove due 
to the community centre being located some distance from many 
houses in this long hamlet and there is a lack of defined 
pathways.  Traffic is relatively light however, and there is no 
better alternative. 

None required 

Benwick Parish Council CA – Benwick Village Hall 
No issues – suitable, easy to locate and easily accessible. 

None required 

Chatteris Town Council AA (Chatteris Library), AC (Masonic Hall) and AD (Emmanuel 
Church Hall) 
No issues - suitable, easily accessible and well known. 

None required 
 
 

P
age 298



Consultee Comment Response 
AB – Quaker Way Residents Community Room 
Suitable as is King Edward Community Centre, but Kingsfield 
Primary School is not suitable due to parking problems and 
disruption to the school 

Noted. 

Doddington Parish 
Council 

FA – Doddington Village Hall 
No issues - suitable and has been used for many years, easy to 
locate and accessible – no suitable alternatives known. 

None required 

Manea Parish Council HA – Manea Village Hall 
No issues - suitable and in village centre, easy to locate and 
accessible -  no suitable alternatives known. 

None required 

Mepal Parish Council JC1 – Mepal Village Hall 
No issues – suitable, central location, good size, easy to locate 
and easily accessible. 

None required 

Newton-in-the-Isle Parish 
Council 

RC – Newton-in-the-Isle Village Hall 
No issues – suitable, easy to locate and easily accessible. 

None required 

Wimblington Parish 
Council 

KA – Wimblington Village Hall 
No issues – suitable, easily located in centre of village with good 
access and parking. 

None required 

Parson Drove Parish 
Council 

PA – Parson Drove Village Hall 
No issues - suitable, in centre of village with ample car parking 
spaces 

None required 

Wisbech St Mary Parish 
Council 

GD and PD – Oliver Twist 
Councillors commented that is was noted that since the Guyhirn 
Village Hall was no longer available The Oliver Twist Country Inn 
had been used and the School was another possibility.  
Otherwise no comments. 

None required 

Wisbech Town Council 
 

Members of the Town Council indicated that they are generally 
supportive of all of the suggestions/ proposals within the 
consultation document. However, the council is of the opinion 
that with regard to the Polling Place for elections in the Staithe 
ward (Polling District EF), Walsoken Village Hall (which is not 
located within the ward but in Polling District EC (Kirkgate ward)) 
should not even be considered as an option for a Polling Place 
for elections in the Staithe ward; Meadowgate School (which is 
in the Staithe ward) should be the only consideration in that 
regard. 
 

Whilst Meadowgate Academy is resistant to our use 
of its building as a polling station, this is the only 
venue suitable within the polling district that can be 
used and as such it is proposed to continue using 
the café building as a polling station for EF.   
 
It is noted that the Town Council does not wish for 
Walsoken Village Hall to be used as an alternative 
polling station for this polling district.  However, 
should the café at Meadowgate become unavailable 
we would have to consider the options available to 

P
age 299



Consultee Comment Response 
The opinion of Wisbech Town Council is that Meadowgate 
School is not only located within the Staithe ward but is situated 
ideally for access by voters who reside in that ward; the use of 
Walsoken Village Hall as a Polling Place for elections in the 
Staithe ward would, because of being located in the Kirkgate 
ward, cause confusion for voters. 

us at that time as we have currently identified no 
alternative polling stations within the polling district 
itself. 

Witcham Parish Council JI1 – Witcham Village Hall 
No issues – suitable, village hall is best accessible place in 
Witcham, large enough and centre of village.  Anticipate village 
hall will always be available subject to being booked with plenty 
of notice and is suitable for people with disabilities. 

None required 

Alderman Jacobs School DA1 – Currently Alderman Jacobs School 
No issues - an adequate polling station and has access and 
space. 

None required 

Mr B R Darlow GC – Chapel Cottage 
No issues – suitable and on the main road through the village, 
easy to locate and accessible.  The address has been used as a 
polling station for over 30 years with no problems, it is on the 
main road through the village so you go right past it.  No suitable 
alternatives known. 

None required 

Hayley Winn, 
Cambridgeshire County 
Council 

AA – Chatteris Library 
No issues - suitable, easy to locate and easily accessible. 

None required 

Ruth Ingram, 
Christchurch Recreation 
Ground Charity 

GE – Christchurch Community Centre 
No issues – suitable, has a large car park with disabled parking 
and is easily accessible – no suitable alternatives known. 

None required 

Nicola Brooks, The 
Eastrea Centre 
 

DF – The Eastrea Centre 
No issues – suitable, easy to locate and easily accessible.  
Large, comfortable, clean and tidy venue.  Meeting room ideal 
for polling. 

None required 

Sue Karwowski, 
Emmanuel Church Hall 

AD - Emmanuel Church Hall 
No issues – envisage no changes 

None required 

Lisa Smart 
Clarion Housing 

BA2 (Fleming Court) and DB (Quinion Close) 
No issues – both suitable, easy to locate and easily accessible 
as designed to meet older peoples needs. 
There are other schemes in other towns which could also be 
used for polling stations (Wisbech, Chatteris, Wimblington and 

None required 
 
 
Quaker Way, Chatteris is already used as a polling 
station.  Enquiries are being made into what the 

P
age 300



Consultee Comment Response 
Leverington) schemes Clarion has in Wisbech that might be 

suitable. 
Michael Humphrey, 
Gorefield Playing Field 
Association 
 

RA – Gorefield Community Hall 
No issues – suitable, easy to locate, good access and parking. 

None required 

S Brown, Ivy Leaf Club 
 

DA2 and DA3 – Ivy Leaf Club 
No issues – suitable, easy to locate, has easy access for abled 
and disabled plus ample car parking 

None required 

Pamela Manley, 
Leverington Village Hall 

RB1 – Leverington Village Hall 
No issues – suitable, easy to locate and easily accessible.  
Previously used successfully as a polling station. 

None required 

J McPherson, 
Meadowgate Academy 

EF – Meadowgate Academy Café 
Feels it is unsuitable as using the Academy stops students 
accessing facilities and education and there are alternatives.  It 
is not easy to locate as it is down a dead end lane which 
narrows to single file, pupils walk down the lane and twice a day 
it is not accessible.  The elderly, infirm and disabled would have 
difficulty using the polling place as there is no parking on site, it 
is a significant distance to walk from off site parking.  Would 
need a risk assessment on Meadowgate Lane and would not 
allow access between 08.30-09.30 and 02.30-03.30.  The 
Academy site is not a local authority site. 

Meadowgate Academy is the only premises within 
the polling district suitable to be used as a polling 
station.  We have taken measures to mitigate the 
impact upon the school by 
• using the café building which is not connected to 

the main school 
• using increased signage to direct electors to the 

polling station 
• putting messaging on the poll cards to warn 

electors of limited access during the times 
specified, although we cannot prevent access 
during these times 

• having staff man and control car parking during 
school hours. 

The Academy could also mitigate the impact by 
using the day of an election as one of its Inset days 
if it still feels there is a risk to its students. 
 
The Representation of the People Act 1983 allows 
Returning Officer’s to use, free of charge, a room in 
a school, which does include Academies. 
 
Comments received from this and previous Polling 
District Reviews show support for the use of the 
Academy as a polling station. 

P
age 301



Consultee Comment Response 
Patricia Pickering, Manea 
Village Hall 

HA – Manea Village Hall 
No issues – suitable, easy to locate and easily accessible. 

None required 

Michelle Naylor, March 
Community Centre 

BB1 – March Community Centre 
No issues – suitable, central to town, easy to locate and easily 
accessible. 

None required 

Les Mills, March Town 
Cricket Club 

BC2 – March Town Cricket Club 
No issues – suitable, easy to locate and easily accessible.  Well 
signed premises with a large car park and access for disabled.  
Excellent facilities for polling station staff. 

None required 

Anna Palmer and Liz 
Tierney, Ormiston 
Families 

BA3 and BA5 – March District Childrens Centre 
No issues – adequate polling place which has good access, but 
limited parking and busy during school opening and closing. 
Easy to locate and easily accessible. 

None required 

Christine Carr, Murrow 
Village Hall 

PC – Murrow Village Hall 
No issues – suitable, easy to locate and easily accessible 

None required 

Louise Hayes, Parson 
Drove Village Hall 

PA – Parson Drove Village Hall 
No issues – suitable, easy to locate and easily accessible. 

None required 

Chris Stevens, Wisbech 
Community Development 
Trust 

EG1 and EG2 – Oasis Community Centre 
No issues – suitable, in the heart of the Waterlees Ward which is 
the most deprived in Cambridgeshire and polling station has to 
be easily accessed by all.  The polling place is on bus route 66, 
easy to locate and easily accessible. 

None required 

Sheila Otter, Robert Hall 
Centre 

EA – Robert Hall Centre 
No issues – suitable, central, easy to locate and easily 
accessible. The building meets all requirements under the 
Disabilities Act, it has good facilities for the polling staff, it is 
warm when required to be and there is car parking for staff 
vehicles. 

None required 

Janet Sirr, Our Lady of 
Good Counsel & St Peter 
Catholic Church 

BA1 – Roman Catholic Church Hall 
No issues – suitable, easy to locate and easily accessible. 

None required 

Pauline Richards, St 
Johns Ambulance 

DD & DI – St Johns Ambulance Whittlesey 
No issues – suitable, easy to locate and easily accessible.  The 
building has been used as a polling station in the past. 

None required 

Jane Groome, St Marys 
Church Westry 
 

BB4 and BC4 – St Marys Church Hall 
No issues – suitable, easy to locate and easily accessible. 

None required 

P
age 302



Consultee Comment Response 
Mr D Hazell, St Raphael 
Club 

ED – Wisbech St Raphael Disabled Club 
No issues – suitable, easy to locate and easily accessible.  It is a 
disabled club and has all requirements for disabled.  It has a car 
park next to the premises and has been used as a polling place 
over the years. 

None required 

Angela Weldon, Thorney 
Toll Village Hall 

PE – Thorney Toll Village Hall 
No issues – suitable, easy to locate and easily accessible.  Ease 
of access in centre of village with parking. 

None required 

Mrs B A Rowell, Tydd St 
Giles Community Centre 

RD – Tydd St Giles Community Centre 
No issues – suitable, easy to locate and easily accessible by all. 

None required 

Jakki Racey, Whittlesey 
Library 

DC2 – Whittlesey Library 
No issues – suitable, central location which is easy to locate, car 
park and easy access. 

None required 

Dave Dobson, Wisbech 
Rugby Club 

EE – Wisbech Rugby Club 
No issues – adequate polling place, easy to locate and easily 
accessible with ramp and car parking. 

None required 

Fay G Allen EC – Walsoken West Ward 
No issues – suitable, easy to locate and easily accessible. 

None required 

Frederick Gerstner DC1 (St Andrews Parish Hall), DC2 (Whittlesey Library) and 
DC3 (St Andrews Parish Hall) 
No issues – both suitable with good facilities, historically well 
known and easy to locate and easily accessible.  There are car 
parking facilities near by. 

None required 

 
Received after deadline for response: 

Councillor Mrs Mayor DA1, DA2 and DA3  
Agree with Polling stations to be sited at The Straw Bear Public 
House and The Ivy Leaf Club for districts DA1 and 2  - If 
possible the following streets to be included within the DA1 
Polling Station at The Straw Bear rather than at the Ivy Leaf 
Club  - Otago Road, Otago Close and Whiteacres. 
The 3rd Polling Station to be sited at the New Town Council 
Office (The Old Police Station) in Queen Street, rather than the 
Library. 
 
However, if the New Town council Office alterations are not 
complete before May 2019 to revert to The Library. 

 
The westernmost part of Drybread Road, Otago 
Close, Otago Road and Whiteacres have all been 
moved into DA1. 
 
 
It is proposed that the following polling stations be 
used: 
DA1 – Straw Bear Public House 
DA2 – Ivy Leaf Club 
DA3 – Whittlesey Library, for May 2019 elections due 
to these elections being for the Town Council as well 

P
age 303



as the District.   
It is then proposed that the Queen Street Offices 
could be considered as the future polling station for 
DA3, subject to a visit to determine it suitability.  
There also may be a facility within the new 
development off Eastrea Road, Willow Court off 
Sorrel Avenue, that could be used as a polling station 
if suitable when it is developed. 
 

Councillor Mrs Davis KA – Wimblington Parish Hall 
No issues – suitable, central location with car park and 
wheelchair access. 

None required 

Elm Parish Council GB – Elm Centre 
No issues – suitable, modern building in heart of village with 
adequate parking/access. 

None required 

 

P
age 304



APPENDIX C 
FENLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 

SCHEDULE OF POLLING DISTRICTS AND POLLING PLACES 
 

WARD 
 

POLLING 
DISTRICT 
LETTERS 

PARISH/TOWN POLLING PLACE 
 

DESCRIPTION OF POLLING DISTRICT 
(changed polling districts only) 

BIRCH AA 
 

Birch Ward, 
Chatteris 

Chatteris Library, Furrowfields Road 
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
King Edward Centre, Railway Lane  

No change 

SLADE LODE AB Slade Lode 
Ward, Chatteris 

Quaker Way Residents Community 
Room  
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
King Edward Centre, Railway Lane 

No change 

THE MILLS AC The Mills Ward, 
Chatteris 

The Masonic Hall, Huntingdon Road 
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
The Sportsman, Fairway 

No change 

WENNEYE AD Wenneye Ward, 
Chatteris 

Emmanuel Church Hall, East Park 
Street 
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
King Edward Centre , Railway Lane 

No change 

MARCH EAST BA1 East Ward, 
March 

Roman Catholic Church Hall, St 
Johns Road 
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
Mill View Scout Hut, Mill View 

No change 

BA2 East Ward, 
March 

Fleming Court Residents Community 
Room, off Smiths Drive 
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
First March Scout Hall, Badgeney 
Road 

No change 

BA3 East Ward, 
March 

March and District Children’s Centre, 
Cavalry Drive 
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
Cavalry School, Cavalry Drive, 
March 

No change 

BA4 Eastwood Ward, 
March 

March and District Children’s Centre, 
Cavalry Drive 
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
Cavalry School, Cavalry Drive, 
March 

No change P
age 305



WARD 
 

POLLING 
DISTRICT 
LETTERS 

PARISH/TOWN POLLING PLACE 
 

DESCRIPTION OF POLLING DISTRICT 
(changed polling districts only) 

MARCH EAST BA5 East Ward, 
March 

St Peters Church, High Street 
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
Kingdom Hall, Bevills Place  

No change 

MARCH NORTH BB1 North Ward, 
March 

March Youth and Community Centre, 
Station Road 
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
St Johns Church Hall, Station Road 

No change 

MARCH NORTH BB2 North Ward, 
March 

St Johns Church Hall, Station Road 
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
March Youth and Community Centre, 
Station Road 

No change 

 BB3 North Ward, 
March 

GER, Robingoodfellows Lane 
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
March Town Football Clubhouse, 
Robingoodfellows Lane 

No change 

BB4 Rural North 
Ward, March 

St Marys Church Hall, Wisbech 
Road, Westry 
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
GER, Robingoodfellows Lane 

No change 

MARCH WEST BC1 Central Ward, 
March 

Rookswood Club, West End  
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
a mobile polling station in the polling 
district 

No change 

BC2 South Ward, 
March 

March Town Cricket Club, 
Burrowmoor Road 
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
Burrowmoor Primary School, 
Burrowmoor Road 

No change 

BC3 South Ward, 
March 

St Wendreda’s Church Hall, Church 
Street 
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
The Seven Stars PH, The Avenue 

No change 

BC4 Rural South 
Ward, March 

St Marys Church Hall, Wisbech 
Road, Westry 
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
March Town Cricket Club 
 

No change 

P
age 306



WARD 
 

POLLING 
DISTRICT 
LETTERS 

PARISH/TOWN POLLING PLACE 
 

DESCRIPTION OF POLLING DISTRICT 
(changed polling districts only) 

BENWICK, 
COATES & 
EASTREA 
 

CA Benwick Benwick Village Hall, High Street 
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
Benwick Primary School, High Street 

No change 

DE Coates and 
Eastrea Ward, 
Whittlesey 
(Coates) 

Coates Public Hall, 1 The Fold 
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
Coates Primary School, The Fold 

No change 

DF Coates and 
Eastrea Ward, 
Whittlesey 
(Eastrea) 

Eastrea Centre, Roman Gardens 
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
The Nags Head PH, Eastrea Road 

No change, except inclusion of 250 Drybread Road (by 
error has been previously included in wrong ward) 

DG Coates and 
Eastrea Ward, 
Whittlesey 
(Pondersbridge) 

Pondersbridge Village Hall, Oilmills 
Road 
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
a mobile polling station in the polling 
district 

No change 

DH Coates and 
Eastrea Ward, 
Whittlesey 
(Turves) 

The Three Horseshoes Inn, March 
Road 
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
a mobile polling station in the polling 
district 

No change 

DI Coates and 
Eastrea Ward, 
Whittlesey 
(Kings Delph) 

St Johns Ambulance HQ, Plough 
Road 
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
Park Lane Primary School, Park 
Lane 

No change 

BASSENHALLY 
 
 
 
 
 

DA1 Bassenhally 
Ward, Whittlesey 
 

Straw Bear Public House, Drybread 
Road 
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
Alderman Jacobs Primary School, 
Drybread Road 

Arnolds Lane (2-8 evens), Bassenhally Road (56-72 
evens), Merefield View Bassenhally Road, Cemetery 
Road (15-81 odds, 48-60 evens), Meadow View 
Cemetery Road, Constable Close, Curlew Close, Davie 
Lane, Drybread Road (15-203 odds, 300), Elm Park, 
Godwit Close, Grebe Close, Gull Way, Heron Close, High 
Causeway (44-72 evens), James Gardens, Kingfisher 
Road, Lapwing Drive, Mallard Close, Moorhen Road, 
Newlands Road, Otago Close, Otago Road, Owls End, 
Pinewood Avenue, Plover Road, Redshank Close, 
Sandpiper Close, Swallow Close, Swan Close, Swan 
Road, Teal Road, The Paddocks, Whiteacres 

P
age 307



WARD 
 

POLLING 
DISTRICT 
LETTERS 

PARISH/TOWN POLLING PLACE 
 

DESCRIPTION OF POLLING DISTRICT 
(changed polling districts only) 

BASSENHALLY DA2 Bassenhally 
Ward, Whittlesey 

Ivy Leaf Club, Gracious Street 
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
Whittlesey Town Council Offices, 
Queen Street 

Arnolds Lane (1-35 odds), Bassenhally Court, 
Bassenhally Road (1-89 odds, 2-42 evens), Meadow 
View Cemetery Road, Claygate, Delph, Delph Street, 
East Delph, Gale Gardens, George Gardens, Gilbert 
Close, Gracious Street, Harpers Close, Hemmerley Drive, 
High Causeway (35-67 odds), Low Cross (2-68 evens), 
Martin Court, Monks Close, Munday Gardens, Norman 
Close, Odin Close, Old Crown Lane, Oldfield Gardens, 
Orchard Street, Reubens Yard, Searles Court, Stonald 
Road (11-49 odds), Syers Lane, The Baulk, Viking Way, 
Wash Lane, Whitmore Street (4-62 evens), Willow Lane, 
Windmill Street, Wittel Close  

DA3 Whittlesey Town Council Offices, 
Queen Street 
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
Whittlesey Library, Market Street 
 
(Whilst it is acknowledged that 
Whittlesey Library is outside the polling 
district, it is proposed that the Library be 
used as the polling station for 2019 May 
Elections due to the nature of these 
elections and the fact that Whittlesey 
Town Council offices may not be 
available for these elections due to 
building work and the building has not 
been assessed for its suitability) 

Blunts Lane, Broad Street (2B-28 evens, The Granary), 
Bruces Court, Cemetery Road (1-9 odds, 26-46 evens), 
Coronation Avenue, Cowslip Close, Crescent Close, 
Crescent Road, Dandelion Drive, Drybread Road (56-112 
evens), Eastgate (Angel House,Wheatsheaf House, 
Eastgate Court, 34-40 evens), Eastgate Mews, Eastrea 
Road (1-311 odds), Edgars Row, Feldale Place, 
Foxglove Close, Guildenburgh Crescent, Harebell Close, 
High Causeway (1-23 odds, 4-38 evens, Lovells Court, 
Whit Court), Ladysmith Avenue, Lattersey Close, Market 
Street (2-52 evens), Market Street Mews, Millers Court, 
Moretons Close, Queen Street, Richardson Way, Roman 
Close, Sansom Gardens, Sorrel Avenue, Teasel Close, 
The Close, Victory Avenue, Violet Avenue, Whitmore 
Street (A1-19 odds) 

LATTERSEY DB Lattersey Ward, 
Whittlesey 

Quinion Close Residents Community 
Room 
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
New Road Primary School, New 
Road 

No change 

ST ANDREWS DC1 St Andrews and 
St Marys North 
Ward, Whittlesey 

St Andrews Parish Hall, Parkinson 
Lane 
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
Whittlesey Library, Market Street 

Abbey Way, Barrs Street, Boyce Close, Briggate East (1, 
10 & 24), Broad Street (1-35 odds), Church Street, 
Churchfield Way, Duddington Gardens, Falcon Lane, 
Fenland Court, Garden Grove, Hallcroft Road, 
Horsegate, Horsegate Lane, London Street, Love Lane, 
Market Street (15-37a odds), Oxford Gardens, Paradise 

P
age 308



WARD 
 

POLLING 
DISTRICT 
LETTERS 

PARISH/TOWN POLLING PLACE 
 

DESCRIPTION OF POLLING DISTRICT 
(changed polling districts only) 

Lane, Park Lane, Parkinsons Lane, Peterborough Road 
(1-27, 193-211 odds), Piketts Close, Pingle Close, Poles 
Court, Priors Road, Saxon Road, Snoots Road, St 
Andrews Place, St Marys Street, The Old School Mews, 
The Stables, Thorofare Lane, Turners Lane, Wakelyn 
Road, West End (3-101 odds), Whitmore Street (21-41 
odds), Willow Close, Woolpack Lane 

ST ANDREWS DC2 St Marys South 
Ward, Whittlesey 

St Andrews Parish Hall, Parkinson 
Lane 
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
Manor Leisure Centre, Station Road 

No change to properties or streets.  Polling district 
renamed from DC3 to DC2. 

STONALD DD Stonald Ward,  
Whittlesey  

St Johns Ambulance HQ, Plough 
Road 
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
Park Lane Primary School, Park 
Lane 

No change 

CLARKSON EA Clarkson Ward 
Wisbech  

Robert Hall Centre, Lynn Road  
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
The Boathouse, Harbour Square 

No change 

OCTAVIA HILL EB1 Octavia Hill 
Ward, Wisbech 

The College of West Anglia (Isle 
Campus), Ramnoth Road 
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
Rosmini Centre, Queens Road 

No change 

EB2 Awdry House, Ramnoth Road 
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
Thomas Clarkson Academy, 
Corporation Road 

No change 

KIRKGATE EC Kirkgate Ward,  
Wisbech 

Walsoken Village Hall, Kirkgate 
Street 
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
The Black Bear PH, Old Lynn Road 

No change 

MEDWORTH ED Medworth Ward, 
Wisbech 

Wisbech St Raphael Disabled Club, 
Love Lane  
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
Queen Mary Centre, Queens Road 

No change 

 
 

    

P
age 309



WARD 
 

POLLING 
DISTRICT 
LETTERS 

PARISH/TOWN POLLING PLACE 
 

DESCRIPTION OF POLLING DISTRICT 
(changed polling districts only) 

PECKOVER EE Peckover Ward, 
Wisbech 

Wisbech Rugby Football Club, 
Chapel Road 
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
Peckover Primary School, 
Leverington Road/ 

No change  
 

STAITHE EF Staithe Ward,  
Wisbech  

Meadowgate Academy, Meadowgate 
Lane 
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
a mobile polling station in the polling 
district 

No change 

WATERLEES 
VILLAGE 

EG1 
 

Waterlees 
Village Ward, 
Wisbech 

The Oasis Village Centre, St 
Michaels Avenue 
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
Orchards Primary School, Cherry 
Road 

No change 

EG2 

DODDINGTON & 
WIMBLINGTON 

FA Doddington Doddington Village Hall, Benwick 
Road  
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
Doddington Primary School, High 
Street 

No change 

 KA Wimblington Wimblington Parish Hall, Addison 
Road 
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
Parkfield Sports Centre, Chapel Lane 

No change 

 KB Wimblington 
(Stonea) 

The Golden Lion Public House, 
Sixteen Foot Bank 
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
Skylark Centre, Manea Road  

No change 

ELM & 
CHRISTCHURCH 

GA Elm & Friday 
Bridge Ward, 
Elm  
(Friday Bridge) 

Fridaybridge Tower Hall, Maltmas 
Road 
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
Friday Bridge Primary School, 
Maltmas Road 

No change 

GB Elm & Friday 
Bridge Ward, 
Elm (Elm) 

Elm Centre, Main Road 
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
Elm Primary School, Main Road 
 

No change P
age 310



WARD 
 

POLLING 
DISTRICT 
LETTERS 

PARISH/TOWN POLLING PLACE 
 

DESCRIPTION OF POLLING DISTRICT 
(changed polling districts only) 

ELM & 
CHRISTCHURCH 

GC Coldham Ward, 
Elm 

Chapel Cottage, March Road 
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
mobile polling station in the polling 
district 

No change 

GD Rings End Ward, 
Elm 

Oliver Twist Country Inn, High Road 
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
Guyhirn Primary School, High Road 

No change 
 

GE Christchurch Christchurch Community Centre 
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
Townley Primary School, Crown 
Road 

No change 

MANEA HA Manea Manea Village Hall, School Lane 
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
Manea Primary School, Station Road 

No change 

PARSON DROVE 
& WISBECH ST 
MARY 

PA Parson Drove Parson Drove Village Hall, Main 
Road 
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
Alderman Payne Primary School, 
Main Road 

No change 
 

 PB Wisbech St Mary 
Ward, Wisbech 
St Mary 
Wisbech St 
Mary) 

Wisbech St Mary Sports and 
Community Centre, Beechings Close 
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
Wisbech St Mary Academy, Church 
Road 

No change 

 PC Murrow Ward 
Wisbech St Mary 
(Murrow) 

Murrow Village Hall, Murrow Bank 
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
The Bell Inn, Murrow Bank 

No change 

 PD Wisbech St Mary 
Ward, Wisbech 
St Mary  
(Guyhirn) 

Oliver Twist Country Inn, High Road 
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
Guyhirn Primary School, High Road 

No change 

PARSON DROVE 
& WISBECH ST 
MARY 

PE Wisbech St Mary 
Ward, Wisbech 
St Mary 
(Thorney Toll) 

Thorney Toll Village Hall, Main Road 
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
mobile polling station in the polling 
district 

No change 

 
 

    

P
age 311



WARD 
 

POLLING 
DISTRICT 
LETTERS 

PARISH/TOWN POLLING PLACE 
 

DESCRIPTION OF POLLING DISTRICT 
(changed polling districts only) 

ROMAN BANK RA Gorefield Gorefield Community Hall, Wolf Lane 
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
Gorefield Village Hall, Gote Lane 

No change 

RB1 Leverington Leverington Village Hall, Gorefield 
Road 
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
Leverington Sports and Social Club, 
Church Road 

No change 

RB2 Leverington Leverington Sports and Social Club, 
Church Road 
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
Leverington Village Hall, Gorefield 
Road 

No change 

RC Newton-in-the-
Isle 

Newton-in-the-Isle Village Hall, 
Church Lane 
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
St James Church, Church Lane 

No change 

RD Tydd St Giles Tydd St Giles Community Centre, 
Broad Drove East 
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
Kinderley Primary School, Church 
Lane 

No change 

 
 

P
age 312



APPENDIX C 
FENLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 

SCHEDULE OF POLLING DISTRICTS AND POLLING PLACES 
 

WARD 
 

POLLING 
DISTRICT 
LETTERS 

PARISH/TOWN POLLING PLACE 
 

DESCRIPTION OF POLLING DISTRICT 
(changed polling districts only) 

BIRCH AA 
 

Birch Ward, 
Chatteris 

Chatteris Library, Furrowfields Road 
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
King Edward Centre, Railway Lane  

No change 

SLADE LODE AB Slade Lode 
Ward, Chatteris 

Quaker Way Residents Community 
Room  
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
King Edward Centre, Railway Lane 

No change 

THE MILLS AC The Mills Ward, 
Chatteris 

The Masonic Hall, Huntingdon Road 
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
The Sportsman, Fairway 

No change 

WENNEYE AD Wenneye Ward, 
Chatteris 

Emmanuel Church Hall, East Park 
Street 
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
King Edward Centre , Railway Lane 

No change 

MARCH EAST BA1 East Ward, 
March 

Roman Catholic Church Hall, St 
Johns Road 
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
Mill View Scout Hut, Mill View 

No change 

BA2 East Ward, 
March 

Fleming Court Residents Community 
Room, off Smiths Drive 
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
First March Scout Hall, Badgeney 
Road 

No change 

BA3 East Ward, 
March 

March and District Children’s Centre, 
Cavalry Drive 
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
Cavalry School, Cavalry Drive, 
March 

No change 

BA4 Eastwood Ward, 
March 

March and District Children’s Centre, 
Cavalry Drive 
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
Cavalry School, Cavalry Drive, 
March 

No change P
age 313



WARD 
 

POLLING 
DISTRICT 
LETTERS 

PARISH/TOWN POLLING PLACE 
 

DESCRIPTION OF POLLING DISTRICT 
(changed polling districts only) 

MARCH EAST BA5 East Ward, 
March 

St Peters Church, High Street 
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
Kingdom Hall, Bevills Place  

No change 

MARCH NORTH BB1 North Ward, 
March 

March Youth and Community Centre, 
Station Road 
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
St Johns Church Hall, Station Road 

No change 

MARCH NORTH BB2 North Ward, 
March 

St Johns Church Hall, Station Road 
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
March Youth and Community Centre, 
Station Road 

No change 

 BB3 North Ward, 
March 

GER, Robingoodfellows Lane 
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
March Town Football Clubhouse, 
Robingoodfellows Lane 

No change 

BB4 Rural North 
Ward, March 

St Marys Church Hall, Wisbech 
Road, Westry 
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
GER, Robingoodfellows Lane 

No change 

MARCH WEST BC1 Central Ward, 
March 

Rookswood Club, West End  
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
a mobile polling station in the polling 
district 

No change 

BC2 South Ward, 
March 

March Town Cricket Club, 
Burrowmoor Road 
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
Burrowmoor Primary School, 
Burrowmoor Road 

No change 

BC3 South Ward, 
March 

St Wendreda’s Church Hall, Church 
Street 
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
The Seven Stars PH, The Avenue 

No change 

BC4 Rural South 
Ward, March 

St Marys Church Hall, Wisbech 
Road, Westry 
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
March Town Cricket Club 
 

No change 

P
age 314



WARD 
 

POLLING 
DISTRICT 
LETTERS 

PARISH/TOWN POLLING PLACE 
 

DESCRIPTION OF POLLING DISTRICT 
(changed polling districts only) 

BENWICK, 
COATES & 
EASTREA 
 

CA Benwick Benwick Village Hall, High Street 
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
Benwick Primary School, High Street 

No change 

DE Coates and 
Eastrea Ward, 
Whittlesey 
(Coates) 

Coates Public Hall, 1 The Fold 
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
Coates Primary School, The Fold 

No change 

DF Coates and 
Eastrea Ward, 
Whittlesey 
(Eastrea) 

Eastrea Centre, Roman Gardens 
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
The Nags Head PH, Eastrea Road 

No change, except inclusion of 250 Drybread Road (by 
error has been previously included in wrong ward) 

DG Coates and 
Eastrea Ward, 
Whittlesey 
(Pondersbridge) 

Pondersbridge Village Hall, Oilmills 
Road 
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
a mobile polling station in the polling 
district 

No change 

DH Coates and 
Eastrea Ward, 
Whittlesey 
(Turves) 

The Three Horseshoes Inn, March 
Road 
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
a mobile polling station in the polling 
district 

No change 

DI Coates and 
Eastrea Ward, 
Whittlesey 
(Kings Delph) 

St Johns Ambulance HQ, Plough 
Road 
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
Park Lane Primary School, Park 
Lane 

No change 

BASSENHALLY 
 
 
 
 
 

DA1 Bassenhally 
Ward, Whittlesey 
 

Straw Bear Public House, Drybread 
Road 
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
Alderman Jacobs Primary School, 
Drybread Road 

Arnolds Lane (2-8 evens), Bassenhally Road (56-72 
evens), Merefield View Bassenhally Road, Cemetery 
Road (15-81 odds, 48-60 evens), Meadow View 
Cemetery Road, Constable Close, Curlew Close, Davie 
Lane, Drybread Road (15-203 odds, 300), Elm Park, 
Godwit Close, Grebe Close, Gull Way, Heron Close, High 
Causeway (44-72 evens), James Gardens, Kingfisher 
Road, Lapwing Drive, Mallard Close, Moorhen Road, 
Newlands Road, Otago Close, Otago Road, Owls End, 
Pinewood Avenue, Plover Road, Redshank Close, 
Sandpiper Close, Swallow Close, Swan Close, Swan 
Road, Teal Road, The Paddocks, Whiteacres 

P
age 315



WARD 
 

POLLING 
DISTRICT 
LETTERS 

PARISH/TOWN POLLING PLACE 
 

DESCRIPTION OF POLLING DISTRICT 
(changed polling districts only) 

BASSENHALLY DA2 Bassenhally 
Ward, Whittlesey 

Ivy Leaf Club, Gracious Street 
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
Whittlesey Town Council Offices, 
Queen Street 

Arnolds Lane (1-35 odds), Bassenhally Court, 
Bassenhally Road (1-89 odds, 2-42 evens), Meadow 
View Cemetery Road, Claygate, Delph, Delph Street, 
East Delph, Gale Gardens, George Gardens, Gilbert 
Close, Gracious Street, Harpers Close, Hemmerley Drive, 
High Causeway (35-67 odds), Low Cross (2-68 evens), 
Martin Court, Monks Close, Munday Gardens, Norman 
Close, Odin Close, Old Crown Lane, Oldfield Gardens, 
Orchard Street, Reubens Yard, Searles Court, Stonald 
Road (11-49 odds), Syers Lane, The Baulk, Viking Way, 
Wash Lane, Whitmore Street (4-62 evens), Willow Lane, 
Windmill Street, Wittel Close  

DA3 Whittlesey Town Council Offices, 
Queen Street 
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
Whittlesey Library, Market Street 
 
(Whilst it is acknowledged that 
Whittlesey Library is outside the polling 
district, it is proposed that the Library be 
used as the polling station for 2019 May 
Elections due to the nature of these 
elections and the fact that Whittlesey 
Town Council offices may not be 
available for these elections due to 
building work and the building has not 
been assessed for its suitability) 

Blunts Lane, Broad Street (2B-28 evens, The Granary), 
Bruces Court, Cemetery Road (1-9 odds, 26-46 evens), 
Coronation Avenue, Cowslip Close, Crescent Close, 
Crescent Road, Dandelion Drive, Drybread Road (56-112 
evens), Eastgate (Angel House,Wheatsheaf House, 
Eastgate Court, 34-40 evens), Eastgate Mews, Eastrea 
Road (1-311 odds), Edgars Row, Feldale Place, 
Foxglove Close, Guildenburgh Crescent, Harebell Close, 
High Causeway (1-23 odds, 4-38 evens, Lovells Court, 
Whit Court), Ladysmith Avenue, Lattersey Close, Market 
Street (2-52 evens), Market Street Mews, Millers Court, 
Moretons Close, Queen Street, Richardson Way, Roman 
Close, Sansom Gardens, Sorrel Avenue, Teasel Close, 
The Close, Victory Avenue, Violet Avenue, Whitmore 
Street (A1-19 odds) 

LATTERSEY DB Lattersey Ward, 
Whittlesey 

Quinion Close Residents Community 
Room 
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
New Road Primary School, New 
Road 

No change 

ST ANDREWS DC1 St Andrews and 
St Marys North 
Ward, Whittlesey 

St Andrews Parish Hall, Parkinson 
Lane 
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
Whittlesey Library, Market Street 

Abbey Way, Barrs Street, Boyce Close, Briggate East (1, 
10 & 24), Broad Street (1-35 odds), Church Street, 
Churchfield Way, Duddington Gardens, Falcon Lane, 
Fenland Court, Garden Grove, Hallcroft Road, 
Horsegate, Horsegate Lane, London Street, Love Lane, 
Market Street (15-37a odds), Oxford Gardens, Paradise 

P
age 316



WARD 
 

POLLING 
DISTRICT 
LETTERS 

PARISH/TOWN POLLING PLACE 
 

DESCRIPTION OF POLLING DISTRICT 
(changed polling districts only) 

Lane, Park Lane, Parkinsons Lane, Peterborough Road 
(1-27, 193-211 odds), Piketts Close, Pingle Close, Poles 
Court, Priors Road, Saxon Road, Snoots Road, St 
Andrews Place, St Marys Street, The Old School Mews, 
The Stables, Thorofare Lane, Turners Lane, Wakelyn 
Road, West End (3-101 odds), Whitmore Street (21-41 
odds), Willow Close, Woolpack Lane 

ST ANDREWS DC2 St Marys South 
Ward, Whittlesey 

St Andrews Parish Hall, Parkinson 
Lane 
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
Manor Leisure Centre, Station Road 

No change to properties or streets.  Polling district 
renamed from DC3 to DC2. 

STONALD DD Stonald Ward,  
Whittlesey  

St Johns Ambulance HQ, Plough 
Road 
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
Park Lane Primary School, Park 
Lane 

No change 

CLARKSON EA Clarkson Ward 
Wisbech  

Robert Hall Centre, Lynn Road  
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
The Boathouse, Harbour Square 

No change 

OCTAVIA HILL EB1 Octavia Hill 
Ward, Wisbech 

The College of West Anglia (Isle 
Campus), Ramnoth Road 
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
Rosmini Centre, Queens Road 

No change 

EB2 Awdry House, Ramnoth Road 
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
Thomas Clarkson Academy, 
Corporation Road 

No change 

KIRKGATE EC Kirkgate Ward,  
Wisbech 

Walsoken Village Hall, Kirkgate 
Street 
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
The Black Bear PH, Old Lynn Road 

No change 

MEDWORTH ED Medworth Ward, 
Wisbech 

Wisbech St Raphael Disabled Club, 
Love Lane  
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
Queen Mary Centre, Queens Road 

No change 

 
 

    

P
age 317



WARD 
 

POLLING 
DISTRICT 
LETTERS 

PARISH/TOWN POLLING PLACE 
 

DESCRIPTION OF POLLING DISTRICT 
(changed polling districts only) 

PECKOVER EE Peckover Ward, 
Wisbech 

Wisbech Rugby Football Club, 
Chapel Road 
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
Peckover Primary School, 
Leverington Road/ 

No change  
 

STAITHE EF Staithe Ward,  
Wisbech  

Meadowgate Academy, Meadowgate 
Lane 
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
a mobile polling station in the polling 
district 

No change 

WATERLEES 
VILLAGE 

EG1 
 

Waterlees 
Village Ward, 
Wisbech 

The Oasis Village Centre, St 
Michaels Avenue 
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
Orchards Primary School, Cherry 
Road 

No change 

EG2 

DODDINGTON & 
WIMBLINGTON 

FA Doddington Doddington Village Hall, Benwick 
Road  
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
Doddington Primary School, High 
Street 

No change 

 KA Wimblington Wimblington Parish Hall, Addison 
Road 
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
Parkfield Sports Centre, Chapel Lane 

No change 

 KB Wimblington 
(Stonea) 

The Golden Lion Public House, 
Sixteen Foot Bank 
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
Skylark Centre, Manea Road  

No change 

ELM & 
CHRISTCHURCH 

GA Elm & Friday 
Bridge Ward, 
Elm  
(Friday Bridge) 

Fridaybridge Tower Hall, Maltmas 
Road 
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
Friday Bridge Primary School, 
Maltmas Road 

No change 

GB Elm & Friday 
Bridge Ward, 
Elm (Elm) 

Elm Centre, Main Road 
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
Elm Primary School, Main Road 
 

No change P
age 318



WARD 
 

POLLING 
DISTRICT 
LETTERS 

PARISH/TOWN POLLING PLACE 
 

DESCRIPTION OF POLLING DISTRICT 
(changed polling districts only) 

ELM & 
CHRISTCHURCH 

GC Coldham Ward, 
Elm 

Chapel Cottage, March Road 
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
mobile polling station in the polling 
district 

No change 

GD Rings End Ward, 
Elm 

Oliver Twist Country Inn, High Road 
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
Guyhirn Primary School, High Road 

No change 
 

GE Christchurch Christchurch Community Centre 
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
Townley Primary School, Crown 
Road 

No change 

MANEA HA Manea Manea Village Hall, School Lane 
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
Manea Primary School, Station Road 

No change 

PARSON DROVE 
& WISBECH ST 
MARY 

PA Parson Drove Parson Drove Village Hall, Main 
Road 
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
Alderman Payne Primary School, 
Main Road 

No change 
 

 PB Wisbech St Mary 
Ward, Wisbech 
St Mary 
Wisbech St 
Mary) 

Wisbech St Mary Sports and 
Community Centre, Beechings Close 
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
Wisbech St Mary Academy, Church 
Road 

No change 

 PC Murrow Ward 
Wisbech St Mary 
(Murrow) 

Murrow Village Hall, Murrow Bank 
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
The Bell Inn, Murrow Bank 

No change 

 PD Wisbech St Mary 
Ward, Wisbech 
St Mary  
(Guyhirn) 

Oliver Twist Country Inn, High Road 
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
Guyhirn Primary School, High Road 

No change 

PARSON DROVE 
& WISBECH ST 
MARY 

PE Wisbech St Mary 
Ward, Wisbech 
St Mary 
(Thorney Toll) 

Thorney Toll Village Hall, Main Road 
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
mobile polling station in the polling 
district 

No change 

 
 

    

P
age 319



WARD 
 

POLLING 
DISTRICT 
LETTERS 

PARISH/TOWN POLLING PLACE 
 

DESCRIPTION OF POLLING DISTRICT 
(changed polling districts only) 

ROMAN BANK RA Gorefield Gorefield Community Hall, Wolf Lane 
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
Gorefield Village Hall, Gote Lane 

No change 

RB1 Leverington Leverington Village Hall, Gorefield 
Road 
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
Leverington Sports and Social Club, 
Church Road 

No change 

RB2 Leverington Leverington Sports and Social Club, 
Church Road 
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
Leverington Village Hall, Gorefield 
Road 

No change 

RC Newton-in-the-
Isle 

Newton-in-the-Isle Village Hall, 
Church Lane 
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
St James Church, Church Lane 

No change 

RD Tydd St Giles Tydd St Giles Community Centre, 
Broad Drove East 
Or if that polling place is unavailable 
Kinderley Primary School, Church 
Lane 

No change 

 
 

P
age 320



  

Agenda Item No: 10  

Committee: Council 

Date:  13 December 2018 

Report Title: Clinical Waste Solution 

 
Cover sheet: 

1 Purpose / Summary 
• For members to determine the future shape of domestic clinical waste collection and 

disposal in Fenland following changes to NHS provision in the East of England and 
approve the resulting changes to Fenland's Waste Service Standards.  

• Following the lead of other areas, and through work in cooperation with the 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Waste Partnership, to consider providing sharps 
box drop-off points through local pharmacies, and where required at a small number 
of dispensing GP surgeries, by entering in to agreements with these local and 
national businesses.  

• In association with establishing drop-off points in local communities, to determine the 
nature of the clinical waste door-step collection service offered and fee charged.  

2 Key issues 
• NHS England (Midlands & East) have advised the Council that from April 2019 they 

will no longer be arranging for the collection of returned domestic sharps boxes from 
local pharmacies. 

• The NHS have informed the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Waste Partnership 
(Recap) that there are 977,800 patients registered with GPs in Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough and more than 43,000 of these patients are registered diabetics; 4% of 
the total registered patients, with 7,855 registered diabetics at Fenland GPs. 

• The current cost per collection of clinical waste is £6.10 plus administration costs. 
Across Cambridgeshire and Peterborough the 35,000 prescribed sharps containers 
will cost £280,000 to collect each year and more than £1,000 a tonne for 
Peterborough and the County Council to dispose of. We are informed that in Fenland 
there were 7,138 sharps containers prescribed by GPs in 2017/18. 

• The estimated cost to Fenland of not making other arrangements and providing 
sharps collections without charge is more than £60,000.  

• As a result, Fenland and the other Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Waste 
Partnership authorities are working together with the NHS and Local Pharmaceutical 
Committee to develop workable options. 

• Timescales and cost mean Household Waste Recycling Sites and Council premises 
have had to be discounted as options ahead of using the existing network of qualified 
and experienced professionals that customers are already using, and who they trust 
to deliver their healthcare needs with discretion.  

• Diabetes UK support sharps box drop-off points such as pharmacies being provided 
and they recognise the financial climate is changing for local authorities, they are 
concerned that charges might prohibit customers from using a collection only service. 

Page 321

Agenda Item 10



• Pharmacists represented by the Local Pharmaceutical Committee support the 
proposal to provide sharps box drop-off points through local pharmacies and 
dispensing GP surgeries when funded by the local authority. 

• Even with a network of drop-off points the Council still has a duty to provide 
household collections where requested. A charge can be made for these collections 
protecting the authority from large unplanned expense, and where possible 
encourage the best use of any agreed sharps box drop-off points.  

• As a result, the proposed service solution to the NHS changes is to provide a network 
of up to 20 free drop-off points across the area supported by the option of a door-step 
collection service offered at a fee. The fee will remain waived for those customers 
who through their medical needs require very regular collections (section 1.14 refers) 
and in cases of extreme hardship. These proposals will allow customers a choice of 
disposal options and protect the authority from an unplanned financial risk.  

3 Recommendations 
That Council approve the following Cabinet recommendations:  

1. With effect from 1st April 2019, the introduction of free sharps box drop-off points in 
local pharmacies at a forecast cost to FDC of £18,000 and incorporated in the 
2019/20 budget estimates. 

2. With effect from 1st April 2019, the introduction of free collection points in dispensing 
GP Practices at a forecast cost to FDC of £2,000 and incorporated in the 2019/20 
budget estimates. 

3. Council to set the Fees and Charges for 2019/20 at an £8.00 fee for clinical waste 
collections ("Clinical and offensive waste from domestic households") to be reviewed 
thereafter annually as part of the usual Fees and Charges and Budget setting 
process. 

4.  To approve the proposed update to the Waste Services Standard 2018 as set out at 
Appendix Y; 

5.  To delegate to the Corporate Director (Environment and Leisure) in consultation with 
the  Section 151 Officer all necessary authority to enter into the proposed agreement 
at Appendix Z with the relevant pharmacies and GP surgeries and to work with the 
relevant agencies and colleagues to publicise the services available. 

 

 Wards Affected All 

Forward Plan Reference  

Portfolio Holder(s) Cllr Peter Murphy, Portfolio Holder for Environment 

Report Originator(s) Mark Mathews, Head of Environmental Services 

Contact Officer(s) Mark Mathews, Head of Environmental Services 
Richard Cassidy, Corporate Director 
 

Background Paper(s)  

 
 
 

Page 322



Report:  

1 Background  
1.1 The Council received notification earlier in the year of the NHS's intent to 

change the current arrangements for domestic sharps containers and point 
patients in the direction of their local council for the collection of this type of 
clinical waste.  

1.2 Following discussions with representatives of NHS England, in August 2018 the 
Council received the timeline for these changes and along with the other 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough authorities requested that the NHS hold off 
their plans until April 2019. This was agreed to by the NHS in November.  

1.3 Under the Environmental Protection Act 1990, the Council is responsible for the 
collection of a range of waste types from domestic properties, including certain 
types of clinical waste where this is generated in a domestic household by the 
householder; although legislation (Controlled Waste Regulations (England) 
2012) does allow for a charge to be made for the collection of some types of 
waste, such as Bulky Waste, Garden Waste, Commercial Waste and Clinical 
Waste.  

1.4 Where the medical treatment is delivered by medical professionals, such as 
district nurses or GPs, in customers' own homes, the resulting waste remains 
the responsibility of the healthcare provider and they arrange for the collection 
of the waste. 

1.5 NHS England (Midlands & East) have advised the Council that from April 2019 
they will no longer be arranging for the collection of returned domestic sharps 
boxes from local pharmacies. As a result they have asked that we provide 
details of the arrangements that the Council will be putting in place for the 
collection of these materials before 4 February 2019 to allow for 
communications to be produced.  

NHS Information Provided 
1.6 There are a range of medicines prescribed that can be administered at home 

and produce needles/sharps, however we are informed that the great majority of 
needles and sharps are produced by customers living with diabetes.  

1.7 The NHS have informed the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Waste 
Partnership (Recap) that there are 977,800 patients registered with the 750 GPs 
in Cambridgeshire and Peterborough and more than 43,000 of these patients 
are registered diabetics; 4% of the total registered patients.  

1.8 The NHS also informed us that around 50% of registered diabetics are likely to 
be producing needles from self-administering drugs at home, along with a small 
number of other patients using other medicines that produce sharps.   

1.9 Of the diabetic patients in the Recap area, 7,855 are registered with GPs in 
Fenland; 18% of the registered diabetics.  

1.10 Unfortunately, the NHS cannot provide figures for the numbers of sharps 
containers returned to pharmacies or surgeries because we are informed that 
they are collected with other medical waste and not recorded separately. This 
makes it difficult to estimate the scale of the issue created by the change. 

1.11 We know from the County Council Public Health Team that in Fenland 7,138 
sharps containers were prescribed by GPs in 2017/18, but we do not know how 
many of these were used and with GP boundaries not matching authority 
boundaries, we cannot accurately say where these customers live. Appendix X 
provides further details.  

Page 323



 
Current Collection System  

1.12 The County Council has entered in to a contract for the collection and disposal 
of clinical waste in Cambridgeshire that, as a Recap member, Fenland has 
agreed to utilise for the collection of domestic clinical waste until October 2021.   

1.13 Fenland has agreed fees in place for the collection of domestic and commercial 
clinical waste. These have been charged to schools and care homes where 
appropriate since 2015. Whilst there is a standing fee for domestic clinical 
waste, because customers have reasonable alternatives, there has never been 
a need to charge.  

1.14 Within the fees and charges it was recognised that certain customers would not 
be charged. As a result, the Council currently has weekly collections of clinical 
waste from 9 customers who are home dialysis customers or generate large 
amounts of Infectious Waste. These types of waste are recognised as delivered 
without charge in the fees and charges and cost in the region of £3,000 per 
annum to deliver.  

1.15 Very few customers have approached the Council for the collection of sharps 
containers over recent years implying that other options are being used.   

1.16 It should be noted that the Council has customers who are cared for in their own 
home who produce non-infectious waste which is disposed of through usual 
waste collections (Hygiene Waste). For this sanitary type waste customers are 
provided with additional wheeled bin capacity if required for their usual 2 weekly 
refuse collections. The Council has around 100 customers who utilise this 
service. This waste type is defined in appendix C and does not contain sharps 
or infectious waste. 

Diabetes UK Position Statement on Sharps Disposal  
1.17 Recognising that the largest group of customers affected by this NHS change 

are diabetics, we contacted Diabetes UK for Eastern England and they provided 
their most up to date position statement on Sharps from February 2015. This 
recommends that:  
o Sharps should never be disposed of in domestic waste or recycling.  
o a free sharps collection service, from their home, or agreed alternative 

location, provided by their local authority or another appropriate body; 
and/or  

o alternative means of disposing of sharps locally, which are convenient and 
free to use, and take account of individual circumstances; and  

o Local authorities should provide accurate and easy to locate information 
about local collection/ disposal arrangements for sharps on their website. 

o Healthcare professionals should inform patients of local arrangements for 
sharps collection/disposal.  

o Sharps containers that are appropriate to their individual needs, and are 
available free of charge (on prescription or from a local authority); 

1.18 The statement notes that "Financial pressures on local authorities and the NHS 
appear to be affecting sharps collection/disposal arrangements – possibly 
resulting in fewer services and/or fees being charged." And, "Although local 
authorities are permitted to charge for collecting clinical waste from domestic 
properties, we encourage them not to do so. This may be prohibitively 
expensive for many people with diabetes, and discourage them from using the 
[collection] service." 

Page 324

https://www.diabetes.org.uk/resources-s3/2017-09/Draft%20position%20statement%20on%20sharps%20disposal%20Feb%202015.pdf


1.19 We will also be working with Diabetes UK, through their local volunteer group to 
assist with communications.  

2 Cost Estimates and Options 
2.1 Within the countywide contract each collection costs a minimum of £6.10 plus 

the costs of administration. Using the total number of prescribed sharps boxes 
(35,000) across Cambridgeshire and Peterborough (appendix X) the costs for 
collection alone for the Recap area are £280,000 per year, without the disposal 
costs at more than £1,000 a tonne borne by both the County Council and 
Peterborough City Council.  

2.2 It should be recognised that we have no data for under 18s, prescriptions from 
hospitals or out of hours surgeries, which along with the mismatch between GP 
boundaries and authority boundaries all affects our ability to accurately forecast 
the costs of this change and increases the risk to the individual Recap 
authorities, including Fenland. 

2.3 For Fenland, if the public health team information (appendix X) is used as a 
measure of the scale of returned sharps boxes, 7,153 for Fenland, the 
maximum total cost of the NHS changes, if a free door-step collection service is 
offered without drop-off points, is more than £60,000 for adult prescriptions 
alone.  

2.4 At its meeting on 13th September 2018, Full Council considered a public 
petition requesting that members reconsider the decision to charge private 
households for the collection of hygiene and clinical waste (C32/18 Petition - 
Clinical Waste Collection Charges). It was agreed by Council that there should 
be no charge for clinical waste collections until the matter has been returned to 
Full Council to discuss the options.  This report comprises the options available 
and seeks Council endorsement of the Cabinet recommendations.  

2.5 The options that are now being presented for Fenland are intended to offer 
customers a choice. They include adopting the approach of other authorities 
across the country of working with the existing community pharmacy network to 
provide a continuation of the returns option by commissioning this service from 
the pharmacies alongside providing a door-step collection of clinical waste. 

2.6 An example Recap agreement for the community pharmacies forms appendix 
Z of this report. In line with other areas operating similar systems, the proposal 
is that pharmacists are paid an annual fee to provide the service and the 
authority arranges the collection of the used sharps boxes from the premises.  

2.7 The County Council were approached in relation to providing this service 
through their Household Waste and Recycling Sites, however their contract 
does not accommodate this type of waste and changes to the County Council's 
Waste PFI contract make this option unworkable in the timescale and 
prohibitively expensive.  

2.8 Consideration was given to offering the service through the shops, hubs and 
premises operated by the Councils in the area, but given the nature of the 
materials, the training and systems required, it is considered preferable to 
approach the existing experts with relevant experience rather than discussing 
options of providing this service through local libraries or similar.   

2.9 The cost estimates provided in this report do not include the existing costs of 
the clinical waste collections offered without charge; for dialysis and similar 
collections. It is not proposed to change this service provision and the cost of 
this element of the service, in the region of £3,000, is not included. Likewise 
these figures do not include the cost of providing the Hygiene Waste collection 

Page 325



service when incorporated within usual 2 weekly waste collections offered to 
those customers who are being cared for in their own home. 

Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Local Pharmaceutical Committee  
2.10 Discussion with the LPC, the community pharmacy association for the area, 

have been very positive and the local committee support the agreement 
attached, as outlined in their letter of support at appendix D, although it is 
accepted that it is down to company and local pharmacy managers to agree to 
provide the service.  

2.11 The committee advised on several points: Customers develop relationships with 
their local pharmacist and customer choice is an important element of the NHS 
commissioning process. As such, the committee's advice was that all 
pharmacies and GP dispensaries were offered the service to allow customers to 
choose. Additionally, that the service provided should focus on the needs of the 
patient, and many customers will not want a door-step collection because they 
wish for their waste to be dealt with discreetly.  

2.12 This presents a risk that some areas will be covered well and others might not 
be. We therefore need to agree that if the option is determined, and individual 
pharmacies cannot accommodate the service resulting in customers having no 
available disposal option, that then relevant GP practices will also be 
approached with the same offer.  

Future Service Offer Options 

Free Collection Points 
2.13 Following the lead of other areas, the Recap authorities have been investigating 

if arrangements can be put in place to allow the existing pharmacy network to 
continue collecting sharps boxes from customers.  

2.14 Where this works in other areas the local authorities pay the pharmacies a fixed 
annual fee and also arrange for the materials to be collected. Pharmacies hand 
out leaflets with sharps prescriptions that highlight how and where the boxes 
can be returned. A small number of pharmacies in the other areas have not 
agreed to these arrangements, normally based on space limitations, but the 
other authorities have been able to provide a suitable coverage of sharps box 
drop-off points. This approach is supported by Diabetes UK.  

2.15 Appendix B provides the locations of the 19 pharmacies in Fenland. Chatteris 
has 2 registered pharmacies, March has 4, Parson Drove has 1, Walsoken has 
1, Whittlesey has 3 and Wisbech has 9.  

2.16 Should we provide the service through these pharmacies the cost would be in 
the region of £18,000 each year.  

 

Area FDC Funded Drop-off Points  

Chatteris 2 

Doddington 1 

Manea 1  

March 4 

Parson Drove 1  

Walsoken 1 

Page 326

http://www.cambsandpeterboroughlpc.org.uk/


Whittlesey 3 

Wisbech  9 

 
2.17 The same offer should be extended to dispensing GP surgeries (and 

pharmacies in GP practices) where there are no pharmacies; such as 
Doddington and Manea.  

2.18 This level of service would provide all customers with easy access to sharps 
box drop-off points.  

2.19 It is proposed that Council approve the Cabinet recommendation to providing 
free sharps box drop-off points in cooperation with local pharmacies and their 
representative association at the fees set out in the agreement.  

2.20 Approval is also sought for officers to approach dispensing GP practices in 
Doddington and Manea using the same agreement and fee.  

2.21 The pharmacies and relevant surgeries, whilst encouraging in discussions about 
this, are independent local or national businesses and enter in to an agreement 
with the council at their own discretion. The Council cannot therefore guarantee 
the level of take up or prevent these businesses from withdrawing their services 
in future.  

2.22 The estimated cost of providing a free collection point network through the 
majority of the available pharmacies and a small number of GP surgeries is a 
maximum of £20,000. This cost is made up of the annual fee to each business 
and the estimated cost of collection for each premise. As a result these costs 
will rise in line with RPI each year.  

Door-step Collections 
2.23 As the pharmacies can opt in and out of the agreement set out in the 

appendices, the Council still bears the potential risk of delivering a large number 
of collections each year should the free drop-off point offer not be viable for any 
reason.   

2.24 As previously outlined, with the available information, providing a free door-step 
collection service would open the authority to a previously unplanned cost of 
more than £60,000. Against the background of the medium term financial 
strategy it is becoming increasingly difficult for the authority to find such a sum 
without making largescale changes in other services. 

2.25 The statement of the Diabetes UK and the customer petition was that free 
collection options should be provided and charges should not be prohibitively 
expensive for customers.  

2.26 With an established network of funded collection points customers are provided 
with the choice of a free drop-off at a specified location or home collection 
service for a fee. To protect the authority from an unplanned financial risk, it is 
proposed to set the 2019/20 fee at £8.00. 

2.27 The fee will remain per collection and (within reasonable limits) will be for any 
amount of clinical waste that customer wish to collect and present.  

2.28 Usual fees and charges conditions of the relevant Director being able to waive 
fees is cases of extreme hardship apply along with the previously mentioned 
arrangements for customers who through their illness produce large amounts of 
clinical waste necessitating a weekly or similar collection; these are usually but 
not exclusively patients using home dialysis or producing infectious waste.  

Page 327



2.29 Customer will have the choice of using the free drop-off points when they collect 
their medicines and prescriptions, which will be advertised on the council's 
website and through the local pharmacies. Should they choose not to make use 
of these then the door-step collection can be booked online or through the 
contact centre or shop/hubs.  

2.30 The financial risk that the authority is exposed to for the subsidised collections, 
with or without drop-off provisions, is difficult to forecast because the NHS 
cannot provide figures on current arrangements.  

3 Communication Timeline 
3.1 Following the decision of Council on the service design and adoption of the 

revised service standards the website and paperwork will be prepared to 
communicate the changes to customers beginning in January.  

3.2 Local support associations, such as Diabetes UK, will be approached to also 
support ensuring that customers know where to look for advice and how the 
changes agreed might affect them.  

3.3 Appendix A contains an outline timeline incorporating the NHS deadlines and 
communication opportunities.  

4 Possible Impacts 
4.1 The impact on customers of the NHS decision is that local services will cost 

more to deliver. The scale of the increased cost is dependent upon the option 
determined, but with financial pressures increasing on local authorities, 
whatever is spent delivering this change to service will increase pressure on the 
medium term financial plan.  

4.2 The 2-4% of customers in the area who use the service will see little impact if 
the Council chooses to support the community pharmacy provision, because the 
majority of customers can continue to deliver their sharps boxes back to their 
pharmacy, or a nearby pharmacy, without issue.  

4.3 Customers will receive information when sharps boxes are prescribed on where 
they can be returned, or customers can consult the Council and Recap websites 
which will list the pharmacies taking part.  

4.4 The Recap Partnership aims to provide similar options across the area to 
provide customers with compatible solutions even where GP boundaries and 
district boundaries do not align.  

4.5 It remains the case that customers requiring regular weekly or 2 weekly 
collections, such as those on home dialysis or producing a large amount of 
infectious waste will continue to be offered their collections without charge.  

4.6 We understand that at present some surgeries take customers sharps boxes 
back for disposal. What the NHS has not made clear is if GP surgeries will 
continue to allow customers to return sharps boxes to them. The risk to the 
authorities is that if the NHS further tightens control over clinical waste that the 
local authorities are further exposed to the risk of increased costs.  

5 Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) 
5.1 A draft EIA based on the recommendations in this report is attached as 

appendix W. 
5.2 Should the recommendations not be approved then the EIA would need 

updating to reflect this.  

Page 328



5.3 The benefit recognised of providing collection points is the choice to dispose of 
sharps boxes at specific and convenient locations free of charge and thus avoid 
incurring the need for home collections and charges.  

6 TEEP Assessment (Technical, Environmental, Economic and Practicable)  
6.1 The Council is required to consider if it is necessary to collect recyclable 

materials separately in order to achieve the quality requirements required by re-
processors. This is called a TEEP assessment. 

6.2 The Council's previously adopted TEEP Statement, previously published, has 
been considered as part of the development of this service and it is concluded 
that no change is required to the published statement as a result of 
implementing any of the options described within this paper. 

7 Reviewed Waste Services Standards 2018 
7.1 The service standards have been brought up to date to accommodate this 

change by the NHS and will reflect the option chosen by Cabinet and Council.  
7.2 The service standards have also been brought up to date with relevant 

legislative changes since 2016, when they were last reviewed, namely Section 
55(2)(a) of the Housing Act 2004 and the Licensing of Houses in Multiple 
Occupation (Mandatory Conditions of Licences) (England) Regulations 2018. 
These clarify how the existing waste standards apply to properties of multiple-
occupancy.  

 
Appendices  
 

A Communications Timeline 
B Pharmacy and GP Surgery Locations 
C NHS Example of Clinical Waste Categories 
D Letter of Support Cambridgeshire and Peterborough LPC 
W Draft Equality Impact Assessment - Clinical and Hygiene Waste Service 
X Public Health Report - Recap Area Sharps Prescriptions Issued  
Y Revised Waste Service Standards 2018  
Z Draft Recap Pharmacy Agreement  

Page 329



Appendix A Outline Communications Timeline 
 

Attend Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough LPC to share draft 
agreement 

20 November 2018 

Approach Fenland Pharmacies and 
GPs with offer and support of LPC 

4 January 2019 

Diabetes UK local group approached 
to assist communications 

January 2019 

Provide NHS with details of 
webpages and arrangements 

February 2019 

NHS communicates with GPs and 
Pharmacies 

February 2019 

Press release and updated websites March 2019 

Information leaflets distributed by 
signed-up pharmacies 

March 2019 

 

Page 330



Appendix B – Fenland Pharmacies and Dispensing GP Practices  

 
Pharmacies in Fenland  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

 1
00 hour pharmacies in Fenland 
Tesco In-store Pharmacy, March 
Asda Pharmacy, Wisbech 
North Brink Pharmacy, Wisbech 

102  Asda Pharmacy,  North End, Wisbech 

8  Boots, (Boots UK Ltd),  Broad Street, March  

9  Boots, (Boots UK Ltd),  Horsefair, Wisbech  

1  Boots, (Boots UK Ltd),  Syers Lane, Whittlesey 

2  Boots, (Boots UK Ltd),  Norfolk Street, Wisbech 

3  Boots, (Boots UK Ltd),  Old Market, Wisbech 

4  Boots, (Boots UK Ltd),  De Havilland Road, Wisbech 

5  Boots, (Boots UK Ltd),  Kirkgate Street, Walsoken, Wisbech 

6  Boots, (Boots UK Ltd),  Marylebone Road, March  

10  Boots, (Boots UK Ltd),  High Causeway, Whittlesey  

11  Fairbrother Pharmacy,  Church Terrace, Wisbech  

13  Lloyds Pharmacy,  High Street, Chatteris  

16  Lloyds Pharmacy,  Elwyn Roadd, March  

20  Lloyds Pharmacy,  Swan Drive, Chatteris  

24  Parson Drove Phrcy,  Wisbech  

26 Tesco In-store Phrcy, Hostmoor Avenue, March 

27  Tesco In-store Phrcy,  Sandown Road, Wisbech  

22  Well Pharmacy,   Augustine’s Road, Wisbech 

99  Whittlesey Pharmacy,  Whittlesey  

    
    

   
   

    
    

   
    

   
     

 

Page 331



Tesco Pharmacy, Wisbech 
Whittlesey Pharmacy, Whittlesey 

 

 Dispensing GP Practices (Oct 2016)   Source: NHS England East Anglia Area Team.  

Practice 
Code  

Practice Name Map ID  

D81011  Clarkson Surgery  21 

D81071  Doddington Medical Centre  24  

D81061  George Clare Surgery  27 

D81039  Jenner Health Centre  25 

D81611  Manea Surgery  23 

D81046  The New Queen Street Surgery  26  

D81008  The North Brink Practice  20  

D81015  Parson Drove Surgery  22 

 

Page 332



Appendix C NHS Example of Clinical Waste Categories  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 333



Appendix D - Letter of Support Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Pharmacies  
 

 
 
We welcome the opportunity for community pharmacy to be considered as part of the solution to 
help with patients/customers disposing with their Clinical Sharps waste. 
A single solution that can be applied across Cambridgeshire and Peterborough would offer a 
consistent service and message to our customers and service providers. 
Community pharmacy can; 

• provide patients with a safe and convenient route for the disposal of sharps, 

• reduce the volume of sharps stored in patients’ homes, by providing a convenient 
route for disposal, thus reducing the risk of accidental needle-stick injuries; 

• reduce the environmental damage caused by the use of inappropriate disposal 
methods for sharps; 

• improve the health of local communities by preventing the spread of blood-borne 
infections by ensuring the safe disposal of sharps;  

• reduce the risk of needle stick injury in the community and inappropriate disposal of 
used injectable sharps. 

There are 109 pharmacies across Cambridgeshire and 41 in Peterborough. They are located in 
busy high streets and the rural areas so patients/customers have reasonable access to 
pharmacy services. (Please see maps page 36 Cambridgeshire PNA 2017 and page 40 
Peterborough PNA 2018). 
Many pharmacies are open long hours and at weekends. Patients who need sharps bins, will be 
collecting them along with their other dispensed medication from the pharmacy of their choice. It 
would ideal if they could return their filled and sealed sharps bins to the same pharmacy. 
The LPC will work with colleagues in the local authority and local pharmacies to implement a 
solution for our population. 
 
 
Rita Bali (B. Pharm).   
Executive Officer.   
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Local Pharmaceutical Committee. 
 

Page 334

https://cambridgeshireinsight.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/02/Cambridgeshire-Pharmaceutical-Needs-Assessment-2017-FULL-DRAFT-REPORT-FOR-CONSULTATION-v2_0.pdf
https://pcc-live.storage.googleapis.com/upload/www.peterborough.gov.uk/healthcare/public-health/PeterboroughPNA2018-FullReport.PDF?inline=true


               Assessing Equality – The Equality Act 2010     Appendix W 
             DRAFT - Customer Impact Assessment   

 
This impact assessment is draft and unpublished. The assessment is determined by decisions made by Cabinet and Council 

 on 13 December 2018.  
 

This assessment is based on agreement to free collection points and a self-funding home collection fee. Should this not be agreed 
then this draft assessment will need to be reviewed and updated.  

 
Clinical and Hygiene Waste Service. 
 
Hygiene Waste 
 
The Council offers a free 2 weekly collection of Hygiene Waste (non-infectious sanitary or incontinence waste) where customers are cared for 
in their own home through the supply of wheeled bins specifically for this purpose as part of routine collections.  
 
Clinical Waste (Sharps and Infectious Waste) 
 
The Council supplies a free service to customer using home dialysis or conditions where large amounts of clinical waste require frequent 
collections. This regular and scheduled service is provided without charge.  
 
The Council has worked with the Local Pharmacy Committee and Recap (Peterborough and Cambridgeshire Waste Partnership) to provide a 
network of free disposal locations for remaining customers.  
 
The option of entering in to an agreement to deliver this service for the authority has been offered to all pharmacies in the area to up take with 
the aim of providing customers with a as broad and convenient a network as possible. It is down to the individual companies to determine if 
they wish to enter the agreement and provide the service, and thus the locations are outside of the control of the Council.  
 
Clinical waste is by its nature expensive waste to collect requiring specialist equipment, transportation, training and containers; additionally it is 
very expensive waste to dispose of.  The Council has the legal right to charge for the collection of Clinical Waste in line with other wastes 
already charged for, such as Garden Waste, Bulky Waste, Commercial Waste and waste from Educational Establishments and Care Homes.  
 
Any charge covers the collection cost element only and the County Council remains responsible for the disposal costs. 

P
age 335



               Assessing Equality – The Equality Act 2010     Appendix W 
 
Members agreed in 2015 that customers requiring regular (weekly or two weekly) collections of clinical waste (such as dialysis customers) 
would be provided with the service without charge. This will include customers being cared for in their own home who require regular 
collections as a result of infectious dressings and similar. The council has for a long period of time had only a small number of customers with 
these requirements.  
 
Where customers are being cared for by NHS staff then these staff will be required to remove all clinical waste and not pass this burden to the 
customer or authority.  
 
Customers who request collections as a result of Hygiene Waste (sanitary waste, nappies etc.) will if required be offered additional containers 
to allow this waste to be collected within normal waste collections.  
 
Where customers require home collections, the local NHS partners will be encouraged to provide their patients with larger sharps bins where 
this is acceptable to the customer to allow for a reduced frequency of collections and customers can for the single fee present (within 
reasonable limits) as many sharps boxes as they wish for the single collection fee.  
 
Where customers request a collection of clinical waste and do not want to utilise the free collection points provided, this service is provided on 
an at cost basis to form a self-funding service. Collections are provided by an external contractor and scheduled on an agreed day usually 
within 9 working days of the request.  
 
 

P
age 336



               Assessing Equality – The Equality Act 2010     Appendix W 

Consultation 

The fee was originally established through the council’s overview and scrutiny processes as with all fees and then agreed by Cabinet and 
Council in 2015.  

The fee has not previously been in use because customers have alternative arrangements and are not requesting collections from the council. 
The changes proposed by the NHS from April 2019 will have an impact on producers of sharps if the Council does not adjust the current 
policy. Consultation of the users of these NHS services has not been possible within the timeframe. 

A public petition was received calling for the council to reconsider introduce a charge in response to the NHS changes.  

 

 
 Could 

particularly 
benefit 

Neutral 
May 

adversely 
impact 

Explanations 
Is action 

possible or 
required? 

Details of actions or explanations if 
actions are not possible 
 
Please note details of any actions 
to be placed in your Service Plan 
 

Race □ Y □  
 
 
 
Diabetic customers form a large 
proportion of the 2% of 
customers who produce sharps.  
 
Assisted collection available 
 
 
 
 

Y / N  
 
 
 
 
Work with partners and 
NHS to establish free 
collection points for the 
collection of sharps boxes. 

Sex 
 □ Y □ Y / N 

Gender reassignment □ Y □ Y / N 
Disability 
 □ □ Y Y / N 

Age 
 □ Y □ Y / N 

Sexual orientation 
 □ Y □ Y / N 

Religion or belief 
 □ Y □ Y / N 

Pregnancy & maternity □ Y □ Y / N P
age 337



               Assessing Equality – The Equality Act 2010     Appendix W 
Marriage & civil partnership □ Y □ Short-term assisted an option Y / N 

Human Rights  Y   Y / N  

Socio Economic 

  Y 

The cost of a regular weekly or 
two weekly collection may be of 
concern for some  

Y  

Dialysis and conditions 
where large amounts of 
clinical waste require 
frequent collections are 
provided without charge 
 
Work with partners to 
establish community 
collection points where 
possible.  
 
At-cost fee for collection of 
clinical waste. 
 
Fee can be waived by 
Director in cases of 
extreme hardship.  

Multiple/ Cross Cutting 
 Y   Y / N  

 
Outcome(s) of customer analysis 
 
Will the policy/ procedure impact on the whole population of Fenland and/ or identified groups within the population;  neutral  ■ 

 
A range of free collection points will be made available to customer in order the replicate the existing arrangements. With current arrangements customers do not 
request home collections.  
 
There is an at-cost charge for those who wish to have clinical or hygiene waste collected from their property using the clinical waste collections.  
 
Overview and scrutiny, cabinet and council agreed the exception to the fees and usual director discretion applies for cases of extreme hardship.  
 

P
age 338



               Assessing Equality – The Equality Act 2010     Appendix W 
The fee for collections protects the tax payer from the potential cost of fulfilling the duty to collect all clinical waste upon request from domestic premises should the 
NHS further change their current arrangements.  

 

No major change needed  ■           Adjust the policy  □                 Adverse impact but continue □                 Stop and remove / reconsider policy □ 

Arrangements for future monitoring: 
Review at point agreements expire or collection contracts are updated.  
 
Details of any data/ Research used (both FDC & Partners): 
 
Outlined in Cabinet and Council Report 13 December 2018 
 
Completed by: 
 
Name: Mark Mathews 
 
Position: Head of Environmental Services 
 
 
Approved by (manager signature):  
 

Date published: This should be the date the analysis was published on the website 
 
 

Details of any Committee approved by (if applicable): 
 
 

Date endorsed by Members if applicable: 

 

P
age 339



   Appendix X 
 
Title 

 
Household generated sharps clinical waste – key data for Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough (adapted) 
 

 
Author 

 
Katie Johnson, Consultant in Public Health  
Cambridgeshire County Council & Peterborough City Council  
Katie.johnson@cambridgeshire.gov.uk  
 

 
Date 

 
12 September 2018  
 

 
 
Key findings:  
 
• Just under 35,000 sharps disposal items were prescribed by GPs in Cambridgeshire and 

Peterborough in 2017/18. 
• 97% of these were 1 litre sharps bins. 
• Huntingdonshire had the greatest number of items prescribed (8,568) and Cambridge City had the 

least (3,534). 
• There are over 43,000 patients with diabetes registered with GPs in Cambridgeshire and 

Peterborough. 
• Peterborough has the greatest number of patients with diabetes (10,684) and East Cambridgeshire 

(4,635) has the least.  
 
 
1. Number of sharps disposal items prescribed 
 
Using GP prescribing data, information on the number of sharps bins that are prescribed was collated. This 
can be used as a marker of the scope of the service that will be needed. The NHS Electronic Drug Tariff, 
part IXA appliances, lists the various sharps appliances that can be prescribed. A search for the number of 
these appliances that are prescribed within the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough CCG was completed 
using Openprescribing.net.  
 
The number of appliances prescribed was then categorised by the local authority (district and unitary level) 
which the postcode of the GP practice lies within. This data therefore presents an estimate only of the bins 
prescribed to residents living within the six local authorities within Cambridgeshire and Peterborough. The 
practices within these districts may prescribe bins to those living outside of the authorities’ boundaries, and 
residents living within these areas may be prescribed sharps bins by GP practices which are located 
outside of the authorities’ boundaries. GPs which are part of the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough 
CCG but not located within the authorities’ boundaries are not included in the data below.  
 
Figure 1 presents the total number of sharps bins prescribed for each local authority for the financial year 
2017/18. This includes data on the following items in various sizes:  
 

• Needle Clipping (Chopping Device)  
• Sharpsafe (1L, 1.8L, 4L, 7L, 9L)  
• Sharpsafety (8L)  
• Sharpsguard (1L, 5L)  

 
Figure 1 shows that 34,966 items were prescribed by general practices within the boundaries of the 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough local authorities in 2017/18. Huntingdonshire had the greatest number 
of items prescribed (8,568) and Cambridge City had the least (3,534). This is likely to reflect the size, age 
and health of the population, as well as prescribing practices.  
 

Page 340

mailto:Katie.johnson@cambridgeshire.gov.uk


   Appendix X 

 
 
Figure. 1: Total sharps bins prescribed, by local authority, 2017/18 (Source: OpenPrescribing.net, EBM DataLab, 
University of Oxford, 2017) 
 
Table 1 below shows the breakdown of the number of items by size of item and local authority for the 
financial year 2017/18. It shows that the majority of items were sized 1 litre, which accounted for 33,981 
items or 97% of the total number of items.  
 
 
TABLE 1: Number of sharps items prescribed by type of item and local authority, 2017/18  
(Source: OpenPrescribing.net, EBM DataLab, University of Oxford, 2017) 
 

 
Needle 

clipping  1L 1.8L  4L  5L  7L  9L  Total  

Cambridge 34 3373 30 36 29 29 3 3534 
East 
Cambridgeshire 19 4176 11 21 32 5 0 4264 

South 
Cambridgeshire 25 4506 65 36 49 35 1 4717 

Peterborough 14 6583 47 27 47 9 2 6729 

Fenland 15 7066 28 17 23 3 1 7153 

Huntingdonshire 99 8277 45 70 60 16 1 8568 

Total  206 33981 226 207 240 97 8 34965 
 
 
2. Number of patients with diabetes  
 
Diabetes is a disease that causes inadequate blood glucose control due to a lack of insulin. Patients with 
diabetes generate sharps waste through blood glucose monitoring and the use of needles for treatment 
with insulin injections. Figure 2 shows the number of people aged 17 years and over who were registered 
as having diabetes with their GP in 2016/17.  
 
It is important to note that not all patients with diabetes inject insulin and patients with conditions other than 
diabetes may also generate sharps waste. However, diabetic patients are likely to be a significant 

Page 341



   Appendix X 
contributor to the generation of sharps waste and so figure 2 below adds to our understanding of the 
number of patients generating household sharps waste.  
 
The data used in figure 2 is once again practice level data that has been aggregated to district level by the 
postcode of the main surgery, and therefore the caveats described above also apply to this data.  
 
Figure 2 shows that in 2016/17, there were 43,113 patients with diabetes registered with general 
practices within the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough local authority boundaries. Peterborough has the 
greatest number of patients with diabetes (10,684) and East Cambridgeshire (4,635) has the least. This is 
likely to reflect the size, age and health of the population, as well as variation in diagnosis rates.   
 
 

 
Figure 2: Number of patients aged 17+ with diabetes, 2016/17 (Source: Quality and Outcome Framework (QOF) data) 
 
3. Acknowledgements  
 
This report mirrors a previous report produced by the Norfolk County Council public health team who 
analysed Norfolk data on sharps bins and diabetic patients.  

Page 342



Appendix Y - Waste Service Standards 2018   
 

Fenland District Council provides an integrated refuse and recycling service that includes the collection of a broad range 
of dry recycling materials and garden waste. The Garden Waste Service is a subscription only service. 

 
Points of note, supplementary service standards 2018 for Clinical Waste Service changes and Houses of Multiple Occupancy (HMO) 
legislative update. 
 

1. Updated standards for Clinical Waste collection from April 2019 following NHS changes 
2. Recognise that waste produced by the occupants of HMOs is domestic waste and waste produced in the management of the 

property is commercial waste.  
3. Landlords of HMOs are responsible for ensuring that waste is managed appropriately by their tenants and in line with the service 

standards set out here.  
 

P
age 343



 

 SERVICE ISSUE SERVICE STANDARD ACTION CUSTOMER IMPACT 

1 

Bin1 out and no record on 
in-cab system of reason 
for non-collection, and in 
the case of Garden 
Waste Service, that there 
is a valid subscription for 
the bin.  
 
“Missed Bin” 

Following customer contact –  
• A return collection will be offered 

same or next day at the request 
of customer up to four working 
days from the day of collection 

 
In cases of non-residual waste:  
• Customer made aware that 

recycling cannot be guaranteed 
and materials might be sent for 
treatment at Mechanical 
Biological Treatment (MBT) plant 
with residual waste  

• Sacks offered as additional 
storage where customer does not 
want recycling disposed of at 
MBT plant 
 

In cases of Garden Waste Service 
• Subscription application details 

sent to customer where a 
subscription is not in place 

• Garden Waste collected on 
missed collections will be 
collected separately from other 
materials and will be processed 
for composting 

• Collection2 same or next 
working day 

• Deliver by post, 2 appropriate 
sacks and system highlighted 
for collection on next 
scheduled collection 

• Advise customer that excess 
will be allowed at the next 
collection as an exception to 
our normal policy on 
additional waste 

• Garden Waste Service, check 
bin clearly displays 
subscription sticker and 
property in on collection 
record 

• Waste removed in a 
timely fashion 

• Responsive service 
delivery for customer 

• Efficient collection 
system 

• Customer ownership of 
bin collection system 

• Improved customer 
awareness of services 

• Encourage participation 
in Garden Waste Service 

P
age 344



 SERVICE ISSUE SERVICE STANDARD ACTION CUSTOMER IMPACT 

2 

Bin reported via in-cab 
system3 as not at point of 
collection prior to time of 
collection. 
 
“Bin Not Out” 

 
• No repeat collection provided 
 
Following customer contact –  
 
• Customer made aware that 

general waste can be taken to 
HWRC for disposal 

• Sacks offered where customer will 
need to contain extra recycling 
or refuse until the next collection 

• Bin can be presented on next 
scheduled collection. 

 

• Record made on in-cab 
system 

• Bin emptied on next 
scheduled collection day for 
that bin 

• Deliver by post 2 clear or 
black sacks and system 
highlighted for collection on 
next scheduled collection 

• Encourages responsible 
use of the 
refuse/recycling service 

• Improved education 
and awareness about 
the service 

• Effective use of 
resources  

• Prevents misuse of the 
Garden Waste Service 

3 

Wrongly sorted5 recycling 
or composting bin 
identified prior to 
collection 

 
• No repeat collection provided 
• Information in relation to reason 

for non-collection attached to 
bin 

 
Following customer contact –  
 
• Customer made aware that 

general waste can be taken to 
HWRC for disposal 

• Sacks offered where customer will 
need to contain extra recycling 

• Contaminated non-subscription 
brown bins removed within 5 
working days 

 

• Record made on in-cab 
system with detail of issue 

• Educational leaflet or letter 
produced and sent where 
appropriate 

• Bin emptied on next 
scheduled collection day for 
that bin 

• Deliver by post, 2 recycling 
sacks and system highlighted 
for collection on next 
scheduled collection 

• Arrange removal of any non-
subscription bins identified 
and reported as presented 
and containing incorrect 
materials 

• Educational visit offered 
where more than 2 occasions 

• Encourages responsible 
use of the 
refuse/recycling service 

• Maintains awareness 
about the service and 
value of 
recycling/composting 

• Reduces chance of 
rejected loads at 
transfer station at a cost 
of ~£1000 per load. 

• Removes unused brown 
bins from circulation 

 
 

P
age 345



 SERVICE ISSUE SERVICE STANDARD ACTION CUSTOMER IMPACT 

in 6 months.  
• Repeat occasions and 

deliberate misuse referred for 
enforcement  

4 
Wrongly sorted recycling 
or composting bin 
identified after collection 

• Customer made aware of issue 
with materials presented via 
letter, leaflet, card or personal 
visit 

• Record made on in-cab 
system 

• Educational letter produced 
and sent next working day 

• Educational visit offered 
where more than 2 occasions 
in 6 months.  

• Repeat occasions and 
deliberate misuse referred for 
enforcement 

• Encourages responsible 
use of the 
refuse/recycling service 

• Maintains awareness 
about the service and 
value of 
recycling/composting 

• Reduces chance of 
refused loads at transfer 
station at a cost of 
~£1000 per load. 

5 

Customer identified by 
crew as not making 
effective use of recycling 
system 

• Bin emptied 
• Customer made aware of issue 

with materials presented via 
letter, leaflet, card or personal 
visit 

 
 
 

• Driver request Recycling 
Support visit in case of serious 
or repeat issues 

• Educational visit offered 
where more than 2 occasions 
in 6 months.  

• Repeat occasions and 
deliberate misuse referred for 
enforcement 

• Enforces responsible use 
of the refuse/recycling 
service 

• Improved education 
and awareness about 
the service 

• Increased efficiency 

6 

Bin deemed to be beyond 
a reasonable weight by 
collection team  
 
“Heavy Bin” 

 
• No repeat collection provided 
• Information in relation to reason 

for non-collection attached to 
bin 

 
Following customer contact –  
 
• Customer made aware that 

• Record made on in-cab 
system with detail of issue 

• Educational letter produced 
and sent where appropriate 

• Bin emptied on next 
scheduled collection day for 
that bin if heavy items 
removed 

• Deliver by post, 2 appropriate 

• Safe manual handling 
• Reduced potential for 

injury and compliance 
with local risk 
assessments and Health 
& Safety obligations 

 P
age 346



 SERVICE ISSUE SERVICE STANDARD ACTION CUSTOMER IMPACT 

weight of bin needs reducing 
and that general waste can be 
taken to HWRC for disposal 

• Sacks offered where customer will 
need to contain extra recycling 
or refuse 

 

sacks and system highlighted 
for collection on next 
scheduled collection 

7 Bin reported by customer 
as damaged 

• Bin replaced once fee paid.   
• Where bin damaged as the result 

of arson, this information will be 
shared with local fire safety team 

• Sacks offered where customer will 
need to contain extra waste or 
recycling  

• Bin replaced free of charge if 
damaged during collection and 
reported by crew 
 

• Crew record any issues on in-
cab system 

• Replacement delivered within 
5 working days following day 
of payment 

• New subscription issued where 
required  

• Maintain customer 
satisfaction with service 

• Continuity of service 
following damage to 
containers 

 

8 Bin lost or Stolen 

• Customer asked to complete 
form after bin remains lost for two 
weeks 

• Bin replaced for fee after such 
time 

• Sacks offered where customer will 
need to contain extra waste, 
recycling  

• Letter, bags and form 
delivered to customer for 
completion 

• Collection via bags arranged 
for subsequent two collections 

• Bin delivered 5 working days 
following return of payment  

• Maintain customer 
satisfaction with service 

• Reduce likelihood of 
unnecessary bin 
deliveries via two week 
wait  

9 

Waste in addition to the 
standard bins provided 
(or their sack equivalent). 
 
“Side Waste” 

 
• Waste will not be collected unless 

contained within appropriate 
and approved bins supplied and 
authorised by this council 

• Information stickers attached to 
unauthorised containers1 of 

 
• Exception – where cases 2,3,4 

6, 7 or 8 above result in 
authorised sacks being used 
for one week only 

• Record of additional waste 
kept on in-cab system 

 
• Manual handling 
• Heath & safety 
• Resident responsibility 
• Promotion of safe 

working practice P
age 347



 SERVICE ISSUE SERVICE STANDARD ACTION CUSTOMER IMPACT 

additional waste 
 
Following customer contact –  
 
• Customer made aware that 

general waste can be taken to 
HWRC for disposal 

• Customer made aware that 
additional blue bins are available 
for larger families who meet the 
criteria  

• Additional Residual bins for 
households of 6 or more who are 
recycling actively and cannot 
contain residual waste in bins 
supplied. Delivery charges apply. 

• Garden Waste Only See No.15 
 

• Information letter sent to 
customer where appropriate, 
including options around 
garden waste disposal 

• Additional and unauthorised 
containers will be removed 
and disposed of  

10 Bin lid not closed to a 
reasonable degree 

 
• Bin emptied where safe to do so 
• It may be appropriate to treat 

bags presented on top of 
wheeled bin, with lid open or 
closed as per additional waste (9) 

 
 

• Information letter sent to 
customer where appropriate 

• Driver request Recycling 
Support visit in case of serious 
or repeat issues 

• Heath & safety 
compliance 

• Promotion of safe 
working practice 

• Prevent damage to bin 

11 Street level access issue 

• Every effort will be made by 
collection team to collect 
obstructed bins  

• Collection team return later 
same day to review access 

• Where feasible, bins will be 
walked to and collected 

• Arrangements made for 
return next working day upon 
failed second attempt 

• Where road construction or 
planned works prevents 
normal collection then 
temporary arrangements will 

• Maintain customer 
satisfaction with service 

 

P
age 348



 SERVICE ISSUE SERVICE STANDARD ACTION CUSTOMER IMPACT 

• Upon failed later attempts 
record made on in-cab system 

 
Vehicular obstruction 
 
• Notice left with vehicles that 

regularly cause an issue for 
collection teams 

• Support for regular issues will be 
sought via local Police 

be made and customers 
affected informed by letter 

12 

Arrangements where 
customer cannot manage 
to move bins themselves. 
 
“Assisted Collection” 

 
• Assisted collection provided from 

an agreed location on 
customer’s property 

• Application form to be 
completed 

• Service commences week 
following first point of contact for 
a period of four weeks without 
completed application 

• Bins will be collected, emptied 
and returned to the agreed 
point of collection 

• Assisted collections will be 
reviewed a maximum of once 
every eighteen months via 
reapplication 

• The council reserves the right to 
remove/refuse this service where 
other occupiers of the property 
can facilitate the presentation of 
waste 

• An assisted collection can be 

• Assisted collection recorded 
on in-cab system 

• Crews can report requirement 
of and non requirement of 
service via in-cab system 

• Maintains customer’s 
ability to live 
independently in their 
own home 

P
age 349



 SERVICE ISSUE SERVICE STANDARD ACTION CUSTOMER IMPACT 

refused where the nature or 
length of the surface over which 
the bin needs to be moved is 
considered unreasonable or 
unsafe.  See Nos.18 and 21. 

• A reasonable limit will be placed 
on the number of garden waste 
subscription bins per property 

 

13 

Bins (and uncollected 
waste) not removed from 
collection point following 
collection  

• Bins/waste should be  removed 
from the collection point by the 
end of the day following 
collection 

• Information letters sent to repeat 
issues 

• Bins removed and replaced with 
alternative arrangements where 
persistent problems are identified 

• Letter sent to property and 
landlord where appropriate 

• Officer visit as required 
• Removal of bins a last resort 

solution 

• Encourages responsible 
use of the 
refuse/recycling service 

• Improved education 
and awareness about 
the service 

• Increased efficiency 

14 Bank holiday collection 
arrangements  

• One day holidays will usually 
result in the collection being 
performed one day in arrears 
unless other arrangements prove 
to be beneficial 

• Arrangements for the Christmas 
and New Year will be advised 
each year 

• Customers informed via 
website and delivery of bank 
holiday information. 

• Customer well informed 
and confident with 
collection arrangements 

• Effective service delivery 

15 Request for extra waste 
containment 

• Families of five or more will be 
entitled to an additional blue bin 
upon application 

• Unused or abused bins will be 
removed 

• Additional clear sacks for 
recycling can be requested and 

• Additional blue and green 
bins can be supplied upon 
criteria being met 

• Blue bin supply is expected to 
take precedence over green 
bin.  

• A record will be kept of such 

• Increase recycling 
where possible 

• Reduce impact of 
additional waste on 
local environmental 
quality  

• Option of additional 

P
age 350



 SERVICE ISSUE SERVICE STANDARD ACTION CUSTOMER IMPACT 

presented next to blue bins 
• Garden Waste Only bins can be 

supplied and charged in line 
with Fees and Charges 

• Home composting promoted 
• Unauthorised bins will not be 

emptied and will be removed 
and disposed of.  

bins supplied and regularly 
reviewed 

• Annual charges will need to 
be paid in advance or bins will 
not be collected  

• Where bins are presented and 
not identified as authorised on 
the system then a record will 
be made on the in-cab 
system, the bins will be 
removed and an information 
letter will  be sent to customer  

waste collection for 
properties of multiple 
occupancy 

• Demonstrate changes to 
policy as a result of 
customer request 

• To adhere to the 
objective of increasing 
recycling and reducing 
waste to landfill 

16 Private access driveways 

 
• With the exception of existing 

custom and practice collections 
are made at the Highway 
boundary with each property 

• New dwellings where this might 
be an issue will be considered on 
their individual merits and where 
possible, agreement sought with 
developer to resolve any 
potential issues at the planning 
stages in line with Recap waste 
guidelines 

• With the authority of all 
concerned parties and receipt 
of suitable indemnity 
appropriate private roads can 
be included within collections 

• Where access is narrow or not 
appropriate then an agreed 
point of collection will be 

• Supervisors will visit  
• General principle adhered to 

is that we offer a collection 
from the boundary of private 
property with the Highway, 
but each case is examined on 
its merits 

• Waste collection issues 
planned out of future 
developments 

• Service provided where 
possible and suitable 

P
age 351



 SERVICE ISSUE SERVICE STANDARD ACTION CUSTOMER IMPACT 

established 

17 Clinical Waste Collection 
Service 

 
• Local collection points will be 

advertised through shops, 
website and with local 
healthcare professionals.  

• Where a customer qualifies for a 
Clinical (Hygiene) Waste 
Collection on medical grounds 
then this will be provided in 
addition to the standard three 
bin system collections. 

• Service implemented upon 
request within 5 working days  

• Service commenced for a 
period of three weeks prior to 
receipt of qualification materials 

• Clinical Waste does not include 
offensive waste (Hygiene Waste) 
which can reasonably be 
accommodated with other 
residual waste services offered.  

• As set out in 22 below, charges 
can be made for the collection 
of Clinical Waste.  
 

• Qualification criteria may be 
required 

• Weekly collection of waste in 
specific clinical waste 
containers/bins 

• Service implemented at 
request within 5 working days 
of request 

• Clinical Waste resulting from 
treatment by medical 
professionals will not be 
collected 

• Customer offered option of an 
additional residual waste 
container where required to 
contain Hygiene Waste. 

• Where charges apply, these 
will be waived where 
customers, through care in 
their own home, require 
collection of large amounts of 
Clinical Waste on a weekly or 
two-weekly basis. 
 

• Compliance with duty of 
care 

• Equality of service 
provision 

• Enable care within their 
own home for those who 
require it 

• Efficient and effective 
Clinical Waste Service 

• Work in partnership with 
local business to provide 
the best service options 

  

18 
Bin not presented in 
appropriate location for 
collection  

• Recorded on system as ‘not on 
boundary’  

• One courtesy collection possible 
same or next working day 

• Further occasions will result in 
non-collection of bin 

• Information letter sent  
• Location of collection to be 

agreed by supervisor 
• Service efficiency  

P
age 352



 SERVICE ISSUE SERVICE STANDARD ACTION CUSTOMER IMPACT 

19 
Bins not present at 
property at change of 
occupier 

• Where bins have previously been 
delivered to a property and one 
or more is missing following a 
change of occupier then 
replacements will be charged for 
at a set fee. 

• Current fee is set out in Fees and 
Charges  

• New builds and first sets of bins 
are supplied at reasonable 
charge or purchased and 
provided by the developer 

• Letter sent to new occupier 
• Bin delivered five working 

days from day of payment 
receipt 

• Details of Garden Waste 
subscription sent  

• Reduce incidence of 
bins being removed 
from properties as 
customers move within 
or outside of the district 

• Increased efficiencies 
• Promote Garden Waste 

Service 

20 Change of occupier waste 
issues 

• A one off courtesy collection for 
new occupiers is available where 
customers find bins full following 
a change of occupier at a 
property. 

 

• Collection provided same or 
next working day of suitable 
contents of approved bins at 
property all waste sent for 
processing at Mechanical 
Biological Treatment plant 

• Local household waste 
recycling centres will take a 
range of household waste 
delivered by householder  

• Courtesy collection available 
only to property occupiers 
and reasonable limits apply 

• Maintain customer 
satisfaction with service 

21 

Collections from 
properties on or near poor 
quality or extraordinary 
roadways including 
isolated and inaccessible 
properties 
 

• Where roadway, adopted or 
otherwise, present a risk to staff; 
an exceptional cost or could 
damage council vehicles, then 
the roadway will not be utilised. 

• Alternative locations for 
collection will be given to 
customers by supervisors. 

• Reduced risk of 
accident 

• Providing an efficient 
and effective service to 
all customers 

P
age 353



 SERVICE ISSUE SERVICE STANDARD ACTION CUSTOMER IMPACT 

22 Charges for waste 
collection 

• Where the Controlled Waste 
Regulations, as adopted by 
County Council and Fenland 
District Council, allow then 
charges will be applied and 
identified in Fees and Charges. 

 
• Garden (organic) Waste 
• Bulky Waste 
• Commercial Waste 
• Clinical Waste 
 

• Service efficiency 
• Reduced costs of 

collection 
• Users of service pay for 

those services 

23 
Waste generated by 
Houses of Multiple 
Occupancy (HMO) 8 

 
• In keeping with the Council’s 

support of recycling and the 
waste hierarchy, and in keeping 
with the license for the property, 
landlords of HMOs must ensure 
that their tenants understand 
and comply with the waste 
collection arrangements at their 
property, as set out within these 
service standards. 

• As set out in 3, 4, 6, 9 and 10 of 
these service standards, waste 
must be contained in the 
containers provided and sorted 
and presented to allow for the 
maximum amount of recycling 
to be achieved. 

• In line with 15 of these service 
standards, household of five or 
more will be entitled to an 
additional blue bin upon 
application and unused or 
abused [recycling] bins will be 
removed.  

• In line with 9 of these service 
standards, households of 6 or 

 
 

• Additional blue and green 
bins can be supplied upon 
criteria being met 

• Blue bin (recycling) supply is 
expected to take 
precedence over residual 
waste bin  

• A record will be kept of such 
bins supplied and regularly 
reviewed 

• Where bins are presented and 
not identified as authorised on 
the system then a record will 
be made on the in-cab 
system, the bins will be 
removed 
 

 
 

 
• Increase recycling 

where possible 
• Reduce impact of 

additional waste on 
local environmental 
quality  

• Option of additional 
waste collection for 
properties of multiple 
occupancy 

• Provide clarity to 
landlords on their 
responsibilities  

• To adhere to the 
objective of increasing 
recycling and reducing 
waste to landfill 

• Ensure domestic waste 
and waste as a result of 
commercial activities is 
separate and 
appropriately disposed 
of. P

age 354



 SERVICE ISSUE SERVICE STANDARD ACTION CUSTOMER IMPACT 

more who are recycling actively 
and cannot contain residual 
waste in bins will be supplied with 
an additional residual waste bin. 
Delivery charges apply. 

• Waste accumulations at 
properties, waste outside of 
these service standards, 
construction waste and waste 
generated as property 
occupier(s) change are not 
domestic waste and will need 
collection by approved waste 
carriers at the instruction of the 
landlord.  
 

 
 
 

P
age 355



Footnotes – 
 

1. Bins – this term is to include all types of refuse containment approved by FDC for customer use in this system; normally historically 
240lt and 140lt wheeled bins, or 90lt sacks, and can include 180lt or other size containers as the preferred waste container size. In 
relation to the subscription garden waste service, the container is a 240lt wheeled bin only.  

2. Collection – attend property or normal collection point or the purpose of collecting waste as presented. The collection will be 
considered as having been completed by attendance regardless of whether waste is presented or not.  

3. In-cab system – primarily on board electronic systems for the recording of events and property attributes, although the term to also 
include back-up paper based systems. 

4. Offensive Waste – a category of waste including sanitary waste, nappies and incontinence pads.  
5. Wrongly sorted – also known as incorrectly sorted and contaminated. This is to be any material deemed by the collection staff to be 

outside of the materials suitable for collection in the supplied container, and as a result designates the entire contents of the bin as 
wrongly sorted. Collection staff will use their best judgement in determining sensible levels, but will act to preserve the quality of the 
materials collected. 

6. Containers – bins, sacks, boxes or otherwise that are used with or without authority to contain and present waste. 
7. Subscription – refers to the charge identified within Fees and Charges for the collection of brown bins as part of the Fenland 

Garden Waste Service.  
8. HMOs - are subject to mandatory licensing in line with section 55(2)(a) of the Housing Act 2004 and the Licensing of Houses in 

Multiple Occupation (Mandatory Conditions of Licences) (England) Regulations 2018. As defined in legislation, an HMO (including 
flats) is a property occupied by five or more persons, from two or more separate households.  
 
 

P
age 356



«Title» «Last_Name» 
«Pharmacy_Name» «Company_Name» 
«Address_Line_1» 
«Address_Line_2» 
«City» 
«State» 
«ZIP_Code» 

Mark Mathews 

Tel: 01354 602164 
  Email: mmathews@fenland.gov.uk 

21 November 2018 
Our Ref:   MM/SE 

Dear «Title» «Last_Name» 

Community Pharmacy Enhanced Service for Domestic Returned Used Sharps 

Following changes to the NHS contract and the collection of used sharps from pharmacies 
there is a potential issue for patients on how best to safely dispose of their used sharps.  

As you will be aware, the storage, carriage and supply of waste are all subject to stringent 
controls designed to minimise the negative effects of waste on the environment, the public 
and people required to handle the waste. All community pharmacies provide patients with 
a service to dispose of unwanted medicines as part of the NHS contractual framework; this 
does not however cover the disposal of sharps generated by self-medicating patients who 
use lancets for blood testing, or needles and syringes for the administration of parenteral 
medicines.  

It is important for sharps to be disposed of safely, as inappropriate disposal methods 
create a risk of accidental needle-stick injuries to pharmacy staff, people handling the 
waste and members of the public, potentially leading to infection with blood-borne 
diseases.  

Local authorities are obliged to collect clinical waste from householders on request and 
under section 45(3)(b) of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 they may make a 
reasonable charge for this service.  

The authorities represented by the Recap (Cambridgeshire and Peterborough) Waste 
Partnership wish to make arrangements for a collection and disposal service for self-
medicating patients prescribed with sharps in order to facilitate safe disposal. The details 
are provided within the attached agreement which will run for 3 years, upon agreement 
from the pharmacy manager/pharmacist and the relevant local authority and will attract an 
annual payment for the service provided. The collection and the disposal of the returned 
sharps containers will be the responsibility of the local authority at a frequency decided in 
cooperation with the pharmacy manager/pharmacist locally.  

Mark Mathews 
Head of Environmental Services 

Appendix Z

Page 357

mailto:mmathews@fenland.gov.uk


 
 

 
     
           

Enhanced Service in Community Pharmacy 
 

Disposal of Used Sharps 

 

1. Service Description  

 
1.1 Community pharmacies will continue to supply sharps bins to patients in the 

usual manner when presented with a valid prescription from a prescriber. This 
service does not propose to circumvent this means of supply 
 

1.2 Community pharmacies will subsequently provide a collection point service for 
these self-medicating patients generated sharps in order to facilitate its safe 
disposal. Self-medicating patients will return filled and sealed sharps bins to the 
pharmacy.  

 
1.3 The community pharmacy will safely store the returned sealed sharps bins in a 

storage container provided by «Authority_Name» until the collection by the 
nominated waste disposal collection company.  

 
1.4 A licensed waste management contractor has been commissioned by 

Cambridgeshire County Council and will collect on a regular / agreed basis. In 
cases of increased demand then arrangements will be put in place for increased 
frequency or collections upon agreement.  

 

2. Service Aims 

 
2.1 To provide self-medicating patients with a safe and convenient route for the 

disposal of sharps. 
 

2.2 To support Cambridgeshire and Peterborough self-medicating patients to remain 
in their own homes and the NHS in reducing costs and patient journeys to 
centres of treatment.   

 
2.3 To reduce the potential environmental damage and risk to public health caused 

by the use of inappropriate disposal methods for sharps. 
 

2.4 To ensure customers understand the correct means of sharps disposal and 
reduce the risk of sharps being disposed of within unsuitable waste streams.  

 
2.5 To reduce the volume of sharps stored in patients’ homes, by providing 

convenient route for disposal, thus reducing the risk of accidental needle-stick 
injuries. 

 
2.6 To improve the health of people within the waste industry locally and local 

communities by preventing the potential spread of blood-born infections by 
enabling the safe disposal of sharps.  

 

Appendix Z

Page 358



 
 

2.7 To reduce the risk of needle stick injury in the community and inappropriate 
disposal of used injectable sharps. 
 

3. Agreement Period 

 
3.1 This agreement is between the Pharmacy Contractor and «Authority_Name» and 

will commence on «Contract_Start_Date» and will continue indefinitely provided 
the service continues to be commissioned.  
 

3.2 It will be subject to a review on a 3 year basis by The Authority and Community 
Pharmacy Cambridgeshire and Peterborough.  

 
3.3 The agreement may be terminated, without penalty, if the Pharmacy or The 

Authority provides the other with 3 months’ notice in writing.  
 

3.4 The frequency of waste collection by the waste disposal contractor will be on a 
regular / agreed basis to ensure there is not an unacceptable build-up of sharps 
on the pharmacy premises. The Pharmacy Contractor can request additional 
waste collections if there is an unexpected rise in patient returns.  
 

3.5 The Pharmacy Contractor has a duty to ensure that pharmacists and staff 
involved in the provision of the service have relevant knowledge and are 
appropriately trained in the operation of the service, including sensitive, client-
centred communication skills and data protection duties.  

 
3.6 Whilst maintaining the confidentiality of the service users, the Pharmacy 

Contractor will maintain adequate records of sharps bins supplied, sharps bins 
returned, and sharps bins consigned for collection and disposal. As it will not be 
possible to assess the risk of infection from the sharps, all returned sharps 
containers will be consigned as hazardous waste.  

 
3.7 The Pharmacy Contactor will comply with all relevant waste management 

legislation and its requirements; including Hazardous Waste Consignment Notes, 
and Consignee Returns to the producer where required.  

 
3.8 The Pharmacy Contractor will have a standard operating procedure in place for 

this service. The Pharmacy Contractor has a duty to ensure that pharmacists and 
staff are aware of and operate within national and locally agreed protocols.  

 
3.9 The Pharmacy Contractor will nominate a named individual to act as the lead for 

the service, who will oversee compliance with health and safety waste and 
environmental legislation.  

 
3.10 The Pharmacy Contactor will ensure that their staff are made aware of the risk 

associated with the handling of returned used equipment and the correct 
procedures used to minimise those risks. 

 
3.11 A needle stick injury procedure will be in place.  

 
3.12 The Pharmacy Contractor will maintain appropriate records to ensure effective 

Appendix Z

Page 359



 
 

ongoing service delivery and audit.  
 

3.13 Appropriate protective equipment, including gloves, overalls and materials to deal 
with spillages will be readily available close to the storage site.  

 
3.14 The Pharmacy Contractor will complete required risk assessments and ensure 

adequate controls are in place, which may include provision of Hepatitis B 
injections for all staff involved in the handling of presented sharps containers, the 
safe storage of returned bins, and recording the transfer of bins to the disposal 
collection company. 

 
3.15 Where required, and not covered by existing contracts or arrangements, 

«Authority_Name» will pay £120 towards required immunisations, records of 
which should be kept for the period of the agreement by the Pharmacy 
Contractor.  

 
3.16 The Pharmacy Contractor provider of this service will comply with the General 

Pharmaceutical Council Standards of Conduct, ethics and performance at all 
times. 

 

4. Training 

 
4.1 The Pharmacy Contractor has a duty to ensure that pharmacists and staff 

involved in the provision of the service have relevant knowledge and are 
appropriately trained in the operation of the service. 
 

4.2 This training must be recorded and updated annually. Evidence is to be 
recorded. 

 
4.3 All Pharmacy Contractor staff will have read and signed the SOP, and reviewed 

annually.  
 

4.4 All pharmacy contractor staff will have signed the needle stick injury policy, and 
reviewed annually. 

5. Record Keeping 

5.1 The Pharmacy Contractor will maintain records as specified by 
«Authority_Name» either in paper or electronic format and provide access to the 
records when reasonably requested to.  
 

5.2 The Pharmacy Contractor will comply with any legal reporting requirements as 
required under the Health Technical Memorandum (HTM) 07-01, and retain 
consignment notes from the waste collection contractor. These should be 
retained and remain accessible for 5 years.  

 

6. Quality Indicators  

 
6.1 The Pharmacy Contractor will review its standard operating procedures and the 

referral pathways for the service on an annual basis.  
 

6.2 The Pharmacy Contractor participates in a Recap authority audit of service 

Appendix Z

Page 360



 
 

provision.  
 

7. Financial Details 

 
The Pharmacy Contractor commissioned to provide this service will receive an annual 
fee of £600 for each full year.    
 

Bank  

Address  
 
 
 

Sort Code  

Account Number  

 
This will be paid by BACS by «Authority_Name» within the first quarter of each service 
year running from 1st April to 31st March each year (or 1/12 of the agreed annual fee 
for months forming part of an agreed year). 

 

Authorisation  

 
This document constitutes the agreement between the Pharmacy Contractor and 
«Authority_Name» in regards to the above service level agreement.  
 
We agree to abide by the conditions laid out in the agreement:  
 

Name of Pharmacy Contractor    

Address   
 

 

Signature on behalf of the 
Pharmacy Contractor 

 
 
 
 
 
Name (please print)  
 
 
 
 

Date  

Signature of behalf of 
«Authority_Name»  

 
 
 
 
 
Name (please print)  
 

Date  

 
 

  
  

Appendix Z

Page 361



 
 

Appendix 1  Pharmacy record form 
 

Pharmacy 
Name 

 Month  

Date of 
transaction 

Medical condition 
generating sharps 
e.g. diabetes 

Initials of patient 
or 

representative 
returning bin 

Staff signature 

Number and size 
of sharps box 

returned 
 

Number Size 

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

 

Appendix Z

Page 362


	Agenda
	2 Previous Minutes
	3 Civic Engagements Update
	7 To receive reports from and ask questions of Cabinet members with portfolio holder responsibilities, in accordance with Procedure Rules 8.1 and 8.2.
	8 Council Tax Reduction Scheme (CTRS) - 2019/20
	Council 13.12.18_CTRS 2019 scheme
	Cover sheet:
	1 Purpose / Summary
	2 Key issues
	3 Recommendations

	Report:
	1 Introduction
	2 Reviewing the current CTRS
	3 Consulting about our proposals
	4 The impact of CTRS to date
	5 Overview and Scrutiny
	6 The Final Council Tax Support Scheme for 2019-20


	Appendix A Fenland CTRS 2019 - 20
	APPENDIX A
	Fenland District Council
	Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/2020
	1.0 Introduction to the Council Tax Reduction Scheme (Council tax reduction)
	2.0 Interpretation
	3.0 Application of scheme: pensioners and persons who are not pensioners
	4.0 Meaning of “couple”
	5.0 Polygamous marriages
	6.0 Meaning of “family”
	7.0 Circumstances in which a person is to be treated as responsible or not responsible for another
	8.0 Households
	9.0 Non-dependants
	10.0 Remunerative work
	PART 4 Classes of person entitled to a reduction under this scheme
	12.0 Classes of person entitled to a reduction under this scheme
	13.0 Class A: pensioners, or those in receipt of a war pension, whose income is no greater than the applicable amount
	14.0 Class B: pensioners, or those in receipt of a war pension, whose income is greater than the applicable amount
	15.0 Class C: alternative maximum council tax reduction – pensioners
	16.0 Class D: persons who are not pensioners whose income is less than the applicable amount
	17. Class E: persons who are not pensioners whose income is greater than the applicable amount
	18.0 Class F: alternative maximum council tax reduction – persons who are not pensioners
	19.0 Periods of absence from a dwelling
	PART 5 Classes of person excluded from this scheme
	20.0 Classes of person excluded from this scheme
	21.0 Class of person excluded from this scheme: persons treated as not being in Great Britain
	22.0 Class of person excluded from this scheme: persons subject to immigration control
	23.0 Class of person excluded from this scheme: capital limit
	24.0 Class of person excluded from this scheme: students
	PART 6 Applicable amounts
	25.0  Applicable amounts: pensioners
	26.0 Applicable amounts: persons who are not pensioners
	27.0 Polygamous marriages: persons who are not pensioners
	28.0 Applicable amount: persons who are not pensioners who have an award of universal credit
	PART 7 Maximum council tax reduction for the purposes of calculating eligibility for a reduction under this scheme and amount of reduction
	29.0 Maximum council tax reduction amount under this scheme: pensioners and persons who are not pensioners
	30.0 Non-dependant deductions: pensioners and persons who are not pensioners
	PART 8 Alternative maximum council tax reduction for the purposes of calculating eligibility for a reduction under this scheme and amount of reduction
	31.0 Alternative maximum council tax reduction under this scheme: pensioners and persons who are not pensioners
	PART 9 Amount of reduction under this scheme
	32.0— Amount of reduction under this scheme: Classes A to F
	PART 10 Income and capital for the purposes of calculating eligibility for a reduction under this scheme and amount of reduction
	CHAPTER 1 Income and capital: general
	33.0 Calculation of income and capital: applicant's family and polygamous marriages
	34.0 Circumstances in which income and capital of non-dependant is to be treated as applicant's
	CHAPTER 2 Income and capital: pensioners in receipt of guarantee credit or savings credit
	35.0 Applicant in receipt of guarantee credit: pensioners
	36.0 Calculation of applicant's income and capital in savings credit only cases: pensioners
	CHAPTER 3 Income and capital where there is an award of universal credit
	37.0 Calculation of income and capital: persons who are not pensioners who have an award of universal credit
	CHAPTER 4 Income: other pensioners
	38.0 Calculation of income and capital where state pension credit is not payable: pensioners
	39.0 Meaning of “income”: pensioners
	40.0 Calculation of weekly income: pensioners
	41.0 Earnings of employed earners: pensioners
	42.0 Calculation of net earnings of employed earners: pensioners
	43.0 Calculation of earnings of self-employed earners: pensioners
	44.0 Earnings of self-employers earners: pensioners
	45.0 Notional income: pensioners
	46.0 Income paid to third parties: pensioners
	CHAPTER 5 Income: persons who are not pensioners
	47.0 Average weekly earnings of employed earners: persons who are not pensioners
	48.0 Average weekly earnings of self-employed earners: persons who are not pensioners
	49.0 Average weekly income other than earnings: persons who are not pensioners
	50.0 Calculation of weekly income of employed earners: persons who are not pensioners
	51.0 Earnings of employed earners: persons who are not pensioners
	52.0 Calculation of net earnings of employed earners: persons who are not pensioners
	53.0 Earnings of self-employed earners: persons who are not pensioners
	54.0 Calculation of income other than earnings: persons who are not pensioners
	55.0 Capital treated as income: persons who are not pensioners
	56.0 Notional income: persons who are not pensioners
	CHAPTER 6 Income: further provisions applying to pensioners and persons who are not pensioners
	57.0 Calculation of income on a weekly basis
	58.0 Treatment of child care charges
	59.0 Calculation of weekly income from tax credits
	60.0 Disregard of changes in tax, contributions etc.
	61.0 Calculation of net profit of self-employed earners
	62.0 Calculation of deduction of tax and contributions of self-employed earners
	CHAPTER 7 Capital
	63.0 Calculation of capital
	64.0 Income treated as capital: persons who are not pensioners
	65.0 Calculation of capital in the United Kingdom
	66.0 Calculation of capital outside the United Kingdom
	67.0 Notional capital
	68.0 Diminishing notional capital rule: pensioners
	69.0 Diminishing notional capital rule: persons who are not pensioners
	70.0 Capital jointly held
	71.0 Calculation of tariff income from capital: pensioners
	72.0 Calculation of tariff income from capital: persons who are not pensioners
	PART 11  Students
	CHAPTER  1  General
	73.0 Interpretation
	74.0 Treatment of students
	75.0 Students who are excluded from entitlement to a reduction under this scheme
	CHAPTER 2  Income
	76.0 Calculation of grant income
	77.0 Calculation of covenant income where a contribution is assessed
	78.0 Covenant income where no grant income or no contribution is assessed
	79.0 Relationship with amounts to be disregarded under Schedule 8
	80.0 Other amounts to be disregarded
	81.0 Treatment of student loans
	82.0 Treatment of payments from access funds
	83.0 Disregard of contribution
	84.0 Further disregard of student's income
	85.0 Income treated as capital
	86.0 Disregard of changes occurring during summer vacation
	PART 12 Extended reductions
	CHAPTER 1 Extended reductions: pensioners
	87.0 Extended reductions: pensioners
	88.0 Extended reductions (qualifying contributory benefits): pensioners
	89.0 Duration of extended reduction period (qualifying contributory benefits): pensioners
	90.0 Amount of extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits): pensioners
	91.0 Extended reductions (qualifying contributory benefits)—movers: pensioners
	92.0 Relationship between extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits) and entitlement to a reduction by virtue of classes A to C
	93.0 Continuing reductions where state pension credit claimed: pensioners
	CHAPTER 2 Extended reductions: persons who are not pensioners
	94.0 Extended reductions: persons who are not pensioners
	95.0 Extended reductions: persons who are not pensioners
	96.0 Duration of extended reduction period: persons who are not pensioners
	97.0 Amount of extended reduction: persons who are not pensioners
	98.0 Extended reductions—movers: persons who are not pensioners
	99.0 Relationship between extended reduction and entitlement to a reduction by virtue of classes D to F
	100.0— Extended reductions (qualifying contributory benefits): persons who are not pensioners
	101.0 Duration of extended reduction period (qualifying contributory benefits): persons who are not pensioners
	102.0— Amount of extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits): persons who are not pensioners
	103.0 Extended reductions (qualifying contributory benefits)—movers: persons who are not pensioners
	104.0 Relationship between extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits) and entitlement to reduction by virtue of classes D to F
	CHAPTER 3 Extended reductions: movers in the authority's area
	105.0 Extended reductions: applicant moving into the authority's area
	PART 13 When entitlement begins and change of circumstances
	106.0 Date on which entitlement begins
	107.0 Date on which change of circumstances is to take effect
	107A When beneficial changes of circumstances take effect
	107B Conditions for accepting a delay in notification of a change
	108.0 Change of circumstances where state pension credit in payment
	PART 14  Application (including duties to notify authority of change of circumstances)
	109.0 Making an application
	110.0 Date on which an application is made
	111.0 Back-dating of applications: pensioners
	112.0 Back-dating of applications: persons who are not pensioners
	113.0 Information and evidence
	113A  SUSPENSION AND TERMINATION OF REDUCTION AND OTHER MATTERS, : persons who are not pensioners
	Cases where a relevant authority may suspend
	Making or restoring reductions suspended
	Suspension for failure to furnish information etc.
	Termination in cases of a failure to furnish information


	114.0 Amendment and withdrawal of application
	115.0 Duty to notify changes of circumstances
	PART 15 Decisions by authority
	116.0 Decision by authority
	117.0 Notification of decision
	PART 16  Circumstances in which a payment may be made
	118.0— Payment where there is joint and several liability
	Schedule 1
	Procedural matters
	PART 1 Procedure by which a person may apply for a reduction under this scheme
	PART 2 Procedure by which a person may make an appeal against certain decisions of the authority
	PART 3 Procedure for an application to the authority for a reduction under section 13A(1)(c) of the 1992 Act
	PART 4 Electronic communication
	Schedule 2
	Applicable amounts: pensioners
	1. Personal allowance
	2.— Child or young person amounts
	3. Family premium
	4. Premiums
	6.— Severe disability premium
	7.Enhanced disability premium
	8. Disabled child premium
	9. Carer premium
	10. Persons in receipt of concessionary payments
	11. Person in receipt of benefit
	12.Amounts of premium specified
	Schedule 3
	Applicable amounts: persons who are not pensioners
	Personal allowances
	Family premium
	Premiums
	9. Disability premium
	10. Additional condition for the disability premium
	11. Severe disability premium
	12. Enhanced disability premium
	13. Disabled child premium
	14. Carer premium
	15. Persons in receipt of concessionary payments
	16. Persons in receipt of benefit for another
	17. Amounts of Premiums Specified
	18. The components
	Schedule 4
	Amount of alternative maximum council tax reduction: pensioners and persons who are not pensioners
	Schedule 5
	Sums disregarded from applicant’s earnings: pensioners
	Schedule 6
	Amounts to be disregarded in the calculation of income other than earnings: pensioners
	Schedule 7
	Sums disregarded in the calculation of earnings: persons who are not pensioners
	Schedule 8
	Sums disregarded in the calculation of income other than earnings: persons who are not pensioners
	Schedule 9
	Capital disregards: pensioners
	Part 2
	Capital disregarded only for the purposes of determining deemed income
	Schedule 10
	Capital disregards: persons who are not pensioners
	Schedule 11
	Additional awards due to exceptional and/or extreme Hardship
	Discretionary Exceptional hardship payments
	Circumstances in which Exceptional hardship payments may be made
	Limit on the amount of the discretionary exceptional hardship  payment that may be made
	Period for, or in respect of which, discretionary exceptional hardship payments may be made
	Form, manner and procedure for claims
	Provision of information
	Reviews



	9 Polling Districts and Polling Places Review.
	Polling District Review Report
	1 Purpose / Summary
	2 Key issues
	3 Recommendations
	4 Background / introduction
	5 Considerations
	6 Effect on corporate objectives
	7 Community Impact
	8 Conclusions

	Appendix A
	Appendix B
	Appendix C - updated
	Polling Places Update

	10 Clinical Waste Solution.
	Council Report Clinical Waste Solution V3
	Cover sheet:
	1 Purpose / Summary
	2 Key issues
	3 Recommendations

	Report:
	1 Background
	2 Cost Estimates and Options
	Future Service Offer Options
	Free Collection Points

	3 Communication Timeline
	4 Possible Impacts
	5 Equality Impact Assessment (EIA)
	6 TEEP Assessment (Technical, Environmental, Economic and Practicable)
	7 Reviewed Waste Services Standards 2018
	100 hour pharmacies in Fenland
	Dispensing GP Practices (Oct 2016)   Source: NHS England East Anglia Area Team.



	Appendix W Customer (Equality) Impact Assessment Clinical and Hygiene Waste Service
	Appendix X - Recap Area Sharps Presciption Data
	Appendix Y Waste Services Standards Update 2018
	Appendix Y - Waste Service Standards 2018
	 Customer made aware of issue with materials presented via letter, leaflet, card or personal visit
	 Bin emptied
	 Customer made aware of issue with materials presented via letter, leaflet, card or personal visit
	 Bin emptied where safe to do so
	 It may be appropriate to treat bags presented on top of wheeled bin, with lid open or closed as per additional waste (9)

	Appendix Z Draft Community Pharmacy Agreement




